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To the Shareholders of Bankia, S.A.

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of Bankia, S.A. (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries
that, together with the Bank, form the Bankia Group (hereinafter the “Group”), which comprise the
consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of recognised income and expense, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and consolidated notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts give a true and fair view, in all
material respects, of the consolidated equity and consolidated financial position of the Group at 31
December 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (IFRS-EU) and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in
Spain.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in
Spain. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual Accounts section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those
regarding independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts pursuant
to the legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain. We have not provided any non-audit
services, nor have any situations or circumstances arisen which, under the aforementioned
regulations, have affected the required independence such that this has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

See notes 3.1 and 12 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s portfolio of loans and advances to
customers, classified as financial assets at amortised
cost, reflects a net balance of Euros 120,994,271
thousand at 31 December 2020, while allowances
and provisions recognised at that date for
impairment total Euros 3,323,004 thousand.

For the purposes of estimating impairment, financial
assets measured at amortised cost are classified into
three categories (Stage 1, 2 or 3) according to
whether a significant increase in their credit risk
since initial recognition has been identified (Stage 2),
whether the financial assets are credit-impaired
(Stage 3) or whether neither of the foregoing
circumstances apply (Stage 1). For the Group,
establishing this classification is a relevant process
inasmuch as the calculation of allowances and
provisions for credit risk varies depending on the
category in which the financial asset has been
included.

Impairment is calculated based on expected loss
models, which the Group estimates on both an
individual and a collective basis. This calculation
entails a considerable level of judgement as this is a
significant and complex estimate.

Individual allowances and provisions consider
estimates of future business performance and the
market value of collateral provided for credit
transactions.

In the case of collective allowances and provisions,
estimates of expected losses are calculated using
internal models that use large databases, different
macroeconomic scenarios, parameters to estimate
provisions, segmentation criteria and automated
processes, which are complex in their design and
implementation and require past, present and future
information to be considered. The Group regularly
conducts recalibrations and tests of its internal
models in order to improve their predictive
capabilities based on actual historical experience.

Our audit approach in relation to the Group's
estimate of impairment of loans and advances to
customers due to credit risk, classified as financial
assets at amortised cost, included an assessment of
the relevant controls associated with the processes
for estimating impairment, as well as different tests
of detail on that estimate, for which we involved our
credit risk specialists.

Our procedures related to the control environment
focused on the following key areas:

e Identifying the credit risk management
framework and assessing the compliance of the
Group's accounting policies with the applicable
regulations.

e Evaluating the classification of the loans and
advances to customers portfolio based on their
credit risk, in accordance with the criteria
defined by the Group, particularly the criteria for
identifying and classifying refinancing and
restructuring transactions.

e Testing of the relevant controls relating to the
information available for the monitoring of loans
outstanding.

e Evaluating the design and implementation of the
relevant controls over the management and
measurement of collateral and guarantees.

e Assessing the consideration of the aspects
observed by the Internal Valuation Unit as
regards the recalibration and tests of the models
to estimate collective allowances and
provisions.

e Evaluating the control and management of the
data used to estimate credit risk impairment.

Our tests of detail on the estimated expected losses
essentially included the following:
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Impairment of loans and advances to customers

See notes 3.1 and 12 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The COVID-19 pandemic is affecting the economy
and business activities, leading to a downturn in the
macroeconomic situation. To mitigate the impacts of
COVID-19, the Spanish government has launched
initiatives to support the most affected sectors and
customers through various measures such as the
provision of State-backed credit facilities, the deferral
of payments without penalties (moratoriums) and
flexible financing and liquidity facilities. All these
aspects have an impact on the parameters
considered by the Group to quantify the expected
losses on financial assets (macroeconomic variables,
customer net revenues, value of collateral pledged,
probability of default, etc.), thus increasing the
uncertainty associated with their estimation. The
Group has therefore recognised the adverse effects
of COVID-19 on the impairment of financial assets in
its consolidated income statement at 31 December
2020 by supplementing the expected losses
estimated based on historical credit loss data, with
certain additional adjustments deemed necessary to
reflect the particular characteristics of borrowers,
sectors or portfolios.

The consideration of this aspect as a key audit
matter is based both on the significance for the
Group of the loans and advances to customers
portfolio, and thus the significance of any allowances
and provisions recognised, and on the relevance,
subjectivity and complexity of the process for
classifying these financial assets for the purpose of
estimating impairment thereon and of the calculation
of that impairment, while taking into consideration
the additional situation generated by the COVID-19
pandemic.

e With regard to the impairment of individually
significant transactions, we evaluated the
suitability of the discounted cash flows models
used by the Group and selected a sample from
the population of significant risks with evidence
of credit impairment and assessed the adequacy
of the provisions recognised. This sample
included borrowers from the economic sectors
most impacted by COVID-19 and/or those that
have received government aid due to the
pandemic.

e With respect to the allowances and provisions
for impairment estimated collectively, we
evaluated the methodology used by the Group,
assessing the integrity and accuracy of the input
balances for the process and evaluating the
correct functioning of the calculation engine by
repeating the calculation process taking into
account the segmentation and assumptions
used by the Group.

In carrying out our audit procedures, we have
taken into consideration the impacts of COVID-
19 and the government aid on the calculation of
expected losses. We also assessed and
recalculated the estimate of the additional
adjustments to the expected losses calculated
using historical credit loss data.

e We analysed whether the disclosures in the
notes to the consolidated annual accounts are
appropriate, in accordance with the criteria set
out in the financial reporting framework
applicable to the Group.

Impairment of foreclosed real estate assets

See note 18.3 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s portfolio of foreclosed real estate
assets, classified as non-current assets held for sale,
reflects a net balance of Euros 1,349,325 thousand
at 31 December 2020, while allowances and
provisions recognised at that date for impairment
total Euros 589,400 thousand.

Our audit approach in relation to the estimate of
impairment of foreclosed real estate assets includes
an assessment of the relevant controls associated
with the processes for estimating impairment, as
well as different tests of detail on this estimate,
which basically included the following:
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Impairment of foreclosed real estate assets

See note 18.3 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Foreclosed real estate assets classified as held for
sale are measured at the acquisition date and
subsequently at the lower of the carrying amount of
the financial assets relating to the foreclosure and
the fair value less the estimated costs to sell the
foreclosed real estate assets.

For the purposes of determining the net fair value of
these real estate assets, the Group uses its own
internal methodology the starting point of which is
the appraisal value, which is adjusted to take into
account the experience of the sale of similar assets
in terms of price and the period of time in which
each asset is held on the balance sheet, among
other factors.

The process to estimate the impairment of these
assets requires a considerable degree of judgement
as it is a significant and complex estimate. We have
therefore considered this a key audit matter.

e Evaluating the competence, capacity and
objectivity of the experts engaged by the Group
for the valuation of the foreclosed real estate
assets.

e Analysing a sample of appraisals to determine
the reasonableness of the procedures and the
valuation methodology used by the experts
engaged by the Group. To that end, we involved
our specialists in real estate asset appraisals.

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the key
assumptions considered in the internal valuation
methodology.

e Analysing the reliability of the data sources used
and the discounts applied in the internal
valuation model.

e Recalculating the impairment of foreclosed real
estate assets.

e We analysed whether the disclosures in the
notes to the consolidated annual accounts are
appropriate, in accordance with the criteria set
out in the financial reporting framework
applicable to the Group.
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Recoverability of the deferred tax assets

See note 26.5 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

At 31 December 2020, the Group held deferred tax
assets amounting to Euros 10,420,626 thousand, of
which the recovery of Euros 2,990,354 thousand is
not guaranteed through the monetisation
mechanisms established in Royal Decree-Law
14/2013 and article 130 of the Spanish Corporate
Income Tax Law, as their recovery is dependent on
obtaining future taxable profits.

The recognition of deferred tax assets entails a high
level of judgement in assessing the probability and
sufficiency of future taxable profits, future reversals
of existing taxable temporary differences and tax
planning opportunities. The financial projections for
future taxable profits have taken into consideration
the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on
the business activity of the Group.

Due to the significance of the balance of deferred tax
assets and the uncertainty associated with the
recovery thereof, and given the additional rise in this
uncertainty due to the aforementioned situation
derived from the COVID-19 pandemic, we have
considered this a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures mainly include the following:

e Assessing and evaluating the control
environment of the process to recognise and

analyse the recoverability of deferred tax assets.

Evaluating, with the involvement of our
valuation specialists, the methodology and key
assumptions considered by the Group to
estimate the recovery period for the deferred
tax assets. We have analysed the main
economic, financial and tax assumptions used
by the Group to estimate future profits, taking
into consideration those assumptions that have
been adjusted due to the impacts of COVID-19.

Contrasting the profit and loss forecasts used as
a basis for recognising the deferred tax assets in
prior years against the actual results obtained by
the Group.

Analysing the sensitivity of the results obtained
by the Group.

We analysed whether the disclosures in the
notes to the consolidated annual accounts are
appropriate, in accordance with the criteria set
out in the financial reporting framework
applicable to the Group.
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Provisions for legal contingencies

See notes 2.18 and 20 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

At 31 December 2020, the Group was party to a
number of legal proceedings and claims arising in the
ordinary course of its business activities.

In general terms, determining the expected outcome
of these proceedings and assessing their financial
effect, and therefore the recognition of the related
provision or, where necessary, the corresponding
breakdown for contingent liabilities, are matters that
entail significant complexity and uncertainty as
regards their potential outcome and/or definitive
amount, and therefore we have considered this a
key audit matter.

Our audit procedures mainly include the following:

e Evaluating the control environment and the
policies put in place by the Group to identify and
classify the legal proceedings and claims, as
well as to estimate the provision thereof.

e  Procuring and analysing the information
prepared by the Group's legal advisors as
regards proceedings underway in relation to the
provisions recognised and significant
contingencies disclosed.

e Evaluating and analysing a sample of
proceedings from the legal or regulatory
documentation that support the provisions
recognised and significant contingencies
disclosed. To that end, we involved our
specialists in legal matters.

e Analysing the reasonableness of the
methodology and of the main judgements and
assumptions considered by the Group as
regards the main provisions recognised and
contingencies disclosed. To that end, we
involved our specialists in legal matters.

e  Obtaining confirmation from external lawyers to
contrast their assessment of the expected
outcome of the claims and litigation against the
provisions and contingencies identified by the
Group.

e We analysed whether the disclosures in the
notes to the consolidated annual accounts are
appropriate, in accordance with the criteria set
out in the financial reporting framework
applicable to the Group.
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Risks associated with information technology

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s operations are based on a complex
technological environment that is constantly
evolving, and which must reliably and efficiently
meet business requirements and ensure that the
financial information is processed correctly.

In this regard, correctly assessing whether the IT
applications and systems used to prepare the
financial information are being correctly maintained,
as well as an evaluation of how these systems and
applications are used and an assessment of the
appropriateness of the physical and logical security
of the information, are particularly relevant. We have
therefore considered this a key audit matter.

With the help of our information systems specialists,
we performed tests relating to internal control over
the processes and systems involved in generating
the financial information, in the following areas:

e An understanding of the information flows and
identification of the key controls that ensure the
processing of the information.

e Tests of the key automatic processes that are
involved in generating the financial information.

e Testing of the controls over the applications and
systems related to accessing and processing the
information and those related to the security
settings of these applications and systems.

e Testing of the controls over the operation,
maintenance and development of applications
and systems.

Other Information: Consolidated Directors’ Report

Other information solely comprises the 2020 consolidated directors' report, the preparation of which
is the responsibility of the Bank's Directors and which does not form an integral part of the

consolidated annual accounts.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not encompass the consolidated
directors' report. Our responsibility regarding the information contained in the consolidated directors’
report is defined in the legislation regulating the audit of accounts, as follows:

a) Determine, solely, whether the consolidated non-financial information statement and certain
information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, as specified in the Spanish
Audit Law, have been provided in the manner stipulated in the applicable legislation, and if

not, to report on this matter.

b) Assess and report on the consistency of the rest of the information included in the
consolidated directors’ report with the consolidated annual accounts, based on knowledge
of the Group obtained during the audit of the aforementioned consolidated annual accounts.
Also, assess and report on whether the content and presentation of this part of the
consolidated directors’ report are in accordance with applicable legislation. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there are material misstatements, we are

required to report them.
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Based on the work carried out, as described above, we have observed that the information
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner stipulated in the applicable
legislation, that the rest of the information contained in the consolidated directors’ report is
consistent with that disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts for 2020, and that the content
and presentation of the report are in accordance with applicable legislation.

Directors' and Audit and Compliance Committee's Responsibility for the
Consolidated Annual Accounts

The Bank's Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated annual
accounts in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the consolidated equity, consolidated
financial position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance with IFRS-EU
and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain, and for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated annual
accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Bank's Directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Bank's audit and compliance committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation and
presentation of the consolidated annual accounts.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual Accounts

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts.
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As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Bank’s Directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Bank's Directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual accounts or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual accounts,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts.
We are responsible for the management, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Bank’s audit and compliance committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Bank’s audit and compliance committee with a statement that we have
complied with the applicable ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence
and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated to the Bank's audit and compliance committee, we determine
those that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current
period and which are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

European Single Electronic Format

We have examined the digital files of Bankia, S.A. and its subsidiaries for 2020 in European Single
Electronic Format (ESEF), which comprise the XHTML file that includes the consolidated annual
accounts for the aforementioned year and the XBRL files tagged by the Bank, which will form part of
the annual financial report.

The Directors of the Bank are responsible for the presentation of the 2020 annual financial report in
accordance with the format and mark-up requirements stipulated in Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 (hereinafter the “ESEF Regulation”).

Our responsibility consists of examining the digital files prepared by the Directors of the Bank, in
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain. This legislation
requires that we plan and perform our audit procedures to determine whether the content of the
consolidated annual accounts included in the aforementioned digital files fully corresponds to the
consolidated annual accounts we have audited, and whether the consolidated annual accounts and
the aforementioned files have been formatted and marked up, in all material respects, in accordance
with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation.

In our opinion, the digital files examined fully correspond to the audited consolidated annual
accounts, and these are presented and marked up, in all material respects, in accordance with the
requirements of the ESEF Regulation.

Additional Report to the Bank’s audit and compliance committee

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with our additional report to the Bank's audit and
compliance committee dated 17 February 2021.

Contract Period

We were appointed as auditor by the shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on 27 March
2020 for a period of three years, beginning after the year commenced 1 January 2020.

KPMG Auditores, S.L.
On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“R.0.A.C.") with n°® S0702

(Signed on original in Spanish)

Pedro Gonzalez Millan
On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“R.0.A.C.") with n°20.175

17 February de 2021
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BANKIA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES COMPOSING THE BANKIA GROUP
Consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019
(in thousands of euros)
ASSETS
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits
Financial assets held for trading
Derivatives
Equity instruments
Debt securities
Loans and advances
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Memorandum item: loaned or advanced as collateral with the right to sell or pledge

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

Equity instruments
Debt securities
Loans and advances
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Memorandum item: loaned or advanced as collateral with the right to sell or pledge
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Debt securities
Loans and advances
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Memorandum item: loaned or advanced as collateral with the right to sell or pledge
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Equity instruments
Debt securities
Loans and advances
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Memorandum item: loaned or advanced as collateral with the right to sell or pledge
Financial assets at amortised cost
Debt securities
Loans and advances
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Memorandum item: loaned or advanced as collateral with the right to sell or pledge
Derivatives - Hedge accounting

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk

Investments in joint ventures and associates
Joint ventures
Associates
Assets under insurance or reinsurance contracts
Tangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
For own use
Leased out under an operating lease
Assigned to welfare projects (savings banks and credit cooperatives)
Investment property
Of which: leased out under an operating lease
Memorandum item: acquired under a lease
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Tax assets
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Other assets
Insurance contracts linked to pensions
Inventories
Other

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale

TOTAL ASSETS

NOTE 31/12/2020
8 11,808,227
9 6,767,906
6,686,668
684
80,554

10 11,385

11 8,623,635
59,543
8,564,092

1,866,342

12 163,405,078
37,495,038

125,910,040

4,915,769

120,994,271

19,099,741

13 2,451,227

14 468,538
18,921

449,617

15 2,518,125
2,052,392

2,052,392

465,733

465,733

484,320

16 505,234
86,062

419,172

10,685,280

264,654

26 10,420,626
17 936,745
643,579

293,166
18 1,660,569
209,841,949

The accompanying Notes 1 to 46 and Appendices | to XlIl are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2020.

(*) The consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2019 is presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. See Note 1.5.

31/12/2019 (*)
13,202,885
6,690,901
6,518,725
1,381
170,795

67,682
34,755

237
34,518
23,263
11,255

11,981,872
75,817
11,906,055

7,568,250
155,968,440
33,067,987
122,900,453
5,467,442
117,433,011
25,284,204
2,498,821

454,902
9,034
445,868
2,617,290
2,135,988
2,135,988

481,302
481,302
504,863
401,406
88,462
312,944
10,863,999
443,103
10,420,896
1,601,403
1,061,912

539,491
2,151,599

208,468,273
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BANKIA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES COMPOSING THE BANKIA GROUP
Consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019
(in thousands of euros)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY NOTE
Financial liabilities held for tradina 9
Derivatives
Short positions
Deposits

Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Deposits
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities
Memorandum item: subordinated liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 19
Deposits
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities
Memorandum item: subordinated liabilities
Derivatives - Hedge accounting 13
Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk
Liabilities under insurance or reinsurance contracts
Provisions 20
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations
Other long-term employee benefits
Pending procedural issues and tax litigation
Commitments and guarantees given
Other provisions
Tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 26
Share capital repayable on demand
Other liabilities 21
Of which: welfare fund (only savings banks and credit cooperatives)
Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale 18
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Own funds 22
Capital

Paid up capital
Unpaid capital which has been called up
Memorandum item: uncalled capital
Share premium
Equity instruments issued other than capital
Equity component of compound financial instruments
Other equity instruments issued
Other equity
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Other reserves
Reserves or accumulated losses of investments in joint ventures and associates
Other
(-) Treasury shares
Profit or (-) loss attributable to owners of the parent
(-) Interim dividends
Accumulated other comprehensive income 23
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Hedge ineffectiveness of fair value hedges for equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income [hedged item]

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income [hedging
instrument]

Fair value changes of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss attributable to changes in their credit risk

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations [effective portion]
Foreign currency translation
Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges [effective portion]

Fair value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Hedging instruments [not designated elements]
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates
Minority interests [non-controlling interests] 24
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Other items
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
MEMORANDUM ITEM: OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 27.2
Loan commitments given
Financial guarantees given
Contingent commitments given

The accompanying Notes 1 to 46 and Appendices | to Xl are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2020.

(*) The consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2019 is presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. See Note 1.5.

31/12/2020
6.876.191
6,686,987
189,204

187,069,874
166,193,408
22,899,832
14,834,045
128,459,531
18,436,794
2,439,672
2,975,096
153,150

1,285,037
644,494
195,903
274,899
169,741
419,192
1,566
417,626

956,889

1,383
196,761,716
12,932,347
3,069,522
3,069,522

619,154

9,063,343
(110,348)
9,173,691
(49,475)
229,803
145,339
31,834
25,060
(18,744)
3,750

21,768

113,505

(458)
(3,063)

85,764

31,262
2,547

2,547
13,080,233
209,841,949
43,227,511
28,656,212
341,602
14,229,697

31/12/2019 (*)
6.750.111
6,478,878
271,233

185,176,254
165,053,977
13,808,756
26,460,485
124,784,736
18,679,709
1,442,568
2,983,031
87,402

1,754,035
1,038,243
224,539
301,717
189,536
467,742
129
467,613

893,975

3,657
195,133,176
13,141,770
3,069,522
3,069,522

619,154

8,962,001
(138,669)
9,100,670
(50,343)
541,436
180,002
57,233
34,056
(9,347)
4,219

28,305

122,769
(113)

(8,006)
82,085
(2,674)
51,477
13,325
1,444

11,881
13,335,097
208,468,273
36,704,675
23,256,169
376,728
13,071,778
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BANKIA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES COMPOSING THE BANKIA GROUP
Consolidated income statements for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019
(in thousands of euros)

Interest income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at amortised cost
Other interest income
(Interest expenses)
(Expenses on share capital repayable on demand)
A) NET INTEREST INCOME
Dividend income
Share of the profit or (-) loss of investments accounted for using the equity method
Fee and commission income
(Fee and commission expenses)
Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net
Financial assets at amortised cost
Other financial assets and liabilities
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net
Reclassification of financial assets out of measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Reclassification of financial assets out of measured at amortised cost
Other gains or (-) losses

Gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, net

Reclassification of financial assets out of measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Reclassification of financial assets out of measured at amortised cost
Other gains or (-) losses
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net
Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting, net
Exchange differences [gain or (-) loss], net
Other operating income
(Other operating expenses)
Of which: mandatory contributions to welfare funds (only savings banks and credit cooperatives)
Income from assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts
(Expenses on liabilities under insurance or reinsurance contracts)
B) GROSS INCOME
(Administrative expenses)
(Staff expenses)
(Other administrative expenses)
(Depreciation and amortisation)
(Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions)
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss and modification
losses or (-) gains, net)
(Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income)
(Financial assets at amortised cost)
C) RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment of investments in joint ventures and associates)
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets)
(Tangible assets)
(Intangible assets)
(Other)
Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of non-financial assets, net
Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss

Profit or (-) loss from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations

D) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Tax expense or (-) income related to profit or loss from continuing operations)
E) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Profit or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations

F) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to minority interests

Attributable to the parent

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The accompanying Notes 1 to 46 and Appendices | to XllI are an integral part of the consolidated income statement for 2020.
(*) The consolidated income statement for 2019 is presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. See Note 1.5.

NOTE

29

30

31
32
33
34
35

35

35

35

36
37

38
39
40
41

42

43
43

44

45

18.5

24

2020
2,288,968
81,214
2,006,770
200,984
(384,850)
1,904,118
1,854
59,749
1,281,389
(68,583)
154,400
127,968
26,432
15,832

15,832

(516)

(516)
(22,787)
13,228
64,817
(315,078)

3,088,423
(1,585,198)
(1,069,775)

(515,423)
(195,372)
24,431

(1,043,792)

(198)
(1,043,594)
288,492
(97)
(21,680)
(15,786)
(5,894)

2,302

42,476

311,493
(81,471)
230,022
230,022

219
229,803

0.05
0.05

2019 (%)

2,459,289
143,340
2,180,847
135,102
(436,262)
2,023,027
17,434
60,024
1,167,639
(86,996)
288,744
71,247
217,497
19,870

19,870

905

905
(11,531)
15,321
55,041
(304,448)

3,245,030
(1,615,728)
(1,119,420)

(496,308)
(200,952)
(14,552)

(462,941)

552
(463,493)
950,857
928
(20,244)
(14,544)
(5,700)

4,414

(180,265)

755,690
(213,401)
542,289
542,289
853
541,436

0.16
0.16



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 BANKIA GROUP
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

BANKIA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES COMPOSING THE BANKIA GROUP

Consolidated statements of recognised income and expense for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of euros) 2020 2019 (%)
Profit or (-) loss for the year 230,022 542,289
Other comprehensive income (36,107) 32,674
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (25,399) 2,606
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans (12,851) 5,881
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale (13,424) (13,353)
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates (469) 1,036
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (9,339) 9,714

Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, net - -
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income [hedged item] - -
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income [hedging instrument] - -

Fair value changes of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss attributable to changes in their credit risk - -

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 10,684 (672)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (10,708) 30,068
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations [effective portion] - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses taken to equity - -
Transferred to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - -
Foreign currency translation (493) 257
Translation gains or (-) losses taken to equity (493) 257
Transferred to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - R
Cash flow hedges [effective portion] 7,061 (8,153)
Valuation gains or (-) losses taken to equity 7,061 (8,153)
Transferred to profit or loss - -
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items - -
Other reclassifications - -
Hedging instruments [not designated elements] - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses taken to equity - -
Transferred to profit or loss - -

Other reclassifications - -

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 5,256 28,037
Valuation gains or (-) losses taken to equity 25,710 241,175
Transferred to profit or loss (20,454) (213,138)

Other reclassifications - R
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 1,230 (7,406)
Valuation gains or (-) losses taken to equity 1,230 (7,406)
Transferred to profit or loss R -

Other reclassifications - -

Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates (20,215) 22,704
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or (-) loss (3,547) (5,371)
Total comprehensive income for the year 193,915 574,963
Attributable to minority interests [Non-controlling interests] (1,225) 979
Attributable to owners of the parent 195,140 573,984

The accompanying Notes 1 to 46 and Appendices | to Xlll are an integral part of the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for 2020.
(*) The consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for 2019 is presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. See Note 1.5.
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(in thousands of euros)

Minority interests

Profit or (-)
loss
attributable
to owners of
the parent

Accumulated Accumulated
(-) Interim other other
dividends | comprehensive = comprehensive
income income

Equity
Share instruments

premium issued other

than capital

Retained Revaluation Other (-) Treasury

r f equity chani ital h
sources of equity changes Capita earnings reserves reserves shares

Other equity Other items Total

Opening balance at 31/12/2019 [before restatement] 3,069,522 619,154 - - - - 8,962,001 (50,343) 541,436 - 180,002 1,444 11,881 | 13,335,097

Effects of corrections of errors - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Opening balance [current period] 3,069,522 619,154 - - - - 8,962,001 (50,343) 541,436 - 180,002 1,444 11,881 13,335,097

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 229,803 (34,663) (1,444) 219 193,915

Other changes in equity - - - - - - 101,342 868 (541,436) - - - (9,553) (448,779)
Issuance of ordinary shares - - - - - ~ _
Issuance of preference shares - - - - - - - -
Issuance of other equity instruments - - - - - -
Exercise or expiration of other equity instruments issued - - - - - -
Conversion of debt to equity - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - -
Dividends - - - - - - (352,110) - - - (352,110
Purchase of treasury shares - - - (30,086) - - (30,086)
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - (12,519) 30,954 - - 18,435
Reclassification of financial instruments from equity to liability - - - - - -
Reclassification of financial instruments from liability to equity - - - - - -
Transfers among components of equity - - - - 541,436 (541,436) - - - - -
Equity increase or (-) decrease resulting from business combinations - - - - - - - - - - -
Share based payments - - - - - -

Other increase or (-) decrease in equity - - - - (75,465) - - - - - (9,553) (85,018)

Of which: discretionary contributions to welfare funds (only savings banks and credit
cooperatives)

Closing balance at 31/12/2020 [current period] 3,069,522 619,154 - - - - 9,063,343 (49,475) 229,803 - 145,339 - 2,547 | 13,080,233

The accompanying Notes 1 to 46 and Appendices | to XlIl are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in equity for 2020.
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(in thousands of euros)

Minority interests

Profit or (-)
loss
attributable
to owners of
the parent

Accumulated Accumulated
(-) Interim other other
dividends | comprehensive | comprehensive
income income

Equity
Share instruments Other equit Retained Revaluation Other (-) Treasury

premium issued other quity earnings reserves reserves shares

than capital

Sources of equity changes Capital Other items Total

Opening balance at 31/12/2018 [before restatement] 3,084,963 619,154 - - - - 8,718,830 (96,646) 703,210 - 147,454 1,318 11,156 13,189,439

Effects of corrections of errors - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Opening balance [current period] 3,084,963 619,154 - - - - 8,718,830 (96,646) 703,210 - 147,454 1,318 11,156 13,189,439

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 541,436 32,548 126 853 574,963

Other changes in equity (15,441) - - - - - 243,171 46,303 (703,210) - - - (128) (429,305)
Issuance of ordinary shares - - - - - - -
Issuance of preference shares - - - - - - ~ _
Issuance of other equity instruments - - - - - N
Exercise or expiration of other equity instruments issued - - - - - -
Conversion of debt to equity - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction (15,441) - - - (34,559) 50,000 - - -
Dividends - - - - - - (353,515) - - - (353,515)
Purchase of treasury shares - - - (64,971) - - (64,971)
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - (12,143) 61,274 - - 49,131
Reclassification of financial instruments from equity to liability - - - - - -
Reclassification of financial instruments from liability to equity - - - - - -
Transfers among components of equity N - - - 703,210 (703,210) - - - - -
Equity increase or (-) decrease resulting from business combinations - - - - - - - - - - -
Share based payments - - - - - -

Other increase or (-) decrease in equity - - - - (59,822) - - - - - (128) (59,950)

Of which: discretionary contributions to welfare funds (only savings banks and credit
cooperatives)

Closing balance at 31/12/2019 [current period] 3,069,522 619,154 - - - - 8,962,001 (50,343) 541,436 - 180,002 1,444 11,881 | 13,335,097

(*) The consolidated statement of changes in equity for 2019 is presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. See Note 1.5.
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BANKIA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES COMPOSING THE BANKIA GROUP

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of euros)
A) CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit or (-) loss for the year
Adjustments to obtain cash flows from (used in) operating activities
Depreciation and amortisation
Other adjustments
Net increase/decrease in operating assets
Financial assets held for trading

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at amortised cost
Other operating assets
Net increase/decrease in operating liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Other operating liabilities
Income tax received/paid
B) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Tangible assets
Intangible assets
Investments in joint ventures and associates
Subsidiaries and other business units
Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale
Other payments related to investing activities
Receipts
Tangible assets
Intangible assets
Investments in joint ventures and associates
Subsidiaries and other business units
Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale
Other receipts related to investing activities
C) CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Dividends
Subordinated liabilities
Redemption of own equity instruments
Acquisition of own equity instruments
Other payments related to financing activities
Receipts
Subordinated liabilities
Issuance of own equity instruments
Disposal of own equity instruments
Other receipts related to financing activities
D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS
E) NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D)
F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD
MEMORANDUM ITEM
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD
Cash
Cash equivalents at central banks
Other financial assets
Less: bank overdrafts repayable on demand
Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Of which: held by Group entities but not available to the Group

The accompanying Notes 1 to 46 and Appendices | to Xlll are an integral part of the consolidated income statement for 2020.
(*) The consolidated statement of cash flows for 2019 is presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. See Note 1.5.

2020
(843,521)
230,022
1,046,344
195,372
850,972
(3,994,008)
90,938
22,854

3,374,410
(8,083,028)
600,818
1,821,747
(41,863)
2,170,866
(307,256)
52,374
235,144
(224,689)
(40,687)
(154,866)
(16,263)
@)
(12,871)
459,833
38,123
34,368
387,342
(786,281)
(804,716)
(352,110)

(30,086)
(422,520)
18,435

18,435
(1,394,658)
13,202,885
11,808,227

936,301
10,380,666
491,260

11,808,227

2019 (*)
7,447,535
542,289
722,019
200,952
521,067
3,724,907
113,295
(24,502)
3,905,283
408,583
(677,752)
2,315,570
207,286
2,493,225
(384,941)
142,750
1,195,425
(227,931)
(63,794)
(163,373)
(17)
3)
(744)
1,423,356
40,445
54,594
1,153
1,327,164
(193,875)
(4,378,006)
(353,515)
(1,006,860)
(64,971)
(2,952,660)
4,184,131
1,000,000
49,131
3,135,000
8,449,085
4,753,800
13,202,885

951,826
11,672,642
578,417

13,202,885
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BANKIA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES COMPOSING THE BANKIA GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(1) Description of the Group, incorporation of Bankia, reporting framework applied to draw up the consolidated financial
statements and other information.

(1.1) Group description

Bankia, S.A. (“the Bank” or “Bankia” or the “Entity”) is a private-law entity subject to the legislation and regulations for banks
operating in Spain. Its registered office is at calle Pintor Sorolla, 8, Valencia. At 31 December 2020, the Bank’s branch network
comprised 2,127 offices. Bankia’s bylaws may be consulted, together with other relevant legal information, at its registered office
and on its website (www.bankia.com).

Bankia’s bylaws stipulate the activities it may engage in, which are those commonly carried out by credit institutions and, in
particular, meet the requirements of Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on the organisation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions.

Bankia is the parent of a business group (the “Group” or “Bankia Group”). At 31 December 2020, the consolidated group
encompassed 41 companies, including subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. These companies engage in a range of activities,
including insurance, asset management, financing, services and property management. Appendices I, Ill and IV list the entities
that form part of the scope of consolidation of the Bankia Group at 31 December 2020 (subsidiaries controlled by the Bank, joint
ventures and associates over which Bankia, directly or indirectly, exercises significant influence, distinguishing those classified
under “Non-current assets held for sale”), and specifying the percentage of voting rights controlled by Bankia in each company.

Bankia’s main shareholder is BFA, Tenedora de Acciones, S.A.U. (hereinafter “BFA”), which at the 2020 year end held shares
representing 61.83% of its share capital (62.48% including the impact of treasury shares). Therefore, in addition to the transactions
it carries out directly, Bankia is a subsidiary of and belongs to the BFA, Tenedora de Acciones Group (hereinafter “BFA Group”).

The Bankia Group's consolidated financial statements for 2020 were authorised for issue by Bankia’s directors at the Board meeting
held on 16 February 2021. The financial statements are pending approval by the shareholders of Bankia at their general meeting.
However, the Bank's Board of Directors considers that these financial statements will be approved without any significant changes.
The Bankia Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2019 were approved by the shareholders at the general meeting held
on 27 March 2020.

Appendix | presents the Bank’s balance sheet at 31 December 2020, the income statement, statement of recognised income and
expense, the statement of total changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, together with
information related to 2019 for comparative purposes.

(1.2) Group incorporation

The Group was formed in July 2010 from the integration of seven savings banks (Caja Madrid, Bancaja, Caja Canarias, Caja Avila,
Caixa Laietana, Caja Segovia and Caja Rioja) under the Institutional Protection Scheme (IPS), whereby the resulting new Group
integrated their organisation and management, acting as a single entity for accounting and regulatory purposes. BFA was
incorporated in December 2010. Bankia, the institution resulting from the merger of the aforementioned seven savings banks, was
subsequently incorporated as a subsidiary of BFA.

In 2012, several capital management measures were carried out and public aid was received, after which the Fund for Orderly
Bank Restructuring (FROB) became BFA's sole shareholder. On 28 November 2012, the BFA-Bankia Group's Restructuring Plan for
the 2012-2017 period was approved by the European Commission, the Bank of Spain and the FROB. At 31 December 2017, the
Group had completed the measures and commitments set out in the Restructuring Plan.

In December 2017, Bankia carried out the merger by absorption of Banco Mare Nostrum, S.A. (“BMN”), which was the result of the
2010 merger of four savings banks — Cajamurcia, Caja Granada, Sa Nostra and Caixa Penedés. Its sole shareholder was the FROB
following the capital management measures carried out and the public aid received in 2012 and 2013 under the framework of its
Restructuring Plan approved by the European Commission, the Bank of Spain and the FROB in December 2012.

Royal Decree-Law 4/2016, of 2 December, introducing urgent measures on financial matters, extended the period for the FROB to
dispose of its stake in Bankia from five to seven years. It also provided for the possibility of further extensions subject to approval
by the Council of Ministers. On 21 December 2018, the Council of Ministers approved a further two-year extension of the
divestment period for Bankia’s privatisation to December 2021, with the aim of making more efficient use of public funds,
maximising the recovery of the public aid given and allowing the FROB to carry out a more flexible divestment strategy so as to
find the right conditions in the capital markets.

On 25 January 2019, the FROB, BFA and Bankia publicly announced an agreement regarding the management of the FROB'’s
indirect holding, through BFA, Tenedora de Acciones S.A.U. in Bankia, S.A. Under prevailing legislation, this management is
designed to favour the recovery of the public aid, ensuring maximum efficiency in the use of public funds and safeguarding the
stability of the financial system.
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After completion of all the restructuring plans of the entities that received public financial support from the FROB and the
divestment of all public holdings, except in the BFA-Bankia Group, the FROB's policy was updated (article 54.7 of Law 11/2015).
The update lends continuity to the way the stake in the BFA-Bankia Group was being managed; i.e. based on responsible and
informed monitoring of the investment; non-intervention in the management of the credit institution, allowing its directors to
operate with independence; and promoting best practices in the securities market.

(1.3) Reporting framework applied to draw up the consolidated financial statements

In accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002, all companies
governed by the laws of a member state of the European Union and whose securities are traded on a regulated market in any
European Union country must file consolidated financial statements for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union ("IFRS-EU").

In this respect, the Bankia Group's consolidated financial statements for 2020 were presented in accordance with IFRS-EU,
considering Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 of 27 November 2017, on public and confidential financial reporting rules and formats
for credit institutions (“Circular 4/2017”) and subsequent amendments, which implemented and adapted IFRS-EU for Spanish
credit institutions.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2020 were prepared taking into account all accounting principles and standards
and mandatory measurement criteria applicable in order to give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the consolidated
equity and financial position of Bankia, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Bankia Group at 31 December 2020 and of the
consolidated results of their operations and consolidated cash flows during the financial year then ended, pursuant to the
aforementioned financial reporting framework, and in particular to the accounting principles and criteria therein.

The consolidated financial statements of the Bankia Group were prepared from the accounting records of Bankia and the other
Group entities. However, since the accounting policies and measurement bases used in preparing these consolidated financial
statements may differ from those used by certain Group entities, the required adjustments and reclassifications were made on
consolidation to unify such policies and criteria and to make them compliant with the IFRS-EU used by the Bank.

The main accounting policies and measurement bases applied in preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements for 2020
are summarised in Note 2.

In addition, the requirements laid down in “Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2018/815 of 17 December 2018
supplementing Directive 2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to regulatory technical standards
on the specification of a single electronic reporting format” have been taken into consideration.

(1.3.1) Main regulatory changes during the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020

A) New standards, amendments and interpretations with mandatory application in the calendar year that began on 1
January 2020, approved by the European Union

Following is a list of the main mandatory standards, amendments or interpretations endorsed by the European Union with
mandatory application in the annual period that began on 1 January 2020, and which have therefore been applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements:

- Amendments to the IFRS Conceptual Framework
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020]

The conceptual framework review includes revised asset and liability definitions, as well as a new guide to their measurement,
derecognition, presentation and disclosure.

The amendment described above has had no relevant impact on these consolidated financial statements or their disclosures.

- Amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements" and IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors"

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020]

Introduces amendments to the aforementioned standards to align the materiality definition with that contained in the
conceptual framework.

The standards described above have had no relevant impact on these consolidated financial statements or their disclosures.
- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest rate benchmark reform - Phase 1
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020]

Several regulators in various jurisdictions are currently in the process of reforming the indices used as interest rate benchmarks
for multiple financial transactions with different terms and currencies between different financial market participants.

These benchmark indices are being replaced by other risk-free alternatives based on real transactions.
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The interest rate benchmark reform could mean that certain requirements for hedging relationships cease to be met. This
could lead to the discontinuation of hedging relationships designated by entities at the benchmark date.

For this reason, the IASB initiated a project to amend accounting standards, aimed at avoiding the discontinuation of affected
hedging, and which comprises two phases:

- Phase 1 (finalised and adopted by the European Union): amendments required during the period prior to the full
replacement of the benchmark indices.

- Phase 2 (finalised and to be adopted by the European Union): amendments required once the prevailing rates have been
either definitively modified or replaced.

The phase 1 amendments include certain temporary exceptions to the general application of the standards (IAS 39 and IFRS
9), as well as requirements for additional disclosures (IFRS 7) in the event of using these temporary exceptions. These
amendments cover the hedging relationships directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform currently underway. It is
understood that hedging relationships are directly affected by the reform if the reform gives rise to uncertainties about the
timing or the amount of interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or of the hedging instrument.

The temporary exceptions shall cease to be applicable once certain conditions are met. One of these conditions is that the
uncertainty deriving from the interest rate benchmark reform disappears with respect to the timing and the amount of the
interest rate benchmark-based cash flows or when the hedging relationship is discontinued.

In order to implement the changes arising directly from the interest rate benchmark reform, the Group has created a
multidisciplinary working group comprised of members of the Risks, Systems, Legal, Business, Regulatory Compliance and
other Directorates, geared towards managing the transition of the affected contracts. The project is led by Financial
Management, which regularly reports to the Group’s governing bodies on the status of the implementation.

The completion of phase 1 has not had a relevant impact on these consolidated financial statements or on its disclosures, as
there is no uncertainty with regard to the future of the EURIBOR, the interest rate benchmark used for most of the interest rate
hedging designated by the Group. The EURIBOR will continue to be used and will not be replaced, however its calculation
methodology will be reformed. The amendments introduced to its calculation methodology meet the requirements of the
European Regulation on indices used as benchmarks (Benchmarks Regulation or BMR). This has meant that financial
instruments referenced to the aforementioned index are not directly affected by the reform and therefore, it has not been
necessary to use the aforementioned temporary exceptions.

- Amendments to IFRS 3: "Business Combinations"
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020]

Introduces clarifications to the definition of business. Specifically, it stipulates that, to be considered a business, an integrated
set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. It also clarifies that a business can exist even without including all of the inputs and
processes required to create output.

The standard described above has had no relevant impact on these consolidated financial statements or their disclosures.
- Amendments to IFRS 16: “Leases”
[Effective on or after 1 June 2020]

This introduces a practical expedient to which lessees can opt, whereby they are exempt from assessing whether a COVID-19-
related rent concession, that meets certain conditions, is a lease modification.

The standard described above has had no relevant impact on these consolidated financial statements or their disclosures.

B) New standards, amendments and interpretations with mandatory application in years subsequent to the calendar year
that began on 1 January 2020 approved by European Union

The main standards, amendments and interpretations issued by the IASB and approved by the European Union for mandatory
application in periods after the natural year that began on 1 January 2020, are as follows:

- Amendments to IFRS 4: "Insurance Contracts"
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021]

Extension of the temporary exemption to insurance entities from applying IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and certain provisions
of IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

C) New standards, amendments and interpretations with mandatory application in years subsequent to the calendar year
that began on January 2020 pending approval by the European Union

The following are the main standards, amendments or interpretations issued by the IASB that were pending approval by the
European Union and are therefore not applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements:

l10



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 BANKIA GROUP

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

IFRS 17: "Insurance Contracts"
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application permitted]

IFRS 17 sets out the principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts. Its purpose
is to ensure that an entity provides relevant information that faithfully represents such contracts. This information provides a
basis for assessing the effect that insurance contracts have on the financial position of the entity, financial performance and
cash flows. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 on insurance contracts.

Amendments to IAS 1: “Presentation of Financial Statements”

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application permitted]

This introduces clarifications on the requirements that have to be applied when classifying liabilities as current or non-current.
Amendments to IFRS 3: "Business Combinations"

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted]

Amendments shall be made to the references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Information contained in the standard.
Amendments to IAS 16: “Property, Plant and Equipment”

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted]

Prohibition of an entity from being able to deduct from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced before the asset is available for use.

Amendments to IFRS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted]

Specifies the components that an entity must include as the cost of fulfilling a contract when assessing whether a contract is
onerous.

Annual “Improvements to IFRS” project (2018-2020 cycle)
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted]
The improvements included in this cycle affect the following standards:

- IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”. Those subsidiaries that have adopted IFRS on
a date subsequent to their parent are permitted to measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported
by their parent, avoiding the need to keep two parallel accounting records.

- IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”. The amendment clarifies which costs or fees an entity must include when it applies the
‘10 per cent’ test when derecognising a financial liability. Only costs or fees paid or received between the borrower and
the lender must be included as such.

- IFRS 16 “Leases” Amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying the standard, in order to avoid any potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives.

- IAS 41 “Agriculture”. Removal of the requirement to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value in
accordance with IAS 41.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS4 and IFRS 16: Interest rate benchmark reform - Phase 2
[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021]

After the publication of the phase 1 amendments described above, phase 2 covers matters that could affect the presentation
of financial information during the interest rate benchmark reform, such as changes in the basis used to determine contractual
cash flows or hedging relationships that arise as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform.

The Group intends to adopt the aforementioned standards and amendments when they come into force and if they are finally
applicable. Likewise, it continues to evaluate their impact. From the preliminary analyses performed, their initial application is not
expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(1.4) Responsibility for the information and estimates made

The information in these consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of Bankia’s directors.

In the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, estimates were made in order to quantify
certain assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported therein. These estimates relate basically to the following:

The fair value of certain financial and non-financial assets and liabilities (see Notes 2.2 and 2.20).
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- Impairment and the classification by levels of certain financial assets, considering the value of the collateral received, and non-
financial assets (mainly property), as well as contingent liabilities (see Notes 2.9, 2.15, 2.16, 2.17 and 2.20).

- Classification of financial assets, in the context of the assessment to determine whether the contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (see Note 2.2.4).

- The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of the post-employment benefit liabilities and obligations and other long-
term obligations (see Note 2.13).

- The estimation of the recoverable amount and costs to sell of non-current assets held for sale, investment property and
inventories, based on their nature, condition and the purpose for which they are intended, acquired by the Group in payment
of debt, regardless of the legal format pursuant to which they were acquired (see Notes 2.15, 2.17 and 2.20).

- The recoverability of recognised deferred tax assets (see Notes 2.14 and 26).
- The estimation of the commitments included in the agreement for the sale of the CIU custodian business (see Note 27).
- The useful life, right-of-use value and recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets (see Notes 2.15 and 2.16).

- The assumptions used to quantify certain provisions and the probability of occurrence of certain losses to which the Group is
exposed due to its activity (see Notes 2.18 and 20).

The declaration of COVID-19 as a global pandemic, and its health, economic and social consequences, has increased uncertainty
regarding reasonable and supported macroeconomic information, and the impact of public aid measures required to estimate the
Group’s loan losses. The current scenario is subject to ongoing changes which, together with the lack of comparable historical
references, give rise to a high level of volatility in these figures in the short term. The quantification of the adjustments arising
from the situation caused by COVID-19 has entailed a high level of expert judgement by the Group (see Note 1.16).

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31 December 2020 and at the date of
authorisation for issue of these consolidated financial statements on the events analysed, future events may require these
estimates to be increased or decreased in subsequent years. Any changes to accounting estimates would be applied prospectively
in accordance with the applicable standards, recognising the effects of the change in estimates in the related consolidated income
statement in the future.

(1.5) Comparative information

As required by current law, the information contained in these consolidated financial statements relating 2019 is presented
exclusively for the purposes of comparison with the information for 2020 and therefore does not constitute the Group's
consolidated financial statements for 2019.

(1.6) Agency agreements

A list at 31 December 2020 of the Group’s agents which meet the conditions established in Article 21 of Royal Decree 84/2015,
of 13 February, is provided in Appendix Xl, attached hereto.

(1.7) Investments in the capital of credit institutions

Details of ownership interests of more than 5% held by non-Group Spanish or foreign credit institutions in the share capital or
voting rights of credit institutions forming part of the Group at 31 December 2019 was as follows:

Shareholding institution Investee Percentage ownership

Banco Popular de Ahorro de Cuba Corporacion Financiera Habana, S.A.,, in liquidation (see Note 1.15) 40.00%

In 2020, Corporacién Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation, was wound up. As such, no equity investment is held in this company
at 31 December 2020.

The Group has no ownership interests of 5% or more in the capital or voting rights of other Spanish or foreign credit institutions
at 31 December 2020.

(1.8) Environmental impact

In view of the business activities carried out by the Group (see note 1.1), it does not have any environmental liabilities, expenses,
assets, provisions or contingencies that might be significant with respect to its equity, financial position and results. Therefore, no
specific disclosures relating to environmental issues are included in these notes to the financial statements.

(1.9) Minimum reserve ratio

At 31 December 2020 and throughout 2020, the Group met the minimum reserve ratio required by applicable Spanish legislation.
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(1.10) Deposit Guarantee Fund and Single Resolution Fund

The Bank is a member of the Credit Institution Deposit Guarantee Fund (hereafter “DGF”) created by Royal Decree-Law 16/2011,
of 14 October, whose purpose is to guarantee deposits in cash, securities or other financial instruments at credit institutions, up
to @ maximum of EUR 100,000 for cash deposits or, for deposits made in another currency, the equivalent amount applying the
appropriate exchange rates, and of EUR 100,000 for investors entrusting a credit institution with securities or other financial
instruments. These two guarantees offered by the Fund are different and mutually compatible.

The Management Committee of the DGF determined the annual contribution to be made at 1.8 per mille of the calculation basis
for the part relating to the guarantee of deposits which, added to the 2 per mille for the part relating to the guarantee of securities,
left an accrued amount at 31 December 2020 of EUR 174,320 thousand (EUR 167,261 thousand in 2019), recognised under “Other
operating expenses” in the accompanying consolidated income statement (see Note 37).

At 30 July 2012, the Management Committee of the DGF agreed to recognise a shortfall among the members, payable by each
through 10 equal annual instalments to be settled on the same day as the members must make their ordinary annual contributions
over the next 10 years. The instalment paid at each date by the member may be deducted from the member’s annual contribution
payable on the same date, as appropriate, up to the amount of this ordinary contribution. In this respect, at 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019, the Group recognised a financial liability equal to the present value of the payment commitments
assumed and to be settled in the coming years for an amount of EUR 66,613 thousand and EUR 99,919 thousand respectively and
an asset account for the same amounts to recognise accrual of the payment in the consolidated income statement over the entire
settlement period.

Meanwhile, Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the
recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, requires Member States, among other measures, to establish
financing arrangements for the purpose of ensuring the effective application by the resolution authority of the resolution powers.
With the entry into force on 1 January 2016 of Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15
July 2014, the Single Resolution Board replaced the national resolution authorities and assumed management of the resolution
financing arrangements of credit institutions and certain investment firms under the Single Resolution Fund (SRF) as a key element
of the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM) established through Directive 2014/59/EU. The first ex-ante contributions made by
institutions to the SRF were for the 2016 contribution period.

In 2020, Bankia made a contribution to the SRF of EUR 70,509 thousand (EUR 75,062 thousand in 2019), using EUR 10,576
thousand of irrevocable payment commitments (EUR 11,260 thousand in 2019), recognising the cash collateral under “Loans and
advances” and the remaining EUR 59,933 thousand (EUR 63,802 thousand in 2019) under “Other operating expenses” in the
accompanying consolidated income statement (see Note 37).

(1.11) Events after the reporting period

No other significant events occurred between 31 December 2020 and the date of authorisation for issue of the accompanying
consolidated financial statements other than those included in this note or other notes to the consolidated financial statements.

(1.12) Customer service department

The Bank has in place the "Customer Protection Regulations of Bankia, S.A. and its Group", approved by the Board of Directors.
Among other aspects, the Regulations stipulate that Bankia, S.A.'s Customer Service Department must address and resolve any
complaints or claims submitted by those in receipt of financial services from any of the Bankia Group financial companies — one
of which is the Bank — covered by the scope of the service (Bankia, S.A. and Group entities subject to Ministry of Economy Order
ECO/734/2004 of 11 March on Customer Service Departments and the Financial Institution Ombudsman).

Information on the activities of Bankia, S.A.'s Customer Service Department at 31 December 2020 and 2019, as required under
Ministerial Order ECO/734/2004, is included in Appendix XlII attached hereto.

(1.13) Average supplier payment period “Reporting requirement”, additional provision three of Law 15/2010, of 5 July

Information on the average supplier payment period in commercial transactions at 31 December 2020 and 2019, as required
under Law 15/2010, of 5 July, is included in Appendix XlII attached hereto.

(1.14) Segment reporting and distribution of revenue from ordinary Group activities, by categories of activities and
geographic markets

Segment reporting is carried out on the basis of internal control, monitoring and management of Bankia's activity and results, and
developed in accordance with the various areas of business established with regard to the Group’s structure and organisation. The
Board of Directors is the chief operating decision maker of each business.

The business segments are defined bearing in mind the inherent risks and management characteristics of each. For the purposes
of business segment reporting of activities and income, the core business units on which accounting and management figures are
available are taken as a reference. The same general principles are applied as those used in Group management information, and
the measurement, valuation bases and accounting principles applied are basically the same as those used to prepare the
consolidated financial statements, with no asymmetric allocations.
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The itemised segments on which the information in these consolidated financial statements is presented at 31 December 2020
and 2019 refer to the following business areas:

Retail Banking
Business Banking

Corporate Centre

The Retail Banking area includes retail banking with legal and natural persons (with annual turnover of less than EUR 6 million),
Private Banking and Asset Management activity, and the Bancassurance Directorate distributed through a large multi-channel
network in Spain and operating a customer-focused business model.

The Business Banking area serves legal persons with annual sales volumes of over EUR 6 million as well as the main public sector
players — e.g. the State and the Autonomous Regions, among others — (Business Banking and Corporate Banking), and activities in
Capital Markets (trading in derivatives, financial advisory services, loan and special finance origination, fixed income origination
and trading, and distribution of fixed income products to the network), and has specialised Business Development teams (including
foreign trade, products and services, business intelligence and sustainable financing). Other individuals, legal persons and self-
employed persons with revenues below this threshold are served by the Retail Banking area for these purposes.

Finally, the Corporate Centre deals with any areas other than those already mentioned, including the Investees Management area,
as well as "Non-current assets held for sale".

Once the composition of each business segment is defined, the following management criteria are applied to determine segment
results:

Internal transfer prices: an internal transfer price, cost or return, as appropriate, which replicates the market interest rates for
the term of the various transactions, is applied to average balances of Retail Banking and Business Banking positions. The 1-
month Euribor is applied to average balances of Capital Market and Corporate Centre positions.

Cost allocations: direct and indirect costs are allocated to the different segments based on the activity carried out.

The segment reporting of interest income by geographical area for 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Domestic market 2,288,968 2,458,518
International market: - 771

European Union - -
Other OECD countries - -
Other countries - 771
Total 2,288,968 2,459,289

Geographical segment reporting regarding the Group's consolidated ordinary income for 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Domestic market 3,783,957 3,996,620
International market: - 771

European Union - -
Other OECD countries - -
Other countries - 771
Total 3,783,957 3,997,391
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Business segment reporting regarding the Group's consolidated ordinary income for 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

2020:

(in thousands of euros)

External customers 2,046,948 758,616 978,393 3,783,957

Inter-segment transactions (402.645) (81.637) 484,282 -

Total ordinary income 1,644,303 676,979 1,462,675 3,783,957
2019:

(in thousands of euros)

External customers 2,076,769 698,211 1,222,411 3,997,391

Inter-segment transactions (49.770) (87.732) 137,502 -

Total ordinary income 2,026,999 610,479 1,359,913 3,997,391
(6]

In the table above, "Ordinary income" is understood as the balances under "Interest income", "Dividend income", "Fee and commission income", "Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured
at fair value through profit or loss, net", “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net”, “Gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or
loss”, “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net”, “Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting, net” and "Other operating income" in the accompanying
income statement for 2019, which can be regarded as comparable to the Group's revenue from ordinary business.

No external customer individually represents 10% or more of the Group's ordinary income.
Profit/loss by business segment for 2020 and 2019 is as follows:
2020:

(in thousands of euros)

NET INTEREST INCOME 831,125 425,746 647,247 1,904,118
Dividend income - 17 1,837 1,854
Share of profit or loss of entities accounted for using the equity method - - 59,749 59,749
Fee and commission income and expenses 963,484 212,669 36,653 1,212,806
+/- Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities and exchange differences (115) 41,511 118,761 160,157
+/- Other operating income and expenses (168,775) (14,771) (66,715) (250,261)
GROSS INCOME 1,625,719 665,172 797,532 3,088,423
Administrative expenses (916,535) (63,585) (605,078) (1,585,198)
Depreciation and amortisation (92,337) (2,257) (100,778) (195,372)
RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEFORE PROVISIONS 616,847 599,330 91,676 1,307,853
Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions 13,751 7,463 3,217 24,431

Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through

profit or loss (286,692) (205,644) (551,456) (1,043,792)
Impairment losses on other assets (net) and other gains and losses 104 10 22,887 23,001
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 344,010 401,159 (433,676) 311,493
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2019:

(in thousands of euros)

NET INTEREST INCOME 1,283,839 398,767 340,421 2,023,027
Dividend income - 185 17,249 17,434
Share of profit or loss of entities accounted for using the equity method - - 60,024 60,024
Fee and commission income and expenses 870,037 178,752 31,854 1,080,643
+/- Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities and exchange differences 524 40,398 272,387 313,309
+/- Other operating income and expenses (158,800) (8,469) (82,138) (249,407)
GROSS INCOME 1,995,600 609,633 639,797 3,245,030
Administrative expenses (934,499) (61,675) (619,554) (1,615,728)
Depreciation and amortisation (91,778) (1,840) (107,334) (200,952)
RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEFORE PROVISIONS 969,323 546,118 (87,091) 1,428,350
Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions (3,523) 55,137 (66,166) (14,552)

Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through

profit or loss (287,760) 102,176 (277,357) (462,941)
Impairment losses on other assets (net) and other gains and losses (193) - (194,974) (195,167)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 677,847 703,431 (625,588) 755,690

Segment assets and liabilities of the Group by business segment at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Financial assets at amortised cost — Loans and advances — Customers 78,820,322 38,023,482 4,150,467 120,994,271
Other assets 30,371,303 15,455,757 43,020,618 88,847,678
Total assets 109,191,625 53,479,239 47,171,085 209,841,949
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Deposits - Customers 104,027,059 14,090,675 10,341,797 128,459,531
Net inter-segment financing - - - -
Other liabilities 5,164,566 39,388,564 23,749,055 68,302,185
Total liabilities 109,191,625 53,479,239 34,090,852 196,761,716

31 December 2019:

(in thousands of euros)

Financial assets at amortised cost — Loans and advances — Customers 80,485,273 32,314,690 4,633,048 117,433,011
Other assets 27,275,570 13,940,844 49,818,848 91,035,262
Total assets 107,760,843 46,255,534 54,451,896 208,468,273
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Deposits - Customers 102,368,845 11,172,148 11,243,743 124,784,736
Net inter-segment financing - - - -
Other liabilities 5,391,998 35,083,386 29,873,056 70,348,440
Total liabilities 107,760,843 46,255,534 41,116,799 195,133,176

Amounts related to investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity methad, increases in non-current
assets held for sale that are not financial instruments and deferred tax assets are recognised in the Corporate Centre.
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(1.15) Changes in the Group's composition

Sale of the investment in Caja de Seguros Reunidos, Compariia de Sequros y Reaseguros, S.A.

On 23 January 2020, Bankia, S.A. entered into a contract with a third party for the sale of its investment in Caja de Seguros
Reunidos, Compafiia de Seguros y Reasequros, S.A. (“Caser”) classified at 31 December 2019 under “Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale”. The effectiveness of the aforementioned sale was subject to compliance with certain
conditions precedent, such as the obtaining of regulatory authorisations from the pertinent authorities.

On 25 June 2020, after the authorisations required for the transaction had been obtained, the aforementioned sale agreement was
completed. This transaction generated profit of EUR 51 million, recognised in the consolidated income statement under “Gains or
(-) losses on non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations”.

Merger of the insurance companies

During 2020 the merger by absorption of Caja Granada Vida, Compafiia de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. and Cajamurcia Vida y
Pensiones de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. (@absorbed companies) into Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A., de Seguros y Reaseguros (absorbing
company) was carried out, with no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated equity. At 31 December 2019 the Group held a
49% stake in both the absorbed and absorbing companies, which was classified as “Investments in joint ventures and associates
- Associates”. The situation regarding the investment and classification has not changed in the absorbing company at 31 December
2020.

Corporacion Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation

During 2020 Corporacién Financiera Habana, S.A. in liquidation was wound up. This investment was fully impaired at the
liquidation date.

Other information
There were no significant changes in the Group’s composition or scope of consolidation in 2020 other than those already described.

Appendices Il, lll and IV hereto provide details of companies considered as Group companies, associates and joint ventures,
respectively, for the purpose of preparing these consolidated financial statements.

(1.16) Considerations on the main impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

Details of the explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements which disclose the most relevant effects on the
consolidated financial statements as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic are as follows:

- Note 1.4 outlines the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic on the judgements and estimates made.

- Note 1.16 contains a general description and quantitative information on the measures put into place by the Group and other
measures in the public domain to support families and businesses affected by the pandemic.

- Note 2.9 includes certain aspects that have been taken into consideration with regard to the impairment of financial assets.
- Note 3.2 provides information on the influence of the outbreak on liquidity risk and financing.

- Note 4 provides details of the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s capital.

- Note 5 contains considerations on the effect of the pandemic on the dividends policy.

General considerations

COVID-19 international pandemic

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the public health emergency caused by COVID-19 to be a worldwide
pandemic. This declaration led most of the governments of affected countries to take different public health measures that have
included social distancing, shielding, lockdown and/or quarantine measures to varying degrees depending on each government,
with limitations on the free movement of people and even border closures. These measures have evolved in line with the
progression of the pandemic in each region.

The declaration of a pandemic, the uncertainty associated with how it will progress and with the development of an effective
vaccine, and the exceptional containment and social distancing measures and restrictions on free movement put in place to deal
with the situation have led to a major global economic slowdown on both the supply and demand sides. Businesses have faced
disruption in supply chains, temporary closures and reduced demand, while households face unemployment and a drop in income.
At the same time, certain stock markets have been subject to high volatility, and there is significant uncertainty about how they
will perform in the short term.

National health, economic and social measures

The rapid pace at which events at Spanish and international level have unfolded has led to the need for the adoption of a number
of immediate measures to tackle the unprecedented and enormous health crisis, both in terms of the number of people affected
and the economic and social impact it has generated at Spanish, European and global level.
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These measures started in Spain with Royal Decree 463/2020, of 14 March, declaring a state of emergency to manage the health
crisis triggered by COVID-19, which was subsequently extended to varying degrees until it was lifted on 21 June 2020.

A brief period of de-escalation and gradual recovery was then followed by a new nationwide upsurge in the pandemic in the last
four months of the year, requiring new measures to be taken. These were introduced through Royal Decree 926/2020, of 25
October, declaring a state of emergency to contain the spread of infections caused by SARS-CoV-2, which also newly declared a
state of emergency until 9 November 2020, which was in turn subsequently extended until 9 May 2021 by virtue of Royal Decree
926/2020, of 3 November.

Following on from the foregoing measures, the Spanish government has enacted various regulations to deal with the health crisis
and its economic and social impact and to protect and revive employment and economic activity, both at national level and
through certain measures at sector level, the most important of which are discussed below.

These regulations have in turn been accompanied by others initiated by other public authorities and regional bodies, mainly
regional governments and city councils.

Bankia’s contingency plan

Against this backdrop, since the beginning of the crisis the Bank has adopted numerous operational and contingency-based
measures, including:

- Setting up a Contingency Committee made up of various executives and members of senior management, which has
monitored the situation on a daily basis, coordinating the actions carried out in different areas during the most critical months
of the pandemic.

- Establishment of Coronavirus prevention and protection protocols, periodically updated in coordination with the health
authorities and complemented by various internal guides, all of which are centralised in a single COVID-19 space for
employees.

- Measures to ensure critical functions, identifying critical own and third-party services and establishing diversification plans,
appropriating new funds to infrastructure to cater to the increase in online activity of both Bankia's customers and employees
— including the provision of mobile devices and portable equipment — and reinforcing cyber security measures.

- Measures with suppliers and employees, both preventive (not allowing the presence of non-critical suppliers in corporate
buildings, closing common at-risk spaces, transferring COVID protocols to lessors and lessees, etc.) and protective (PPE, face
masks, hand gel, protective shields, etc.).

- Various prevention and work-life balance measures based on workplace characteristics, ranging from rotating shifts to remote
work for a significant number of Bankia professionals, especially those in corporate buildings, which has reached nearly 95%
for central services and 40% for the network.

- During the process, Bankia has been in permanent contact with the health authorities, has received advice from QUIRON
Prevencion and has held numerous meetings with the State Health and Safety Committee to keep this committee informed
at all times of the measures adopted and to analyse the proposals made by the workplace labour union branches.

Bankia has secured the COVID-19 secure protocol certificate from APPLUS+ CERTIFICATION, an independent certification entity.

Financial support measures

Public measures to provide financial support to families and businesses

Royal Decree-Law 8/2020, of 17 March, on extraordinary urgent measures to address the economic and social impact of COVID-
19 (“RDL 8/2020") provides, inter alia, for a moratorium (public or legislative moratorium) on the payment of mortgage loan
instalments for the acquisition of a principal residence and property relating to the economic activity of entrepreneurs and
professionals for economically vulnerable people affected by COVID-19, as well as the approval of a line of State guarantees to
support lending to companies and self-employed workers, the granting of which is subject to meet certain requirements.

Royal Decree-Law 11/2020, of 31 March, which adopts urgent complementary social and economic measures to deal with COVID-
19 (“RDL 11/2020") completed the first raft of measures, extending the moratorium mechanism on payment of instalments to
other types of financing, such as consumer credit. In addition, the line of State guarantees was extended to economically vulnerably
households as a result of the COVID-19 crisis to provide financing to pay rent for their primary residence.

If the established requirements are met, the public moratoriums relating to RDL 8/2020 and RDL 11/2020 grant a three-month
grace period, with the suspension of payment of instalments and any item comprising them during the period of validity, as well
as a freeze on the accrual of interest during such period.

Through the Spanish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Digital Transformation and managed by the Spanish Official Credit Institute
(IC0), the line of State guarantees seek, if the requirements are met, to ensure that new or renewed loans are secured by the State
for a maximum period of up to five years.
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In addition, Royal Decree-Law 25/2020, of 3 July, on urgent measures to support economic recovery and employment, establishes
a 12-month moratorium for borrowers in financing transactions linked to tourism-related property who, after meeting certain
conditions, have undergone financial difficulties as a result of COVID-19.

Royal Decree-Law 26/2020, of 7 July, on economic reactivation measures to deal with the impact of COVID-19 in transport and
housing, introduces measures for a six-month postponement of payments relating to loans, finance leases and operating leases
that self-employed workers and companies engaging in road transport, and meeting a number of requirements, use to purchase
vehicles.

In view of the lingering effects of the crisis, Royal Decree-Law 34/2020, of 17 November, on urgent measures to provide support
for business solvency, the energy sector and in tax matters, brought in new measures aimed at mitigating the liquidity problems
of businesses and self-employed professionals, thus maintaining the line of business solvency support provided for in the previous
royal decrees. Such measures include the following: the deadline for the granting of public guarantees to address the liquidity
needs of self-employed workers and businesses has been extended from 31 December 2020 to 30 June 2021; borrowers with a
loan that has a public guarantee under Royal Decree-Law 8/2020 may apply for an extension to the loan due date, as well as an
extension on the public guarantee by the same amount of time; customers that meet the eligibility requirements laid down in the
Royal Decree-Law may obtain an extension of the grace period for repayment of the principal of the guaranteed loan — whether
the guarantee was delivered under Royal Decree-Law 8/2020 or under Royal Decree-Law 25/2020 — for a maximum period of 12
months, thus allowing for a maximum total grace period of 24 months; financial institutions are required to uphold working capital
financing facility limits until 30 June 2021 for all customers that meet the eligibility requirements and have been granted a loan
that is guaranteed under either Royal Decree-Law 8/2020 or Royal Decree-Law 25/2020.

Lastly, and consistent with the prolonged effects of the pandemic, “Royal Decree-Law 3/2021, of 2 February, introducing measures
to reduce the gender gap and other Social Security and economic measures”, has extended the deadline to apply for public
moratoriums until 30 March 2021. It moreover stipulates a maximum cumulative duration of nine months for those applied for
since 30 September 2020, including any moratoriums granted previously, and allows for a transitional regime for those granted
between 30 September and the date on which the Royal Decree-Law came into force, for which the duration initially granted may
be maintained

Private financial support measures for Bankia customers

As a complementary measure, on 16 April 2020 the CECA banking association resolved to reach a sector agreement (sector-specific
or private moratorium) that aims to create a common framework establishing the general criteria for deferral of payment by certain
borrowers affected by the health and economic crisis — those who are unable to qualify for the public moratorium and therefore
cannot benefit from it, or for those whose capacity proves insufficient — allowing for the deferral of payments within a specific
period. As a member of CECA, Bankia is one of the entities adhering to the aforementioned sector-specific moratorium.

The transactions modified under this agreement allow for the suspension of principal payments during the period of validity — 12
months for loans or credits with mortgage guarantee and 6 months for personal loans — with the customer assuming the payment
of interest on the outstanding principal over the duration thereof.

On 22 June 2020, it was agreed to extend the term of this sector agreement until 29 September 2020.

On 15 December 2020, an addendum was executed for the purpose of adapting the sector agreement of 16 April and its
amendment of 22 June 2020, in line with how the pandemic was unfolding and the guidelines issued by regulators. This introduced
the possibility of applying for new moratoriums by 31 March 2021 at the latest for a term of up to nine months in transactions
with mortgage guarantee and up to six months in transactions with personal guarantee. Moreover, the addendum provides that
moratoriums applied for by the entities adhering to the agreement and their customers between 30 September 2020 and the date
of the addendum, and which have been granted, shall be deemed to be protected under the sector agreement, provided that they
meet the terms and conditions laid down in the agreement and the deadlines stipulated in the addendum are met.

Bankia has also implemented other measures such as the advance payment of pensions and unemployment benefits, extended
repayment terms for short-term loans, the granting of bridge loans until customers obtain the new State-guaranteed liquidity lines
through the ICO and flexible fee collection.

Quantitative information on public and sector-specific financial support measures

Nearly 113,000 transactions associated with the aforementioned moratoriums have been granted at 31 December 2020 for a
gross carrying amount of approximately EUR 5,625 million, of which nearly of Euros 3,400 million are legislative moratoriums
related to transactions secured by a mortgage, of Euros 375 million are legislative moratoriums related to transactions not secured
by a mortgage, and approximately of Euros 1,850 million are sector-specific moratoriums. The outstanding balance on these
transactions at 31 December 2020 is approximately EUR 4,600 million. Almost all the financing was granted to households, 89%
of which was secured by a mortgage and 87% of which matured at less than six months, and most of the balances were classified
as performing.

At 31 December 2020 the amount drawn down on the new loans extended and backed by a public guarantee is in excess of EUR
8,200 million, approximately. Of this balance, more than 95% corresponds to companies, of which approximately 69% are SMEs.
Approximately 75% of the amount of these transactions is secured.

l19



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 BANKIA GROUP

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

During the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group has recognised a negative amount of Euros 13 million in the consolidated
income statement as a result of adjusting the carrying amount of the transactions modified under a legislative moratorium to the
renegotiated cash flows.

Other considerations

Against the current backdrop and in order to provide the greatest possible certainty in this unprecedented situation, the competent
authorities and accounting and prudential bodies (IASB, BoE, EBA, ECB, ESMA, etc.) have made various pronouncements to draw
attention to the margin of flexibility granted by the regulatory framework in force to support the economy in the particular and
extraordinary circumstances caused by the spread of COVID-19. This is without foregoing a prudent approach, through the
appropriate identification and classification of transactions and a reasonable estimate of the related credit risk coverage (see Note
2.9), or the capital and liquidity measures carried out (see Note 4 and Note 3.2, respectively).

As regards the recognition of credit risk in the current environment, the accounting treatment applied by the Bankia Group complies
with the current accounting and prudential framework and is aligned with the pronouncements made by the various regulators
and supervisors so as to ensure the strict and immediate recognition of transactions of which impairment is evidenced to be non-
temporary (see Note 2.9).

Furthermore, Notes 3.2 and 4 provide additional information on liquidity risk management and capital management, respectively,
in relation to COVID-19.

(1.17) Joint Merger Plan between Caixabank and Bankia

At their General Meeting on 1 December 2020, the Bank’s shareholders resolved to approve the merger by absorption of Bankia
(“Bankia” — absorbed company) into Caixabank, S.A. (“Caixabank” — absorbing company), with the termination of Bankia, via
dissolution without liquidation, and the transfer of all of its assets and liabilities as a whole to Caixabank, which will thus acquire,
by universal succession, all of the assets and liabilities and the rights and obligations of the absorbed company (the “Merger”),
under the terms and conditions envisaged in the joint merger plan signed by the directors of Caixabank and Bankia on 17
September 2020 (the “Joint Merger Plan”). To this end, and pursuant to Law 3/2009, of 3 April, on structural changes to companies
(“Law 3/2009”) and other applicable legislation, the following resolutions, inter alia, were adopted as part of a single transaction:

e Approval of the replacement of Bankia’s merger balance sheet by its half-yearly financial statement at 30 June 2020 required
by the legislation governing the stock market, made public by Bankia on 31 July 2020 and on which KPMG Auditores, S.L., the
auditor of Bankia’s accounts, duly issued their assurance on 28 July 2020, such statement being approved for the pertinent
purposes.

e Approval of the Joint Merger Plan in its entirety and without amendment, and such has been the case for the pertinent
purposes. As provided in article 32 of Law 3/2009, the Joint Merger Plan has been available on the corporate website of Bankia
(www.bankia.com) and that of Caixabank (www.caixabank.com) since 18 September 2020. Moreover, on 23 October 2020,
BDO Auditores, S.L.P., as the independent expert appointed by the Mercantile Registry of Valencia, issued the required report
on the Joint Merger Plan, in accordance with article 34 of Law 3/2009.

e Approval of the merger agreement in accordance with article 40 of Law 3/2009 and article 228 of the Mercantile Registry
Regulations, the merger by absorption of Bankia into CaixaBank strictly adhering to the terms and conditions of the Joint
Merger Plan. The following circumstances, inter alia, associated with the Joint Merger Plan are also noted, without prejudice
to the rest of the circumstances thereof that have also been approved and replicated for the pertinent purposes:

- The exchange ratio for the shares of the merging entities, which was determined on the basis of the actual value of the
net assets of CaixaBank and Bankia, will be 0.6845 newly issued shares of CaixaBank, of the same characteristics and
with the same rights as the existing CaixaBank shares at the date of their issue, for each share of Bankia, of EUR 1 par
value each.

- Provided the prior legal requirements have been fulfilled, the exchange of Bankia shares for Caixabank shares will take
place once the merger has been approved by the shareholders of Bankia and Caixabank at their general meetings (this
condition was met on 1 and 3 December 2020, respectively) the conditions precedent referred to hereafter have been
met; the notarial instrument of Merger and the corresponding capital increase in Caixabank have been executed; and
such notarial instrument of Merger has been filed at the Mercantile Registry of Valencia. The aforementioned exchange
of shares will be carried out as of the date indicated in the prospectus to be published in accordance with the applicable
legislation.

- The date from which the operations of the absorbed company shall be deemed, for accounting purposes, to be performed

by the absorbing company shall be the date resulting from the application of International Financial Reporting Standard
(IFRS) 3, rule 44 of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 of 27 November, to credit institutions, on public and confidential
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financial reporting rules and formats; and recognition and measurement standard 19 of the Spanish General Chart of
Accounts approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007, of 16 November.

- Inaccordance with these regulations, the effective date of the Merger for accounting purposes shall be the date on which,
once the shareholders of Caixabank and Bankia have approved the Merger at their respective general meetings, the last
of the administrative authorisations required for the Merger to take effect is obtained, as this is the date on which the
absorbing company is deemed to have acquired control of the absorbed company.

e Approval for the Merger to avail of the special tax regime provided for in Chapter VII of Title VIl and in additional provision two
of Corporate Income Tax Law 27/2014, of 27 November.

The approval of the merger agreement described above has not brought to light any relevant aspects that would need to be
disclosed or would have a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements from an accounting perspective.

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial statements for issue, the administrative authorisations required for the
Merger to take effect, as stipulated in the Joint Merger Plan, have not been obtained, neither have the pertinent bodies expressed
their opposition, as the case may be.

(2) Principles, accounting policies and measurement bases applied

A summary of the main accounting policies and measurement bases applied to prepare the Bankia Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:

(2.1) Business combinations and consolidation
(2.1.1) Business combinations

A business combination is a transaction or another event in which the acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses. For
these purposes, an entity controls another entity when it has the power to govern its financial and operating policies, as stipulated
by law, the bylaws or agreement, so as to obtain economic benefits from its activities.

A business is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose
of providing goods or services to customers, thus providing a return for the Bank in the form of interest, dividends or other types
of income from its core activities.

In particular, obtaining control over an entity is considered a business combination.

The business combinations through which the Group obtains control over an entity or economic unit are recognised for accounting
purposes using the acquisition method, the main phases of which are summarised as follows:

Identify the acquirer.
Determine the acquisition date.

Recognise and measuring the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree. Other than the exceptions mentioned in IFRS 3, in general, the identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the entity or business acquired are measured at fair value when control is acquired.

Recognise and measurie goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase in the consolidated income statement by comparing the
price paid in the business combination and the initial value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the acquiree.

In those situations in which the Group obtains control of an acquiree in which it holds an equity interest immediately prior to the
acquisition date (a business combination achieved in stages), its equity interests in the acquiree, previously held at their
acquisition-date fair values, are remeasured and the resulting gains or losses, if any, are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

In the case of business combinations carried out without transferring consideration, such as business combinations achieved by
contract alone, the Group recognises, where applicable, the amount of the net assets and liabilities of the acquiree applying the
policies and principles contained in IFRS 3 (in general and with the exceptions established in IFRS 3) at fair value in the Group’s
equity, such that any goodwill or gains arising from the purchase are not recognised in business combinations of this type.

(2.1.2) Basis of consolidation

For the purposes of consolidation and in accordance with the criteria set out in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS
11 Joint Arrangements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, the Group is composed of four types of companies:
subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and structured entities, defined as follows:
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(2.1.2.1) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies over which the Group has control. Control over an investee is understood as the exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from involvement with the investee and the ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of investor
returns.

Consideration as a subsidiary requires:

- Power: An investor has power over an investee when the investor has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities; i.e. the activities that significantly affect the investee's returns;

- Returns: An investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee when the investor's
returns from its involvement have the potential to vary as a result of the investee's performance. The investor's returns can
be only positive, only negative or both positive and negative.

- Link between power and returns: An investor controls an investee if the investor not only has power over the investee and
exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, but also has the ability to use its power to affect
the investor's returns from its involvement with the investee.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the Bank, except those of subsidiaries classified as
non-current assets held for sale, which are recognised and measured as described in Note 2.20.

The share of non-controlling interests of subsidiaries in the Group's consolidated equity are presented under "Minority interests
[non-controlling interests]” on the consolidated balance sheet, while their share of profit and losses is presented under “Profit or
loss - Attributable to minority interests [non-controlling interests]” in the consolidated income statement (see Note 24).

When companies are acquired during the year, only the profit/loss from the date of acquisition until the close of that year is
consolidated.

Accordingly, the profit/loss of companies disposed of during the year is consolidated only from the beginning of the year until the
disposal date.

Appendix Il contains significant information on these entities.
(2.1.2.2) Joint ventures

These are entities over which there is a contractually agreed sharing of control. A joint arrangement is a contractual agreement
giving two or more entities, or "parties", control of an activity subject to joint control. In a joint arrangement, no party has control
over the arrangement, but rather control is shared with the other parties, which implies, contractually, that decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties that share control. There are different types of joint arrangements,
but they can be grouped as follows:

- Ajoint operation, whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for
the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. It may be structured through a separate vehicle or not. In the consolidated financial
statements, a joint operator recognises, according to their nature and in accordance with the applicable IFRS:

- its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

- its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

- its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
- its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation, and

- its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

- Ajointventure, in which the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
Joint ventures must necessarily be structured in a separate vehicle. A joint venturer must recognise its interest in the joint
venture as an investment and account for this investment using the equity method in accordance with IAS 28.

The assets and liabilities assigned to jointly controlled operations and the assets controlled jointly with other venturers are
recognised on the consolidated balance sheet, classified according to their specific nature. Similarly, the Group's share of the
income and expenses of joint ventures is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the basis of the nature of the related
items.

The financial statements of the joint ventures (“jointly controlled entities”) are consolidated with those of the Bank using the
equity method, except those classified as non-current assets held for sale, which are recognised and measured as described in
Note 2.20.

Appendices Il and IV attached hereto contain significant information on these companies.
(2.1.2.3) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Bank has significant influence, but not control or joint control.
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Such influence is usually evidenced by a direct or indirect holding of 20% or more of the investee's voting rights.

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, as defined by IAS
28 except those classified as non-current assets held for sale, which are recognised and measured as described in Note 2.20.

Relevant information on these entities is provided in Appendices Ill and IV.

At 31 December 2020, the Group's investments in entities in which it holds an equity interest of over 20% that have not been
classified as investments in associates on the consolidated balance sheet are immaterial and relate primarily to entities under the
management of an insolvency administrator.

(2.1.2.4) Structured entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who
controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by
means of contractual arrangements. A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or attributes:

- Restricted activities.

- A narrow and well-defined objective, such as to effect a tax-efficient lease, carry out research and development activities,
provide a source of capital or funding to an entity or provide investment opportunities for investors by passing on risks and
rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity to investors.

- Insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated financial support.

- Financing in the form of multiple instruments contractually linked to investors, which create concentrations of credit or other
risks (tranches).

Examples of entities that are regarded as structured entities include, but are not limited to:
- Securitisation vehicles.

- Asset-backed financing.

- Some investment funds.

In those cases where the Group creates, or has interests in, entities designed to provide investment opportunities for customers or
to transfer risks or for other purposes, it determines whether control exists over the investee using internal criteria and procedures
and related regulations, and, therefore, whether it should or should not be consolidated.

These methods and procedures determine the existence of control by considering how decisions are taken regarding relevant
activities and whether there is exposure to variability of returns and if there is a link between power and returns.

Consolidated structured entities

These entities include the so-called "asset securitisation funds" and vehicles, created to provide investment opportunities to
customers or to transfer risks or for other purposes, and are fully consolidated where, based on analysis, it is concluded that the
Group has control.

In the specific case of the securitisation funds to which Group entities transfer lending portfolios, when assessing whether the
Group has control, the following circumstances which indicate control are considered:

- The activities of the securitisation funds are carried out on behalf of the entity, in accordance with the specific needs of the
business, such that it obtains benefits or advantages from the activities of the securitisation funds.

- The entity retains decision-making power to obtain most of the benefits of the activities of the securitisation funds or delegates
this power through an "automatic pilot" mechanism (securities funds are structured such that all decisions and activities have
been predefined before their creation).

- The entity has rights to the majority of the benefits of the securitisation funds and, therefore, is exposed to the risks inherent
in its activity. The entity retains most of the residual benefits of the securitisation funds.

- The entity retains most of the risks of the securitisation funds' assets.
If control is determined to exist on the basis of these indicators, the securitisation funds are included in the consolidated Group.

The Group determined that in none of the securitisations carried out since 1 January 2004 could the securitised assets be
derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet, and that the funds should be consolidated, as the Group manages the
impairment of collateral and substantially retains the expected credit losses and possible variations in net cash flows through
subordinated financing and credit facilities in favour of the securitisation funds (see Notes 2.2.2 and 12.7). However, if the entity
substantially transfers these risks, it derecognises these assets.
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Unconsolidated structured entities

The Group has vehicles for the purpose of providing investment opportunities to customers, transferring risks or for other purposes.
These vehicles are not consolidated as the Group does not have control and as they do not meet the criteria for consolidation set
forth in IFRS 10. The amount of the assets and liabilities of these vehicles is not material in relation to the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

(2.1.2.5) Changes in levels of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, and related impairment
Subsidiaries

Acquisitions and disposals that do not result in a change of control are accounted for as equity transactions, and gains and losses
are not recognised in the income statement. Initially recognised goodwill is not remeasured. The difference between the
consideration paid or received and the decrease or increase in the amount of non-controlling interests, respectively, is recognised
in reserves. Similarly, if a parent loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
and any other items that could be recognised in valuation adjustments of the former subsidiary and recognises the fair value of
the consideration received and any investment retained at the reclassification date. The difference between these amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Joint ventures and associates

At the date on which joint control or significant influence is obtained, the Group estimates the fair value of the investment, which
from that time is considered to be its cost, recognising any gains or losses deriving from differences between its carrying amount
before joint control or significant influence was obtained and its fair value through profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss in
accumulated other comprehensive income in consolidated equity is retained until the investment is disposed of, whereupon it is
reclassified to reserves.

Investments that give rise to a situation of joint control or significant influence are accounted for using the equity method from
the date they become a joint venture or associate. The difference between the cost of the investment and the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as follows:

- Goodwill relating to the joint venture or associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

- Any excess of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is recognised
as income in the consolidated income statement in the year in which joint control or significant influence is obtained.

Additionally, when joint control or significant influence in a joint venture or associate is lost, the retained investment is accounted
for in a similar manner to a subsidiary; i.e. as an asset at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount and fair value is
recognised in profit or loss. The irrevocable option of including the investment in the portfolio of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income is not available for investments originally measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Impairment losses for the period are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement, with a balancing entry in
the carrying amount of the asset. Subsequent reversals are recognised as income in the consolidated income statement.

Indications of objective evidence of impairment for these investments include:
- Significant financial difficulty of the issuer.

- Significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates, which may have
adverse effects on the recovery of the investment.

- Asignificant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an asset below its carrying amount. In these cases, a test should be carried
out to assess whether the indications are clear evidence of impairment.

There is also objective evidence of impairment when the issuer has entered, or it is probable that it will enter, into a creditors’
agreement.

The Group recognises impairment losses on these investments provided that there is objective evidence that the carrying amount
of an investment is not recoverable. The amount of the impairment losses is the difference between the carrying amount of an
instrument and its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of
future cash flows (value in use).

(2.2) Financial instruments
(2.2.1) Initial recognition of financial instruments

Financial instruments are initially recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contract
in accordance with the provisions thereof. Specifically, debt instruments, such as loans and cash deposits, are recognised from the
date on which the legal right to receive or the legal obligation to pay cash arises. Derivative financial instruments are generally
recognised from the trade date.
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A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, defined as one in which the parties' reciprocal obligations must be discharged
within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace and that may not be settled net, such as stock
market and forward currency purchase and sale contracts, is recognised on the date from which the rewards, risks, rights and
duties attaching to all owners are for the purchaser, which, depending on the type of financial asset purchased or sold, may be the
trade date or the settlement or delivery date. In particular, transactions performed in the currency market and equity instruments
traded in Spanish secondary securities markets are recognised on the trade date, and debt instruments traded in these markets
are recognised on the settlement date.

(2.2.2) Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial asset is derecognised when any of the following conditions arise:

The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or

The financial asset and substantially all the significant risks and rewards associated therewith are transferred, or although
these are neither substantially transferred nor retained, control over the financial asset is transferred (see Note 2.7).

Financial liabilities are derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligations are extinguished or when they are
repurchased by the Group with the intention either to resell them or to cancel them.

(2.2.3) Fair value and amortised cost of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument on a specific date is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The most objective and common
reference for the fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be paid for it on an organised, transparent and deep
market (“quoted price” or “market price”).

The Group measures daily all the positions that must be recognised at fair value based either on available market prices for the
same instrument, or on valuation techniques considered appropriate in the circumstances and which maximise the use of
observable market inputs or, where applicable, on the best available information, using assumptions that market agents would
apply to measure the asset or liability assuming they are acting in their best interest.

Note 25 provides information on the fair value of the Group's main assets and liabilities at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Amortised cost is understood to be the acquisition cost of a financial asset or liability plus or minus, as appropriate, the principal
repayments and interest payments, and plus or minus, as appropriate, the cumulative amortisation, using the effective interest
method, of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount of the financial instruments, and in the case of
financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts all estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of a financial instrument to the initial value of the financial instrument, without considering expected credit losses. For fixed
rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate coincides with the contractual interest rate established on the acquisition
date adjusted, where applicable, for the fees and transaction costs that, pursuant to IFRS 9, must be included in the calculation of
the effective interest rate. In the case of floating rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate is determined in a similar
fashion to fixed rate transactions and is recalculated on the date of every revision of the contractual interest rate of the transaction,
taking into account any changes in the future cash flows.

(2.2.4) Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities
Financial instruments are classified in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet as follows:

- Financial assets at amortised cost: financial assets classified in this category present contractual terms that result in cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and are managed within a
business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect their contractual cash flows.

This category includes debt securities, financing granted to third parties in connection with ordinary lending activities carried
out by Group companies and receivables from purchasers of their goods and users of their services, provided the assets are
managed within a business model of holding the financial assets in order to collect their contractual cash flows and the cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. It also includes finance lease
transactions in which the Group acts as the lessor.

Financial assets included in this category are initially measured at fair value, adjusted to reflect transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset, which are taken to consolidated profit or loss until maturity using
the effective interest method. Unless there is evidence to the contrary, the fair value at initial recognition is the transaction
price; i.e. the fair value of the consideration given.

As an exception to the preceding paragraph, trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are
measured initially at their transaction price. In addition, trade receivables that have a significant financing component with an
original maturity of less than one year may be recognised initially at their transaction price.
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Assets acquired at a discount are measured at the cash amount paid and the difference between their repayment value and
the amount paid is recognised as finance income using the effective interest method during the remaining term to maturity.

Subsequently, all financial assets included in this category are measured at their amortised cost, calculated using their effective
interest rate.

When the contractual cash flows are renegotiated or modified in such a way that they do not result in a financial asset being
derecognised as a result of a substantial modification, the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
as the present value of the renegotiated contractual cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The difference
between the gross carrying amount before and after the modification is recognised under "Impairment or (-) reversal of
impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss and modification losses or (-) gains, net” in
the consolidated income statement.

In this connection, the Bankia Group considers that, in general, the modifications in the contractual cash flows from loans
subject to renegotiation under a public or sector-specific moratorium, which are temporary and linked to the COVID-19
pandemic, are not substantial.

The interest accrued on these assets from their initial recognition, calculated using the effective interest methad, is recognised
under “Interest income” in the consolidated income statement. Exchange differences on securities included in this portfolio
denominated in currencies other than the euro are recorded as set out in Note 2.4. Any impairment losses on these assets are
recognised as set out in Note 2.9. Debt securities included in fair value hedges are recognised as set out in Note 2.3.

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: this category includes debt securities whose contractual
terms result in cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are managed
within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect their contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows
from the sale of those assets.

It also includes equity instruments that are not related to subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates, voluntarily and irrevocably
designated initially in this category and that shall not be classified as held for trading.

The instruments included in this category are initially measured at fair value adjusted by the transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset, which are recognised, until maturity, in the consolidated income statement
using the effective interest method, except for those of financial assets with no fixed maturity, which are recognised in the
income statement when these assets become impaired or are derecognised.

After acquisition, the financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised with
a balancing entry in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” on the consolidated balance sheet until the financial asset
is derecognised, whereupon they are reclassified to the consolidated income statement for the year, in the case of debt
instruments, or to in an item of reserves, in the case of investments in equity instruments. Any impairment losses on these
instruments are recognised as set out in this Note. Exchange differences on financial assets denominated in currencies other
than the euro are recorded as set out in Note 2.4. Changes in the fair value of financial assets hedged in fair value hedges are
recognised as explained in Note 2.3.

The interest accrued on debt instruments calculated using the effective interest method is recognised under “Interest income”
in the consolidated income statement. Dividends accrued on equity instruments classified in this category are recognised under
“Dividend income” in the consolidated income statement.

- Financial assets and financial liabilities mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss: this category includes financial
instruments classified as held for trading and non-trading financial instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through
profit or loss:

- Financial assets held for trading: those acquired for the purpose of selling them in the near term or that are part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking, and derivatives that have not been designated as hedging instruments, including
those separated from hybrid financial liabilities.

- Financial liabilities held for trading: those that have been issued with an intention to repurchase them in the near term
or that form part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit taking; short positions arising from financial asset sales under non-
optional repurchase agreements or borrowed securities received on loan or as collateral with the right to sell, and
derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, including those separated from hybrid financial liabilities pursuant
to applicable regulations.

- Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss: including debt instruments that cannot
be classified as at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income because, due to their contractual
terms, they give rise to cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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This category also includes equity instruments that are not related to subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates that should
not be classified as held for trading and have not been voluntarily and irrevocably designated initially at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

- Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss: these include, among others,
financial instruments designated voluntarily and irrevocably initially at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces accounting mismatches, and hybrid instruments composed simultaneously of an embedded derivative
and a host financial liability not held for trading that meets the requirements for accounting for the embedded derivative
separately from the host financial instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading, non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through
profit or loss, and financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are measured initially
at fair value, and any subsequent changes in fair value are recognised with a balancing entry in “Gains or losses on financial
assets and liabilities held for trading, net”, “Gains or losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through
profit or loss, net” and “Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net”,
respectively, in the consolidated income statement, except for fair value changes due to returns accrued on the financial
instrument other than from trading, which are recognised under “Interest income”, “Interest expenses” or “Dividend income”
in the consolidated income statement, depending on their nature. Returns on debt instruments included in this category are

calculated using the effective interest method.

The amount of the change in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” on the consolidated balance sheet, unless
it would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch, which must be appropriately documented and justified. In this case, the
Group may elect to recognise the full amount of the change in fair value initially and definitively in profit or loss.

- Financial liabilities at amortised cost: these include financial liabilities not included in any of the preceding categories.

The liabilities issued by consolidated entities which, although considered capital for legal purposes, do not meet the
requirements for classification as equity; i.e. basically any shares issued by the consolidated entities that do not carry voting
rights and entitle their holders to receive dividends if certain conditions are met, are accounted for in the same way as the rest
of the financial liabilities classified as at amortised cost, and are recognised under “Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Debt
securities issued” on the consolidated balance sheet. This category also includes financial liabilities arising from issues of
contingent convertible bonds convertible into ordinary Bankia shares.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value adjusted by the amount of transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issue of the financial liability, which are allocated to the consolidated income statement until
maturity using the effective interest method defined in prevailing regulations. They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The interest accrued on these liabilities from initial recognition, calculated using the effective interest method, is recognised
under “Interest expenses” in the consolidated income statement, except for coupons accrued on the issuance of contingent
bonds convertible into ordinary Bankia shares, which are recognised in equity as they are payable at the Group's discretion.
Exchange differences on liabilities denominated in currencies other than the euro are recorded as set out in Note 2.4. Financial
liabilities included in fair value hedges are recognised in accordance with Note 2.3.

Assessment of business models

The business model refers to how the Group manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The assessment of the
business model of the various financial assets recognised on the balance sheet is performed at the level that best reflects how
groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular objective.

Accordingly, the assessment is not carried out on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but rather on a higher level of aggregation,
based on the following factors:

How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated and
reported to management.

The risks that affect the performance of the business model and the way in which those risks are managed.

How managers and management in charge of these businesses models are compensated.
Contractual cash flow characteristics

The second step in the process carried out by the Group to classify financial assets is to assess whether the contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. This assessment is carried out through an ‘SPPI test’ (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest).

In a basic lending arrangement, consideration for the time value of money and credit risk are typically the most significant
elements of interest, although interest also includes the consideration for other risks (e.g. liquidity risk) and costs. To perform the
SPPI test, the Group evaluates the facts and circumstances affecting the instrument. Key considerations include:
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Contractual terms that change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows: the existence of contingent events that
might affect the cash flows, extension options or prepayment options, etc.

Contractual terms that do not provide the Group with consideration for the time value of money and for credit risk:
transactions in which the interest rate is periodically reset but the frequency of that reset does not match the tenor of
the interest rate, returns linked to prices or performance of other assets, leverage, etc.

Non-recourse instruments: financial assets whose contractual cash flows are described as principal and interest, but those
cash flows do not represent the payment of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Contractually linked instruments: situations in which an issuer may prioritise payments to the holders of financial assets
using multiple contractually linked instruments that create concentrations of credit risk (tranches).

The currency in which the financial asset is denominated.

De minimis and non-genuine: variables that, while not passing the SPPI test, have an impact that is insignificant or
immaterial (de minimis) or that affect contractual cash flows only on the occurrence of an event that is extremely rare,
highly abnormal and very unlikely to occur (non-genuine). However, if a contractual cash flow characteristic could have
an effect on the contractual cash flows that is more than de minimis or that cash flow characteristic is genuine, and
introduces exposure to risks or volatility that is unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, it does not give rise to
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Nevertheless, financial instruments that should be considered as non-current assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Bankia Group as explained in Note 2.20.

(2.2.5) Reclassification of financial instruments between portfolios

When, and only when, the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, it reclassifies all affected debt
instruments on the basis that a change in the business model is considered to be exceptional or infrequent.

The Group has defined the following business models:

- Hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, whose objective is to hold financial assets to maturity in order to collect
the contractual cash flows. Some sales are permitted, if those sales are infrequent or insignificant in value or when, irrespective
of their frequency and value, they are carried out due to an increase in the assets’ credit risk.

- Hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets, whose objective is to hold financial assets to
maturity, but also to sell them in order to collect the contractual cash flows arising from their sale. These financial assets are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

- Hold assets for sale, whose objective is to manage the financial assets in order to collect cash flows by selling them, which
normally involves frequent purchases and sales of the assets. These financial assets are measured at fair value through profit
or loss.
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The following diagram illustrates potential reclassifications of debt instruments among categories:
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There have been no changes in the Group’s business model during the period, and therefore no reclassification of debt instruments.

Under no circumstances does the Group reclassify derivatives to a category other than fair value through profit or loss, nor does it
reclassify any financial liabilities.

Reclassification to fair value through profit or loss is not permitted for equity instruments not held for trading and irrevocably
designated on initial recognition as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Similarly, the Group does not reclassify equity instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss to financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

(2.3) Hedge accounting and mitigation of risk
The Group has elected to continue applying the recognition and measurement criteria for hedges included in IAS 39.

The Group uses financial derivatives as part of its strategy to reduce its exposure to interest rate, credit and currency risks, among
other risks. When these transactions meet certain requirements stipulated in the applicable accounting regulations, they qualify
for hedge accounting.

When the Group designates a transaction as a hedge, it does so from the inception of the hedge or hedged instruments, and the
hedging transaction is duly documented. The hedge accounting documentation includes identification of the hedged item(s) and
the hedging instrument(s), the nature of the risk to be hedged and the criteria or methods used by the Group to assess the
effectiveness of the hedge over its entire life, taking into account the risk to be hedged.

The Group enters into hedges on a transaction-by-transaction basis in accordance with the criteria explained previously, continually
monitoring the effectiveness of each hedge, to ensure that changes in the value of the hedging instrument and the hedged item
offset each other.

To measure the effectiveness of hedges designated as such, the Group analyses whether, from inception to expiration of the hedge,
it can expect, prospectively, that the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged
risk will be almost fully offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows, as appropriate, of the hedging instrument or instruments
and, retrospectively, whether the actual results of the hedge have been within a range of 80% to 125% of the results of the hedged
item.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, when the hedge no longer meets the
requirements for hedge accounting or it revokes the designation as a hedge.
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The Group’s hedging transactions are classified into the following categories:

Fair value hedges: these hedge exposure to changes in the fair value of recognised financial assets and liabilities or
unrecognised firm commitments, or a component of any such item, that is attributable to a specific risk and could affect the
consolidated income statement.

The Group applies hedge accounting to reduce the risk that the fair value of fixed-rate assets and liabilities will fluctuate as if
they were instruments indexed to a floating interest rate. The Group only hedges changes in the fair value of the hedged
instrument attributed to changes in the reference rate, which constitutes the main element of the total fluctuation in the fair
value of the hedged item.

The Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness, by comparing changes in the fair value of the
hedging instruments and hedged items attributable to the change in the reference rate. This method implies modelling a
derivative instrument whose characteristics perfectly match those of the hedged risk, so that the change in the fair value of
the hypothetical derivative should be equivalent to the change in the present value of the expected future cash flows of the
hedged item. The measurement of hedge ineffectiveness is based on a comparison between the changes in the fair of the
derivative actually arranged as a hedge and the changes in the fair value of the hypothetical derivative.

The Group also matches the principal of the hedging instruments with the principal of the hedged items.
The Group's main hedged positions and the financial hedging instruments used are as follows:

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: fixed-rate debt securities, whose risk is hedged with
interest rate derivatives (basically swaps).

- Financial assets at amortised cost: fixed-rate loans, whose risk is hedged with interest rate derivatives (basically swaps).

- Financial liabilities at amortised cost: long-term fixed-rate deposits and debt securities issued by the Group, whose risk
is hedged with interest rate derivatives (basically swaps).

The main reason for the ineffectiveness of this type of hedge may arise from the divergence between payment dates of the
hedging instruments and the hedged item, and the use of different interest rate curves to discount the hedging instruments
and the hedged item.

Specifically, for financial instruments designated as hedged items and hedge accounting, the differences in value are
recognised as follows:

- The gains or losses arising on both the hedging instruments and the hedged items associated with the hedged risk are
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. The balancing entry for changes in the fair value of the hedged
item attributable to the hedged risk is recorded as an adjustment to the fair value of the hedged instruments.

- When fair value hedging is discontinued, in the case of hedged items at amortised cost, the value adjustments made as
a result of the hedge accounting are recognised in the consolidated income statement until maturity of the hedged items,
using the effective interest rate recalculated at the date the hedge accounting is discontinued.

Cash flow hedges: these hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a specific risk associated with all
or a component of a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect consolidated profit
or loss.

The Group applies hedge accounting to reduce the risk that the cash flows of floating-rate assets and liabilities will fluctuate
as if they were instruments indexed to a fixed interest rate.

The Group's main hedged positions and the financial hedging instruments used are as follows:

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: floating-rate debt securities, whose risk is hedged
with interest rate derivatives (basically swaps).

- Financial assets at amortised cost: floating-rate loans, whose risk is hedged with interest rate derivatives (basically
swaps).

The Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness, by comparing changes in the fair value of the
hedging instruments and hedged items attributable to the change in the reference rate, as explained for fair value hedges. All
cash flow hedges arranged by the Group are transactions in which the hedged transaction perfectly matches the hedging
derivative. As a result, no significant causes of ineffectiveness for this type of hedge have arisen.

Specifically, for financial instruments designated as hedged items and hedge accounting, the differences in value are
recognised as follows:

- The gains or losses attributable to the portion of the hedging instruments that qualifies as an effective hedge are
recognised temporarily in consolidated equity under “Accumulated other comprehensive income - Items that may be
reclassified to profit or loss - Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedge reserve [effective portion]”. Financial instruments
hedged in this type of hedging transaction are recognised as explained in “Classification and measurement of financial
assets and liabilities”, with no change made to the recognition criteria due to their consideration as hedged items.
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As a general rule, in cash flow hedges, the gains or losses attributable to the effective portion of the hedging instruments
are not recognised in the consolidated income statement until the gains or losses on the hedged item are recognised in
the consolidated income statement or, if the hedge relates to a highly probable forecast transaction that will lead to the
recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, they are recognised as part of the acquisition or issue cost when the asset
is acquired or the liability is assumed.

The gains or losses on the ineffective portion of the hedging instruments are recognised directly under “Gains or (-) losses
from hedge accounting, net” in the consolidated income statement.

If a cash flow hedge is discontinued, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised under “Equity -
Accumulated other comprehensive income” on the consolidated balance sheet will continue to be recognised under that
heading until the forecast hedged transaction occurs, whereupon it will be reclassified to the consolidated income
statement or it will correct the acquisition cost of the asset or liability to be recorded, if the hedged item is a forecast
transaction that results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability.

- Hedges of net investment in a foreign operation: these hedge the currency risk deriving from investments in subsidiaries,
associates, joint ventures and branches of the Group whose activities are based or undertaken in a different country or in a
currency other than the euro. The treatment for this type of hedge is the same as for cash flow hedges. The amounts recognised
as valuation adjustments in consolidated equity in accordance with the aforementioned criteria are taken to the consolidated
income statement when they are disposed of or derecognised.

(2.4) Foreign currency transactions

(2.4.1) Functional currency

The Group’s functional currency is the euro. Consequently, all balances and transactions denominated in currencies other than the
euro are considered to be denominated in “foreign currency”.

Details of the equivalent euro value (in thousands of euros) of the main asset and liability balances on the consolidated balance
sheet at 31 December 2020 and 2019, indicating the nature of the items and the main currencies in which they are denominated,
are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

ITEM Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Balances in US dollars

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 50,910 - 160,994 -
Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading 200,333 113,474 236,051 120,998
Financial assets at amortised cost 1,467,209 - 1,350,957 -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 1,526,059 - 1,267,675
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 18,495 - 36,053 -
Other 515 17,370 36,695 19,486
Sum 1,737,462 1,656,903 1,820,750 1,408,159

Balances in pounds sterling

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 7,411 - 6,050 -
Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading 59,681 60,810 104,682 106,657
Financial assets at amortised cost 259,678 - 175,839 -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 153,687 - 73,353
Other - 20 - 4
Sum 326,770 214,517 286,571 180,014
Balances in other currencies

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 24,490 - 20,662 -
Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading 2,387 3,387 6,314 7,597
Financial assets at amortised cost 435,926 - 226,736 -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 92,827 - 101,677
Other 5 3,200 8 1,786
Sum 462,808 99,414 253,720 111,060
Total foreign currency balances 2,527,040 1,970,834 2,361,041 1,699,233
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(2.4.2) Criteria for translation of foreign currency balances

Balances in foreign currencies are translated to euros in two consecutive phases:

- Translation of foreign currency to the functional currency of the Group entities, joint ventures and entities accounted for using
the equity method, and

- Translation to euros of the balances of consolidated companies or companies accounted for using the equity method whose
presentation currency is not the euro.

The functional currencies of all the Group entities or entities accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements are the same as their respective presentation currencies.

Translation of foreign currency to the functional currency: foreign currency transactions performed by consolidated entities or
entities accounted for using the equity method are initially recognised in their respective financial statements at the equivalent
value of their functional currencies, translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. Subsequently, the
consolidated entities translate the foreign currency monetary items to their functional currencies using the exchange rates at year
end.

Furthermore:

- Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date of
acquisition.

- Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date when
the fair value was determined.

Entities whose functional currency is not the euro: the balances in the financial statements of the consolidated entities and entities
accounted for using the equity method whose functional currency is not the euro are translated to euros as follows:

- Assets and liabilities, at the closing rates.

- Income and expenses and cash flows, at the average exchange rates for the year.
- Equity, at the historical exchange rates.

(2.4.3) Exchange rates applied

The exchange rates used by the Group in translating the foreign currency balances to euros for the purpose of preparing the
consolidated financial statements, taking into account the criteria mentioned above, were the official rates published by the
European Central Bank.

(2.4.4) Recognition of exchange differences

Exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign currency balances into the functional currency of consolidated entities
and their branch offices are generally recognised at their net amount under “Exchange differences [gain or (-) loss], net” in the
consolidated income statement, except for exchange differences deriving from financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss, which are recognised in the consolidated income statement under “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities
held for trading, net”, “Gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, net” or
“Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net”, without differentiating

them from the rest of the changes in fair value.

However, exchange differences arising from non-monetary items whose fair value is adjusted through equity are recognised in
consolidated equity under “Accumulated other comprehensive income - Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Foreign
currency translation” on the consolidated balance sheet until they are realised.

The exchange differences arising on the translation to euros of the financial statements in the functional currencies of the
consolidated entities, whose functional currency is not the euro, are recognised in consolidated equity under “Accumulated other
comprehensive income - Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Foreign currency translation” on the consolidated balance
sheet, whereas those translated to euros of the financial statements of entities accounted for using the equity method are
recognised under “Accumulated other comprehensive income - Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Share of other
recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates”.

(2.5) Recognition of income and expenses
The most significant accounting criteria used by the Group to recognise its income and expenses are summarised as follows:
(2.5.1) Interest income and expenses, dividends and similar items

As a general rule, interest income, interest expenses and similar items are recognised on the basis of their period of accrual using
the effective interest method defined in IFRS 9. Dividends received from companies other than those within the scope of
consolidation of the Group are recognised as income when the consolidated entities' right to receive them arises.
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However, when a debt security is assessed to be impaired individually or because recovery is considered unlikely, except for
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the interest accrued in the consolidated income statement is the result
of applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost (i.e. adjusted for any loss allowance), recognising an impairment loss
for the same amount.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset.

(2.5.2) Commissions, fees and similar items

Fee and commission income and expenses that are not to be included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of transactions
and/or are not included in the acquisition cost of financial assets or liabilities other than those classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated income statement using criteria that vary according to their nature. The most
significant fee and commission items are as follows:

- Fees and commissions linked to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss,
which are recognised in the income statement at the settlement date.

- Those arising from transactions or services that are performed over a period of time, which are recognised in the consolidated
income statement over the life of these transactions or services.

- Those relating to services provided in a single act, which are recognised in the income statement when the single act is carried
out.

(2.5.3) Non-financial income and expenses

Non-financial income and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.

(2.5.4) Deferred income and accrued expenses

These are recognised for accounting purposes at the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at market rates.
(2.6) Offsetting

Asset and liability balances are offset, i.e. reported on the consolidated balance sheet at their net amount, when, and only when,
they arise from transactions in which a contractual or legal right of set-off exists and the Group intends to settle them on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

In this regard, the presentation of financial assets subject to valuation adjustments for depreciation or impairment, net of these
adjustments, is not considered “offsetting”.

In addition, the Group offsets positions in trading derivatives arranged through clearing houses, when they meet the criteria for
offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability, as follows:

- the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts of the instruments; and
- the entity intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: presentation and disclosure” clarifies when a financial asset and financial liability are eligible for
offset. The criteria were considered for the aforementioned offset. Specifically, regarding the first of the above requirements, the
right of set-off cannot be contingent on a future event and must be legally enforceable in the following circumstances: the normal
course of business, the event of default and the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all the counterparties.

Regarding the second requirement, the settlement mechanism through clearing houses must have features that eliminate or result
in insignificant credit and liquidity risk, inasmuch as they process receivables and payables in a single settlement process or cycle,
such that the result is, effectively, equivalent to net settlement.

Notes 9 and 13 present details of net positions by class of derivative. However, in accordance with prevailing regulations, other
disclosures regarding offset positions are presented at their gross amount.

(2.7) Transfers of financial assets

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the extent to which the risks and rewards associated with
the transferred assets are transferred to third parties:

- If substantially all the risks and rewards of the transferred assets are transferred to third parties — i.e. an unconditional sale of
financial assets, a sale of financial assets under an agreement to repurchase them at their fair value at the date of repurchase,
a sale of financial assets together with a purchased call option or a written put option that is deeply out of the money,
securitisation of assets in which the transferor does not retain a subordinated debt or grant any credit enhancement to the
new holders, and other similar cases — the transferred financial asset is derecognised and any rights or obligations retained or
created in the transfer are recognised simultaneously.
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- If substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial asset are retained — i.e. a sale of financial
assets under an agreement to repurchase them at a fixed price or at the sale price plus interest, a securities lending agreement
in which the borrower undertakes to return the same or similar assets, securitisation of financial assets in which a subordinated
debt or another type of credit enhancement that absorbs substantially all the expected credit losses on the securitised assets
is retained, and other similar cases — the transferred financial asset is not derecognised and continues to be measured applying
the same criteria as those used prior to the transfer. However, the following items are recognised with no offsetting:

- An associated financial liability, for an amount equal to the consideration received; this liability is subsequently measured at
amortised cost, or, if the aforementioned requirements for classification as other financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are met, at fair value, in accordance with the aforementioned criteria for this type of financial liability.

- The income from the financial asset transferred but not derecognised and any expense incurred on the new financial liability.

- If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the financial asset transferred
— i.e. a sale of financial assets with a purchased call option or a written put option that is neither deeply in the money nor
deeply out of the money, securitisation of financial assets in which the transferor retains a subordinated debt or other type of
credit enhancement for a portion of the transferred asset, and other similar cases — the following distinction is made:

- If the transferor does not retain control of the transferred financial asset, the transferred financial asset is derecognised and
any right or obligation retained or created as a result of the transfer is recognised.

- If the transferor retains control of the transferred financial asset, it continues to recognise it on the consolidated balance sheet
for an amount equal to its exposure to changes in value and recognises a financial liability associated with the transferred
financial asset. The net amount of the transferred asset and associated liability is the amortised cost of the rights and
obligations retained, if the transferred asset is measured at amortised cost, or the fair value of the rights and obligations
retained, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

Accordingly, financial assets are only derecognised when the cash flows they generate have been extinguished or when
substantially all the inherent risks and rewards have been transferred to third parties.

Note 27.1 contains a summary of the main circumstances of the principal transfers of assets outstanding at the 2020 and 2019
year ends.

(2.8) Exchanges of assets

Exchanges of assets entail the acquisition of tangible or intangible assets in exchange for other non-monetary assets or a
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets. For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, the foreclosure
of assets to recover amounts owed to consolidated entities by third parties is not considered an exchange of assets.

The assets received in an exchange of assets are recognised at fair value, provided that the transaction can be deemed to have
commercial substance, as defined in IAS 16 and 38, and that the fair value of the asset received or, failing this, of the asset given
up, can be estimated reliably. The fair value of the instrument received is determined as the fair value of the asset given up plus,
where applicable, the fair value of any monetary consideration given up in exchange, unless the fair value of the asset received is
more clearly evident.

If the exchanges of assets do not meet the above requirements, the asset received is recognised at the carrying amount of the
asset given up plus the monetary consideration given up or assumed in the acquisition.

(2.9) Impairment of financial assets

The impairment model is applicable to debt instruments at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and other exposures that give rise to credit risk, such as loan commitments given, financial guarantees
given, and other commitments given.

The criteria for assessing and classifying transactions in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with their credit risk
includes both the credit risk attributable to insolvency and any country risk to which the transactions are exposed. Credit
transactions that are exposed to both credit risk attributable to insolvency and country risk are classified in the category
attributable to insolvency risk. However, impairment losses attributable to insolvency are estimated on a country risk basis when
the latter requirements are more stringent.

Impairment losses for the period are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement, with a balancing entry in
the carrying amount of the asset. Reversals of previously recognised impairment losses are recognised as income in the
consolidated income statement. For debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the instrument
is subsequently adjusted to fair value, with a balancing entry in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in consolidated
equity.

A) Classification of transactions on the basis of credit risk attributable to insolvency

Financial instruments — including off-balance sheet exposures — are classified into the following categories considering
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the transaction or a default event has
occurred:
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- Stage 1 — Performing exposures: the risk of a default event has not increased significantly since initial recognition of the
transaction. The amount of the loss allowance for this type of instrument is equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

- Stage 2 - Performing exposures under special monitoring: the risk of a default event has increased significantly since
initial recognition of the transaction. The amount of the loss allowance for this type of instrument is equal to lifetime
expected credit losses.

- Stage 3 — Non-performing exposures: a default event in the transaction has occurred. The amount of the loss allowance
for this type of instrument is equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

- Total write-off: transactions in which the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovery. The amount of the loss
allowance for this type of instrument is equal to its carrying amount and entails the full or partial write-off of the asset.

The Group uses the following definitions for the purposes of classifying a financial instrument into one of the preceding
categories:

Significant increase in credit risk

For financial instruments classified in Stage 1 — Performing exposures, the Group assesses whether to continue recognising
12-month expected credit losses. The Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If so, it transfers the financial instrument to Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring and
recognises lifetime expected credit losses. This assessment is performed from a dual perspective — guantitative and
qualitative — and it is symmetrical, such that the financial instrument may return to Stage 1 — Performing exposures.

To perform this assessment from a quantitative perspective, the Group has developed a specific approach for comparing
probability of default (PD), whereby current PD is compared to the original PD associated with the rating level at inception.
If the assessment shows an increase above absolute and relative thresholds, the Group considers that there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk of the instrument. These thresholds were calibrated in accordance with the criteria set
out in the Group's risk approval policy and consider the individual characteristics of the loan portfolios. The election of the
thresholds for classification of transactions into Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring was based on
analysis of the Group's historical experience, in which transactions with similar PD levels were classified in Stage 2 —
Performing exposures under special monitoring using quantitative and qualitative criteria.

For the purposes of the quantitative comparison, the Group availed of the simplification allowed in the standard, which
considers changes in the risk of a default occurring over the next 12 months as a reasonable approximation to changes in
lifetime risk of default of the instrument. This approach is aligned with the Group's credit risk management practices and
provides a reasonable approximation to the changes in the lifetime risk of a default occurring. In this respect, no situations
have been identified where the financial instrument presents significant payment obligations beyond the next 12 months,
where changes in relevant macroeconomic or other credit-related factors occur that are not adequately reflected in the risk
of a default occurring in the next 12 months, or where changes in credit-related factors only have an impact on the credit
risk of the financial instrument beyond 12 months indicating that a lifetime assessment is necessary.

Moreover, for comparison and considering the ageing of current transactions, for those in which no PD was available on
origination, the Group has used the first PD available.

The Group’s credit risk management systems also include other quantitative and qualitative components which, combined
or separately, could give rise to the consideration that the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly,
such as adverse changes in the borrower’s financial position, downgrades in credit rating, unfavourable changes in the sector
in which they operate or in their regulatory or technological environment, among others, which do not present evidence of
impairment. These factors and weightings vary by type of product, type of borrower, and characteristics of the financial
instrument, so it is not possible to detail a single set of criteria for determining the occurrence of a significant increase in
credit risk.

Irrespective of the assessment based on probability of default and indications of deterioration in the credit risk of the
exposure, a significant increase in credit risk is determined in transactions presenting the following circumstances:

- More than 30 days past due, rebuttable presumption based on reasonable and supportable information. The Group has
not applied a longer period of time for these purposes.

- Refinancing or restructuring that does not present evidence of impairment. Appendix X shows the classification and
allowance policies and criteria applied by the Group for these types of transactions.

- Special debt sustainability agreement that does not present evidence of impairment until the cure criterion is applied.

- Agreements with issuers or borrowers declared subject to bankruptcy proceedings that do not present evidence of
impairment.

- Repeat default or addition to the default ladder that does not present evidence of impairment of mortgage loans extended
to individuals.
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However, for assets with a counterparty of low credit risk, the Group applies the possibility included in the standard of
considering that their credit risk has not increased significantly. Such counterparties are primarily central banks, general
government, deposit guarantee and resolution funds, credit institutions, reciprocal guarantee companies, and non-financial
corporations considered to belong to the public sector.

As regards the measures granted by the Bankia Group to support families and businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic,
these measures do not in themselves give rise to an improvement over the previous classification of the loan on the basis of
credit risk attributable to insolvency. In addition, the Group analyses those situations in which the beneficiary of a support
measure is dealing with one-off liquidity pressures caused by the outbreak or, on the contrary, the debtor's ability to pay may
be jeopardised in the long term. In this regard:

At the outset of the situation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and when the transactions are modified, the Group
assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk in such transaction. In the absence of such an increase,
the Group does not lower the credit rating assigned to the transaction.

The granting of guarantees by the State does not increase or reduce the risk of default by the borrower and, therefore,
does not affect the assessment as to whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
At the outset of the situation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and when the State-backed financing is extended, the
Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk in the pre-existing transactions arranged with
the borrower. In the absence of this increase, the Group does not lower the credit rating assigned to the transaction.

After being granted, public and sector-specific moratoriums entail the calculation of days of default based on the new
payment schedule resulting from application thereof. Amounts suspended by public moratoriums are not considered as due
and payable or, therefore, as past-due during the moratorium.

Default and credit-impaired financial assets

To determine the risk of default, the Group applies a definition that is consistent with the one used for internal credit risk
management of financial instruments and considers quantitative and qualitative indicators.

In this respect, the Group considers that default occurs in credit exposures in the following circumstances:

More than 90 days past due. This includes all of a borrower’s transactions when the amount of balances more than 90
days past due exceeds 20% of the amount outstanding.

There are reasonable doubts that the full amount of the asset will be repaid.

A financial instrument is considered credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on its
estimated future cash flows have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.
Breach of contract, such as a default or past-due event.

The lender, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender would not otherwise consider. Appendix X shows the classification and allowance
policies and criteria applied by the Group for these types of transactions.

It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
The disappearance of an active market for that financial instrument because of the issuer's financial difficulties.

The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may be possible to identify a single discrete event or, instead, the combined effect of several events may have caused
financial assets to become credit-impaired.

In any case, the Group's definitions of default and credit-impaired asset are aligned.

In relation to the support measures granted to families and households to mitigate the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the following considerations should be noted:

As regards non-payment of more than 90 days, the granting of the moratorium entails the calculation of days of default
based on the new payment schedule resulting from application thereof. Accordingly, the amounts suspended by the
public moratoriums are not considered due and payable and, therefore, are not overdue for the purpose of increasing the
calculation of days of default for such balances. As such, they do not generate new classifications to Stage 3 - Non-
performing exposures during the moratorium as a result of default exceeding 90 days.
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With respect to the existence of reasonable doubts as to the full repayment of the loan, in those cases where relief
measures (moratoriums and guarantee lines) have been granted, the Group continues to apply the general criteria
contained in the monitoring policies to assess the borrower's ability to pay. This analysis aims to identify those situations
in which it is highly likely that temporary problems will turn into longer-term difficulties, ultimately leading to the
borrowers’ inability to meet their contractual obligations.

No reasonable expectations of recovery

The Group classifies a transaction as a total write-off when, after an individualised assessment, it has no reasonable
expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows due to manifest and irreversible deterioration of the solvency of the
transaction or borrower.

In this respect, the Group deems the recovery of the following transactions to be remote (automatic classification factors):

Transactions classified as Stage 3 — Non-performing due to arrears that have been in this category for more than four
years or that, before reaching this age, have been covered by a credit risk allowance or provision of 100% for over two
years, unless there is effective collateral, on the basis of the present value, covering at least 10% of the gross carrying
amount of the transaction.

Transactions with borrowers declared to be in bankruptcy proceedings for which there is evidence that the liquidation
phase has been or is due to be declared, except those with effective collateral, on the basis of the present value, covering
at least 10% of the gross carrying amount of the transaction.

Classification in this category for the above reasons does not, however, mean that the Group should cease negotiations and
legal action to recover the amount.

The Group also assesses the individual facts and circumstances that could indicate that recovery of the contractual cash
flows of the transaction is remote. These include situations where recovery proceedings have been exhausted although the
age of default is less than four years; exposures in bankruptcy proceedings for which the expectation of recovery is low; or
situations where high costs must be incurred that do not justify the amount to be recovered.

B)  Methodologies for estimating expected credit losses due to insolvency

The estimation of expected credit losses considers the following aspects, among others:

The existence of several possible outcomes, for which different weightings are determined based on the probability of
occurrence of the various scenarios.

The time value of money.

The latest available information without undue cost or effort, reflecting past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

In estimating the expected credit losses on debt instruments, the Group takes into consideration all the characteristics of the
transaction, including the cash flows that would be obtained from enforcing the government'’s guarantees. Therefore, the
expected credit loss is decreased by the positive impact of the cash flows expected to be recovered from the guarantor,
irrespective of the classification of the transaction’s credit risk attributable to insolvency.

The process for estimating expected credit losses is carried out on an individual or collective basis.

B.1) Individual estimation of allowances and provisions

The Group takes into consideration the following characteristics to identify borrowers which, due to their credit exposure and
level of risk, require individual assessment:

Individual assessment to determine the accounting classification: in this case, all borrowers exceeding the EUR 5 million
EAD threshold, excluding those identified as having low credit risk, except for those classified as Stage 3 — Non-performing
exposures.

Individual estimation of allowances and provisions: in this case for:

- All borrowers that exceed the aforementioned threshold and are classified as Stage 3 - Non-performing exposures, as
well as those below the threshold classified as Stage 3 - Non-performing exposures and determined using experienced
judgement, including borrowers classified as Stage 3 — Non-performing exposures for reasons other than arrears, or
as Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring, except those classified on the basis of automatic
classification factors.

- Also subject to individual estimation are borrowers with transactions identified as having low risk classified as Stage
3 — Non-performing exposures although they are below the materiality threshold.

The Group's approach for estimating expected credit losses of debt instruments takes the negative difference between the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate and the respective amounts of credit
exposure.
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- Forecast future cash flows: considering all the amounts the Group expects to obtain over the instrument's remaining life.
In this regard, it considers both going concern and gone concern approaches; i.e. settlement and enforcement of collateral.

- Credit exposure: carrying amount of transactions at the calculation date and off-balance sheet amounts expected to be
disbursed in the future. To estimate the amounts of off-balance-sheet exposures expected to be disbursed bearing credit
risk, a Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) is applied to the nominal amount of the transaction.

The assessment of the effectiveness of guarantees and collateral considers, among others, the time required to enforce, and
the ability to dispose of, the collateral. Collateral or guarantees whose effectiveness depends substantially upon the credit
quality of the debtor, or of any economic group to which the debtor may belong, are not eligible. The Group has policies and
procedures on the evaluation of collateral in accordance with applicable regulations.

Allowances for large borrowers for which no significant increase in credit risk or evidence of impairment has been determined
and which have therefore been classified in Stage 1 - Performing exposures, are estimated collectively. The Group also
collectively estimates expected credit losses on transactions assessed individually and classified in Stage 2 — Standard
exposure under special monitoring solely on the basis of automatic classification factors or where no other factor has had a
significant influence.

B.2) Collective estimation of credit losses
The estimation of expected credit losses for all credit exposures not assessed individually is made collectively.

The calculation of collective allowances of significant portfolios for which sufficient information is available is made using
internal models. For portfolios with insufficient depth of available information, approaches are used that include experience
and information on the Spanish banking sector and forecasts of future conditions. Allowances for exposures with low credit
risk not classified in Stage 3 — Non- performing exposures are calculated using this approach, since there are not enough
observations to develop internal models.

In accordance with applicable regulations and following the required approval by the Board of Directors and the
corresponding internal validation process, on 1 January 2018 the Group implemented the use of internal methodologies to
carry out the collective estimation of credit loss allowances. In line with the Group’s internal models for estimating capital
requirements, this internal methodology includes the calculation of losses, based on internal data, through own estimates
of credit risk parameters.

The Group has established backtesting methodologies between estimated and actual losses. As a result of this testing, the
Bank makes modifications to internal methodologies when periodic backtesting shows significant differences between
estimated and actual losses.

When calculating expected losses on a collective basis using internal methods, the Group considers the following:
a)  Criteria for grouping transactions

The Group distributes financial assets with credit risk in homogeneous groups based on the similar risk characteristics of the
instruments included in the group. The criteria considered for this segmentation are representative of the patterns of
estimated losses of each group.

Factors used by the Group for grouping transactions include the type of borrower or issuer (retail, self-employed, business,
etc.), the classification of the borrower or issuer, the type of transaction (mortgage, consumer, card, etc.), the type of
guarantee (personal, collateral, etc.). For certain portfolios, specific factors are applied, such as LTV ratios, the borrower’s or
issuer’s turnover and sector for non-retail portfolios and the amount of time classified in Stage 3 — Non- performing
exposures.

b)  Risk parameters

The aggregate amount of expected credit losses is determined using the following parameters:

- The exposure at default (EAD): the Group's risk exposure at the time of default.

- Probability of default (PD): the probability of a default occurring.

- Loss given default (LGD): the percentage of exposure at risk that is not expected to be recovered in the event of default.
c)  Scenarios and use of forecasts of future economic conditions

Expected credit losses recognised in the consolidated financial statements are the result of a series of probability-weighted
scenarios.

In estimating impairment losses due to credit risk, all reasonable and well-founded information available must be considered,
including that of a forward-looking nature. This means that past events and current conditions, as well as forecasts about
future economic conditions, must be taken into consideration. To make the estimate, the Group takes the most likely scenario
(baseline scenario) as the starting point. This baseline scenario is consistent with the scenario used for the purposes of the
Group's internal planning processes.
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On the basis of the baseline scenario, a number of assumptions are made about the trends in the macroeconomic variables,
such that two additional scenarios are obtained (one more favourable and the other more adverse), thus defining three
scenarios at Group level.

The key macroeconomic variables vary across portfolios. However, the Group considers the most important macroeconomic
variables to be the unemployment rate and gross domestic product (“GDP”).

At 31 December 2020, the estimate of the macroeconomic variables applied was revised with respect to those applied at 31
December 2019, as a result of the changes in the macroeconomic scenarios arising from the COVID-19 pandemic.

As a result of the change in economic conditions generated by the COVID-19 pandemic, the weighting of the three scenarios
with respect to employees at 31 December 2019, wherein the favourable and adverse scenarios were weighted at 20% and
the baseline scenario at 60%, was revised at 31 December 2020. In this new situation, the favourable scenario is temporarily
weighted at 15% and the adverse scenario remains at 20%, given the possibility that the economic consequences will be
long term and the measures to sustain economic activity in households and companies could hypothetically be insufficient,
with the baseline scenario being weighted at 65%.

To generate the reference macroeconomic variables, the scenarios published by Bankia Research in September 2020 were
used. These macroeconomic forecasts consider a significant contraction in GDP in the short term and a progressive recovery
in the following years to return to pre-COVID-19 levels.

The following table shows the expected changes in unemployment rate and GDP over the next three years, taking into account
the aforementioned weighting considered by the Group at 31 December 2020:

%

2020 2021 2022 2023
Unemployment rate 16.0 17.1 15.7 14.4
GDP (variation) (13.0) 5.0 8.0 3.7

In addition, in applying the impact of the forward-looking scenarios on the expected loss, the Group has considered the
aforementioned mitigating measures in terms of public and sector-specific support. However, since it is difficult to consider both
effects in the current context, while the current situation persists, and following the guidelines of the various regulators and
supervisors to make use of the flexibility contained in the accounting standard, the Group has given greater weight to the more
stable projections, based on its historical experience and long-term projections with respect to the short-term variables, on
estimating the impairment losses due to credit risk.

Considering the mitigating measures, the Group has therefore reflected more stable conditions in its forward-looking scenarios, in
which the effects of the immediate fluctuations generated in an environment subject to continuous change in the very short term
are mitigated. Once the situation begins to stabilise and reasonable and well-founded information is available, the Group will be
able to make more reliable forecasts that will be reflected in the macroeconomic scenarios and the associated probabilities.

Lastly, the Group has carried out an additional exercise to assess exposures granted to borrowers that have been significantly
affected by the pandemic. This exercise was carried out on the basis of segmentation by sectors and risks so as to identify the
most vulnerable borrower groups, evaluating the outlook for each sector and using this information in the borrower credit ratings,
with a view to identifying those exposures for which the risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, for the purpose of
classifying them, primarily, as Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring (see Notes 12.2 and 12.3).

As a result of the aforementioned exercises, which involve estimating impairment losses due to credit risk generated by the rise
in expected loss as a result of the economic downturn caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, taking into consideration the
aforementioned relief and recovery measures, as well as the recommendations from the regulatory and prudential authorities, not
to mention the existing uncertainty with regard to when recovery will take place considering the exceptional circumstances of
2020, in comparison with the historical data used to estimate expected losses, during 2020 additional allowances of financial
assets EUR 490 million and EUR 15 million have been recognised to Investment property for impairment losses as a result of
CoviID-19.

C) Credit risk attributable to country risk

Country risk is understood as the risk associated with counterparties resident in a specific country due to circumstances other
than normal commercial risk (sovereign risk, transfer risk or risks arising from international financial activity) or risk
attributable to insolvency. The Group classifies third-party transactions into groups based on their economic performance,
political situation, regulatory and institutional framework, and payment capacity and record, allocating to each the
percentages of allowances stipulated in prevailing regulations.
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Non-performing assets due to country risk are deemed to be those transactions with ultimate obligors resident in countries
that have had long-standing difficulties in servicing their debt, the possibility of recovering such debt being considered as
doubtful; and off-balance sheet exposures, recovery of which is considered a remote possibility due to circumstances
attributable to the country.

The Group does not have any significant exposures to credit risk attributable to country risk, so the level of provisions in
this connection is not significant relative to total impairment allowances set aside by the Group.

(2.10) Financial guarantees and provisions for financial guarantees

“Financial guarantees” are defined as contracts whereby an entity undertakes to make specific payments on behalf of a third party
if the latter fails to do so, irrespective of the various legal forms they may take: deposits, financial guarantees, irrevocable
documentary credits issued or confirmed by the entity, etc.

In accordance with IFRS-EU, the Group generally treats financial guarantees provided to third parties as financial instruments
within the scope of IFRS 9.

To determine whether a derivative sold is recognised as a financial guarantee or a trading derivative, a financial instrument is
considered a derivative financial instrument when it meets the following conditions:

- Its value changes in response to the changes in a variable, sometimes called the "underlying", such as an interest rate, financial
instrument and commodity price, foreign exchange rate, a credit rating or credit index, where this involves non-financial
variables that are not specific to one of the parties to the contract.

- It requires no initial investment or one that is much smaller than would be required for other financial instruments that would
be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

- It is settled at a future date, except where it relates to a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, defined as one in
which the parties' reciprocal obligations must be discharged within a time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place and that may not be settled net.

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group, when it acts as issuer in the ordinary course of its business, to make
specified payments to reimburse a creditor for a loss it incurs, because a specified debtor fails to make payment where due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument, irrespective of its legal form, which may include, among
others, a guarantee, a financial surety, an insurance contract or a credit derivative.

Specifically, guarantee contracts related to credit risk where execution of the guarantee does not require, as a necessary condition
for payment, that the creditor is exposed to and has incurred a loss due to a debtor's failure to pay as required under the terms of
the financial asset guaranteed, as well as in contracts where execution of the guarantee depends on changes in a specific credit
rating or credit index, are considered derivative financial instruments.

The Group initially recognises the financial guarantees provided under liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value,
plus the directly attributable transaction costs, which is generally the amount of the premium received plus, where applicable, the
present value of the fees, commissions and interest receivable from these contracts over the term thereof, and it simultaneously
recognises, under assets, the amount of the fees, commissions and similar amounts received at the start of the transactions and
the amounts receivable at the present value of the fees, commissions and interest receivable. Subsequently, these contracts are
recognised under liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at the higher of the following two amounts:

- The amount determined in accordance with IRFS 9, taking into account the provisions of Annex IX of Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017 in this estimate. In this regard, financial guarantees, regardless of the guarantor, instrumentation or other
circumstances, are reviewed periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, to
consider whether a provision is required. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those established for
guantifying impairment losses on debt instruments carried at amortised cost, which are described in Note 2.9 above.

- The amount initially recognised for these instruments, less the related amortisation which, in accordance with IRFS 15, is
charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the contract term.

The provisions made, if applicable, for these instruments are recognised under “Provisions - Commitments and guarantees given”
under liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. These provisions are recognised and reversed with a charge or credit,
respectively, to “Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions” in the consolidated income statement.

If, in accordance with the foregoing, a provision is required for these financial guarantees, the unearned commissions on these
transactions, which are recognised under “Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Other financial liabilities” under liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet, are reclassified to the appropriate provision.

(2.11) Leases

In lease accounting, different treatments apply when the Group acts as a lessee or as a lessor:
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A) The Group as lessee

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. For all contracts which, after this
assessment, are considered to be, or contain, a lease, the Group recognises an asset on the consolidated balance sheet, which
represents the right to control the use of the identified asset for a period of time. At the same time, the Group recognises a lease
liability, which represents the Group's obligation to make lease payments for the use of the underlying asset that are not paid at
that date.

There are exemptions for short-term leases (leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) or leases in which the underlying asset
is of low value. For these two types of leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term under “Administrative expenses - Other administrative expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises the lease liability of the underlying asset at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is
recognised in “Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Other financial liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet. The finance
cost related to the lease liability is recognised under “Interest expenses” in the consolidated income statement. After the
commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest, calculated using
the effective interest rate method, and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The right-of-use asset is presented at the commencement date under “Tangible assets - Property, plant and equipment” and
“Tangible assets - Investment property” on the consolidated balance sheet measured at the amount of the lease liability less any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred or the cost to be incurred in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset or restoring it to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is adjusted for the following:

- The asset’s depreciation. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the underlying asset and
the lease term. Annual depreciation charges are recognised with the balancing entry in “Depreciation” in the consolidated
income statement.

- Any impairment losses are recognised in “Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets” in the
consolidated income statement.

- Reflecting any new measurement of the lease liability.

The criteria for depreciation, the estimation of the assets’ useful lives and the recognition of potential impairment losses are
consistent with those described for property, plant and equipment for own use in Note 2.15.1 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the measurement of the lease obligation or
the related right-of-use asset. These payments are recorded as an expense in the period under “Administrative expenses - Other
administrative expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

Sale and leaseback transactions

In transactions in which the Group sells an asset it owns to a third party and leases that asset back, Group assesses whether the
terms of the contract meet the requirements for the disposal to be considered the sale of the underlying asset; i.e. control of the
asset is transferred to the buyer.

- If the transfer is a sale, the Group derecognises the asset and recognises the right-of-use asset arising on the sale and
leaseback at the proportion of the carrying amount that relates to the right-of-use retained by the Group. It also recognises a
lease liability. Therefore, the Group only recognises the amount of the gain or loss that relates to the rights transferred to the
buyer-lessor.

- Ifthe transfer does not satisfy the requirements to be accounted for as a sale, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset and recognises a financial liability equal to the consideration received.

B) The Group as lessor:

Lease contracts in which the Group acts as lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. If the analysis of the contractual
terms and conditions determines that the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
assets, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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Finance leases

The factors considered by the Group to determine whether a lease agreement is a finance lease and therefore transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset include:

- Whether the lease term covers the majority of the useful life of the asset.

- Whether the price of exercising the purchase option is lower than the fair value of the residual value of the asset at the end
of the lease term.

- Whether the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to substantially all the fair value of the leased asset.
- Whether use of the asset is restricted to the lessee.

When the Group acts as lessor of an asset in a finance lease, the sum of the present values of the lease payments receivable from
the lessee plus the guaranteed residual value, which is generally the exercise price of the lessee's purchase option at the end of
the lease term, is recognised as lending to third parties and is therefore included under “Financial assets at amortised cost” on the
consolidated balance sheet based on the type of lessee.

When the Group acts as lessee in a finance lease, it recognises the cost of the leased assets on the consolidated balance sheet
according to the nature of the leased asset, and, simultaneously, a liability for the same amount (at the lower of the fair value of
the leased asset and the sum of the present values of the amounts payable to the lessor plus, where applicable, the exercise price
of the purchase option). The depreciation policy for these assets is consistent with that for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment for own use (see Note 2.15.1). In both cases, the finance income and finance costs arising under these agreements are
credited and debited, respectively, to “Interest income” and “Interest expenses”, respectively, in the consolidated income
statement and the accrued interest is estimated using the effective interest method as defined in IFRS 9.

Operating leases

In operating leases, ownership of the leased asset and substantially all the risks and rewards relating to the leased asset are
retained by the lessor. When the Group acts as lessor in operating leases, it presents the acquisition cost of the leased assets under
“Tangible assets” as “Investment property” or as “Property, plant and equipment - Leased out under an operating lease”, depending
on the type of assets leased. The depreciation policy for these assets is consistent with that for similar items of property, plant and
equipment for own use, and income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis under “Other operating income”
in the consolidated income statement.

(2.12) Investment funds, pension funds, assets under management and savings insurance policies marketed and managed
by the Group

Assets managed by consolidated companies and owned by third parties are not shown on the consolidated balance sheet. Fees
and commissions generated on this activity are included under “Fee and commission income” in the consolidated income
statement. Note 27.3 provides information on third-party assets managed by the Group at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The investment funds and pension funds managed and savings insurance policies marketed and managed by the Group are not
recognised on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet because the related assets are owned by third parties (see Note 27.3). The
fees and commissions earned in the year for the services rendered by Group companies to these funds (e.g. asset management
and custody services) are recognised under “Fee and commission income” in the consolidated income statement (see Note 33).

(2.13) Staff expenses
(2.13.1) Post-employment benefits
(2.13.1.1) Types of commitments

Post-employment benefits are forms of compensation payable after completion of employment. The Group has undertaken to pay
post-employment benefits to certain employees and to their beneficiary right holders.

Under current law, post-employment obligations are classified as defined contribution or defined benefit obligations, depending
on the terms of the commitments assumed in each specific case. The Group’s post-employment obligations to its employees are
deemed to be defined contribution plan obligations wherever the Group makes predetermined contributions to a separate entity
and will have no leglal or effective obligation to pay further contributions if the separate entity cannot pay the employee benefits
relating to the service rendered in the current and prior periods. Post-employment obligations that do not meet the aforementioned
conditions are considered as defined benefit obligations.

All pension obligations to current and former employees of the Group are funded by pension plans and insurance policies.

All pension obligations to current and former employees of the Group are funded by plans in Spain.
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(2.13.1.2) Description of the post-employment obligations undertaken by the Group

The post-employment obligations assumed by the Group with employees and their characteristics are as follows:
- Pensions of current employees:

A system is in place whereby individual, annual contributions are made based on a percentage of certain remuneration items,
always observing the minimums set out in the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

At 31 December 2020, there were no individuals with defined benefit obligations for retirement.
- Pensions of retired employees:

On 15 July 2020 a labour agreement was entered into with most of the representatives of the Bank’s employees. Among other
measures, this agreement provides for unification of the system for reviewing defined benefit pension obligations, where these
are subject to review, and stipulates constant future growth at a fixed annual rate of 0.35% effective as of 1 January 2021.

Virtually all the commitments for pensions of retired employees assumed by the Group are externalised through the pension
plan and insurance policies.

In addition to these obligations, Note 6 describes the obligations with members of the Board of Directors of Bankia, S.A. and with
Bankia's senior executives.

(2.13.1.3) Actuarial assumptions applied in the calculation of post-employment benefits
As a rule, the Group uses the following criteria to determine its obligations and commitments, and to cover such commitments:

- the projected unit credit method (which treats each year of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement
and measures each unit separately); and

- actuarial assumptions, which when determined:
- are not biased, and neither reckless nor excessively conservative,

- are mutually compatible and adequately reflect the economic relations existing between factors such as inflation, expected
salary increases, discount rates and expected return on plan assets, future levels of salaries and benefits based on market
expectations at the date of the consolidated financial statements for the period in which the obligations are to be settled,

- theinterest rate used to discount cash flows is based on market rates at the date of the consolidated financial statements
corresponding to the issuance of high quality bonds or obligations.

(2.13.1.4) Accounting criteria for post-employment obligations
The Group classifies post-employment obligations for accounting purposes as follows:

- Defined contribution plans. The Group's contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised under “Administrative
expenses — Staff expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

If at 31 December 2019 there are any outstanding contributions to be made to the external plan funding the post-employment
benefit obligations, the related amount is recognised at its present value under “Provisions - Provisions for pensions and other
post-employment defined benefit obligations”. At 31 December 2020, there were no outstanding contributions to be made to
external defined contribution plans.

- Defined benefit plans. Under the caption “Provisions - Provisions for pensions and other post-employment defined benefit
obligations” on the liability side of the consolidated balance sheet, the Group recognises the present value of obligations
assumed net of the fair value of assets qualifying as “plan assets” (or under “Other assets — Other” on the asset side of the
consolidated balance sheet, depending on whether the resulting difference is positive or negative and on whether or not the
conditions for recognition are satisfied).

“Plan assets” are defined as those that are related to certain defined benefit obligations, that will be used directly to settle
such obligations, and that meet the following conditions:

- they are not owned by the Group, but by a legally separate third party that is not a related party;
- they are only available to pay or fund post-employment benefits for employees;

- they cannot be returned to the Group unless the assets remaining in the plan are sufficient to meet all the benefit
obligations of the plan or of the Group to current and former employees, or they are returned to reimburse employee
benefits already paid by the Group;

- they may not be non-transferable financial instruments issued by the Group if held by a long-term post-employment
benefits fund or entity.

|43



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 BANKIA GROUP

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

If the Group has recourse to an insurer to pay part or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation, and
it is practically certain that the insurer will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle that obligation, but the
insurance policy does not qualify as a plan asset, the Group recognises its right to reimbursement, which in all other respects
is treated as a plan asset, under “Insurance contracts linked to pensions” on the asset side of the balance sheet.

In compliance with IAS 19, the Bankia Group has recognised in its consolidated financial statements the liabilities (and/or, as
the case may be, the assets) related to post-employment benefit obligations at the present value of the obligations, less the
fair value of any plan assets.

Post-employment defined benefit payments are recognised as follows:
- Inthe consolidated income statement:

- current service cost;

- any past service cost and gains or losses on plan settlements;

- the net interest on the defined benefit liability (asset), which is determined by multiplying the net defined benefit
liability (asset) by the interest rate used to estimate the present value of the obligations at the start of the annual
reporting period, taking account of any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset). Net interest comprises the
interest income on plan assets, interest cost on the obligation and interest from measuring plan assets at the present
value of the cash flows available to the entity from plan curtailments or reduction in future contributions to the plan.

- Inthe consolidated statement of changes in equity:

- actuarial losses and gains arising from changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations resulting from
the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments;

- the return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset);

- any change in the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit
liability (asset).

(2.13.2) Other long-term employee benefits

“Other long-term employee benefits” mainly comprise the early retirement commitments to employees who no longer render
services but, not being retirees for legal purposes, continue to hold economic rights against their employers until they become
legal retirees. They also comprise any other long-term or similar commitments to employees.

These long-term commitments are recognised under the same caption as post-employment defined benefit plans, except as
regards amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, which are recorded in the consolidated income
statement, with the special features disclosed below for each specific case.

(2.13.2.1) Early retirement commitments
At 31 December 2020, these commitments were covered by insurance policies and an internal fund.
(2.13.2.2) Commitments derived from the Labour Agreement adopted as a result of the creation of BFA

On 14 December 2010, a majority of labour union representatives at the Cajas entered into an agreement entitled “Labour
Agreement in the Framework of the Process of Integration under an IPS entered into by Caja Madrid, Bancaja, Caja Insular de
Canarias, Caja Avila, Caixa Laietana, Caja Segovia and Caja Rioja” (the “Labour Agreement”) as a result of the integration of the
Cajas and the creation of BFA (the central body of the IPS) set out in the Integration Agreement approved by the Boards of Directors
and ratified at the General Meetings of the Cajas.

The Labour Agreement set forth an array of measures offered to the Cajas employees on an elective basis until 31 December 2012
so that the necessary staff restructuring could be carried out, with staff reduced by approximately 4,594 employees. Such measures
included early retirements, relocation, indemnified redundancies, contract suspension and shorter working days.

(2.13.2.3) Labour Agreement - Bankia Restructuring Plan

On 8 February 2013, a labour agreement was entered into with the majority of the Bank’s union representatives, which includes
the collective dismissal of up to 4,500 Bank employees, with variable termination benefits depending on the age of the worker
and changes to the working conditions of employees that continue to work at the Bank through measures to eliminate or reduce
fixed remuneration conditions, variable remuneration conditions, pension plan contributions, entitlements for risk and promotion
measures. The agreement encourages voluntary redundancies and employability with the creation of an employment pool for
those affected, while also enabling Bankia to move towards an efficiency ratio below 50%.

l4a



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 BANKIA GROUP

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)
(2.13.2.4) Labour Agreement adopted as a result of the creation of BMN

The savings banks or Cajas that founded BMN entered into the so-called "Labour Agreement among the Cajas under the Framework
of the Process of Integration under an IPS", which contemplated, among other measures, the resizing of the workforce of the
founding Cajas with the extinction of a maximum of 1,049 jobs, coupled with the commitment to continue to contribute to their
pension plans and make special payments under certain circumstances. In keeping with the content of the above labour
agreements and the nature and characteristics of the commitments, these commitments have been classified as “Other long-term
commitments”.

(2.13.2.5) Labour agreements entered into with the representatives of BMN's employees

Against the backdrop of BMN's Restructuring Plan, the Bank's management and its employees' representatives entered into a series
of agreements which mainly contemplated the modification of employment terms, with the aim of minimising the impact on
employment. The measures included paid leaves of absence, contract suspensions, and voluntary leaves of absence.

(2.13.2.6) Workforce Restructuring Agreement due to the merger between Bankia and BMN

As a result of the merger by absorption of BMN by Bankia, on 15 February 2018 a Workforce Agreement was signed, with 92%
representation of the Bank's trade unions.

The Workforce Agreement contains a series of voluntary redundancy measures to implement the required restructuring. The
collective procedure includes up to a maximum of 2,000 Bank employees, along with geographical mobility arrangements.

The Workforce Agreement also sets the framewaork for working conditions of Bank employees and the conditions under which BMN
employees will be taken on, as well as other labour-related issues.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had covered its liabilities under the aforementioned Labour and Workforce Agreements in terms
of outstanding settlements to employees already on the scheme, with appropriate provisions under “Provisions — Pensions and
other post-employment defined benefit obligations” (to cover early retirement commitments) and “Provisions — Other provisions”
(for the remaining commitments undertaken) on the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 20).

(2.13.2.7) Death and disability

The obligations assumed for coverage of death and disability of serving employees are covered by an insurance policy under the
Pension Plan and are recognised in the income statement at an amount equal to the contributions made to the fund.

The amount accrued and paid in 2020 to cover these obligations was EUR 4,234 thousand (EUR 5,757 thousand at 31 December
2019) which is recognised under “Administrative expenses - Staff expenses” in the consolidated income statement for 2020 (EUR
5,681 thousand was covered by the Employee Pension Plan at 31 December 2019).

(2.13.3) Financial assistance for employees

Financial assistance for employees is set out in the Collective Bargaining Agreement for Savings Banks. Certain terms and
conditions have been improved via internal agreements. Assistance mainly entails advances, social loans and loans for the
acquisition of primary residences.

Where appropriate, the difference between arm’s length terms and the interest rates applied for each type of loan mentioned
above is recognised as an increase in staff expenses with a balancing entry under "Interest income" in the consolidated income
statement.

(2.13.4) Termination benefits

Under current legislation, the Spanish consolidated companies and certain foreign companies are required to pay termination
benefits to employees made redundant without just cause. Termination benefits must be recognised when the Group is committed
to terminating the employment contracts of its employees and has a detailed formal termination plan. In addition to the
commitments described in Note 2.13.2, the Bank signed a labour agreement whose related commitments are adequately covered
by provisions recognised at 31 December 2020 (see Note 20).

(2.14) Income tax

The Spanish corporate income tax expense and similar taxes levied on foreign consolidated subsidiaries are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except when they result from a transaction recognised directly in equity, in which case the income
tax is also recognised in the Group's equity.

Income tax expense is calculated as the tax payable on taxable profit for the year, after adjusting for variations in assets and
liabilities due to temporary differences, tax credits for tax deductions and benefits, and tax losses (see Note 26).

The Group considers that a temporary difference exists when there is a difference between the carrying amount of an asset or
liability and its tax base. The tax base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for tax purposes. A
taxable temporary difference is one that will generate a future obligation for the Group to make a payment to the relevant taxation
authorities. A deductible temporary difference is one that will generate a right for the Group to a rebate or a reduction in the
amount payable to the related taxation authaorities in the future.
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Tax credits and tax loss carryforwards are amounts that, after performing the activity or obtaining the profit or loss giving
entitlement to them, are not used for tax purposes in the related tax return until the conditions for doing so established in the tax
regulations are met and the Group considers it probable that they will be used in future periods.

Current tax assets and liabilities are the taxes that are expected to be recoverable from or payable to, respectively, the related
taxation authorities within 12 months after the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the taxes that are expected
to be recoverable from or payable to the related taxation authorities more than 12 months after the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. In any case, deferred tax liabilities arising from
accounting for goodwill are not recognised.

The Group only recognises deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences and from tax credits and tax loss
carryforwards when the following conditions are met:

- Deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is considered probable that the consolidated entities will have sufficient future
taxable profit against which these can be utilised; and, in the case of deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carryforwards,
when the carryforwards have arisen for identified reasons that are unlikely to be repeated.

- No deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability (except in the
case of a business combination) that at the time of recognition affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ascertain whether they remain in force, and
the appropriate adjustments are made on the basis of the results of the review.

Note 26.5 explains the main implications of this legislation on the recognised deferred taxes.
Constitution of the Bankia tax group

The Bankia tax group opted to pay taxes under the special tax consolidation scheme regulated by Chapter VII of Title VIl of the
Revised Spanish Income Tax Law (“TRLIS”), for the tax period commenced on 1 January 2011, and informed the taxation authorities
of this decision.

Note 26.1 provides a breakdown of the companies making up the tax group headed by Bankia, S.A.
(2.15) Tangible assets
(2.15.1) Property, plant and equipment for own use

Property, plant and equipment for own use include assets, owned by the Group or held under a lease, for present or future
administrative use or for the production or supply of goods and services that are expected to be used for more than one financial
year. This category includes, inter alia, items of property, plant and equipment received by the consolidated companies in full or
partial settlement of financial assets representing rights to receivables from third parties which are intended to be held for
continuing use. Property, plant and equipment for own use are presented on the consolidated balance sheet at acquisition cost,
which is the fair value of any consideration given for the asset plus any monetary amounts paid or committed, less:

- The corresponding accumulated depreciation and,
- Ifrelevant, any estimated impairment losses (carrying amount higher than recoverable amount).

The right-of-use assets from leases in which the Group acts as lessee are presented under this item and recognised in accordance
with the measurement rules explained in Note 2.11.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets less their residual value.
The land on which the buildings and other structures stand has an indefinite life and, therefore, is not depreciated. Right-of-use
assets from leases are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the underlying asset (determined
based on the percentages indicated below) and the lease term.

The depreciation charge for the period is recognised under “Depreciation and amortisation” in the consolidated income statement
and is calculated basically using the following depreciation rates (based on the average years of estimated useful life of the various
assets):

Annual rate
Buildings for own use 2%
Furniture and fixtures 10% to 25%
IT equipment 25%

At each reporting date the consolidated companies assess whether there is any internal or external indication that a tangible asset
may be impaired (i.e. its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount). If this is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount and future depreciation charges are adjusted in proportion to the revised carrying amount and
to the new remaining useful life (if the useful life has to be re-estimated). When necessary, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment for own use is reduced with a charge to "Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets" in the
consolidated income statement.
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Similarly, if there is an indication of a recovery in the value of an impaired tangible asset, the consolidated companies recognise
the reversal of the impairment loss recognised in prior periods with the related credit to “Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment
on non-financial assets” in the consolidated income statement and adjust the future depreciation charges accordingly. Under no
circumstances may the reversal of an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that which it would have if no
impairment losses had been recognised in prior years.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for own use are reviewed at least once a year with a view to detecting
significant changes therein. If changes are detected, the useful lives of the assets are adjusted by correcting the depreciation
charge to be recognised in the consolidated income statement in future years on the basis of the new useful lives.

Upkeep and maintenance expenses on property, plant and equipment for own use are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment that require more than one year to be ready for use include as part of their acquisition or production
cost the borrowing costs which have been incurred before the assets are ready for use and which have been charged by the supplier
or relate to loans or other types of borrowings directly attributable to their acquisition, production or construction. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended, if appropriate, during periods in which the development of the assets is interrupted and ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use have been completed.

The Group’s buildings for own use that are no longer part of its branch network and that, under current regulations, satisfy the
requirements for recognition as non-current assets held for sale, given the existence of a detailed plan for their immediate sale,
are measured as described in Note 2.20.

(2.15.2) Investment property

“Investment property" on the consolidated balance sheet reflects the net values of the land, buildings and other structures held to
earn rentals or for potential capital appreciation in the event of sale, through potential increases in their market value.

The criteria used to recognise the acquisition cost of investment property, to calculate its depreciation and its respective estimated
useful life and to recognise the possible impairment losses thereon are consistent with those described in relation to property,
plant and equipment for own use (Note 2.15.1).

However, in the process for estimating impairment losses on investment property foreclosed or received in payment of debt (see
Note 2.20) reclassified from non-current assets held for sale to investment property, for example when the property is earmarked
for lease, when determining the appropriate method for estimating fair value, the Group assesses whether the lease transaction
satisfies the following two requirements:

- The lessee's ability to pay is sufficient to service the lease payments; and
- The lease price indicates that the market value of the leased asset is above its carrying amount

If either of these two requirements is not met, fair value is estimated as explained in Note 2.20 for assets foreclosed or received in
payment of debt classified as non-current assets held for sale.

Appendix IX provides further information about real estate assets foreclosed or received by the Group in payment of debt and
classified under this consolidated balance sheet heading on the basis of ultimate purpose, as referred to above.

(2.16) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance which arise as a result of a legal transaction or
which are developed internally by the consolidated companies. Only intangible assets whose cost can be estimated reasonably
objectively and from which the consolidated companies consider it probable that future economic benefits will be generated are
recognised.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or production cost and are subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(2.16.1) Goodwill

Any differences between the cost of equity-accounted investments in consolidated entities and other forms of business
combinations, other than those in which no consideration is transferred, carried out with respect to the net fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, adjusted for the percentage interest acquired in the net assets and liabilities in the case of
shareholding purchases, at the acquisition date, are recognised as follows:

- If the acquisition price exceeds the aforementioned fair value, as goodwill under "Intangible assets - Goodwill" on the
consolidated balance sheet. In the case of acquisitions of investments in associates or joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method, any goodwill that may arise from the acquisition is recognised as forming part of the value of the investment
and not as an individual item under "Intangible assets — Goodwill".

- Any negative differences between the cost of acquisition less the aforementioned fair value are recognised, once the
measurement process has been reviewed, as income under “Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss” in the consolidated
income statement.
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Positive goodwill (excess of the acquisition price of an investee or business over the net fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed from this entity or business) — which is only recognised on the consolidated balance
sheet when acquired for consideration — thus represents advance payments made by the acquiring entity for future economic
benefits arising from the assets of the entity or business acquired that are not individually and separately identifiable and
recognisable.

Goodwill is allocated to one or more cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combination. The cash-generating units represent the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows for the
Group that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets of the Group. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated:

- Represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
- Is not larger than a business segment.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment, to which end the goodwill allocated is
included in their carrying amount. Impairment tests are carried out at least annually, or whenever there is any indication that an
asset may be impaired.

Goodwill is not amortised, but rather is tested for impairment regularly and written down if there is evidence of impairment. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment by comparing the unit's carrying amount,
excluding any goodwill attributable to non-controlling interests if the entity has opted not to measure non-controlling interests at
fair value, with its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. To estimate
value in use, the Group generally uses models based on the following assumptions:

- The recoverable amount is the value in use of the investment, obtained from the present value of the cash flows that are
expected to be obtained from the cash-generating unit, from its ordinary activities (adjusted for extraordinary items) or from
the possible disposal thereof.

- Estimated cash flow projections usually have a maximum time horizon of five years and include cyclical growth rates based
on various factors such as the economic situation at the time the assessment is performed, growth in the industry, historical
rates etc. At 31 December 2020, no estimates had been made with cash flows for longer periods.

- The cash flows are discounted using specific discount rates for each asset, on the basis of a risk-free interest rate which is
increased by a risk premium for each investment based on various capital-weighting factors (ratings, internal scorings, etc.).

If the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit is higher than its recoverable amount, the Group recognises an impairment loss.
The impairment loss is allocated, first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit, and
then, for any remaining amount of the impairment loss, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. If the entity has opted to measure non-controlling interests at fair value, it would
recognise the impairment of goodwill attributable to these non-controlling interests.

Impairment losses on goodwill are recognised in “Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets — intangible
assets” in the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on goodwill recognised under "Intangible Assets - Goodwill” as
indicated in the preceding paragraph cannot be reversed in a subsequent period.

(2.16.2) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at cost of acquisition or production, net of
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

Intangible assets can have an indefinite useful life — when, based on an analysis of all the relevant factors, it is concluded that
there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the consolidated
entities — or a finite useful life, in all other cases.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. At the end of each reporting period, however, consolidated entities
review the remaining useful life of each asset to confirm that it is still indefinite and, if this is not the case, appropriate action is
taken.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised using the same criteria as for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment.
The annual amortisation of intangible assets with a finite useful life is recognised under "Depreciation and amortisation" in the
consolidated income statement. None of the Group’s significant intangible assets, other than goodwill, have an indefinite useful
life. These intangible assets, which were developed by non-Group companies, have an average useful life of 10 years.

The estimated useful life of these assets is updated periodically through an individual analysis of the various items, considering
among other aspects the type of applications, their functional and technical state, and their alignment with the business strategy.
According to applicable accounting standards, the effects of changes in useful life are applied prospectively over the remaining
estimated years of useful life.
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The consolidated entities recognise any impairment loss on the carrying amount of these assets with a charge to “Impairment or
(-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets - Intangible assets" in the consolidated income statement. The criteria for
recognising impairment losses on these assets and any recovery of impairment losses recognised in past years are similar to those
used for property, plant and equipment for own use (see Note 2.15.1).

(2.17) Inventories

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had not recognised any amounts under inventories.

(2.18) Provisions and contingent liabilities

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group's directors make a distinction between:

- Provisions: credit balances covering present obligations at the reporting date arising from past events which could give rise to
a loss for the Group, which is considered likely to occur and certain as to its nature, but uncertain as to its amount and/or
timing; and

- Contingent liabilities: possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one of more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the consolidated entities,
or current obligations of the Group, the settlement of which is unlikely to require an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits, or the amount of which, in extremely rare circumstances, cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The Group’s financial statements include all significant provisions with respect to which it is considered more likely than not that
the obligation will have to be settled. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but rather
are disclosed in accordance with the requirements of IAS 37.

Provisions are measured based on the best information available on the consequences of the events giving rise to them and
estimated at the end of each reporting period. They are used to meet the specific obligations for which they were originally
recognised. They may be wholly or partly reversed if these obligations cease to exist or diminish.

In accordance with IAS 37.92, in rare cases, where disclosure of information can be expected to prejudice seriously the Group’s
position, generally in a class action lawsuit, detailed information does not have to be disclosed but a description of the general
nature of the contingencies should be provided.

The recognition and reversal of provisions considered necessary pursuant to the foregoing criteria are recognised with a charge or
credit, respectively, to “Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions” in the consolidated income statement, unless expressly indicated
otherwise.

(2.18.1) Legal proceedings related to the 2011 IPO
Civil proceedings regarding the invalidity of the subscription of shares.

At present, there are claims being processed, albeit a small number, seeking the invalidity of the subscription of shares issued in
2011 in the public offering for the stock market listing of Bankia, S.A., including those related to subsequent purchases, although
in the latter case the claims are residual. In application of prevailing legislation, this contingency was recognised in accordance
with the information disclosed in Note 20.

On 19 July 2016, Bankia was informed of the class action suit filed by ADICAE (Spain’s Association of Bank, Savings Bank and
Insurance Users). These proceedings are currently on hold.

Summary Procedure 1/2018, arising from Preliminary Proceedings No. 59/2012, befare the Criminal Chamber of the National High
Court (Audiencia Nacional).

Criminal proceedings in which the court admitted the lawsuit filed by Unién Progreso y Democracia against Bankia, BFA and former
members of their respective Boards of Directors for consideration. Other criminal complaints by parties purportedly affected by
Bankia's IPO (private prosecution) and by persons without such status (class prosecution) were subsequently joined to these
proceedings. Bankia raised a total of EUR 3,092 million in July 2011 from the IPO: EUR 1,237 million from institutional investors
and EUR 1,855 million from retail investors. Since retail investors have been refunded for virtually the entire amounts invested in
the IPO through civil lawsuits or the voluntary repayment process carried out by Bankia, the contingency existing with these parties
is considered practically resolved.

On 23 November 2018, as part of the collateral civil liability proceedings, a payment into court of EUR 38.3 million was set. At
present, requests for payments into court amounting to EUR 5.8 million have been issued and a decision has yet to be issued by
the Court.

On 11 May 2017, the presiding judge of Central Examining Court No. 4 of the National High Court ordered that there was a case
to answer, thereby concluding the examination stage, as detailed in Note 20.
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On 17 November 2017, Central Examining Court No. 4 of the National High Court ordered commencement of the trial. Specifically,
this order commenced the trial in respect of the crimes of falsification of financial statements (defined in article 290 of Spain's
Criminal Code) and investor fraud (article 282 bis of the Criminal Code) against certain former directors and current and former
executives of Bankia and BFA, the external auditor at the time of the IPO, and against BFA and Bankia as legal persons. As detailed
in Note 20, the State Prosecutor and the FROB presented written submissions seeking the dismissal of the criminal charges against
BFA and Bankia. The FROB did not seek secondary civil liability on the part of Bankia or BFA.

On 29 September 2020, Panel 4 of the National High Court’s Criminal Chamber delivered a judgment (no. 13/2020) whereby it
unanimously acquitted all the defendants in respect of:

Only two prosecutors have lodged the corresponding cassation appeal with the Spanish Supreme Court’s Criminal Chamber
(namely, the Spanish Association of Minority Shareholders of Listed Companies (AEMEC) and Bochner Espafa, S.L. et al.) against
the judgment of 29 September 2020 handed down.

In addition, under the scope of this proceeding, three collateral proceedings are ongoing:

- Inthe two collateral proceedings regarding the preference shares of Caja Madrid and Bancaja, on 17 May 2018 an order
was issued to discontinue the cases as the existence of fraud in the issuance and marketing of preference shares in the
knowledge that the investors would lose their investment has not been confirmed.

The two orders were appealed by the private prosecution (not by the public prosecution), with Bankia and BFA (which are
not under investigation) having opposed these appeals.

In orders issued on 28 February 2019, the Criminal Chamber of the National High Court dismissed the appeals lodged,
confirming the provisional stay, which has since become final.

- Inthe collateral proceedings regarding the cards, on 3 October 2018 the Supreme Court delivered a judgment confirming
the first instance Judgment of 23 February 2017 in which certain former directors and executives of Caja Madrid and
Bankia were convicted, and holding that Bankia must be held liable in respect of the civil liability arising from the crime.

On 26 November 2018, an enforcement decree was issued opening individual collateral proceedings for the secondary
civil liability of each convicted party, determining and establishing the amounts payable by them.

The Group considered the lawsuit underway in Abbreviated Proceedings 1/2018 (deriving from Preliminary Proceedings No.
59/2012) as a contingent liability with an uncertain outcome.

(2.18.2) Other litigation and/or claims in progress

At the 2020 year end, a number of legal proceedings and claims were underway against the Group in connection with the ordinary
course of its business activities. The directors believe that, based on the information available at the reporting date and considering
the amounts provided for by the Group to this end (see Note 20), the conclusion of these proceedings and claims will not have a
material impact on the Group's equity position.

The main material claims against the Group and their current status are as follows:
Class actions

- Civil proceedings regarding hybrid instruments (preference shares and subordinated bonds). The EUR 246 million provision
set aside for this was used in full in 2015. Under the terms of the agreement signed between Bankia and BFA, this provision
covers the estimated maximum loss for Bankia derived from the costs arising from the enforcement of judgments against
the Bank in the various proceedings against it related to the aforementioned issues. Other class action suits have been filed
by ADICAE seeking an injunction and invalidity of the issue and sale of those hybrid instruments. Of the six actions initially
brought, three are already concluded as the cassation appeals brought by ADICAE were rejected in two cases, and in a third
case the second instance judgment which found in favour of the Bank has since become final as no appeal was lodged, and
the main claims filed by the claimant in class actions have been definitively dismissed.

- Claims seeking the invalidity of floor clauses. There were 4,411 legal proceedings underway regarding individual actions
seeking invalidity at 31 December 2020. Bankia, in addition to virtually all Spanish financial institutions, is also being sued
in a class action brought by ADICAE being conducted at Madrid Mercantile Court 11, under case no. 471/2010. On 12
November 2018, Panel 28 of the Madrid Regional Appellate Court issued judgment no. 603/2018 rejecting the appeals filed
by the defendant financial institutions against the first instance judgement partially upholding the claim. This judgment
upholds the actions for an injunction and the refund of amounts paid brought by ADICAE and, as a result, orders the
defendants, including Bankia, (i) to eliminate the floor clauses in the contracts signed with consumers and (ii) to refund the
amounts paid as a result of these clauses, with no statute of limitations. Nevertheless, the judgment of the Madrid Regional
Appellate Court does not have any automatic effects with respect to the claim for a refund of the amounts paid which, as
the case may be, must be decided upon enforcement of the judgment on a case-by-case basis.

- Lawsuits filed in connection with mortgage arrangement fees. At 31 December 2020 a total of 14,426 legal proceedings
are underway.
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The judgments of the Supreme Court regarding mortgage arrangement fees, dated 23 January 2019, significantly reduced
the existing economic contingency inasmuch as they clarify that the main component of those expenditures, stamp duty,
must be assumed by the borrower in the event that a Court declares the clause null and void, in respect of loans arranged
prior to the entry into force of Royal Decree-Law 17/2018, of 8 November, amending the Revised Transfer Tax and Stamp
Duty Law.

On 16 July 2020, the CJEU delivered a judgment which, in general terms, does not disallow the criterion upheld by the
Supreme Court on the various matters analysed.

As regards mortgage fees, the CJEU confirms the interpretation of the Supreme Court, since, without prejudice to the fact
that an unfair term must be regarded as not included with no further madification, a refund of the amounts paid does not
apply when the payment was made pursuant to the provisions of national law that lay the obligation to pay all or part of
such costs on the consumer. In addition, the CJEU notes that an action to enforce the refund under the declaration of
invalidity due to a clause being deemed unfair may be subject to a statute of limitations. In view of the CJEU’s decision, the
Supreme Court subsequently delivered various judgments which interpret the applicable regulations of national law.

As regards the arrangement fee, the CJEU provides certain instructions for the purpose of determining the validity thereof,
which generally fall in line with the considerations on which the Supreme Court has based its assertion that it is transparent
and not unfair.

Between 2019 and 2020, Bankia received notice of nine class actions brought by ADICAE seeking an injunction and the
invalidity of the fee clauses agreed upon in contracts arranged by different savings banks that formed Bankia. These actions
incorporate different parties and they also seek the refund of amounts paid. A first instance judgment has yet to be handed
down on three of these nine proceedings. In three cases, the judgments delivered fully dismiss the actions brought (one
such judgment is final), while in another three the judgments uphold only those actions seeking invalidity and an injunction,
and dismiss the actions seeking a refund of amounts paid.

At the behest of the Spanish Association of Financial Users (ASUFIN), two class actions remain ongoing.

- One of these is seeking the invalidity of the fee clause and the clause that pegs variable interest to the official
mortgage price index (IRPH). This particular case, despite joining actions seeking an injunction and a refund of
amounts paid, was ultimately admitted only with respect to the injunction sought on the IRPH clause, and after the
Valencia Regional Court had rejected the claim for a refund and ASUFIN had withdrawn its action seeking an
injunction and invalidity of the fee clause. A first instance judgment has been delivered which dismisses the action
seeking an injunction and the invalidity of the IRPH clause. ASUFIN has appealed this decision.

- A further action has been brought by ASUFIN against Bankia and another seven financial institutions and which
several customers have joined, seeking an injunction and the invalidity of the fee clause. This is in addition to the
action seeking a refund of amounts paid. Bankia answered this claim recently.

In addition, during the year Bankia received notice of a further action brought by ASUFIN against Bankia and another seven
financial institutions and which several customers have joined, seeking an injunction and the invalidity of the fee clause.
This is in addition to the action seeking a refund of amounts paid. Bankia answered this claim recently.

Therefore, in view of the foregoing, at present and solely as regards the claims filed with the courts, the risk of an impact
on the Entity’s equity due to them finding against the Group, in terms of a greater contingency, is not significant.

- Inrelation to mortgage loans linked to the official mortgage price index (IRPH) the Group, as well as other Spanish financial
institutions, is party to proceedings in which the claimants have filed a claim with regard to the validity of these mortgage
loans.

In its judgment of 3 March 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union resolved the request for a preliminary ruling
from the Court of First Instance no. 38 of Barcelona in relation to the alleged lack of transparency in the contractual terms
of consumer mortgage loan agreements that are tied to mortgage loan reference indices (IRPH). This matter arises from a
decision delivered by the Supreme Court in December 2017 which ruled, after analysing the contractual terms, that these
terms met the principles of transparency. According to the CJEU, it is the responsibility of the Spanish courts to determine
in each case whether the information obligations set out in prevailing legislation at the loan arrangement date have been
met. Therefore, after analysing how the mortgage loans were marketed and arranged, the Spanish courts shall determine,
as the case may be, whether there is a lack of transparency and the consequences thereof.

In the wake of the foregoing judgment of the CJEU, in November 2020 the Spanish Supreme Court handed down five
judgments wherein, applying the case law laid down by the Court of Justice of the European Union, it finds the clause not
to be unfair.
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At 31 December 2020, prevailing mortgage loans with individuals who are up to date with payments, which include a
contractual term linked to the IRPH agreed between the consumer and the Entity, amount to approximately EUR 1,100
million (EUR 1,300 million at 31 December 2019). In addition, an amount of approximately EUR 1,350 million of up-to-date
payments (EUR 1,600 million at 31 December 2019) corresponds to loan portfolios relating to the financing of housing and
land for which the reference index (IRPH) stipulated in the contractual terms was not agreed between the consumer and the
Entity, but rather was imposed by way of a mandatory provision applicable to the consumers in accordance with the legal
and de facto framework at the date the contract was signed, such as savings plans for government-subsidised housing. At
31 December 2020, 445 lawsuits are underway with an immaterial economic risk for this kind of proceeding.

Taking into consideration the aforementioned material and procedural prospects and the related existing uncertainty, the
Group has treated the matter as a contingent liability, the materialisation and consequences of which are uncertain for
Bankia.

In relation to the proceedings regarding the so-called revolving and deferred payment cards, in March 2020 the Supreme
Court delivered a judgment confirming the criterion of the Supreme Court Judgment of November 2015, which establishes
the purportedly unfair nature of financing transactions on which the interest rate charged could be considered manifestly
disproportionate, although no clear, specific and consistent case law has been established. The total number of lawsuits in
relation to revolving cards is 107 and the related economic risk is not significant.

Other lawsuits

Lawsuits filed in accordance with Law 57/1968. At 31 December 2020, there were 740 legal proceedings in progress.
Lawsuits related to derivatives. At 31 December 2020, there were 91 legal proceedings in progress.

Lawsuit brought against Bankia, S.A. and others before First Instance Court No. 48 of Madrid: Bankia, S.A. and Corporacion
Industrial Bankia, S.A. entered into a settlement agreement with the creditors holding credit rights vis-a-vis Alazor y Accesos
de Madrid with respect to the settlement of liabilities, whereby all liabilities required of both companies related to the
Comfort Letter and Support Agreement provided were settled, without prejudice to the formal termination of the proceeding
on completion of the pertinent procedural steps. Payment of the settlement agreement has not had a significant impact on
the Group's profit or loss or its equity.

Criminal complaint brought by the Banco de Valencia Small Shareholder Association “Apabankval”: In 2012, Apabankval
lodged a criminal complaint against the Board of Directors of Banco de Valencia and the external auditor in respect of
corporate crimes. The amount of the civil liability claims has yet to be quantified. The Apabankval complaint has led to
Preliminary Proceedings 65/2013-10 at Central Examining Court No. 1 of the National High Court.

Subsequently, a second criminal complaint was brought by several individuals (“Banco de Valencia”). Against this backdrop,
in a ruling dated 6 June 2016, Central Examining Court No. 1 of the National High Court accepted the addition to Preliminary
Proceedings 65/2013-10 of a new criminal complaint filed by shareholders of Banco de Valencia against several members
of the board of directors of Banco de Valencia, the external auditor and Bankia, S.A. (“in place of Bancaja”) for the corporate
crime of falsification of financial statements set out in article 290 of the Spanish Criminal Code.

On 13 March 2017, Panel 3 of the National High Court's Criminal Chamber issued a ruling confirming that: (i) Bankia cannot
be held criminally liable for the events; and (ii) Bankia should be held secondarily liable in the civil liability case.

As of 1 June 2017, Apabankval represented approximately 351 affected parties. In addition, in keeping with the ruling issued
on 8 January 2018, Central Examining Court No. 1 has so far identified another 89 people who have come forward as affected
parties whose legal representation and defence has been assumed by the Apabankval association, as provided for in article
113 of Spain's Criminal Procedure Law.

On 6 September 2017, an individual filed a new criminal complaint regarding the crime of falsification of financial
statements under article 290.2 of the Criminal Code. On this occasion the complaint has been brought against the former
natural person directors in respect of the criminal liability and against Bankia only in respect of the civil liability (with civil
liability also being sought of Valenciana de Inversiones Mobiliarias and the external auditor).

On 13 December 2017, Central Examining Court No. 1 ordered the inclusion of BFA, Tenedora de Acciones S.A.U and
Fundacién Bancaja as parties secondarily liable in the civil liability proceedings. BFA filed an appeal for amendment against
this order — which was rejected in a ruling of 13 December 2017 — and a subsidiary appeal to a superior civil court which it
has subsequently withdrawn, not because BFA accepts the ruling, but because it plans to re-file the arguments put forward,
which it considers solid and well-founded, at a later stage in the proceedings.

0On 19 October 2018, a ruling was issued rejecting the FROB’s appeal — which BFA joined— against the ruling upholding BFA's
secondary civil liability, with one dissenting vote on the understanding that the FROB — a public body — cannot be included
in the proceedings because secondary civil liability is being claimed of BFA, of which it is the sole owner.

On 2 December 2019, Central Examining Court No. 1 ruled that there was a case to answer, ordering the continuation of the
preliminary proceedings in abbreviated proceedings for the alleged participation in a continuous corporate crime of
falsification of Banco de Valencia’s financial statements for 2009-2010, provided for and punishable under articles 290.1,
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290.2 and 74 of the Criminal Code, against the members of Banco de Valencia’s board of directors and against different
companies as parties secondarily liable, including BFA, Bankia, Bankia Habitat, S.L. and Valenciana de Inversiones Mobiliarias,
S.L. These companies have filed appeals for reconsideration with the same Central Examining Court and, subsidiarily, with
the Criminal Chamber of the National High Court or directly on appeal.

Following a ruling delivered on 12 June 2020 which dismissed the appeals for amendment filed by the defence, Bankia and
BFA each lodged an appeal with the Criminal Chamber of the National High Court.

The Group has treated this contingency as a contingent liability the outcome of which remains uncertain at the reporting
date.

(2.19) Non-financial guarantees provided

Deposits or guarantee contracts whereby the Group undertakes to compensate an obligee in the event of non-compliance with a
specific obligation other than a payment obligation of a particular debtor of the obligee, such as deposits given to ensure
participation in auctions or tender processes, surety bonds, irrevocable promises to provide surety and guarantee letters which are
enforceable by law, are considered, for the purpose of preparing these consolidated financial statements, to be insurance contracts.

When the Group provides the guarantees or sureties indicated in the preceding paragraph, it recognises them under “Other
liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value plus the related transaction costs, which, unless there is evidence to the
contrary, is the same as the value of the premiums received plus, if applicable, the present value of cash flows to be received for
the guarantee or surety provided, and an asset is recognised simultaneously for the present value of the cash flows to be received.
Subsequently, the present value of the fees or premiums to be received is discounted, and the differences are recognised in the
consolidated income statement under “Interest income”; the value of the amounts initially recognised in liabilities is allocated on
a straight-line basis to the consolidated income statement. In the event that, in accordance with IAS 37, a provision for the surety
is required which exceeds the liability recognised, the provision is recognised using criteria similar to those described for the
recognition of impairment of financial assets and the amount recorded is reclassified as an integral part of the aforementioned
provision.

(2.20) Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale and discontinued operations

“Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheet include the carrying
amounts of items — either individual (“non-current assets”) or forming part of a group (“disposal group”) or part of a business unit
to be disposed of (“discontinued operations”) — whose sale is highly probable in their current conditions within one year after the
date of the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the carrying amount of the items — which may be financial or non-
financial — is expected to be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

Subsidiaries that meet the criteria to be classified as non-current assets held for sale are fully consolidated and their assets and
liabilities are presented and measured accordingly as a disposal group. Investments in associates or joint ventures that meet the
requirements of the preceding paragraph are also considered, where appropriate, as non-current assets held for sale.

“Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale” include the payables related to disposal groups or to discontinued
operations of the Group.

In general, non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
calculated at the classification date and their fair value less estimated costs to sell. As long as they are classified in this category,
tangible and intangible assets, which by their nature would be depreciable, are not depreciated or amortised.

If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their fair value less costs to sell, the Group adjusts the carrying amount of the assets
by the amount of the excess with a charge to “Profit or (-) loss from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for
sale not qualifying as discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statement. If the fair value of such assets subsequently
increases, the Group reverses the losses previously recognised and increases the carrying amount of the assets without exceeding
the carrying amount prior to the impairment, with a balancing entry in the same heading of the consolidated income statement.

The gains or losses arising on the sale of non-current assets held for sale are presented under “Profit or (-) loss from non-current
assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations” in the consolidated income
statement.

However, financial assets, assets arising from employee remuneration, deferred tax assets and assets under insurance contracts
that are part of a disposal group or of a discontinued operation are not measured as described in the preceding paragraphs, but
rather in accordance with the accounting policies and rules applicable to these items, which were explained in previous sections
of Note 2.

Income and expenses of components classified as discontinued operations are shown, net of the related tax effect, under “Profit
or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statement.

Assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt by the Group, for the full or partial settlement of debtors’ payment obligations,
are considered non-current assets held for sale unless the Group has decided to make continuing use of the assets or to hold them
to earn rentals and/or for future capital appreciation, in which case they are measured as described in Note 2.15.

Initial recognition
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Non-current assets held for sale foreclosed or received in payment of debt are measured initially at the lower of:

- The carrying amount of the financial assets applied.

For the purposes of calculating the carrying amount of the financial assets applied, at the date of initial recognition the
allowances or provisions for these financial assets are estimated on the basis of their accounting classification before the
delivery, treating the asset as collateral. The amount of the allowance is compared with the previous amount and the
difference is recognised as an addition to or release of allowances and provisions, as applicable.

To estimate the allowances and provisions for the financial assets applied, the recoverable amount of the collateral is taken
as the fair value less the estimated costs to sell of the asset foreclosed or received in payment of debt, calculated by applying
the discounts detailed below to the reference value (updated appraisal value), provided that the entity’s experience of sales
bears out its ability to realise the asset at its fair value. Otherwise, if the experience of sales does not corroborate this ability,
the recoverable amount is estimated by applying to the reference value (updated appraisal value) market information on the
Spanish banking sector regarding average discounts for real estate collateral.

- The Group's sales experience bears out its ability to realise the asset as each year it sells at least 25% of its finished dwellings,
20% of its completed offices, commercial premises or multipurpose buildings, and 15% of the rest of its real estate assets.

The market value in full individual appraisals set out in Ministerial Order ECO/805/2003, of 27 March, is used (see Note
25.3.2), to which certain discounts are applied in accordance with the type of foreclosed property. For the types of foreclosed
real estate assets for which the Group has appropriate experience of sales and approved internal models, it uses those models
to calculate the discounts to apply to the reference value in order to obtain the fair value less the estimated costs to sell.

The fair value at the date of foreclosure or receipt of the asset less the estimated costs to sell.

The Group has an internal methodology for estimating discounts on the reference value and costs to sell real estate assets
foreclosed or received in payment of debt classified as non-current assets held for sale. This methodology is based on the
Group'’s prior experience of sales of similar assets, in terms of time scales, prices and volumes, and the time taken for their
sale. The methodology complies with the principles and requirements governing the development and use of internal
methodologies for estimating discounts on the reference value and the costs to sell assets foreclosed or received in payment
of debt, and it underwent the necessary internal validation process prior to its approval and use.

For assets located in Spain, the Group is considered to have adequate sales experience for a type of real estate if it sells yearly
a minimum of 10% of its annual average stock and 75 units of that type.

Real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt classified as non-current assets held for sale for which the Group
has not attained sufficient sales volume, meaning therefore that its management unit does not possess the sales experience
needed to sell or otherwise realise those assets at their fair value, are measured by applying to the reference value, market
information on the Spanish banking sector regarding average discounts for foreclosed assets.

All court costs associated with the claiming and foreclosure of these assets are recognised immediately in the consolidated income
statement for the foreclosure period. Registry costs and taxes paid may be added to the value initially recognised provided that,
as a result, such value does not exceed the fair value less the estimated costs to sell mentioned in the paragraph above. All
expenses related to the administration and management of the assets are recognised in the consolidated income statement in
the period in which they are accrued.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent measurement is made at fair value less estimated costs to sell:

- Fair value less estimated costs to sell is obtained by applying to the reference value the discounts obtained internally or,
where appropriate, using market information on the Spanish banking sector regarding average discounts for foreclosed assets
according to whether there is appropriate experience of sales for each category or asset, as explained above. The difference
vis-a-vis the carrying amount of the assets is recognised as potential impairment or, where appropriate, a reversal of
impairment if the Group has the ability to realise the asset at the estimated fair value, up to the amount of accumulated
impairment. This ability remains provided the asset foreclosed or received in payment of debt has not exceeded the average
holding period of real estate with active sales policies.

- The reference value used to estimate fair value is the market value obtained in appraisals updated at least annually with the
following considerations:

- Iffair value is greater than EUR 300,000: the reference value is taken from the latest full individual appraisal available.

- If fair value is lower than or equal to EUR 300,000: the reference value is the latest available appraisal. Automated
appraisal methods — statistical appraisals — can be used. In any event, once this real estate has been on the balance sheet
for three vyears, its valuation is updated by means of the full individual appraisal. After that date, a combination of
automated appraisal methods and full individual appraisals may be used (see Note 25.3.2), such that the frequency of
the latter is at least every three years.
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In general, the reference value is updated with a full individual appraisal when the properties have remained on the balance
sheet for three years, and at least every three years thereafter by a different appraiser to the previous one. In any event, the
appraisal company or service must change after two consecutive individual appraisals performed by the same appraisal
company or service.

Appendix IX provides further information about real estate assets foreclosed or received by the Group in payment of debt and
classified under this consolidated balance sheet heading on the basis of ultimate purpose, as referred to above. Notes 18.3 and
18.5.1 provide details of assets held for sale and assets included in disposal groups, respectively, classified under “Non-current
assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale”.

(2.21) Consolidated statement of cash flows
The following terms are used in the consolidated statement of cash flows with the meanings specified:

- (Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value (where applicable: and, exclusively, since they form part of cash
management, bank overdrafts repayable on demand, which reduce the amount of cash and cash equivalents).

- Operating activities: the typical activities of credit institutions and other activities that cannot be classified as investing or
financing activities. Operating activities also include interest paid on any financing received, even if this financing is
considered to be a financing activity. Activities performed with the various financial instrument categories indicated in
paragraph i) above are classified, for the purpose of this statement, as operating activities, except for subordinated financial
liabilities, debt certificates including bonds, and investments in equity instruments classified at fair value through other
comprehensive income which are not strategic investments. For these purposes, a strategic investment is that made with the
intention of establishing or maintaining a long-term operating relationship with the investee, since, inter alia, one of the
circumstances that could determine the existence of significant influence prevails, even though this influence does not
actually exist.

- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets and other investments not included in cash and cash
equivalents, such as tangible assets, intangible assets, investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, non-current
assets held for sale and associated liabilities, equity instruments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income
which are strategic investments.

- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and liabilities that are not operating
activities, such as subordinated liabilities and debt certificates including bonds.

In preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows, "Cash and cash equivalents" were considered to be short-term, highly liquid
investments that are subject to a low risk of changes in value. Thus, for the purposes of drawing up the statement of cash flows,
the balance of “Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits” under assets on the consolidated balance sheet
was considered as cash and cash equivalents.

(2.22) Share-based payment transactions
Share-based remuneration of senior executives and Board members

When the Bank immediately delivers shares to eligible employees with no requirement of a certain period of time before the
employee becomes the unconditional owner of the shares, the total services received are expensed under "Staff expenses” in the
consolidated income statement, with a balancing entry for the corresponding increase in equity.

When the shares are delivered to employees after a certain period of service, the expense is recognised under "Staff expenses"” in
the consolidated income statement, along with the corresponding increase in the equity of the company making the payment.

At the grant date on which the employee is entitled to receive share-based payments (the grant date is understood as the date on
which employees and the entity agree to the share remuneration format, its periods and conditions), the amount of the
remuneration to be paid, i.e. the amount of the increase in the equity of the company making the payment, is measured at the fair
value of the shares committed. If fair value cannot be reliably estimated, the shares are measured at their intrinsic value. Changes
in the fair value of shares between the grant date and the date on which they are delivered are not recognised. If the shares are
measured at their intrinsic value, the variation in this value between the grant date and the date on which they are delivered is
recognised with a balancing entry in the consolidated income statement.

The remuneration policy adheres to corporate governance best practices and is in accordance with European regulations
concerning remuneration policies at credit institutions and Royal Decree-Law 2/2012 of 3 February, Ministerial Order
ECC/1762/2012 of 3 August and Law 10/2014 of 26 June. For details of the settlement scheme, see Note 38.8.

(2.23) Treasury shares

The Entity’s Board of Directors approved an update to the Treasury Share Policy, determining the framework for the control and
management of transactions with treasury shares and the related risk. All purchases and sales of treasury shares by Bankia or its
subsidiaries must comply with prevailing legislation and resolutions adopted at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Transactions involving treasury shares are recognised directly in equity, along with all the expenses and potential income that
may arise therefrom.

“Own funds — (-) Treasury shares” in consolidated equity reflects the value of Bankia, S.A. treasury shares held by the Group at 31
December 2020 and 2019.

Note 22.2 includes the disclosures required by applicable regulations regarding transactions with treasury shares.
(2.24) Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

As indicated above, according to the options available under IAS 1, the Group has chosen to present separately, firstly, a statement
showing the components of consolidated profit or loss ("Consolidated income statement") and, secondly, a statement that begins
with profit or loss for the year and displays the components of other comprehensive income for the year, which in these
consolidated financial statements, in accordance with the Circular 4/2017 terminology, is called the "Consolidated statement of
recognised income and expense".

The consolidated statement of recognised income and expense presents the income and expenses generated by the Group as a
result of its business activity in the year. A distinction is made between income and expenses recognised in the consolidated
income statement, on one hand, and, on the other, income and expenses recognised directly in consolidated equity pursuant to
prevailing laws and regulations.

Accordingly, this statement presents:

- Consolidated profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

- The net income or expenses temporarily recognised in consolidated equity as valuation adjustments.
- The net income or expenses definitively recognised in consolidated equity.

- The income tax accrued on the items referred to in the preceding two points, except for valuation adjustments to equity-
accounted investments in associates or joint ventures, which are presented on a net basis.

- Total comprehensive income for the year, calculated as the sum of the above amounts, showing separately the total amounts
attributable to the parent and to non-controlling interests.

- The amount of the income and expenses relating to equity-accounted entities recognised directly in equity is presented in this
statement, irrespective of the nature of the related items, under “Share of other recognised income and expense of investments
in joint ventures and associates”.

The changes in consolidated income and expenses recognised in consolidated equity under “Valuation adjustments” are broken
down — subject to the constraints set out above — as follows:

- Revaluation gains/(losses): income, net of the expenses incurred in the year, recognised directly in consolidated equity. The
amounts recognised in the year under this item are maintained in this line, but in the same year are transferred to the
consolidated income statement, where they are added to the initial value of other assets and liabilities or are reclassified to
another item.

- Amounts transferred to the income statement: valuation gains and losses previously recognised in consolidated equity, even
in the same year, which are taken to the consolidated income statement.

- Amounts transferred to the initial carrying amount of hedged items: valuation gains and losses previously recognised in
consolidated equity, even in the same year, which are accounted for in the initial carrying amount of the assets and liabilities
as a result of cash flow hedges.

- Other reclassifications: the amount of the transfers made in the year between valuation adjustment items in accordance with
current regulations.

As per IAS 1, all items of the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense may be recognised in the consolidated
income statement except “Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans”.

The balances of these items are presented at their gross amount, and the related tax effect is recognised under "Income tax relating
to items that may be reclassified to profit or (-) loss", except as indicated above for "Share of other recognised income and expense
of investments in joint ventures and associates".

(2.25) Consolidated statement of changes in equity

The consolidated statement of changes in equity (which appears in these consolidated financial statements as "Consolidated
statement of total changes in equity" in accordance with the terminology used by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017) reflects all the
changes in equity, including those due to accounting policy changes and corrections of errors. Accordingly, this statement presents
a reconciliation between the carrying amount of each component of consolidated equity at the beginning and at the end of the
period, the changes being grouped on the basis of their nature into the following items:
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- Adjustments due to accounting policy changes and correction of errors: changes in consolidated equity as a result of the
retrospective restatement of financial statement balances on account of changes in accounting policies or for the correction
of errors, if any.

- Income and expense recognised in the year: the aggregate of all items of the consolidated statement of recognised income
and expense, as outlined above.

- Other changes in equity: the remaining items recognised in equity such as capital increases or decreases, distribution of results,
treasury share transactions, share-based payments, transfers between equity line items, and any other increase or decrease in
consolidated equity.

(3) Risk management

Risk management is a strategic pillar of the organisation. The primary objective of risk management is to safequard the Group’s
financial stability and asset base, while creating value and developing the business in accordance with the risk tolerance and
appetite levels set by the governing bodies. For this purpose, it provides the tools to enable the valuation, control and monitoring
of the different risks to which the Group is exposed.

The Board of Directors is responsible for determining the risk control and management policy, and for monitoring the effectiveness
of internal control, internal audit, regulatory compliance and systems for risk management, which it carries out, mainly, through
the Audit and Compliance Committee and the Risk Advisory Committee.

The Group implements its risk strategy with a view to ensuring stable, recurring income with a medium-low enterprise risk profile.
The key pillars of this strategy are:

1. An efficient internal control framework based on a three lines of defence model governed by the following general principles
including its scope, covering all types of relevant risks for the Group as a whole, independence of the risk function and the
commitment of senior management, adapting behaviour to the highest ethical standards and strict compliance with laws and
regulations:

- Independent and global risk function, which ensures there is adequate information for decision-making at all levels.
- Objectivity in decision-making, taking account of all relevant (quantitative and qualitative) risk factors.

- Active management throughout the life of the risk, from preliminary analysis until the risk is extinguished.

- Clear processes and procedures, reviewed regularly as needs arise, with clearly defined levels of responsibility.

- Integrated management of all risks through identification and quantification, and consistent management based on a
common measure (economic capital).

- Individual treatment of risks, channels and procedures based on the specific characteristics of the risk.

- Generation, implementation and promotion of advanced tools to support decision-making which, with efficient use of
new technologies, aids risk management.

- Decentralisation of decision-making based on the approaches and tools available.
- Inclusion of risk in business decisions at all levels (strategic, tactical and operational).

- Alignment of the risk function’s and risk managers’ objectives with the objectives of the Group as a whole, so as to
maximise value creation.

2. An effective governance of the risks for which the Group has different inter-related processes that are approved by the Board
of Directors on a yearly basis.

a) Risk Appetite Framework integrated with the Capital Planning Framework and the Recovery Plan:

The Group has a Risk Appetite Framework approved by the Entity’s Board of Directors which represents the management
tool via which the Board of Directors: (i) formalises the Group’s risk appetite statement, (ii) establishes the mechanism
for monitoring risks in such a way as to ensure compliance with the risk appetite, and (iii) reinforces the Group’s risk
culture.

This Framework explicitly defines the desired and maximum levels of risk (appetite and tolerance) that the Group’s
governing bodies are willing to assume to achieve the business goals, as well as the mechanisms for monitoring different
risks and the responsibilities of the different managements, committees and governing bodies involved.

If any of the key indicators in the Risk Appetite Framework exceed the approved limits, an action procedure is set up,
whereby the Management Committee is designated as responsible for proposing to the Risk Advisory Committee, for its
analysis and subsequent escalation to the Board of Directors, the action plans that the Group may undertake to bring the
indicators back to normal levels.

The Board of Directors reviews the framework annually, updating the desired and maximum levels, and the metrics
considered most appropriate for correct monitoring.

b) Additionally, the Board of Directors approves the Capital Planning Framework which, together with the RAF, sets out the
Entity's strategic lines of action with respect to risk and capital in normal business conditions. Both processes shape the
planning of the Group’s activities and businesses.
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c) The Recovery Plan, also approved by the Board of Directors, is put into action to manage any possible critical situations,
with the aim of returning the Entity to a normal situation, and includes the measures that the Group could adopt in the
hypothetical event of a crisis.

d) The Group performs regular Asset Allocation exercises for the purpose of setting objectives and limits on the different
portfolios, in terms of both exposure and expected loss, in order to maximise the risk-adjusted return within the global
limits established in the Risk Appetite Framework. The annual budget, beyond the requirement to be commensurate with
the risk appetite statement, is drawn up comparing business development proposals with the optimal portfolios provided
by the system.

e) Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) set
out by prevailing legislation. In these processes the Group identifies and evaluates the different risks to which it is exposed
and carries out a self-assessment of capital and liquidity adequacy in various stress scenarios. The results of the
assessments are approved by the Board of Directors and reported to the European supervisor. This exercise is a core
element of the single European banking supervision process.

3. Anorganisational model consistent with the function's general principles. The Group has a transparent organisational structure
in which functions and responsibilities are clearly assigned, encompassing senior management right down to the lower levels
of the Group, with a responsible management team and an active internal control system, in which the Board of Directors is
the body responsible for determining the risk control and management policies, as well as supervising the efficiency of internal
control.

Likewise, the Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible for supervising the effectiveness of internal control, internal
audit, regulatory compliance and risk management systems, and is able to put forward related recommendations or proposals
to the Board of Directors and, where applicable, verify that they are being followed up.

Furthermore, the Risk Advisory Committee advises the Board of Directors on the Group’s global current and future propensity
to risk, and also proposes to the Board of Directors a policy of controlling and managing the Entity and Group’s risks, through
the capital self-assessment report.

On the other hand, the Delegated Risk Committee is the body responsible for approving risks within the scope of the powers
delegated to it, and for overseeing and administering the exercising of delegated powers by lower-level bodies, without
prejudice to the supervisory powers legally corresponding to the Audit and Compliance Committee.

The Group’s risk management and control model is based on a three lines of defence model, the main functions and
responsibilities of which are as follows:

- Thefirst line of defence comprises the risk management directorates, owners of the risk processes and those responsible
for carrying out the controls established in the first line of defence. Specifically, it comprises both the business units and
any of the Entity or Group’s units that assume risks. These Directorates will perform their activities in compliance with
the Group’s risk profile, based on the risk appetite and approved policies.

In order to carry out its function of managing the risks on a daily basis within the scope of its activity and responsibility,
the first line of defence avails of the means to identify, measure, address and report the assumed risks, applying adequate
control and reporting procedures based on the Internal Control Framework in place and the procedures for monitoring
the risk limits approved in the Risk Appetite Framework and the Group’s policies.

- The second line of defence comprises the Directorates that oversee the risks and define the controls mitigating them,
and is composed of the Corporate Risk Directorate and the Corporate Directorate of Regulatory Compliance.

In April 2015, the Board of Directors approved the new Group figure of Chief Risk Officer (CRO), setting out the conditions
necessary for performing the function, the main responsibilities of the role, and the rules and powers for appointment
and removal. The status reinforces the independence of the Chief Risk Officer, who must maintain constant functional
reporting with the Risk Advisory Committee and its Chairman. The CRO also has regular, direct two-way access to senior
executives and the governing bodies. Under its management, the main activity of the Corporate Risk Directorate is to
carry out the monitoring, control and supervision of all the Group's risks, from a global and forward-looking perspective
and, to this end, to maintain a permanent dialogue with the Board of Directors, through the Risk Advisory Committee.

The Corporate Directorate of Regulatory Compliance is responsible for identifying and assessing the risk of non-
compliance, by verifying compliance with internal policies and procedures and by exercising adequate controls and
coordinating the preparation and implementation of action plans focused on mitigating the risk of non-compliance,
reporting the results of this activity to senior executives. It is also responsible for maintaining dialogue with the regulatory
and supervisory bodies.

- The third line of defence comprises the Corporate Directorate of Internal Audit. Internal Audit is an independent and
objective assurance and consultation activity, created to add value to and enhance the Entity and Group’s transactions.
Its mission is to improve and safeguard the value of Bankia and its Group, providing objective assurance, advice and risk-
based knowledge, helping the Group to meet its objectives by providing a systematic and disciplined approach towards
assessing and enhancing the efficiency of the governance, risk management and control processes.

4. The organisational model described is rounded off with a number of committees, including:
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Management Committee. This committee monitors the general performance of the Group and is presented with the
documentation analysed at previous meetings of the organisation's various units. Under the scope of the Risk Appetite
Framework, this committee is in charge of proposing the pertinent measures when limits are approached.

Capital Committee. Among this committee's responsibilities are the monitoring of the regulatory framework and its
potential impact on the Group's regulatory capital, and the monitoring and analysis of the main capital ratios and their
components, as well as the leverage ratio. It also monitors the capital initiatives being carried out within the Group and
the main variations in risk-weighted assets.

Assets and Liabilities Committee. This committee is in charge of monitoring and managing structural balance sheet and
liquidity risks, reviewing the balance sheet structure, business performance and market performance, as well as the
financial scenario, product profitability, earnings, etc. bearing in mind the policies and authorities approved by the Board
of Directors. This committee must also decide on investment and hedging strategies that enable risks to remain within
the approved limits, and also the budget for the year.

Risk Committee. This committee oversees the operations under its remit and performs a preliminary analysis and
assessment of all credit risk which must be resolved by high-ranking levels (Board of Directors and the Board Risk
Committee). It is also in charge of designing a risk authorisation system and interpreting regulations to improve
operations in accordance with general criteria approved by the Board of Directors. For the derivatives activity in the area
of market risk, this committee is responsible for approving discretional early repayment clauses upon request from the
carresponding business or risks directorate.

Provisioning Committee. Its responsibility is to ensure compliance with prevailing standards for recognising impairment
for credit risk; to approve the framework of risk classification policies, criteria and approaches and of allowances under
the general framewaork of policies established by the Board of Directors; to monitor and control the budget of non-
performing loans and NPL provisions, as well as the portfolio under special monitoring; to approve the proposals of
individual classification following the appearance of evidence of impairment; to authorise the approvals scheme to allow
the risks teams to decide on the classification and individualised allowances for borrowers and exposures of smaller
amounts; to approve reclassifications (performing, special monitoring, non-performing, write-off) and changes in
provisions for portfolios or sets of exposures; to approve the approach for determining credit valuation adjustments (CVA)
in the derivatives portfolio; and to monitor the CVA.

The Models Committee. The main function of this committee is to provide the Board of Directors with a proposal for
approving the new models and expanding/modifying already existing models, as well as to provide a proposal for
approving the model implementation plan. It is also able to approve non-significant modifications in accordance with
the Risks Model Approval Policy. It is also is tasked with ensuring the integrity of the ratings and credit scores, establishing
criteria for situations not contemplated by the ratings maodels and setting up a body to monitor the credit scoring systems.

Global Risk Control and Oversight Committee. Its risk-related functions include controlling, overseeing and exercising
effective challenge to trends in the Group’s risk profile, the risk appetite approved by the Board of Directors, and the
business model from a holistic and forward-looking perspective, analysing any deviations affecting the Group’s risk
profile, solvency and/or liquidity, proposing, where necessary, any measures considered appropriate.

Regulatory Compliance Committee. This committee meets monthly. Its risk-related duties mainly include identifying,
assessing and managing compliance risks associated with the Group's operations; updating and managing codes of
conduct; and drafting, maintaining and overseeing compliance manuals and policies.

Operational and Technological Risk Committee. It meets on a monthly basis and its risk-related functions include
identifying the operational risk profile of the Group through a qualitative self-assessment, analysis of real operational
losses and monitoring of the different indicators. It must also propose the annual framework of appetite and tolerance to
operational and technological risk and approve the implementation of specific policies and procedures affecting the field
of operational and technological risk.

Cyber Security Committee. It meets on @ monthly basis and its functions include monitoring the status of cyber security
and reporting periodically to the Board of Directors. In addition, its competencies include strategic decision-making on
investments in cyber security and deciding the cyber security risk appetite framework.

New Products Committee This committee meets on a monthly basis, unless a meeting does not have to take place in line
with planning and information. The functions of this committee include analysing any new product, assuring that all its
risks have been identified and assessed, and that these risks can be measured and controlled, approving or rejecting the
new projects proposed on the basis of the analyses carried out.

In view of the activity carried out by the Group, the main risks to which it is exposed are as follows:

Credit risk (including concentration risk), understood as the risk that the Group will assume losses in the regular course
of its banking business if its customers or counterparties fail to comply with their contractual obligations. Credit risk
arises primarily from the business activity performed by the Individual, Business and Treasury and Capital Markets
business areas, as well as from certain investments held by the Group.

Financial instrument liquidity risk, which relates to the possibility that the funds needed to settle the Group's
commitments in a timely manner and to allow its lending activity to grow will not be available at reasonable prices.
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- Structural balance sheet interest rate risk, which relates to potential losses in the event of adverse trends in market
interest rates.

- Market risk, which relates to potential losses due to adverse changes in the market prices of the financial instruments
with which the Group operates, primarily through the Treasury and Capital Markets area.

- Operational risk, which relates to possible losses arising from failures or shortcomings in processes, personnel or internal
systems, or from external events.

(3.1) Exposure to credit risk

(3.1.1) Credit risk management objectives, policies and processes

A. Aim of credit risk management

The Group understands credit risk to be the risk of having to assume losses in the regular course of its banking business if its
customers or counterparties fail to comply with their contractual obligations. This risk is inherent to all traditional banking products
of financial institutions (loans, credits, financial guarantees given, etc.), and other types of financial assets (debt securities,
derivatives and other) and affects financial assets measured at both amortised cost and fair value.

The main principles observed by the Group in its credit risk management are as follows:

Responsible risk approval. Customers should be offered the financing facilities that are best tailored to their needs, for
amounts and under terms and conditions that match their payment ability. The necessary support should be provided so that
borrowers of good faith can overcome their financial difficulties.

Alignment with the Risk Appetite Framework. Policies must be seen as a set of action guidelines and management criteria
aimed at ensuring compliance with the Risk Appetite Statement.

Establishing criteria that feed through to best banking practices. In this vein, specific policies are defined for industries or
borrowers that may be sensitive on account of their social implications, for example investments in or financing of
controversial businesses, such as arms and ammunition, or that infringe on human rights, or any activity that could
compromise the Entity’s ethics.

Transparent environment. A transparent environment is created, integrating the various systems developed to prevent crime
and to correct fraud, acting at all times in compliance with applicable law.

Stable general approval criteria. Although the specific conditions are subject to change, the general guidelines are intended
to be permanent.

Adaptation. The general criteria should be complemented with the development of specific segment and type-of-product
criteria so that a well-defined and unambiguous action framework can be established.

Adapting price to risk. Considering the customer as a whole as well as individual transactions in accordance with the Pricing
Policies in force and guaranteeing the achievement of business objectives and coverage of the cost of risk.

Data quality. To assess risk appropriately, sufficient and accurate data are required. Therefore, the coherence and integrity of
the data must be assured.

Two-way relationship with internal scoring systems. Policies must establish clear lines of action designed to ensure that the
internal scoring systems are fed with accurate and sufficient information to guarantee that they work properly. At the same
time, decisions related to credit risk must be shaped by the rating of the borrower and/or the transactions.

Continuous monitoring of exposures. Monitoring is underpinned by the allocation of specific management responsibilities for
customers/transactions, supported by policies, procedures, tools and systems that allow for their appropriate identification
and assessment throughout their life cycle.

Fostering the recovery activity. Based on policies, procedures, tools and systems that ensure flexible and early action by the
parties, in the form of initiatives and decision-making aimed at minimising the loss from exposures for the Group.

Moreover, the Group's credit risk management is essentially based on:

The involvement of senior executives in decision-making.
A holistic view of the credit risk management cycle that enables:
- Planning of the key credit risk metrics to guide the actions of the business and risk-taking.

- Specialisation in each stage of risk management, with policies, procedures and resources in keeping with each one:
Approval, Monitoring and Recoveries.
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- An approval policy containing criteria that identify, for instance, minimum requirements of transactions and customers, the
Group's desired target profile for each type of material risk in line with the Risk Appetite Framework, and the elements or
variables to be considered in the analysis and decision-making.

- Preventive system for monitoring customers that involves all business units and forms part of daily management, and which
facilitates the Group’s recovery in the case of impaired exposures.

- Flexible recoveries model, adaptable to changes in the regulatory environment.

- Tools to assist risk decision-making and measurement, underpinned by credit quality of exposures (scoring, rating), with a
view to objectifying and maintaining a risk management policy attuned with the strategy pursued by the Group at any given
time.

- Clear separation of roles and responsibilities. The Group understands the risk control function as a function that is spread
across the entire organisation and is based on a three-lines-of-defence system.

B. Credit risk management policies

To achieve these objectives, the Group has a “Credit Risk Document Structure” in place approved by the Board of Directors. It also
has a Credit Risk Manual.

The purpose of the “Credit Risk Document Structure” is to define, regulate and disseminate common standards of action that act
as a benchmark and allow basic rules of credit risk management to be set within the Bankia Group and to determine the roles and
responsibilities of the bodies, committees and directorates involved in procedures to identify, measure, control and manage the
Group’s credit risk, in accordance with its risk appetite.

The structure comprises the Credit Risk Policies, Methods and Procedures Framework, the Credit Risk Policies, Specific Criteria
Manuals and Operating Manuals, which regulate, among others, the methodologies, procedures and criteria used for transaction
approvals, changes in the terms and conditions thereof, the assessment, monitoring and control of credit risk, including the
classification of transactions and assessment of allowances, in addition to defining and establishing effective guarantees, and the
recognition and measurement of foreclosed assets or assets received in payment of debt, so that any impairment can be detected
early and a reasonable estimate of credit risk allowances can be made. In addition, due to the exceptional circumstances triggered
by COVID-19, the document structure includes a document called: “Powers, Policies, Specific Criteria and Control Framework -
Covid-19” that outlines the temporary measures implemented, whilst they are applicable, following the declaration of the State
of Emergency and the subsequent entry into force of Royal Decree-Laws 8/2020 and 11/2020 due to COVID-19, as well as the
exceptions applicable in this context to the rest of the documents for the document structure.

A brief summary of each document is provided below:

- The Credit Risk Policies, Methods and Procedures Framework contains criteria and guidelines to ensure adequate management
of the approval, monitoring and recovery process and the proper classification and coverage of transactions over their entire
life cycle. It also allows the Group to establish high-level action limits by setting general principles that are adjusted
accordingly in the policies.

- The Credit Risk Policies, approved by the Board of Directors, contain a set of rules and main instructions governing the
management of credit risk. They are effective and consistent with the general principles set out in the Policies Framework and
in the Risk Appetite Framework and are applied across the entire Group. They are used internally to create and develop rules
and regulations on risks as regards competencies related to risk strategy, implementation and control. The Specific Criteria
Manuals provide a detailed description of the criteria set out in the policies regulating the activities carried out by the Group.
They are there for consultative purposes to enable the correct and proper performance of activities in accordance with the
requirements previously put in place, thus minimising operational risk. The Specific Criteria Manuals combine with certain
policies to provide enterprise-wide risk management.

- The Operating Manuals are methodological documents that develop and expand upon the criteria set out in the Specific
Criteria Policies and Manual regulating the activities carried out by the Group. They are there for consultative purposes to
enable the correct and proper performance of activities in accordance with the requirements previously put in place, thus
minimising operational risk. These manuals are permanently linked with the Credit Risk Policies and the Manuals for Specific
Criteria and adhere to the guidelines set out, as well as including sufficiently detailed points of increased relevance for credit
risk management purposes.

C. Assessment, monitoring and control of credit risk

Risk is managed in accordance with the limits and instructions established in the policies, underpinned by the following processes
and systems:

- Transaction approvals and amendments

- Transaction monitoring
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Transaction recoveries
Concentration risk management
Risk projection

Risk-adjusted return

Business revitalisation

Risk classification

Risk quantification

Approval and amendment of credit risk transactions

When arranging credit risk positions, the Group carefully assesses the creditworthiness of the customer or counterparty by
obtaining information on any existing or proposed risk transactions, the collateral provided and payment capacity, among other
factors, considering the risk-adjusted return expected by the Group on each transaction.

To this end, the Group's Approval Policy is aligned with the standards established by senior executives in terms of segments,
products, markets, risk-adjusted return and other variables, and is in keeping with the management objectives set out in the Risk
Appetite Framework. The policies include general approval principles, underpinned by the following cornerstones:

Adaptation to the Entity’s general strategy.
Customer view as a whole, prioritising integral customer management.

Classification of customers into risk segments for the purpose of identifying, measuring and assessing the risks in the most
comprehensive and accurate manner.

Borrowers’ payment capacity.

Proportionality with the debt-equity level and generating of recurring profit, prioritising the diversification of risks, avoiding
significant risk concentrations and establishing sound control and mitigation mechanisms.

Harmonised application, in concordance with the corporate risk criteria.

Dynamic management, evaluating continuously the level of exposure, economic and financial situation and solvency of the
borrowers, level of coverage of guarantees, etc.

Data quality, with reliable, complete and updated information on the situation and financial needs of the parties involved.

Delegation and Membership: organisation under a system of delegation of powers based on a pyramid structure starting with
the Board of Directors and with the aim of being in a position to efficiently respond in a timely manner and on due form to
customer requests for financing.

No self-granting of asset transactions, to oneself or for the family members of those persons with granting and other powers
rendered by the Group.

Proactive granting via the use of dynamisation tools that favour and speed up the processes of granting and arranging
financing transactions.

The approval policies are governed by credit scoring systems, which allow a response to be given that is objective, consistent and
coherent with the Group's risk policies and risk appetite. The scoring systems not only rate risk, but also produce a binding
recommendation in accordance with the most restrictive of the three following components:

Score. Cut-off points are established using risk-adjusted return (RAR) criteria or by determining the maximum default level.
Based on the rating given by the model, there are three possible outcomes:

- Reject, if the score is below the lower cut-off point.
- Review, if the score is between the lower and higher cut-off points.
- Accept, if the score is above the higher cut-off point.

Indebtedness. The level of indebtedness is established based on the financial burden the transaction represents vis-a-vis the
stated net income of the applicants. In no case may the resulting available income after allowing for debt servicing represent
a noticeable restriction on the borrower's ability to cover their family living expenses. Specifically, in the mortgage segment,
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the longer the term of the loan, the lower the maximum limit of indebtedness with a view to mitigating the increased
sensitivity to fluctuations in interest rates.

- Exclusion filters. The Group uses databases, both internal and external, that provide information on the credit, financial and
equity position of the customers or counterparties; the existence of significant incidents in the position of the customers or
counterparties may lead to a transaction being rejected. Additionally, a set of criteria are established that limit the maximum
terms of financing, in absolute terms and in relation to the age of the applicants or the maximum funds that can be extended.

A key issue for the mortgage segment is the set of criteria that define the eligibility of assets as mortgage collateral and the
valuation criteria. In particular, the risk assumed vis-a-vis the borrower cannot depend substantially on the potential return the
borrower may obtain on the mortgaged property, but rather the borrower's ability to repay the debt by other means. Meanwhile,
only appraisals by Bank of Spain authorised appraisers are accepted. These are regulated by Royal Decree 775/1997, of 30 May,
on the legal framework governing the certification of services and appraisal companies, thus ensuring the quality and transparency
of the appraisals. In addition, appraisal values must be calculated as set out in Ministerial Order ECO/805/2003, of 27 March, on
rules for the valuation of properties and certain financial rights, taking into consideration Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017.

However, bath Ministry of Economy and Finance Order EHA/2899/2011, of 28 October, on transparency and consumer protection
in banking services, and Bank of Spain Circular 5/2012, of 27 June, to credit institutions and payment service providers, on the
transparency of banking services and responsible lending, also introduce, as a feature of responsible consumer lending, the
requirement for borrowers to provide the institutions with complete and accurate information on their financial position and their
intentions and needs regarding the purpose, amount and other conditions of the loan or credit, and that they in turn be adequately
informed about the characteristics of the products that are suitable for their needs and the inherent risks thereof. Law 5/2019, of
15 March, on real estate credit agreements, includes provisions aimed at promoting legal security, transparency and understanding
with respect to contracts and their clauses, and a fair balance between the parties. This legislation contains rules on transparency
and conduct that impose obligations on lenders and loan brokers, and their appointed representatives. It completes and improves
the current framework set forth in Ministry of Economy and Finance Order EHA/2899/2011 and Law 2/2009, of 31 March,
governing customer loan and mortgage agreements and brokerage services in the execution of loan or credit contracts.

In this regard, the Group has responsible approvals policies for loans and credits, which, as mentioned above, establish the need
to offer customers financing facilities that best adapt to their needs, adjusting the terms and conditions and the amounts borrowed
to the borrower's payment ability, providing the necessary information so that borrowers of good faith can overcome their financial
difficulties, and making the required pre-contractual information available to the customer, which is stored in their file.

In relation to changes in authorised credit transactions, Appendix VIl shows a summary of the policies and standards established
by the Group for refinancing or restructuring transactions, in addition to quantitative information relating to these transactions.

Monitoring of credit risk transactions

The monitoring function avails of a series of general criteria on which this activity is hinged, irrespective of the segment in question,
as follows:

- Anticipation: monitoring must be of a significantly preventive nature to be truly effective.
- Proactivity: monitoring must be proactive and permanent from the date the transaction is granted until its cancellation.
- Efficiency: the level of enforceability with specific criteria is highly relevant.

- Added value: the monitoring tasks enable an information base to be obtained from which management reports can be
produced relating to the customer portfolio, and which are backed by the definition of risk admission criteria and, in addition,
speed up the process of managing collection of payments from impaired customers.

- Integral view of the customer, with an approach that is geared towards the overall customer risk position and not just towards
an individual contract.

- Integral view of the portfolio: it is very important to analyse the portfolio at macro level in order to obtain micro conclusions.

Recovery of credit risk transactions

Recovery management is defined as a comprehensive process that begins even before a payment is missed, covering all phases
of the recovery cycle until a solution is reached, whether amicable or contentious.

Early warning models are applied in lending to retail customers. They are designed to identify potential problems and offer
solutions, which may entail adapting the conditions of the loan. In fact, a large number of mortgage loan renegotiations during
the year resulted from the proposals put forward proactively by the Group.

With business loans, the system of levels described above has the same objective: proactive management of non-performing
loans. Therefore, the entire portfolio is monitored in such a way that default only arises from an unsuccessful prior negotiation.

Concentration risk management
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The Group uses a set of tools to analyse and monitor the concentration of risks. First, as part of the calculation of economic capital,
it identifies the component of specific economic capital as the difference between systemic economic capital (assuming maximum
diversification) and total economic capital, which includes the effect of the concentration. This component enables a direct
measure of concentration risk to be obtained. An approach similar to that used by ratings agencies is applied, paying attention to
the weight of the main risks with respect to the volume of capital and income-generation ability.

Risk projection

Stress test models are another key element of credit risk management, allowing for the risk profiles of portfolios and the sufficiency
of capital under stressed scenarios to be evaluated. The tests are aimed at assessing the systemic component of risk, while also
bearing in mind specific vulnerabilities of the portfolios. The impact of stressed macroeconomic scenarios on risk parameters and
migration matrices is assessed, allowing expected loss under stress scenarios and the impact on profit or loss to be determined.

Risk-adjusted return

The profitability of a transaction must be adjusted by the costs of the various related risks, not only the cost of the credit. And it
must be compared to the volume of capital that must be assigned to cover unexpected losses (economic capital) or to comply
with regulatory capital requirements (regulatory capital).

RAR (risk-adjusted return) is a core risk management tool. In wholesale banking, pricing powers depend on both the RAR of the
new transactions proposed and the RAR of the relationship, considering all the outstanding business with a customer. In retail
banking, RAR is considered to determine approval criteria (cut-off points) in accordance with the fees in effect at any given time.
The Board, through the Risk Advisory Committee, is informed regularly on the RAR of all the lending portfolios, distinguishing
between the total portfolio and new business.

Business revitalisation

One of Risk Management’s functions is to create value and develop the business in accordance with the risk appetite established
by the governing bodies. In this respect, the Deputy General Directorate of Credit Risk is equally responsible for revitalising the
lending business, providing tools and establishing criteria that identify potential customers, simplify the decision-making
processes and allocate risk lines, always within pre-defined tolerance levels. It has tools and pre-authorisation and limit assignment
processes for lending to both companies and retail customers.

Risk classification

Rating and scoring tools are used to classify borrowers and/or transactions by risk level. Virtually all segments of the portfolio are
classified, mostly based on statistical models. This classification not only aids in decision-making but allows for the addition of
the risk appetite and tolerance decided by the governing bodies through the limits established in the policies.

The Models Committee reviews and decides on scorings and ratings for non-retail borrowers, which as such are subject to ratings.
Its objective is to achieve consistency in decisions on the ratings of the portfolio and include any information that is not contained
in the models and could affect these decisions.

The Models Committee also ensures that the credit scoring system works properly and proposes potential changes in criteria for
decision-making to the Risk Committee. The Group has both approval (reactive) and performance (proactive) scoring models. There
are also recovery models applicable to parties in default.

Risk classification also includes the “monitoring levels system”. This system aims to develop proactive management of risks
related to business activities through classification into four categories:

- Levellor high risk: risks to be extinguished in an orderly manner.
- Level Il or medium-high risk: reduction of the risk.

- Level lll or medium-low risk: maintenance of the risk.

- All other exposures deemed performing exposures.

The level is determined in accordance with the rating, as well as other factors, e.q. activity, accounting classification, existence of
non-payment, the situation of the borrower’s group, etc. The level determines the credit risk authorisation powers.
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Risk quantification

Credit risk is quantified through two measures: expected loss on the portfolio, which reflects the average amount of losses and is
related to the calculation of provisioning requirements, and unexpected losses, which is the possibility of incurring substantially
higher-than-expected losses over a period of time, affecting the level of capital considered necessary to meet objectives (economic
capital).

The credit risk measurement parameters derived from internal models are exposure at default (EAD), probability of default (PD)
based on the rating, and loss given default (LGD) or severity.

Expected loss, obtained as a product of the previous parameters, represents the average amount expected to be lost on the portfolio
at a given future date. This is the key metric for measuring the underlying risks of a credit portfolio as it reflects all the features of
transactions and not only the borrower’s risk profile. Expected loss allows a constrained assessment of a specific real or
hypothetical economic scenario or refers to a long-time period during which a full economic cycle may have been observed. Which
concept of expected loss is more appropriate will depend on the specific use.

The Group uses internal methodologies to make collective estimates of credit risk allowances. In line with the Group’s internal
models for estimating capital requirements, this internal methodology includes the calculation of losses, based on internal data,
through own estimates of credit risk parameters.

With the economic capital model, extreme losses can be determined with a certain probability. The difference between expected
loss and value at risk is known as unexpected loss. The Group must have sufficient capital to cover potential losses; therefore, the
greater the coverage, the higher the solvency. This model simulates default events and can therefore quantify concentration risk.

(3.1.2) Exposure to credit risk by segment and activity

The maximum credit risk exposure for financial assets recognised on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is their
carrying amount. The maximum credit risk exposure for financial guarantees extended is the maximum amount the Group would
have to pay if the guarantee were enforced.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the original credit risk exposure net of impairment for credit risk, without deducting collateral or
any other credit enhancements received, and without applying the credit conversion factors, grouped in accordance with the main
exposure segments and activities established, is as follows:
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31 December 2020

Loans and advances - 11,192 - - 125,910,040 - 43,227,511
Credit institutions - - - - 4,915,769 - 335,633
General government - - - - 5,678,325 - 1,354,083
Other financial corporations - - - - 2,553,215 - 3,731,746
Companies - 11,192 - - 40,618,454 - 31,909,499
Households - - - - 72,144,277 - 5,896,550

Mortgage loans - - - - 64,495,059 - -

Consumer credit - - - - 5,082,317 - -

Cards - - - - 951,955 - -

Other - - - - 1,614,946 - -
Debt securities 80,554 193 - 8,564,092 37,495,038 - -
Credit institutions - - - 6,367 25,025 - -
General government 80,554 - - 8,256,076 18,847,150 - -
Other financial corporations - 143 - 44,707 18,562,664 - -
Companies - 50 - 256,942 60,199 - -
Households - - - - - - -
Equity instruments 684 - - 59,543 - - -
Derivatives 6,686,668 - - - - 2,451,227 -
Total 6,767,906 11,385 - 8,623,635 163,405,078 2,451,227 43,227,511

Memorandum item: Breakdown of general
governments by country

Spanish general government 80,554 - - 8,066,396 18,669,753 - 1,354,083
Italian general government - - - - 5,695,075 - -
French general government - - - 189,680 99,563 - -
Other general governments - - - - 61,084 - -
Total 80,554 - - 8,256,076 24,525,475 - 1,354,083
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31 December 2019

Loans and advances - 34,518 - - 122,900,453 - 36,704,675
Credit institutions - 23,263 - - 5,467,442 - 363,116
General government - - - - 4,885,268 - 912,487
Other financial corporations - - - - 1,960,074 - 3,172,284
Companies - 11,255 - - 35,310,571 - 26,716,202
Households - - - - 75,277,098 - 5,540,586

Mortgage loans - - - - 66,829,665 - -

Consumer credit - - - - 5,547,783 - -

Cards - - - - 889,748 - -

Other - - - - 2,009,902 - -
Debt securities 170,795 237 - 11,906,055 33,067,987 - -
Credit institutions - - - 18,020 25,006 - -
General government 160,898 - - 11,447,063 14,268,694 - -
Other financial corporations - 148 - 79,319 18,774,287 - -
Companies 9,897 89 - 361,653 - - -
Households - - - - - - -
Equity instruments 1,381 - - 75,817 - - -
Derivatives 6,518,725 - - - - 2,498,821 -
Total 6,690,901 34,755 - 11,981,872 155,968,440 2,498,821 36,704,675

Memorandum item: Breakdown of general
governments by country

Spanish general government 142,413 - - 11,155,671 14,898,125 - 912,487
Italian general government 18,485 - - 102,197 4,154,793 - -
French general government - - - 188,291 101,044 - -
Other general governments - - - 904 - - -
Total 160,898 - - 11,447,063 19,153,962 - 912,487

(3.1.3) Breakdown of exposure by product

Credit risk exposure net of impairment for credit risk at 31 December 2020 and 2019, by product (excluding equities), is shown
in the table below. Loans and credit make up 75.73% at 31 December 2020 (64.50% at 31 December 2019). Fixed income
products are the second-highest exposure, accounting for 20.56% at 31 December 2020 (23.08% at 31 December 2019). The
breakdown at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

31 December 2020:

(in thousands of euros)

Loans and credit - 11,192 - - 120,994,271 - 28,997,814
Fixed income 80,554 193 - 8,564,092 37,495,038 - -
Interbank deposits - - - - 4,915,769 - -
Bank guarantees and documentary B B R R R R 14229697
credits R

Derivatives 6,686,668 - - - - 2,451,227 -
Total 6,767,222 11,385 - 8,564,092 163,405,078 2,451,227 43,227,511
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31 December 2019:

(in thousands of euros)

Loan
commitments,
Non-trading Financial assets at financial
financial assets Financial assets  fair value through guarantees and
mandatorily at fair ~ designated at fair other contingent
Financial assets  value through profit value through comprehensive Financial assets at Derivatives — commitments
PRODUCT held for trading or loss profit or loss income amortised cost Hedge accounting given
Loans and credit - 34,518 - - 117,433,011 - 23,632,897
Fixed income 170,795 237 - 11,906,055 33,067,987
Interbank deposits - - - - 5,467,442
Bank guarantees and documentary _ R _ _ _ R 13.071.778
credits ) ’
Derivatives 6,518,725 - - - - 2,498,821
Total 6,689,520 34,755 - 11,906,055 155,968,440 2,498,821 36,704,675

(3.1.4) Credit quality

All ratings appearing in this section reflect definitions equivalent to those given by the Standard & Poor’s scale.
The rating system designed by the Group primarily covers two dimensions:

- Risk of default by the borrower: reflected in the probability of default (PD) by the borrower or in the rating.

- Transaction-specific factors: reflected in loss given default (LGD), such as guarantees or interests in various tranches of
leveraged financing. The term also constitutes a major factor.

The rating system used makes a distinction between the following:

- Exposure through companies, sovereigns, institutions and banks: each exposure through a single borrower is given the same
credit quality grading (known as borrower grade), regardless of the nature of the exposures. This is known as the borrower
rating.

- Retail exposures: the systems focus both on borrower risk and the characteristics of the transactions. This is known as scoring.
There are three different types of rating:
- External rating: this refers to the ratings issued by external rating agencies (S&P, Moody’s and Fitch).

- Automatic rating: these ratings are obtained through internal models, depending on the segment to which the customer
belongs.

- Internal rating: these are the final ratings assigned to customers when all the available information has been reviewed. The
internal rating may be the external rating, the automatic rating or the rating determined by the Rating Committee from all
the information analysed.

Customers form part of the same rating system and therefore when the financial information is added to the corporate system
(NEO), the rating is automatically produced by the appropriate model.

Credit quality. Exposure and average rating/scoring by segment

The breakdown by segment of the Group's credit risk exposure net of impairment for credit risk at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
excluding equities and derivatives, with the average ratings per segment, is as follows:
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31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Credit institutions 5,208,232 A- 73,397
General government 34,077,430 A- 98,770
Other financial corporations 21,235,207 BBB+ 3,647,652
Companies 70,407,233 BB+ 70,850
Households 74,960,205 BB 847,225
Mortgage loans 62,416,358 BB 270
Consumer credit 4,996,300 BB 78
Cards 935,868 BB- 513
Other 6,611,679 BB- 846,364
Total (excluding default) 205,888,307 BBB- 4,737,894
Total (default) 4,662,419 D -
31 December 2019
(in thousands of euros)
Credit institutions 5,565,642 A- 296,801
General government 31,564,061 A- 14,734
Other financial corporations 21,057,456 A- 3,110,429
Companies 58,761,666 BBB- 605,928
Households 77,509,734 BB+ 1,235,582
Mortgage loans 64,880,524 BBB- 1
Consumer credit 5,476,386 BB- 662
Cards 877,534 BB- 662
Other 6,275,290 BB 1,234,257
Total (excluding default) 194,458,559 BBB- 5,263,474
Total (default) 5,062,686 D -

Credit quality. Rating distribution for exposures through credit institutions, general government and financial

corporations

The distribution of the exposure net of impairment for credit risk by credit ratings at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is shown in the

table below:

(in thousands of euros)

AAA to A- 46,296,483 45,670,830
BBB+ to BB- 13,859,913 11,922,630
B+ to B- 239,557 412,466
CCC+toC 124,916 78,499
Not rated 3,819,819 3,421,964
Default 50,769 50,982
Total 64,391,457 61,557,371
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Credit quality. Rating distribution for exposures through companies

The distribution of the exposure net of impairment for credit risk by credit ratings at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is shown in the

table below:

(in thousands of euros)

RATING 31/12/2020

AAA to A- 8,952,977
BBB+ to BB- 48,958,924
B+ to B- 11,875,732
CCC+toC 619,599
Not rated 70,851
Default 2,378,253
Total 72,856,336

Credit quality. Rating distribution for exposures through households

31/12/2019

6,589,357
41,899,429
9,983,898
390,762
605,928
2,940,294
62,409,668

The distribution of the exposure net of impairment for credit risk by credit ratings at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is shown in the

table below:

(in thousands of euros)

RATING 31/12/2020

AAA to A- 28,816,825
BBB+ to BB- 32,067,275
B+ to B- 12,357,338
CCC+toC 1,718,767
Not rated 847,225
Default 2,233,397
Total 78,040,827

Credit quality. Historical default rates

31/12/2019

8,141,229
49,994,858
19,218,720

155,883
1,235,582
2,071,411

80,817,683

The Group’s default rate, understood as the ratio of non-performing exposures at any given time to the Group’s total credit risk,
stood at 4.75% at 31 December 2020 (5.04% at 31 December 2019). At 31 December 2019 this rate would have increased to
5.29% had non-performing exposures classified under non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale (see Note

18) been considered.
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(3.1.5) Concentration of risks

Appendix X provides information on risk concentration by activity and geographic area.

The table below shows information concerning the diversification of risks by business sector, measured by credit risk, excluding
equities and derivatives, in accordance with the borrower's NACE code and regardless of the purpose of the financing at 31

December 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of euros)

SECTOR

Food

Associations

Automotive and auto services
Wholesale

Retail

Construction and development (¥)
Manufacture of machinery and equipment
Manufacture of intermediate products
Finance

Catering and tour operators

Food, beverages and tobacco industry
Basic manufacturing, textiles, furniture
Mining, energy and infrastructure
Public sector

Corporate services

Leisure, culture, health and education
Utilities: electricity, gas, steam and water
Telecommunications

Transport

Other sectors (including households)
TOTAL

(*) Including financing not related to property development.

31/12/2020

Thousands of euros %
1,123,146 0.52%
14,311 0.01%
2,685,923 1.25%
8,464,987 3.93%
3,167,232 1.47%
12,344,950 5.73%
4,110,992 1.91%
5,714,780 2.65%
26,844,716 12.47%
3,369,357 1.57%
3,713,417 1.72%
1,027,067 0.48%
5,302,849 2.46%
33,755,626 15.68%
6,042,504 2.81%
5,249,727 2.44%
6,442,732 2.99%
1,444,307 0.67%
2,624,759 1.22%
81,845,238 38.02%
215,288,620 100.00%

31/12/2019
Thousands of euros

1,018,970
50,333
2,246,734
6,979,378
2,201,804
10,789,361
3,284,791
4,706,941
28,104,119
2,438,398
3,331,889
830,395
4,650,834
31,049,552
4,385,494
5,007,842
6,225,304
1,315,525
2,323,672
83,843,384
204,784,720

The Group regularly monitors major customer exposures, and these are periodically reported to the Bank of Spain.

(3.1.6) Netting agreements and collateral agreements

%

0.50%
0.02%
1.10%
3.41%
1.08%
5.27%
1.60%
2.30%
13.72%
1.19%
1.63%
0.41%
2.27%
15.16%
2.14%
2.45%
3.04%
0.64%
1.13%
40.94%
100.00%

In addition to amounts that can be offset in accordance with IAS 32 (see Note 2.6), there are other offsetting (netting) and collateral
agreements that effectively reduce credit risk, but do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the financial statements.

The table below lists these derivatives, including separate details of the effects of the arrangements and the collateral received

and/or extended.

Amounts related to cash collateral and collateral in financial instruments are shown at their fair values. Offset rights are related
to the guarantees and collateral in cash and financial instruments and depend on non-payment by the counterparty:

(in thousands of euros)

Derivatives (trading and hedging)
Gross exposure

Netting of accounts (Notes 9 and 13)
Carrying amount

Netting agreements

Collateral (*)

Net exposure

(*) Includes securities received as collateral.

31/12/2020
Assets

17,625,477
(8,487,582)
9,137,895
(4,730,122)
(3,533,130)
874,643

Liabilities
15,327,719
(8,487,582)
6,840,137
(4,730,122)
(2,020,778)
89,237

31/12/2019
Assets

15,779,616
(6,762,070)
9,017,546
(4,549,919)
(3,573,881)
893,746

Liabilities
13,328,350
(6,762,070)

6,566,280
(4,549,919)
(1,999,857)

16,504
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In addition, under the framework of repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions carried out by the Group (see Note 27.1), there
are other agreements entailing the receipt and/or delivery of the following guarantees or collateral in addition to the contractual
guarantees in the transactions:

(in thousands of euros)

Cash 25,425 10,979 1,079 30,829
Securities - 2,567 8,851 -
Total 25,425 13,546 9,930 30,829

(3.1.7) Exposure through collateral received and other credit enhancements

At 31 December 2020 and 2019 the distribution, by segments, of exposure net of impairment for credit risk, excluding equities
and derivatives, with collateral and other credit enhancements is as follows:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Credit institutions - 2,751,895 2,530,899 - 5,282,794
General government 165,059 25,858 33,979,277 45,995 34,216,189
Other financial corporations 84,474 272,642 24,535,264 95 24,892,475
Companies 7,884,261 4,671,447 60,159,453 141,174 72,856,335
Households 64,495,059 73,184 13,447,190 25,394 78,040,827
Mortgage loans 64,495,059 - - - 64,495,059
Consumer credit - 5,297 5,074,125 2,895 5,082,317
Cards - - 951,955 - 951,955
Other - 67,887 7,421,110 22,499 7,511,496
TOTAL 72,628,853 7,795,026 134,652,083 212,658 215,288,620

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Credit institutions - - 5,866,485 - 5,866,485
General government 182,956 142,282 31,296,108 1,003 31,622,349
Other financial corporations 86,773 15,692 23,962,485 3,586 24,068,536
Companies 7,852,968 5,820,432 47,933,226 803,040 62,409,666
Households 67,765,781 147,383 12,784,023 120,497 80,817,684
Mortgage loans 66,807,448 3,589 18,415 213 66,829,665
Consumer credit - 3,998 5,535,481 8,304 5,547,783
Cards - - 889,746 - 889,746
Other 958,333 139,796 6,340,381 111,980 7,550,490
TOTAL 75,888,478 6,125,789 121,842,327 928,126 204,784,720

For the purposes of the above tables, the following explanations are provided:

- Transactions with mortgage guarantee: property mortgage, concession mortgage, chattel mortgage, shipping mortgage and
aircraft mortgage.

- Other collateral: equity securities, fixed-income securities and other types of securities, government securities, term deposits
and other account deposits, investment funds, bills of exchange, deposit certificates, covered bonds, etc.

- Personal guarantee: with guarantor or without guarantor, collateral and insurance policy.
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- Other guarantees: endorsement by a reciprocal guarantee association, CESCE credit insurance policy, bank guarantee and
comfort letter.

From a legal viewpoint, a guarantee is a contract which provides greater security towards compliance with an obligation or
payment of a debt in such a way that, in the event of default by the borrower, the guarantee reduces the losses arising from the
transaction.

Guarantees must have legal certainty such that all contracts contain the conditions legally stipulated to make them fully valid,
and so that they are duly documented in such a way as to establish a clear effective procedure to enable the guarantee to be
enforced rapidly.

These are the principles inspiring the functional definition of the Corporate Guarantee System.

Guarantees and collateral provided in each transaction must be duly reported and measured in the system, and the Credit Risk
Policy document details the main characteristics required of these measurements, both in terms of type of eligible appraisals
and the frequency with which the appraisals must be updated.

Note 12 shows additional information on the guarantees received.
(3.1.8) Renegotiated financial assets

As part of its credit risk management procedures, the Group carried out renegotiations of assets, modifying the conditions originally
agreed with borrowers in terms of repayment deadlines, interest rates, collateral given, etc.

Appendix X contains the classification and hedging policies and criteria applied by the Group in this type of transaction, along with
the amount of refinancing operations, including details of their classification as non-performing exposures and the respective
credit risk allowances.

(3.1.9) Assets impaired and derecognised

Details of the changes in 2020 and in 2019 in the Group’s impaired financial assets that were not recognised on the consolidated
balance sheet because their recovery was considered unlikely, although the Group has not discontinued actions to recover the
amounts owed (“write-off assets”), are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Opening balance 2,388,659 1,831,595
Additions due to:

Assets unlikely to be recovered 450,302 618,026

Uncollected past-due amounts 97,227 184,547
Sum 547,529 802,573
Derecognition due to:

Cash collection (8,444) (39,200)

Forgiveness, foreclosure, sales and other causes (199,914) (206,296)
Sum (208,358) (245,496)

Net change due to exchange differences (3,227) (13)
Balance at the end of the period 2,724,603 2,388,659

(3.2) Liquidity risk of financial instruments

Liquidity risk can be expressed as the probability of incurring losses through insufficient liquid resources to comply with the agreed
payment obligations (both expected and unexpected) within a certain time horizon and having considered the possibility of the
Group managing to liquidate its assets in reasonable time and price conditions.

The Group strives to maintain a long-term financing structure that is in line with the liquidity of its assets; maturity profiles should
be compatible with the generation of stable, recurring cash flows to enable the Group to manage its balance sheet without short-
term liquidity pressures.

In practice, this principle results in the implementation of financing policies and strategies in the Entity which seek to minimise
the scale of the financing timing gaps based on the risk profile associated with the business model. In this regard, the Group:

Draws up an annual Financial Plan for both the short and medium term, which is evaluated as part of the liquidity
adequacy self-assessment process, with protection of the balance sheet assets and liabilities and the main indicators of
liquidity and financing risk, which takes into consideration the situation triggered by COVID-19 (see Note 1.16), assuring
adequate liquidity from both an economic and regulatory standpoint.
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According to the retail business model underpinning the Group's banking activity, the main funding source is customer
deposits, which have remained stable over the six-month period. The Group taps domestic and international capital
markets, in particular repo markets, to raise financing so that it meets its additional liquidity needs, as well as the long-
term financing provided by the ECB through the TLTRO programme. As a result of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
demand for credit has risen significantly. In order to support liquidity in the eurozone’s financial system and contribute
towards maintaining the proper functioning of monetary markets in the scenario affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, in
April 2020 the European Central Bank amended some of the terms and conditions associated with the TLTRO |lI
programme, reducing the interest rate by 0.5% with regard to the average rate for deposit facilities in the period from 24
June 2020 to 23 June 2021, whereby the interest rate on these facilities would be -1%. In order to be able to benefit from
this reduction, the Group must meet certain financing objectives established by the European Central Bank, whereby the
rate for eligible net loans and receivables for the period from 1 March 2020 to 31 March 2021 must be more than 0%.
Based on what is set out above, the Group has increased its financing in these programmes to EUR 22,919 million (an
additional EUR 9,168 million compared to the figure for the 2019 close). No debt has been issued and placed with third
parties this year. This year no debt has been issued and placed with third parties. However, in July a EUR 900 million
public-sector covered bond was issued, the full amount of which is held under treasury shares.

The Group has a cushion of unencumbered, high-quality liquid assets (measured both in regulatory and internal terms).
These assets have been perfectly identified and are available to treasury to be used as a source of contingent financing
in the event of a stress scenario. The Entity has deposited certain assets as guarantees in the European Central Bank (ECB)
that can be used to raise liquidity immediately. Ongoing monitoring of collateral enables the Group to identify those
assets that are readily usable as liquidity reserves at times of market stress, differentiating between assets that are
considered eligible by the ECB, or by clearing houses or other financial counterparties (e.g. insurance companies,
investment funds).

The Entity avails of internal governance over liquidity risk comprising policies, procedures and systems that ensure a
framework for managing and controlling liquidity risk that is robust and takes into account the complexity of the Entity and
its business model.

The following table presents the bulk of the liquidity reserve estimated by the Group to confront internal and systemic stress
events.

(in millions of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Cash (%) 10,115 11,418
Undrawn amount on the facility 5,883 6,161
Highly liquid available assets (**) 19,050 15,538

(*) Notes and coins plus balances at central banks less the amount of minimum reserves.
(**) Market value considering the ECB haircut.

Other assets have been identified which, although not considered to be highly liquid, can be converted at relatively short notice.

Regarding the structure of roles and responsibilities in relation to this risk, the Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the
liquidity risk assumed. It is the maximum authority for the risk appetite and tolerance level and for establishing a framework of
policies and procedures to ensure a robust liquidity risk management and control framework.

To guarantee this good governance, an organisational structure based on the three lines of defence model has been designed.
According to this model, senior executives, represented basically by the Management Committee and the ALCO, is charged with
developing and applying the risk management strategy in accordance with the risk appetite statement and the risk policies and
limits framework governing the Liquidity and Funding function. The ALCO takes decisions based on reports and proposals provided
by various departments and, where appropriate, requests them through departments authorised to do so. The Deputy General
Directorate of Finance carries out the related transactions in capital markets and sets transfer costs. In managing the business,
the Deputy General Directorates of Retail Banking and Business Banking generate liquidity and funding risks, which is quantified
through the commercial gap and LtD ratio.

The Board of Directors, assisted by the Risk Advisory Committee (RAC), oversees that the strategy is implemented and that the
defined tolerance limits are not breached. The Global Risk Control and Oversight Committee (GRCOC) reinforces the governance
bodies by controlling, overseeing and effectively challenging trends in the Entity's risk profile, the risk appetite approved by the
Board of Directors and the business model.

The Corporate Risk Directorate, through the Financial Risk Control Directorate, which operates as an independent unit, monitors
and analyses liquidity risk, among other responsibilities. It promotes the integration of these activities in management by
developing metrics and methodologies to ensure that the risk remains within defined risk appetite tolerance levels. Lastly, the
Markets and Structural Risks Audit Directorate, which operates as an independent unit, conducts audits of the various processes
related to the function.
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The structure is rounded off with the creation of two specific bodies, the Contingent Liquidity Committee (CLC) and the Technical
Liquidity Committee (TLC), geared towards managing risk under stress events. The CLC's objective is to respond to contingent
liquidity events quickly and effectively. The TLC is an advisory body that meets at least monthly to assess both the Entity’s and the
overall market’s liquidity and funding position, and to monitor early warning indicators related to the Liquidity Contingency Plan
(LCP). Its conclusions and analyses are laid before the ALCO so that managers of the function are apprised of any problems or
situations that in the Committee’s opinion could potentially pose a threat to the Entity’s liquidity.

Strategy

Five key indicators are currently used to define the strategy for this risk, covering a dual perspective: regulatory-economic and

liquidity-funding risk. At 31 December 2020, the indicators were within the Entity’s risk limits and regulatory requirements.

Liquidity risk:

- LCR: the strategy is defined from a regulatory viewpoint, related to a survival period using regulatory assumptions of 30 days.
At 31 December 2020, the LCR (for Bankia on a standalone basis) stood at 195.22%.

~  SLCRsg4: the liquidity strategy is defined from an economic viewpoint through additional metrics other than the regulatory
LCR, taking stress scenarios that are expanded in two ways:

More survival horizons are built, which entails adapting the regulatory assumptions to these horizons, as well as
envisaging and anticipating corrective measures to address future liquidity vulnerabilities.

~ Varying degrees of stress are created for each survival horizon. This approach allows the stressed LCR (SLCR) to be built
and calculated at different horizons using more stringent assumptions than the regulatory assumptions, based on expert
criteria, past experience or a combination of both.

The SLCR3qq is the result of the 30-day horizon of the hybrid crisis, for which an appetite and tolerance level are established.
At 31 December 2020, the LCR was within the Entity’s risk limits and regulatory requirements.

Funding risk:
- NSFR: through this indicator, the Entity draws up the funding strategy from a regulatory viewpoint. At 31 December 2020, the

NSFR (for Bankia on a standalone basis) stood at 128.83%, which was within the Entity’s risk limits and met the regulatory
requirements. In accordance with the CRR2 a minimum of 100% will become a prudential requirement as of June 2021.

Strict LtD: through this indicator, the Entity draws up the funding strategy from an economic viewpoint, setting the appetite
for self-financing of the commercial balance sheet and limiting reliance on funding from capital markets.

- Asset Encumbrance Ratio (% AE): the objective of this indicator is to design a strategy on the desired level of encumbered
assets that does not limit the capacity to raise contingent liquidity in stress scenarios or reduce investor appetite for our
“unsecured funding” (i.e. without collateral) instruments that could undermine or increase the cost of achieving the MREL
objectives.

Each vyear, under the scope of the ILAAP, a quantitative self-assessment is carried out with projections of RAF indicators to
determine the capacity and viability of implementing the liquidity and funding strategy established in the financial planning
process and to maintain this within the risk limits allocated in the risk appetite statement.

In addition to these indicators, the Entity has a set of metrics and indicators that complement the various aspects of liquidity and
funding risk management, monitoring and control.

Maturities of issues

The following table provides information on the remaining term to maturity of the Group’s issues at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
by type of financial instrument, including promissory notes and issues placed via the network.

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2021 2022 2023 > 2023
Mortgage bonds and covered bonds 2,025,000 3,235,185 1,825,000 8,426,123
Senior debt 35,000 30,000 - 2,569,720
Subordinated, preference and convertible securities 175,000 1,250,000 500,000 1,000,000
Securitisations sold to third parties - - - 1,049,179
Total maturities of issues (*) 2,235,000 4,515,185 2,325,000 13,045,022

(*) Figures shown in nominal amounts, less treasury shares and issues withheld.
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Mortgage bonds and covered bonds 417,917 2,025,000 3,235,185 10,280,323
Senior debt 2,331 35,000 30,000 2,570,032
Subordinated, preference and convertible securities - 175,000 1,250,000 1,500,000
Securitisations sold to third parties - - - 1,369,538
Total maturities of issues (*) 420,248 2,235,000 4,515,185 15,719,893

(*) Figures shown in nominal amounts, less treasury shares and issues withheld.

Issuance capacity

(in thousands of euros)

Covered bonds issuance capacity (Appendix VIlI) 18,569,186 18,873,244
Public-sector covered bonds issuance capacity 699,826 1,175,730

(3.3) Residual maturities

The following table provides a breakdown of balances of certain items on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, by
residual contractual maturity, excluding, as appropriate, valuation adjustments and impairment losses:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Assets

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 11,808,227 - - - - - 11,808,227
Loans and advances — Credit institutions - 2,708,720 534,456 1,174,190 503,340 - 4,920,706
Loans and advances — Customers - 3,563,493 5,865,823 13,284,201 46,673,641 51,321,321 120,708,479
Financial assets held for trading — Debt securities - 1,573 - - - 79,174 80,747
Other portfolios — Debt securities - 82,144 4,111,478 9,336,905 17,824,259 14,717,290 46,072,076
Derivatives (trading and hedging) (1) - 317,415 415,263 1,410,913 6,780,202 8,701,684 17,625,477
Total 11,808,227 6,673,345 10,927,020 25,206,209 71,781,442 74,819,469 201,215,712
Liabilities

Deposits — Central banks and credit institutions - 1,114,119 652,620 1,831,470 31,509,012 2,761,429 37,868,650
Deposits — Customers 98,826,404 4,710,027 4,022,493 13,571,997 3,533,693 2,697,300 127,361,914
Debt securities issued - 962,349 125,304 565,961 7,506,671 8,113,081 17,273,366
Other financial liabilities (2) 1,946,300 - - - - - 1,946,300
Derivatives (trading and hedging) (1) - 238,653 314,853 1,418,002 6,312,824 7,043,387 15,327,719
Total 100,772,704 7,025,148 5,115,270 17,387,430 48,862,200 20,615,197 199,777,949

(1) Gross exposure excluding netting arrangements (see Notes 3.1.6, 9 and 13).

(2) Excludes balances of contracts for property, plant and equipment acquired under lease, the expiry dates of which are disclosed in Note 19; the remainder corresponds to a residual line item comprising items that
are generally transitory or do not have a contractual maturity date, thus it is not possible to reliably allocate the amounts recognised by term of maturity, and therefore they are classified under on-demand
liabilities.
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

3 months to 1 More than 5

ITEM On demand Upto1month 1to 3 months Wz 1to 5 years WeETS Total
Assets

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 13,202,885 - - - - - 13,202,885
Loans and advances — Credit institutions - 3,191,937 32,075 2,041,431 205,896 - 5,471,339
Loans and advances — Customers - 3,970,877 6,396,611 13,294,227 38,986,972 54,552,508 117,201,195
Financial assets held for trading — Debt securities - 329 - - - 170,703 171,032
Other portfolios — Debt securities - 861,702 1,981,497 14,719,729 12,618,070 14,803,176 44,984,174
Derivatives (trading and hedging) (1) - 265,557 411,762 1,371,477 6,106,962 7,623,858 15,779,616
Total 13,202,885 8,290,402 8,821,945 31,426,864 57,917,900 77,150,245 196,810,241
Liabilities

Deposits — Central banks and credit institutions - 13,142,365 114,848 11,754,708 12,929,245 2,462,684 40,403,850
Deposits — Customers 86,194,112 5,094,945 6,181,150 17,360,682 4,199,865 4,593,824 123,624,578
Debt securities issued - - - 2,331 5,180,333 12,443,527 17,626,191
Other financial liabilities (2) 930,568 - - - - - 930,568
Derivatives (trading and hedging) (1) - 153,464 369,260 1,320,495 5,533,129 5,952,002 13,328,350
Total 87,124,680 18,390,774 6,665,258 30,438,216 27,842,572 25,452,037 195,913,537

(1) Gross exposure excluding netting arrangements (see Notes 3.1.6, 9 and 13).

(2) Excludes balances of contracts for property, plant and equipment acquired under lease, the expiry dates of which are disclosed in Note 19; the remainder corresponds to a residual line item comprising items that
are generally transitory or do not have a contractual maturity date, thus it is not possible to reliably allocate the amounts recognised by term of maturity, and therefore they are classified under on-demand
liabilities.

(3.4) Exposure to interest rate risk

Interest rate risk reflects the probability of incurring losses because of changes in the benchmark interest rates for asset and
liability positions (or certain off-balance sheet items) that could have an impact on the stability of the Group’s results. Interest rate
risk management is designed to provide stability to net interest income, maintaining levels of solvency that are appropriate for
the Group’s level of risk tolerance.

Interest rate risk monitoring and management at the Group is performed in accordance with the criteria approved by the governing
bodies.

Each month, information on structural balance sheet risk is reported to the ALCO in terms of both economic value (sensitivities to
different scenarios and VaR) and net interest income (net interest income projections in different interest-rate scenarios for
horizons of 1 and 3 years). At least quarterly, the Board of Directors is informed through the Risk Advisory Committee on the
situation and monitoring of limits. Any excesses are reported immediately to the Board. In addition, information prepared by the
ALCO is reported by the Corporate Risk Directorate, along with other risks, to the Entity's senior executives.

According to Bank of Spain regulations, the sensitivity of net interest income and equity value to parallel shifts in interest rates
(currently £200 bps) is controlled. In addition, different sensitivity scenarios (EBA scenarios) are established based on implied
market interest rates, comparing them to non-parallel shifts in yield curves that alter the slope of the various references of balance
sheet items.

Sensitivity analyses performed by analysing interest rate risk scenarios from both perspectives provide the following information:

- Impact on profit or loss. At 31 December 2020, the sensitivity of net interest income, excluding the trading portfolio and
financial activity not denominated in euros, in the most adverse scenario of a 200 bp parallel downward shift in yield curve
over a one-year time horizon in a scenario of a stable balance sheet, would be -7.87%, of which -1.35% corresponds to the
baseline risk (-9.68% at 31 December 2019, with -1.47% accounting for the baseline risk). In a level playing field, the sensitivity
of net interest income to the scenario of a parallel upward shift in rates of 200 bp is 21.67%, of which -4.82% corresponds to
the baseline risk (13.15% at 31 December 2019, with -4.68% accounting for the baseline risk).

- Impact on economic value of equity, understood as the present value of estimated cash flows from different assets and
liabilities. At 31 December 2020, the sensitivity of economic value, excluding the trading portfolio and financial activity not
denominated in euros, facing the most adverse scenario of a parallel downward shift in the yield curve of 200 bp is 0.74% of
total equity and -0.53% of economic value of the Group (-3.18% and -2.30%, respectively, at 31 December 2019). In a level
playing field, the sensitivity of economic value to a scenario of a parallel upward shift in rates of 200 bp is 14.29% of total
equity and 10.10% of economic value of the Group (10.94% and 7.95%, respectively, at 31 December 2019).

The sensitivity analysis was performed using static assumptions. Specifically, this means maintaining the balance sheet structure
and applying new spreads with the Euribor interest rate for the same term to maturing transactions. Irregular deposits are
presumed to be refinanced at a higher cost.
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(3.5) Exposure to other market risks

This risk arises from the possibility of incurring losses on positions in financial assets caused by changes in market risk factors
(interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates or credit spreads). It stems from Treasury and Capital Markets positions and
can be managed by arranging other financial instruments.

The Board of Directors delegates proprietary trading in financial markets to the Deputy General Directorate of Finance and its
business areas, so that they can exploit business opportunities using the most appropriate financial instruments at any given time,
including interest rate, exchange rate and equity derivatives. In general, the financial instruments traded must be sufficiently liquid
and entail hedging instruments.

Each year, the Board of Directors approves the risk limits and internal risk measurement procedures for each product and market
in which the various trading areas operate. The Market and Operational Risks Directorate, which reports to the Corporate Risk
Directorate, has the function of measuring independently, monitoring and controlling the Entity's market risk and the limits
stipulated by the Board of Directors. VaR (value at risk) and sensitivity analysis approaches are used for each type of risk (1 bp in
absolute terms or 1% in relative terms, in the underlying risk factor).

Market risks are monitored daily, with existing risk levels and compliance with the limits established for each unit reported to the
control bodies. In this way, variations in risk levels caused by changes in prices of financial products and their volatility can be
detected.

The reliability of the VaR approach used is confirmed through backtesting, verifying that the VaR estimates are within the
confidence level considered. Backtesting is extended to measure the effectiveness of the hedging derivatives. In 2020, there were
no changes in the methods used to make the estimates included in these consolidated financial statements from those used the
preceding year.

The following chart shows the trend in one day VaR with a 99% confidence level for operations in the markets area in trading
activities in 2020.

Negotiation VaR

Millones
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The impact on equity and on the accompanying consolidated income statement of reasonable future changes in the various market

risk factors at 31 December 2020 and 2019, calculated on the basis of the Group’s fair value portfolio (thus excluding the portfolio
of financial assets at amortised cost), is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Interest rate (68,030) (10,672) (14) 32
Equity instruments - - (3) (26)
Exchange rate - - 84 95
Credit spread (212,205) (329,349) 14 3

(1) Amounts shown net of the related tax effect.

In addition, at 31 December 2020 there was a structural portfolio consisting of debt securities designed to provide stability to net
interest income. The nominal amount of this portfolio at 31 December 2020 is EUR 44,936,813 thousand (EUR 42,729,620
thousand at 31 December 2019). The following table shows the sensitivity analysis, indicating the portfolio in which the
component debt securities are classified and the related risks:

(in millions of euros)

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income (68) (212) (280) (11) (329) (340)
Financial assets at amortised cost - (745) (745) - (520) (520)
Total (68) (957) (1,025) (11) (849) (860)

As regards the sensitivities in the preceding table:

- For debt securities classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, the impact would have a
balancing entry in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in consolidated equity.

- For debt securities classified as financial assets at amortised cost, although the sensitivity shows the theoretical impact of
credit risk (default) that would require the recognition of higher credit loss allowances (impairment losses) than those
presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, this is highly unlikely given the portfolio’s composition; i.e.
mainly debt securities issued directly or guaranteed by the government.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Bankia Group's net exposure to currency risk is not significant.
(4) Capital management
(4.1) Legislation

On 26 June 2013, Regulation 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council on prudential requirements for credit
institutions and investment firms (the “CRR”), and Directive 2013/36/EU on access to the activity of credit institutions and the
prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms (the “CRD IV”) were approved, repealing regulations on solvency
in force until then. They came into effect on 1 January 2014.

The CRR and CRD IV regulate capital requirements in the European Union and include the recommendations set out in the Basel
Il capital regulatory framework or agreement, specifically:

- The CRR, which is directly applicable to Member States, contains prudential requirements for credit institutions and covers,
inter alia, the following:

- The definition of elements of eligible own funds, establishing requirements for hybrid instruments to be included and limiting
the eligibility of minority interests.
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- The definition of prudential filters and deductions of items in each capital tier. In this respect, the Regulation includes new
deductions compared to Basel Il (deferred tax assets, pension funds, etc.) and introduces changes to existing deductions.
Nevertheless, it establishes a phase-in schedule of between 5 and 10 years for full implementation.

- Establishment of minimum requirements (Pillar 1), with three levels of own funds: a Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio of
4.5%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of 6% and a minimum requirement total capital ratio of 8%.

- Requirement of financial institutions to calculate a leverage ratio, defined as Tier 1 capital divided by total exposure
unadjusted for risk. The disclosure requirement is applicable from 2015 onwards.

The aim and main purpose of the CRD IV, which must be transposed into national legislation by the Member States according
to their criteria, is to coordinate national legislation regarding access to the activity of credit institutions and investment firms
and their governance and supervisory framework. The CRD IV includes, inter alia, additional capital requirements to those
established in the CRR, which will be phased in gradually until 2019. Failure to comply will imply restrictions on the
discretionary distributions of profit, specifically:

- A capital conservation buffer and a countercyclical capital buffer. Following on from the Basel Ill regulatory framework, and
to mitigate pro-cyclical effects of financial regulation, all financial institutions are required to maintain a capital conservation
buffer of 2.5% of Common Equity Tier 1 capital and an institution-specific countercyclical capital buffer based on Common
Equity Tier 1 capital.

A systemic risk buffer. For global systemically important institutions and other systemically important institutions to mitigate
systemic or macroprudential risks; i.e. risks of disruptions in the financial system with the potential to have serious negative
consequences for the financial system and the real economy in a specific Member State.

In addition, Article 104 of the CRD IV, Article 68 of Law 10/2014, of 26 June 2014, on the organisation, supervision and
solvency of credit institutions, and Article 16 of Council Regulation (EU) No 1024/2013, of 15 October 2013, confer specific
tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions (Single
Supervisory Mechanism or SSM). This regulation allows supervisory authorities to impose additional capital requirements to
the Pillar I minimum capital requirements for risks not covered therein; known as Pillar Il capital requirements.

Since their entry into force, the CRR and CRD IV have been amended several times to address shortcomings in the prudential
regulatory framework and to incorporate certain elements pending the reform of financial services worldwide, which are crucial to
ensuring the resilience of institutions. These amendments include:

Regulation (EU) 2017/2395 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2017, amending the CRR as
regards transitional arrangements for mitigating the impact of the introduction of IFRS 9 on own funds and for the large
exposures treatment of certain public sector exposures.

Regulation (EU) 2019/876 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 20 May 2019, and Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of
the European Parliament and of the Council, of 20 May 2019, amending the CRR and forming part of the legislative package
known as “CRR II”. Amendment to the CRR as regards the leverage ratio (setting a minimum requirement of 3% for all
institutions), the requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL), the capital requirement for counterparty credit
risk and market risk, the treatment of exposures to central counterparties, exposures to collective investment undertakings,
large exposures, report and disclosure requirements and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012. An amendment was also
made to Regulation (EU) 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council (the “SRM Regulation”) in respect of the
loss-absorption and recapitalisation capacity of credit institutions and investment firms. Entry into force on 27 June 2019,
with a phase-in timetable of up to 2 years for certain modifications.

Directive (EU) 2019/878 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 20 May 2019, and Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the
European Parliament and of the Council, of 20 May 2019, amending the CRD IV and forming part of the legislative package
known as “CRD V”. Amendment to the CDR IV as regards exempted entities, financial holding companies, mixed financial
holding companies, remuneration, supervisory measures and powers and capital conservation measures. Entry into force on
27 June 2019.

Regulation (EU) 2020/873 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 June 2020 amending the CRR and CRR Il as
regards certain adjustments in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, notably:

- The date of application of some of the more favourable treatments introduced by the CRR Il is brought forward:
prudential treatment of certain software assets, the treatment of certain loans backed by pensions or salaries,
application of a revised supporting factor for loans to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) (the “SME
supporting factor”), and a new adjustment to own funds requirements for credit risk for exposures to entities that
operate or finance physical structures or facilities, systems and networks that provide or support essential public
services (the “infrastructure supporting factor”).

- The date of application for the leverage ratio buffer requirement for global systemically important institutions is
deferred to 1 January 2023 and the possibility is established of excluding certain exposures to central banks from
the calculation of the exposure measure laid down in article 429 of the CRR.
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- More flexibility is permitted in the application of Regulation (EU) No 2017/2395 of the European Parliament and of
the Council of 12 December 2017 as regards transitional arrangements for mitigating the impact of IFRS 9, in order
to limit the possible volatility of requlatory capital that might occur if the COVID-19 pandemic results in a significant
increase in expected credit loss provisions. Institutions are allowed to add back to their Common Equity Tier 1 capital
any increase in new expected credit loss provisions for unimpaired credit exposures (Stage 1 — Performing exposures
and Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring) that they recognise in 2020 and 2021.

- Atemporary treatment of unrealised gains and losses measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
is established, permitting the exclusion of 100% of the accumulated amount of such unrealised gains and losses
arising since 31 December 2019 from the calculation of Common Equity Tier 1 in 2020 and applying a transitional
timetable until their full inclusion in 2023.

- Additional flexibility is allowed for competent authorities to mitigate the effects of market volatility in 2020 and
2021 on the internal calculation models for own funds requirements in relation to market risk.

Regarding Spanish regulations, the legislation is aimed at transposing European rules at local level:

Bank of Spain Circular 2/2014 of 31 January 2014, to credit institutions, on the exercise of various regulatory options
contained in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013. The purpose is to establish, in accordance with the powers granted, which options
of those contained in the CRR attributed to national competent authorities will be mandatory for consolidated groups of
credit institutions, and for credit institutions whether or not they are part of a consolidated group, as of 1 January 2014 and
to what extent. In this Circular, the Bank of Spain makes use of some of the permanent regulatory options included in the
CRR, to allow the treatment that Spanish law had been giving to certain questions before the entry into force of the EU
regulation to be continued, justifying this by the business model that Spanish institutions have traditionally followed. This
does not preclude the future exercise of other options provided for in the CRR for competent authorities in many cases, mainly
as regards specific options applied directly under the CRR without the requirement to be included in a Bank of Spain circular.

Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on the organisation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions, the aim of which is to continue
the transposition of the CRD IV initiated by Royal Decree-Law 14/2013, of 29 November, and recast certain national provisions
in place at the time regarding the organisation and discipline of credit institutions. This law introduces, inter alia, an express
obligation for the first time on the part of the Bank of Spain to present an annual Supervisory Programme setting out the
content and how it will perform its supervisory activity, together with the actions to be taken in accordance with the outcome.
This programme must include a stress test at least once a year.

Bank of Spain Circular 3/2014, of 30 July. Among other measures, this Circular amends Circular 2/2014 of 31 January on the
exercise of various regulatory options contained in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit
institutions and investment firms, in order to unify the treatment of the deductions of intangible assets during the transitional
period set out in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, equating the treatment of goodwill to that of all other intangible assets.

Royal Decree-Law 84/2015, of 13 February, implementing Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on the organisation and supervision of
credit institutions.

Bank of Spain Circular 2/2016, of 2 February. This Circular completes the transposition of Directive 2013/36/EU and includes
additional regulatory options for the national competent authorities to those included in Circular 2/2014 and developed in
Royal Decree-Law 84/2015. Specifically, and subject to prior authorisation by the Bank of Spain, it includes the possibility of
treating certain exposures through public sector entities with the same tier weightings as the Administrations to which they
belong.

Bank of Spain Circular 3/2017, of 24 October, amending certain aspects of Circular 2/2014, of 31 January. Its scope of
application has been limited to the less significant institutions, the contents of the Circular have been fine-tuned to reflect
the guidelines issued by the European Central Bank (ECB) and it eliminates the rules regarding the transitional arrangements
that were in effect until 2017.

Royal Decree-Law 22/2018, of 14 December, establishing macroprudential tools and limits on sectoral concentration, along
with conditions on the granting of loans and other exposures. In this respect, the Bank of Spain may require application of a
countercyclical capital buffer for all of an institution's exposures or for exposures in a specific sector.

In addition, in 2016 the European Central Bank published Regulation (EU) 2016/445, of 14 March 2016. With this regulation, the
European Central Bank aims to further harmonise legislation applicable to credit institutions under its direct supervision
(significant credit institutions) and establish a level playing field for credit institutions. This regulation became effective on 1
October 2016, supplementing the options and discretions conferred on the national competent authorities.

(4.2) Capital requirements

In February 2019, the European Central Bank notified the Bankia Group of the capital requirements applicable to it in 2019: a
minimum Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 9.25% and a minimum Total Capital ratio of 12.75%, both measured in relation to its
transitional (phase-in) regulatory capital. These thresholds include the minimum required under Pillar | (4.5% in terms of Common
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Equity Tier 1 capital and 8% at the Total Capital level), as well as the Pillar Il requirement (2%) and the combined buffer
requirement applicable to the Group.

In December 2019, the European Central Bank notified the Bankia Group of the capital requirements applicable to it in 2020:
maintaining a minimum Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 9.25% and a minimum Total Capital ratio of 12.75%, both measured in
relation to its transitional (phase-in) regulatory capital. These thresholds include the minimum required under Pillar | (4.5% in
terms of Common Equity Tier 1 capital and 8% at the Total Capital level), as well as the Pillar Il requirement (2%) and the combined
buffer requirement applicable to the Group (2.75%).

The combined buffer requirements applicable for 2019 and 2020 are 2.75% (2.5% for the capital conservation buffer and 0.25%
for the “other systemically important institutions” (0-Slls) buffer). As the Bank of Spain has identified the Bankia Group as being
among the "other systemically important institutions" (0-Slls), a Common Equity Tier 1 capital buffer was established at 0.25% of
its total risk exposure on a consolidated basis. Finally, the Group’s own countercyclical capital buffer, calculated based on the
geographical location of its exposures, is 0%. This is because the Group’s exposures are located in countries (mainly Spain) whose
supervisors have established the buffer at 0% for exposures in their territories.

On 12 March 2020 the ECB published a raft of measures to firm up the resilience of institutions in the current climate in response
to the COVID-19 pandemic, allowing institutions to temporarily operate below the minimum requirements of Pillar Il Guidance and
the capital conservation buffer. Moreover, the entry into force of article 104 a) of the CRD V was brought forward, allowing
institutions to cover the minimum requirements of the Pillar Il Requirement not only with Common Equity Tier 1 capital, but also
with Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital. Following the application of article 104 a), the Bankia Group’s minimum CET1
requirement is 8.375% and the minimum Total Capital requirement remains 12.75%.

In light of the current climate caused by the COVID-19 crisis, and following the supervisor's recommendations, on 17 July 2020
Bankia Group asked to avail of the option to phase in the initial impact on own funds of the implementation of IFRS 9 provided for
in Regulation (EU) 2017/2395 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 12 December 2017, even though it made no such
request on 1 January 2018, having received autharisation from the supervisor in August. Likewise, the Group has communicated
its decision to apply the transitional provisions of Regulation (EU) 2020/873 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 24
June 2020, amending article 473 bis of the CRR and allowing institutions to add back to their Common Equity Tier 1 capital any
increase in new expected credit loss provisions for unimpaired credit exposures that they recognise in 2020 and 2021.

In addition, on 17 July 2020 the Bankia Group informed the supervisor of its decision to avail of the option provided for in
Regulation (EU) 2020/873 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 24 June 2020, in respect of the amendment to article
468 of the CRR, which allows for a temporary treatment to be applied to unrealised gains and losses arising since 31 December
2019 on portfolios of debt instruments measured at fair value, corresponding to exposures to central governments, regional
governments or local authorities, permitting their exclusion from Common Equity Tier 1 capital.

The Group applies the following to its minimum capital requirements:
- For credit risk requirements:
- For exposures relating to retail customers and companies:

- Both advanced internal-ratings based (IRB) models approved by the Bank of Spain and the standardised approach
depending on the origin of the portfolio.

- Advanced internal models for all new business.
- For exposures to institutions, both advanced internal-ratings based (IRB) maodels and the standardised approach.
- The standardised approach for all other exposures.

- Requirements linked to the held-for-trading portfolio (foreign currency and market rates) were calculated using internal
models, including additional counterparty credit risk requirements for OTC derivatives (CVA, “credit value adjustment”). The
calculation model for market risk was under review. Therefore, until the model was finally approved in November 2020, the
risk-weighted assets (RWA) included an increase for market risk related to the calculation method and not to market activity.

- For the portfolio of equity securities, it used the simple risk-weight approach, the PD/LGD method and the standardised
approach, depending on the origin of the various sub-portfolios.

- To calculate the capital requirements for operational risk, the standardised approach was used.

As for the calculation of the Group's capital requirements using internal models, the ECB's Supervisory Board has initiated a
Targeted Review of Internal Models (TRIM) with the aim of standardising current differences across institutions in the risk
weightings they apply to their exposures that are not attributable to their risk profiles but rather stem from their calculation
models, all framed within a standardised supervisory model. This review takes in around 70 European financial institutions,
including the Bankia Group.
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The following table provides details of the Bankia Group’s capital tiers at 31 December 2020 and 2019 as well as the RWA (risk-

weighted assets) calculated in accordance with applicable legislation:

(Thousands of euros and %)
ITEM
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1)
Capital
Share premium
Eligible profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent
Reserves and treasury shares
Eligible accumulated other comprehensive income
Eligible minority interests
Deductions
Deferred tax assets that depend on future income
Valuation adjustments due to prudent requirements (AVA)
Dividend to be deducted for regulatory purposes
Intangible assets and other deductions
Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1)
Tier 1 capital (TIER1=CET1+AT1)
Tier 2 capital (TIER2)
Subordinated debt
Other eligible/deductible items
Total capital (TIER1+TIER2)
Total risk-weighted assets
Credit risk, counterparty risk and dilution risk
Standardised approach
Internal ratings-based approach
Market risk
Operational risk
Common Equity Tier 1 ratio

Tier 1 capital ratio

Total capital ratio

(*) Estimated data

31/12/2020 (%)
11,639,587
3,069,522
619,154
229,803
9,422,313
91,379

(1,792,584)
(1,321,209)
(22,431)

(448,944)
1,250,000
12,889,587
1,915,092
1,672,270
242,822
14,804,679
67,265,254
61,185,266
19,865,567
41,319,699
689,688
5,390,300
17.30%
19.16%

22.01%

31/12/2019
11,120,019
3,069,522
619,154
541,436
8,899,497
153,953

(2,163,543)
(1,089,172)
(38,442)
(355,328)
(680,601)
1,250,000
12,370,019
1,672,270
1,672,270

14,042,289
77,634,917
70,990,148
27,657,492
43,332,656
1,080,319
5,564,450
14.32%
15.93%

18.09%

At 31 December 2020, the Bankia Group shows a surplus of EUR 6,006 million (EUR 3,939 million at 31 December 2019) over the
regulatory minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital of 8.375% (9.25% at 31 December 2019) established considering Pillar I, the

Pillar Il requirement and the combined buffer requirement.

At the same date, the Bankia Group shows a surplus of EUR 6,228 million (EUR 4,144 million at 31 December 2019) over the
regulatory minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital of 12.750%, (12.750% at 31 December 2019) established considering Pillar I,

the Pillar Il requirement and the combined buffer requirement.

(4.3) Leverage ratio

The leverage ratio was designed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in its Capital Accord of December 2010 as a
supplementary measure to the Pillar | capital requirements. The entry into force of the CRR imposed on institutions the obligation
to calculate and report the ratio to the Supervisor quarterly from January 2014, and to publicly disclose the ratio from 1 January
2015. On 10 October 2014, Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2015/62 was approved. It became effective from 1 January

2015 and replaced the CRR with respect to calculating the leverage ratio.

The CRR did not initially require a minimum ratio to be met, and only from January 2014 was an indicative reference value of 3%
of Tier 1 capital established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. With the entry into force of CRR Il on 27 June 2019, a
binding leverage ratio requirement of 3% of Tier 1 capital was ultimately established, applicable from June 2021 onwards, in line
with the reference value established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in 2014.
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As regards the leverage ratio, Regulation (EU) 2020/873 of the European Parliament and of the Council, amending the CRR and
CRR I, regarding certain adjustments made in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, inter alia, sets out the possibility of temporarily
excluding certain exposures to central banks from the leverage exposure in advance of its entry into force, and calculating
counterparty risk exposure in repurchase transactions using the new calculation provided for in the CRR Il, as it better reflects the
leverage in the transaction.

The leverage ratio is calculated as the Group’s Tier 1 capital divided by its total exposure. For these purposes, total exposure is the
sum of the exposure values of assets on the balance sheet, derivatives (with different treatment to the rest of the assets on the
balance sheet), part of off-balance sheet items and counterparty risk in repurchase transactions, securities or commodities lending
or borrowing transactions, long settlement transactions and margin lending transactions.

Since September 2020, the Bankia Group has availed of the option set out in Regulation (EU) 2020/873 of the European Parliament
and of the Council of 24 June 2020 with regard to the temporary exclusion of exposure to the effects of the leverage ratio of certain
exposures to central banks.

The Bankia Group's leverage ratio at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 calculated in accordance with Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2015/62 is as follows:

(Thousands of euros and %)

ITEM 31/12/2020 (*) 31/12/2019

Tier 1 capital 12,889,587 12,370,019
Exposure 203,971,300 210,098,403
Leverage ratio 6.32% 5.89%
(+) Exposure on balance sheet 186,206,343 195,719,816
(+) Exposure on derivatives 1,756,197 2,605,920
(+) Additions in counterparty risk in securities financing transactions (SFTs) 4,592,315 3,475,213
(+) Off-balance sheet exposures (includes use of CCFs) 11,416,445 8,297,454
Total leverage ratio exposure 203,971,300 210,098,403

(*) Estimated data
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the leverage ratio exceeded the aforementioned minimum required.
(4.4) Minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL)

Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of
credit institutions and investment firms (Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive or BRRD) was approved in May 2014 and came
into effect in January 2015. It was transposed into Spanish legislation through Law 11/2015 on the Resolution and Recovery of
Credit Institutions, of 18 June. This legislation determines in what circumstances the resolution scheme of a financial institution
enters into force, designing an internal mechanism where shareholders and creditors absorb losses (bail-in) in order to protect
deposits, minimise the costs for taxpayers and avoid as far as possible recourse to the Single Resolution Fund (SRF).

Regarding the mechanism for internal loss-absorption, a minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities with loss-
absorbing capacity called MREL (Minimum Required Eligible Liabilities) has been established, whereby institutions that are subject
to the requirement must have liabilities with certain characteristics that favour the absorption of losses in the event of resolution
of the institution.

0On 23 June 2017, on the Spanish legislative front, Royal Decree-Law 11/2017 on urgent measures in financial matters was enacted.
Among other things, the legislation created a new category of non-preferred senior debt, with a lower ranking relative to other
preferred claims or ordinary senior debt, and established the requirements for classification in this category to guarantee loss-
absorption capacity in the event of resolution. Enactment of this Royal Decree gives non-preferred ordinary claims a legal status,
in line with other EU Member States and the regulatory proposals being put forward in Europe in this respect.

The Group is currently reporting its MREL levels to the Group's resolution authorities, the Single Resolution Board, FROB, and the
Bank of Spain in terms of resolution, in accordance with the BRRD definition, as the ratio of the amount of own funds and eligible
liabilities with respect to the Entity's total liabilities and own funds (TLOF) and, in addition, indicating its level in percentage terms
by dividing the numerator by the Group's RWAs.
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On 20 November 2018 the SRB published its annual policy paper on the MREL, which serves as a basis for setting the MREL for
banks not considered “complex” (subject to resolution colleges) and that, therefore, did not have binding targets in 2018, including
the Bankia Group. On 16 May 2019, the Entity received formal notification from the Bank of Spain on the decision taken by the
Single Resolution Board on its minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL). According to this
communication, from 1 July 2021 the Group would have to reach a minimum volume of own funds and eligible liabilities of
23.66% in terms of risk-weighted assets calculated at the end of the 2017 financial year. This MREL, expressed in terms of total
liabilities and own funds of the entity (TLOF), would be 10.02%. Thus, as of 31 December 2020, the Group's estimated MREL ratio,
calculated according to the current eligibility criteria of the Single Resolution Board, would amount to 25.87% of the total Risk-
Weighted Assets (21.92% at 31 December 2019).

As mentioned above, the EU Banking Reforms package includes, inter alia, the reform of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014, which came into force on 27 June 2019. These reforms introduce amendments to
the BRRD, inter alia, in relation to the minimum subordination requirements of eligible MREL liabilities and the MDA (maximum
distributable amounts) set in terms of MREL. In this regard, on 25 June 2019, the SRB published an Addendum to its MREL Policy
Paper of January 2019, with the aim of clarifying the relationship between the new regulatory package and its MREL methodology.
In May 2020 the SRB published its annual policy paper on MREL on the basis of the new regulatory framework approved with the
2019 package of banking reforms, which brought bank resolution and restructuring regulation into line with prevailing supervision
legislation.

As a result of the COVID-19 crisis, and in relation to the MREL, the SRB published its view that compliance with current MREL
restrictions in the short term should not prevent banks from extending financing to companies and the real economy. In this
respect, on 20 May 2020 the Single Resolution Board published its definitive “Policy on the minimum requirements for own funds
and eligible liabilities (MREL)", setting out two binding MREL targets, including those regarding subordination: a binding
intermediate target to be met on 1 January 2022 and the fully calibrated MREL (final target) to be met on 1 January 2024, easing
the prevailing targets set in the 2018 and 2019 cycles.

(4.5) Transparency Exercises 2020

During 2020, the European Banking Authority (EBA) undertook two new transparency exercises in coordination with the national
competent authorities and the European Central Bank. The goal of these exercises is to boost transparency and familiarity with
the capital adequacy and solvency of European banks, thereby contributing to market discipline (Pillar 3) and financial stability in
the European Union.

Due to the emergence of COVID-19 in 2020 and the adoption of extraordinary measures to support the economy by governments
and regulators, the EBA has considered it necessary to publish two transparency exercises this year with the aim of illustrating the
impact of the pandemic on the different institutions. For this purpose, the information published on exposures originating due to
COVID-19 has been enhanced: moratoriums and financing secured by the ICO.

On 8 June 2020 the European Banking Authority (EBA) published the results of its seventh EU-wide transparency exercise, covering
a total of 127 institutions across 27 countries, with consolidated data at 30 September 2019 and 31 December 2019. The
information published relates to the banks' capital positions, risk-weighted assets, asset quality (non-performing exposures),
profitability, as well as sovereign exposures at the 2019 close. The ratios published in the exercise for Bankia are for the BFA Group,
Bankia's parent. From a capital ratio perspective, BFA Group’s phase-in Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio stood at 14.2% at the
end of 2019, rising from 14.0% at September 2019. Comparable ratios for the average of banks participating in the exercise stood
at 15.1% in December 2019 and 14.6% in September 2019.

On 11 December 2020, the EBA published the results of its 2020 EU-wide transparency exercise, for a sample of 129 banks across
the 26 EU countries with consolidated data at 31 March 2020 and 30 June 2020. As on prior occasions, the information published
relates to the banks' capital positions, risk-weighted assets, asset quality (non-performing exposures), profitability, sovereign
exposures, and credit and market risk exposures, all from the perspective of supervisor reporting. This exercise is completed with
the RAR (risk assessment report) based on a wider sample of banks (147 EU institutions with consolidated data). In the context of
the COVID-19 pandemic, the transparency exercise included information on public and private moratorium initiatives at 30 June
2020.

The capital ratios published are for the BFA Group, Bankia's parent. The phase-in Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio stood at
13.81% at 30 June 2020 and 13.57% at March 2020, including the earnings for the period. According to the Risk Assessment of
the European Banking System, the average phase-in Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio for European banks at 30 June 2020 was
15.0%, up from 14.6% at 31 March 2020.

(4.6) Capital management objectives and policies

The Group’s capital management covers two targets — a regulatory capital target and an economic capital target.

The regulatory capital target entails amply satisfying the minimum capital requirements in applicable regulations (Pillar | and
Pillar I1), including additional capital buffers applicable at all times.

The economic capital target is set internally based on the results of the internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP),
which analyses the Group’s risk profile and evaluates its internal control and corporate governance systems.
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The capital planning process is part of the Strategic Planning process to ensure that the capital plan is consistent, coherent and
aligned with the strategic objectives, the Group's Risk Appetite Framework and the rest of the tactical plans comprising the
financial plan for the forecast macroeconomic environment. The Management Committee updates the financial plan and,
accordingly, the capital plan annually then submits them for approval by the Board of Directors. They form the basis for all
planning, for shorter periods and for the budgeted period, and for the preparation of the ICAAP as a supervisory review document
that includes the simulation of scenarios (i.e. stress tests). An organisational structure with a clear segregation of duties that
prevents potential conflicts of interest and allows for the functions to be discharged within the capital planning process is required
to carry out these processes.

In early 2017, the ECB embarked on a multi-year plan to drive improvements regarding the ICAAP so that the document meets
supervisors’ expectations, publishing its guides to the ICAAP and ILAAP in November 2018, which were applicable to ICAAP
approved by the Management Committee in May 2020. Accordingly, the Bankia Group has aligned its regulatory capital planning
to the principles outlined in the guides. Capital planning starts from the need to have adequate capital to guarantee the Entity's
survival over time. The actions carried out are underpinned by risk management to comply with both Pillar | (credit, market and
operational risk) and Pillar Il (other risks; e.g. business, reputation) requirements, such as the Pillar Il Requirement, Pillar Il Guidance
and capital buffers, which impact the Group and the Entity's remuneration policy (including the distribution of dividends). They are
also geared towards integrated management of risks extended by the Entity in the scope of its corporate governance, the nature
of the business, management of strategic planning and market demands, among other areas. Decision-making on capital
management considers this enterprise-wide impact, whereby decisions are aligned with capital adequacy targets.

The capital planning exercise is based on financial planning (e.g. balance sheet, income statement, etc.), on the macroeconomic
scenarios forecast by the Group and on the impact analysis of potential changes in capital adequacy regulations or those that may
affect it. Distinction is made between baseline or expected scenarios and one or more stressed scenarios resulting from the
application of a combination of adverse impacts on the expected situation. The capital planning process is formally documented
in the following reports approved by the Entity's Board of Directors, which are reviewed at least once a year:

- The Corporate Risk Appetite and Tolerance Framework, which defines the level of risk appetite (internal capital target) based
on the risks the Group is willing to assume in carrying out its business. Together with the capital target, tolerance or maximum
levels of deviation from the established target which the Entity considers acceptable are determined.

- The Corporate Capital Planning Framework, which sets out a clear governance framework to ensure the involvement and
coordinated orientation of the Group's various divisions related to the capital planning process, in order to achieve a common
objective within the Group's Risk Appetite and Tolerance Framework.

- Capital Planning Policies, which include Senior Executive guidelines regarding capital preservation and correct risk
measurement, as well as the corrective measures for potential deviations included in the Capital Contingency Plan.

- Recovery Plan, which sets out the solvency and leverage indicator levels below the Entity's tolerance level which, prior to
potential non-compliance with regulations, would trigger the corrective measures in crisis situations, as well as the range of
measures and execution of each.

Capital planning is a dynamic and ongoing process, therefore, these documents define a series of regulatory and financial
indicators and metrics, with related minimum thresholds, calibrated and graded in accordance with the various levels of admission
(Risk Appetite and Tolerance Levels, Early Warning levels and Recovery levels). The objective is to facilitate appropriate monitoring
and control of the established targets and identify in advance future capital requirements and the corrective measures to be
adopted.

In this respect, real capital adequacy ratios are measured against these metrics and indicators, and their various thresholds.
Potential deviations are analysed to determine whether the causes relate to one-off or structural events. The measures required to
adapt the level of capital, in order to meet the targets set, are analysed and decided. Failure to meet such targets could ultimately
trigger the Capital Contingency Plan or even the Recovery Plan.

(5) Earnings per share and dividend policy
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated in accordance with the criteria stipulated in I1AS 33:

- Earnings per share are calculated by dividing “Profit / (loss) attributable to the parent”, adjusted for the after-tax amount
corresponding to remuneration recognised in equity in connection with the contingent convertible bonds (see Note 19), by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding, excluding the average number of shares held as treasury shares, over the
course of the reporting period.

- Diluted earnings per share are determined using a method similar to that used to calculate basic earnings per share, by
adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding and, where applicable, the profit for the year attributable to the
parent, in order to take into account the potential dilutive effect of certain financial instruments that could generate the issue
of new Bank shares (share option commitments with employees, warrants on parent company shares, convertible debt
instruments) or discontinued operations.
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The table below shows the earnings per share corresponding to the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Attributable to the parent 229,803 541,436
Adjusted for: remuneration on contingent convertible bonds (76,888) (53,803)

Net earnings attributed to the parent 152,915 487,633

Of which:

Earnings from discontinued operations (net) -

Earnings from ordinary business 152,915 487,633
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 3,040,265,687 3,050,399,004
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (in euros) 0.05 0.16
Basic earnings/(loss) per share for discontinued operations (in euros) - -
Basic earnings/(loss) per share for continuing operations (in euros) 0.05 0.16
Dilutive effect

Entitlement to receive shares -

Adjusted average number of shares for the calculation 3,040,265,687 3,050,399,004
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (in euros) 0.05 0.16
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for discontinued operations (in euros) - -
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for continuing operations (in euros) 0.05 0.16

Review of the capital distribution target set in the 2018-2020 Strategic Plan

On 27 March 2020 Bankia's Board of Directors decided that, given the potential impact of the COVID-19 crisis, the Entity should
be very prudent in setting shareholder remuneration. Consequently, it reviewed the capital distribution objective set in the Group’s
2018-2020 Strategic Plan, ruling out any extraordinary distributions this year and anticipating extreme prudence when defining
the eventual dividend charged to 2020.

Furthermore, in the framework of Bankia and Caixabank’s joint merger plan (see Note 1.17), both entities undertook not to declare
payment of any definitive or interim dividend with a charge to reserves or profit, in cash or in kind, or to make any other distributions
of their share capital or reserves or reimburse any part of their share capital until the filing date of the merger deed in the Mercantile
Registry of Valencia.

Dividend payment charged to earnings for 2019

A resolution was adopted at the General Meeting of Shareholders of Bankia held on 27 March 2020 to distribute, against earnings
for the year ended 31 December 2019, a gross dividend of EUR 0.11576 per share of Bankia, S.A. entitled to dividend and
outstanding at the date payment is made. The dividend was paid in April 2020 with distribution of EUR 352,109,750.87.

(6) Remuneration of Board members and senior executives
(6.1) Remuneration of Board members
a) Remuneration accrued at the Bank

Regarding remuneration of directors for the performance of their duties as members of the Board of Directors, the Company applies
the provisions of Royal Decree-Law 2/2012, of 3 February, on the reorganisation of the financial sector, and Order ECC/1762/2012,
of 3 August. In this respect, fixed remuneration at Bankia, S.A. for all items of members of the various boards of directors other
than executive chairmen, CEOs and executives of the companies is capped at EUR 100,000 per year. The limit for executive directors
is EUR 500,000.
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i) Gross remuneration

(in thousands of euros)

Remuneration

) Short-term Long-term for P
. Fixed . . . Termination
Name Salaries ) variable variable membership on 2,020
remuneration q q benefits
remuneration remuneration Board
committees

Mr. José Ignacio Goirigolzarri Tellaeche (1) 500 - - - - - 500
Mr. José Sevilla Alvarez (1) 500 - - - - - 500
Mr. Antonio Ortega Parra (1) 500 - - - - - 500
Mr. Carlos Egea Krauel - 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Joaquin Ayuso Garcia - 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Francisco Javier Campo Garcia - 100 - - - - 100
Ms. Eva Castillo Sanz - 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Jorge Cosmen Menéndez-Castafiedo - 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Joseé Luis Feito Higueruela - 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Fernando Fernandez Méndez de Andés - 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Antonio Grefio Hidalgo - 100 - - - - 100
Ms. Laura Gonzalez Molero - 100 - - - - 100
Ms. Nuria Oliver Ramirez (2) - 74 - - - - 74

@ The executive directors have renounced any variable remuneration in 2020.

@ Ms. Oliver was appointed as a Board member with effect as of 3 April 2020, with total remuneration of EUR 100,000 per year. The amounts shown correspond to the period from 3
April to 31 December 2020.

ii) Golden parachute clauses in Board of Directors’ contracts

Pursuant to additional provision seven of Law 3/2012, Bankia may not pay "compensation for termination of contract" for
employment contracts of Directors of Bankia in excess of the lower of the following amounts:

- EUR1,000,000; or
- Two years of the fixed remuneration stipulated.

“Compensation for termination of contract" includes any amount of a compensatory nature that the director may receive as a
consequence of termination of contract, whatever the reason, origin or purpose, so that the sum of all the amounts that may be
received may not exceed the established limits.

The contracts of Messrs. Goirigolzarri, Sevilla and Ortega provide for compensation of one year of fixed remuneration if the
Company decides to terminate their employment unilaterally or in the event of a change of control of the Company. The contracts
also contain a post-contractual non-compete clause for the one year of fixed remuneration. In addition, the contracts of Messrs.
Sevilla and Ortega also stipulate a notice period of three months, which is not included in Mr. Goirigolzarri’s contract. Pursuant to
prevailing legislation, Bankia has amended these contracts, establishing that any compensation and/or amounts received by the
senior executives must comply with Royal Decree-Law 2/2012, Law 3/2012 and Law 10/2014.

iii) Share-based payment schemes

In 2020 shares have been allocated to Messrs. Goirigolzarri, Sevilla and Ortega equivalent to 25% of their annual variable
remuneration accrued during 2016.
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iv) Long-term saving schemes

(in thousands of euros)

Mr. José Ignacio Goirigolzarri Tellaeche

Mr. José Sevilla Alvarez

Mr. Antonio Ortega Parra

Mr. Carlos Egea Krauel

Mr. Joaquin Ayuso Garcia

Mr. Francisco Javier Campo Garcia

Mes. Eva Castillo Sanz

Mr. Jorge Cosmen Menéndez-Castafiedo

Mr. José Luis Feito Higueruela

Mr. Fernando Fernandez Méndez de Andés

Mr. Antonio Grefio Hidalgo

Ms. Laura Gonzalez Molero

Ms. Nuria Oliver Ramirez

© Regarding pension obligations, there are no cumulative amounts as there is no pension scheme for directors.

b) Remuneration accrued for membership on the Boards of other Group companies or investees

On 7 June 2012, the Entity reported, in a material disclosure to the National Securities Market Commission, a press release
regarding the review of its policy for remunerating directors in Group companies and investees. The press release stated that the
Bank's Board of Directors had decided that directors representing it in investees would receive no remuneration and that the per
diems to which they are entitled would be paid by the Group.

i) Gross remuneration

Not applicable.

ii) Share-based payment schemes
Not applicable.

iii) Long-term saving schemes
Not applicable.

iv) Other benefits

Not applicable.

c) Remuneration summary:

(in thousands of euros)

Mr. José Ignacio Goirigolzarri Tellaeche (1) 500 - 500
Mr. José Sevilla Alvarez (1) 500 - 500
Mr. Antonio Ortega Parra (1) 500 - 500
Mr. Carlos Egea Krauel 100 - 100
Mr. Joaquin Ayuso Garcia 100 - 100
Mr. Francisco Javier Campo Garcia 100 - 100
Ms. Eva Castillo Sanz 100 - 100
Mr. Jorge Cosmen Menéndez-Castafiedo 100 - 100
Mr. José Luis Feito Higueruela 100 - 100
Mr. Fernando Fernandez Méndez de Andés 100 100
Mr. Antonio Grefio Hidalgo 100 100
Ms. Laura Gonzalez Molero 100 - 100
Ms. Nuria Oliver Ramirez (2) 74 - 74

w The executive directors have renounced any variable remuneration in 2020.

@ Ms. Oliver was appointed as a Board member with effect as of 3 April 2020, with total remuneration of EUR 100,000 per year. The amounts shown correspond to the period from

3 April to 31 December 2020.
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(6.2) Remuneration of the Bank's senior executives (Management Committee)

a) Remuneration accrued at the Bank

For the purposes of these financial statements, the members of the Management Committee, without taking into consideration
the executive directors, were considered as senior executives. A total of nine people, Mr. Miguel Crespo Rodriguez, Ms. Amalia
Blanco Lucas, Mr. Fernando Sobrini Aburto, Mr. Gonzalo Alcubilla Povedano, Mr. Leopoldo Alvear Trenor, Mr. Manuel Galarza Pont,
Mr. David Lopez Puig, Mr. Eugenio Solla Tomé and Mr. Carlos Torres Garcia, were classified for these purposes as key personnel for
the Bank.

Regarding remuneration of senior executives, the Entity applies the provisions of Royal Decree-Law 2/2012, of 3 February, on the
reorganisation of the financial sector, Law 3/2012, of 6 July, on urgent measures to reform the labour market, Ministry of Economy
Order ECC/1762/2012, of 3 August, and Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on the organisation, supervision and solvency of credit
institutions.

i) Gross remuneration
The following table shows the remuneration accrued by senior executives:

(in thousands of euros)

Short-term Long-term Post-employment Termination

’ ) Total
remuneration remuneration benefits @ benefits

Senior Executives 4,771 414 286 - 5,471

@ The amount of variable remuneration accrued in 2020 is pending the pertinent authorisation and approval envisaged in current legislation.
@ Reflects contributions made in respect of pensions and life insurance premiums.

ii) Golden parachute clauses in senior executive contracts

Pursuant to additional provision seven of Law 3/2012, Bankia may not pay "compensation for termination of contract" for
employment contracts of senior executives of Bankia in excess of the lower of the following amounts:

- EUR 1,000,000; or
- Two years of the fixed remuneration stipulated.

“Compensation for termination of contract" includes any amount of a compensatory nature that the executive may receive as a
consequence of termination of contract, whatever the reason, origin or purpose, and the sum of all the amounts that may be
received may not exceed the established limits.

The contracts of nine senior executives include clauses that set compensation for all items if they are dismissed for legal reasons,
except for disciplinary reasons considered legally valid, equivalent to two years' fixed remuneration. Pursuant to prevailing
legislation, Bankia has amended these contracts, establishing that any compensation and/or amounts received by the senior
executives must comply with Royal Decree-Law 2/2012, Law 3/2012 and Law 10/2014.

iii) Share-based payment schemes

In 2020 shares have been allocated to Ms. Blanco and Messrs. Alcubilla and Sobrini equivalent to 25% of their annual variable
remuneration accrued during 2016.

(6.3) Situations of conflict of interest of Bank directors

In accordance with the disclosure requirements under article 229 of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2 July, enacting the Revised
Spanish Companies Act, it is hereby stated that at 31 December 2020 none of the directors are in any of the situations constituting
a conflict of interest set out in said article.

Notwithstanding the above, according to the Regulations of the Board of Directors, directors must notify the Board of Directors of
any direct or indirect conflict which they or persons related to them may have with the interests of the Entity. Moreover, directors
must refrain from deliberating or voting on resolutions or decisions in which they, or persons related to them, have a direct or
indirect conflict of interest.

In this respect, in accordance with Section 228.c) of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2 July, enacting the Revised Spanish
Companies Act, it is hereby stated that during 2020:

- 0n 19 occasions, Bank directors (Mr. Francisco Javier Campo, Mr. Jorge Cosmen Menéndez-Castafedo, Mr. Carlos Egea Krauel,
Ms. Laura Gonzalez Molero and Mr. Antonio Ortega Parra) refrained from participating in the deliberation and voting on matters
at the Board of Directors' meetings regarding transactions that they, or persons related to them, had a direct or indirect
potential conflict of interest with the Bank.

- In addition, in keeping with the best practices of corporate governance, the Executive Directors of the Entity, Mr. José Ignacio
Goirigolzarri Tellaeche, Mr. José Sevilla Alvarez and Mr. Antonio Ortega Parra, as members of the Board of Directors of BFA,
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Tenedora de Acciones, S.A.U. (BFA), with Mr. José Ignacio Goirigolzarri Tellaeche also being the legal representative of and
member and chairman of the Board of Directors of the FROB, have refrained from participating in the deliberation and voting
on the following matters: Bankia Group-BFA financial programme, regularisation of the BFA-Bankia recovery service agreement,
financing of SAREB bonds in BFA, Bankia-BFA ATA transaction and agreement for the regularisation of SAREB obligations.

(7) Proposed distribution of profit of Bankia, S.A.

The distribution of the individual profit of Bankia, S.A. for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 proposed by the Board of
Directors of Bankia, S.A., to be submitted for approval at the General Meeting of Shareholders (with comparative data for 2019), is
as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 202020 2019

To reserves 250,565 207,621
To dividends - 355,328
Net profit for the year 250,565 562,949

(8) Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits

Details of “Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/20 31/12/2019
Cash 936,301 951,826
Cash balances at central banks 10,381,844 11,673,382
Other demand deposits 490,082 577,677
Total 11,808,227 13,202,885

(9) Financial assets and liabilities held for trading

Breakdown

Details of these items on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type of counterparty and type of instrument,
indicating the carrying amount at 31 December 2020 and 2019, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019
ITEM Asset positions Liability positions Asset positions Liability positions
By counterparty
Credit institutions 4,568,451 5,916,998 4,383,398 5,830,357
Resident general government 202,825 - 273,336 -
Non-resident general government - - 18,484 -
Other resident sectors 1,679,684 889,029 1,700,445 859,142
Other non-resident sectors 316,946 70,164 315,238 60,612
Total 6,767,906 6,876,191 6,690,901 6,750,111
By type of instrument
Derivatives 6,686,668 6,686,987 6,518,725 6,478,878
Equity instruments 684 - 1,381 -
Debt securities 80,554 - 170,795 -
Short positions - 189,204 - 271,233
Total 6,767,906 6,876,191 6,690,901 6,750,111
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Note 3.1 contains information on the credit risk assumed by the Group in relation to these financial assets. Notes 3.2 and 3.4
contain, respectively, information relating to the liquidity risk and interest rate risk assumed by the Group in relation to the financial
assets included in this category.

Note 25 contains certain information on the fair value of these financial assets, while Note 3.1.5 discloses certain information on
the risk concentration of, inter alia, certain assets included in this category of financial instruments.
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading. Derivatives

The following table presents a breakdown, by class of derivative, of the fair value of the Group’s derivatives classified as held for
trading at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances

lSJanlreT;atured foreign currency purchases and 56,479 : 56,479 66,859 ) 66,859
Equity derivatives 6,958 - 6,958 7,583 - 7,583
Interest rate derivatives 14,556,603 (8,005,643) 6,550,960 12,690,868 (6,306,025) 6,384,843
Credit derivatives - - - 178 - 178
Other 72,271 - 72,271 59,262 - 59,262
Total 14,692,311  (8,005,643) 6,686,668 12,824,750  (6,306,025) 6,518,725
Credit balances

;Jarlg';atured foreign currency purchases and 22724 : 22.724 57.374 ) 57.374
Equity derivatives 9,861 - 9,861 9,380 - 9,380
Interest rate derivatives 14,584,984 (8,005,643) 6,579,341 12,656,291 (6,306,025) 6,350,266
Credit derivatives - - - 219 - 219
Other 75,061 - 75,061 61,639 - 61,639
Total 14,692,630 (8,005,643) 6,686,987 12,784,903  (6,306,025) 6,478,878

Details, by maturity, of the notional amount of trading derivatives at 31 December 2020 and 2019, are as follows:
31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Unmatured foreign currency purchases and sales 2,522,561 168,382 - 2,690,943
Equity derivatives 2,456,306 1,893,044 285,400 4,634,750
Interest rate derivatives 108,778,584 129,460,018 51,435,312 289,673,914

Credit derivatives - - - R

Other 5,185,913 - - 5,185,913

Total 118,943,364 131,521,444 51,720,712 302,185,520
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 0 to 3 years 3to 10 years More than 10 years Total

Unmatured foreign currency purchases and sales 4,016,455 7,786 - 4,024,241
Equity derivatives 1,719,043 2,780,862 349,401 4,849,306
Interest rate derivatives 99,181,161 109,166,808 56,575,436 264,923,405
Credit derivatives 615,727 - - 615,727
Other 4,668,749 - - 4,668,749
Total 110,201,135 111,955,456 56,924,837 279,081,428

The notional amount of derivatives is the amount that is used as a basis for estimating the results associated therewith, although,
inasmuch as a highly significant portion of these positions offset one another, thus hedging the risks assumed, the notional amount
cannot be understood to represent a reasonable measure of the Group’s exposure to the risks associated with these products.

Financial assets held for trading. Equity instruments

The breakdown of this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Shares of resident companies 545 1,250
Shares of non-resident foreign companies 139 131
Total 684 1,381

Financial assets held for trading. Debt securities

The breakdown of this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Spanish government debt securities 80,554 142,414
Foreign government debt securities - 18,485

Issued by financial institutions - -
Other foreign fixed-income securities - -
Other Spanish fixed-income securities - 9,896

Total 80,554 170,795

The annual average effective interest rate of debt securities included in the financial assets held for trading portfolio at 31
December 2020 was 0.16% (0.50% at 31 December 2019).

(10) Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

Details of these items on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type of counterparty and type of instrument,
indicating the carrying amount at 31 December 2020 and 2019, are as follows:
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(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

By counterparty

Other resident sectors 11,385 34,755

Total 11,385 34,755

By type of instrument

Debt securities 193 237

Loans and advances 11,192 34,518
Central banks - -
Credit institutions - 23,263
Customers 11,192 11,255

Total 11,385 34,755

Note 3.1 contains information on the credit risk assumed by the Group in relation to these financial assets. Notes 3.2 and 3.4
contain, respectively, information relating to the liquidity risk and interest rate risk assumed by the Group in relation to the financial
assets included in this category.

Note 25 contains certain information on the fair value of these financial assets, while Note 3.1.5 discloses certain information on
the risk concentration of, inter alia, certain assets included in this category of financial instruments.

(11) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Breakdown

Details of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type of counterparty and type of financial instrument,
are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

By counterparty
Credit institutions 32,842 44,495
Resident general government 8,066,397 11,155,672
Non-resident general government 189,680 291,393
Other resident sectors 68,574 153,308
Other non-resident sectors 266,674 337,549
Non-performing assets - -

Impairment losses (532) (545)

Total 8,623,635 11,981,872

By type of instrument

Debt securities 8,564,092 11,906,055
Spanish government debt securities 8,066,397 11,155,672

Government bonds 7,865,144 10,861,586
Regional administrations 201,253 294,086

Foreign government debt securities 189,680 291,393
Issued by financial institutions 6,367 18,020
Other fixed-income securities 302,180 441,515
Impairment losses (532) (545)

Equity instruments 59,543 75,817

Total 8,623,635 11,981,872

Note 3.1 contains information on the credit risk assumed by the Group in relation to these financial assets. Notes 3.2 and 3.4
contain, respectively, information relating to the liquidity risk and interest rate risk assumed by the Group in relation to the financial
assets included in this category.

Note 23 provides details of the gains and losses on these financial instruments recognised under “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Note 25 contains certain information on the fair value of these financial assets, while Note 3.1.5 discloses certain information on
the risk concentration of, inter alia, certain assets included in this category of financial instruments.

The annual average effective interest rate of debt securities included in the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income portfolio at 31 December 2020 was 0.38% (0.90% at 31 December 2019).

Non-performing and past-due assets

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, no assets classified as “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” were
considered non-performing or had any past-due amounts.

Changes for the year in impairment losses
A summary of the changes in relation to impairment losses and fair value adjustments due to credit risk of debt securities included
in this portfolio in 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2020 2019
Opening balance at 31 December 545 1,108
Impairment losses for the year charged to income 455 (23)
Available credit loss allowance (257) (529)
Net provision/(release) charged/(credited) to the income statement (Note 42) 198 (552)
Allowances used for depreciated assets (211) (11)
Other changes - R
Closing balance at 31 December 532 545
Of which: Type of counterparty: 532 545
Entities resident in Spain 307 300
Entities resident abroad 225 245

During 2020 and 2019, the Group did not record any impairment losses in the consolidated income statement on equity
instruments recognised under “Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale”.

(12) Financial assets at amortised cost
(12.1) Breakdown

Details of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, based on the nature of the related financial instrument,
are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans and advances 128,952,189 125,851,369
Credit institutions 4,920,706 5,471,339
Customers 124,031,483 120,380,030
Debt securities 37,460,391 33,077,574
Sum 166,412,580 158,928,943
Impairment losses (3,337,886) (3,189,159)
Other valuation adjustments 330,384 228,656
Total 163,405,078 155,968,440

Note 3.1 contains information on the credit risk assumed by the Group in relation to these financial assets. Notes 3.2 and 3.4
contain, respectively, information relating to the liquidity risk and interest rate risk assumed by the Group in relation to the financial
assets included in this category.

Note 25 contains certain information on the fair value of these financial assets, while Note 3.1.5 discloses certain information on
the risk concentration of, inter alia, certain assets included in this category of financial instruments.
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(12.2) Credit quality of financial assets at amortised cost portfolio

The following table shows financial assets at amortised cost, based on their credit risk classification, distinguishing between gross
value and related impairment losses at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Gross amount

Stage 1 — Performing exposures 149,819,948 145,047,733
Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring 11,202,062 8,244,241
Stage 3 — Non-performing exposures 5,720,954 5,865,625
Sum 166,742,964 159,157,599
Impairment allowances

Stage 1 — Performing exposures (180,033) (208,660)
Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring (625,732) (440,015)
Stage 3 — Non-performing exposures (2,532,121) (2,540,484)
Sum (3,337,886) (3,189,159)
Carrying amount

Stage 1 — Performing exposures 149,639,915 144,839,073
Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring 10,576,330 7,804,226
Stage 3 — Non-performing exposures 3,188,833 3,325,141
Sum 163,405,078 155,968,440

© Includes “Other valuation adjustments”.
(12.3) Movement in financial assets at amortised cost. Stages of credit impairment

The following table sets out the movements in 2020 and 2019 between stages 1, 2 and 3 in terms of the gross carrying amount
of financial assets at amortised cost:

2020

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at the beginning of the period 145,047,733 8,244,241 5,865,625 159,157,599
Inter-stage transfer (4,836,420) 4,187,241 649,179 -
Stage 1 — Performing exposures (6,992,535) 6,572,269 420,266 -
Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring 2,150,738 (2,686,132) 535,394 -
Stage 3 — Non-performing exposures 5,377 301,104 (306,481) -
Additions, disposals and balance variations 9,608,635 (1,229,420) (370,513) 8,008,702
Write-offs - - (423,337) (423,337)
Balance at the end of the period 149,819,948 11,202,062 5,720,954 166,742,964

2019

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at the beginning of the period 144,313,389 8,635,397 7,731,664 160,680,450
Inter-stage transfer (726,693) 497,069 229,624 -
Stage 1 — Performing exposures (2,419,171) 2,007,104 412,067 -
Stage 2 — Performing exposures under special monitoring 1,654,535 (2,167,437) 512,902 -
Stage 3 — Non-performing exposures 37,943 657,402 (695,345) -
Additions, disposals and balance variations 1,461,037 (888,225) (1,467,866) (895,054)
Write-offs - - (627,797) (627,797)
Balance at the end of the period 145,047,733 8,244,241 5,865,625 159,157,599

los



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 BANKIA GROUP

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)
(12.4) Movement in credit impairment by stages

The following table sets out the movement in impairment losses on financial assets at amortised cost by stages of credit
impairment in 2020 and 2019:

2020
ITEM Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at the beginning of the period 208,660 440,015 2,540,484 3,189,159
Variations due to origination and acquisition, derecognition and credit risk variation (net) (28,044) 196,568 887,795 1,056,319
Allowances used for depreciated assets - - (783,502) (783,502)
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements (583) (10,851) (112,656) (124,090)
Balance at the end of the period 180,033 625,732 2,632,121 3,337,886
Of which individually identified - 63,752 616,754 680,506
Of which collectively identified 180,033 561,980 1,915,367 2,657,380
2019
ITEM Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at the beginning of the period 226,317 619,333 3,373,360 4,219,010
Variations due to origination and acquisition, derecognition and credit risk variation (net) (15,457) (178,050) 694,090 500,583
Allowances used for depreciated assets - - (1,312,917) (1,312,917)
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements (2,200) (1,268) (214,049) (217,517)
Balance at the end of the period 208,660 440,015 2,540,484 3,189,159
Of which individually identified - 69,067 886,007 955,074
Of which collectively identified 208,660 370,948 1,654,477 2,234,085

(12.5) Credit quality of financial assets at amortised cost portfolio. Guarantees received

The breakdown at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of guarantees received in relation to loans and advances on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM © 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Value of collateral 74,798,224 75,939,912
Of which: collateral for performing exposures under special monitoring 5,384,045 5,022,526
Of which: collateral for non-performing exposures 7,309,305 5,952,561

Value of other guarantees - -

Total 74,798,224 75,939,912

(*) The value of the guarantee or collateral is the lower of the guarantee received and the amount of the loan, except for non-performing exposures, where the relevant measure is fair
value.
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(12.6) Financial assets at amortised cost. Loans and advances. Credit institutions

Details of this caption on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type of instrument, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

By type of instrument
Time deposits 188,738 115,244
Reverse repurchase agreements 2,755,191 3,509,138
Other financial assets 1,973,644 1,842,619
Non-performing assets 3,133 4,338

Sum 4,920,706 5,471,339
Impairment losses (2,468) (737)
Other valuation adjustments (2,469) (3,160)

Total 4,915,769 5,467,442

The annual average effective interest rate of financial instruments included under this heading at 31 December 2020 was 0.85%
(0.81% at 31 December 2019).

(12.7) Financial assets at amortised cost. Loans and advances. Customers

Details of this caption on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by counterparty sector and by loan type and status, are
as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

By counterparty sector
General government 5,726,419 4933611
Other financial corporations 2,561,946 1,970,643
Non-financial corporations 42,061,478 37,068,929
Households 73,967,432 76,638,663

Sum 124,317,275 120,611,846
Impairment losses (3,323,004) (3,178,835)

Total 120,994,271 117,433,011

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

By loan type and status
Commercial credit 5,251,993 5,764,769
With collateral 68,739,500 71,625,751
Reverse repurchase agreements 179,659 15,397
Other term loans 40,667,158 33,588,126
Receivable on demand and other 2,453,788 2,583,290
Other financial assets 1,030,150 950,032
Non-performing assets 5,709,235 5,852,665

Sum 124,031,483 120,380,030
Impairment losses (3,323,004) (3,178,835)
Other valuation adjustments 285,792 231,816

Total 120,994,271 117,433,011

The carrying amount shown in the foregoing table, disregarding the portion reflecting “Other valuation adjustments”, represents
the Group's maximum level of credit risk exposure in relation to the financial instruments included therein.

The annual average effective interest rate of financial instruments included under this heading at 31 December 2020 was 1.55%
(1.73% at 31 December 2019).
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“Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances - Customers” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets include
loans with mortgage collateral which, as indicated in Appendix VIl and under the Mortgage Market Law, are considered eligible to

guarantee the issue of long-term covered bonds.

This item also includes securitised loans that have not been derecognised from the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 2.2.2).
The amounts shown on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets related to securitised loans are:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Securitised mortgage assets 8,137,843 9,213,001
Of which:
Receivable on demand and other 1,786 2,423
Non-performing assets 437,608 467,718
Other securitised assets 10,359 11,530
Total 8,148,202 9,224,531
Of which:
Liabilities associated with assets held on the balance sheet (*) 1,041,758 1,531,026

(*) Recognised under "Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Debt securities issued" on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Other securitised loans were derecognised from the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as the Group did not retain
substantially either the risks or rewards, as follows (see Note 2.2.2):

(in thousands of euros)

Securitised loans 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Securitised mortgage assets 1,360,381 1,459,950
Other securitised assets 3,143 1,821
Total © 1,363,524 1,461,771

© At 31 December 2020, this item includes transfers of assets through mortgage transfer certificates, excluding transactions considered as write-offs that were previously derecognised
from the consolidated balance sheet.

In 2012 and 2013 assets classified under this balance sheet heading were transferred to the SAREB, with a number of adjustments
being made to the asset transfer deed up to 2017.
(12.8) Non-performing assets

Details of the movement in non-performing loans and advances to credit institutions and customers, within the financial assets
at amortised cost portfolio, during 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2020 2019
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 5,857,003 7,722,462
Additions 1,550,364 1,985,463
Disposals (1,694,998) (3,850,922)
Foreclosures (168,054) (302,461)
Portfolio sales (4,714) (410,163)
Recoveries and other (1,028,982) (1,853,877)
Debt pardoning and disposals of assets (423,337) (627,797)
Transfers to disposal group (69,911) (656,624)
5,712,369 5,857,003

Carrying amount at the end of the period

(*) Note 18.5.1 includes the balances classified as disposal groups that, at 31 December 2020, were still recognised on the consolidated balance sheet because their disposal did not
occur in 2020.
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The table below shows the classification of the Bankia Group’s non-performing financial assets at amortised cost related to “Loans
and advances to customers” and “Loans and advances to credit institutions” included in “Loans and advances” at 31 December
2020 and 2019, by counterparty, age of the oldest past-due amount of each, and the type of guarantee or collateral:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM

By counterparty
Credit institutions
General government
Other financial corporations
Non-financial corporations
Households

Total

By age
Up to 6 months (¥)
Between 6 and 12 months
More than 12 months

Total

By type of guarantee
Mortgage collateral
Other collateral
Without collateral

Total

31/12/2020

3,133
84,055
12,646

2,178,849
3,433,686

5,712,369

2,345,583
580,263
2,786,523

5,712,369

3,963,009
32,071
1,717,289

5,712,369

31/12/2019

4,337
89,962
15,335

2,690,948
3,056,421

5,857,003

2,516,688
557,293
2,783,022

5,857,003

3,803,759
44,493
2,008,751

5,857,003

(*) At 31 December 2020, approximately 85% of the balance consisted of transactions with no past-due amounts or amounts that are less than 90 days past due (83% at 31 December

2019).

Past-due income receivable from non-performing assets accumulated at 31 December 2020 amounts to EUR 288,662 thousand

(EUR 292,761 thousand at 31 December 2019).

The following table provides a breakdown of non-performing assets with collateral included in this category by the percentage of
risk in relation to the value of the collateral (“loan-to-value”), as the key measure for the collateral in connection with the risks to

which it relates:

(in thousands of euros)
ITEM

Less than or equal to 40%

More than 40% and less than or equal to 60%
More than 60% and less than or equal to 80%

More than 80%
Total

(12.9) Assets past due

31/12/2020

383,670
429,956
548,382

2,633,072

3,995,080

31/12/2019

371,866
416,114
475,870
2,584,402
3,848,252

The table below shows the classification of the Bankia Group's assets past-due but not impaired related to “Loans and advances
to customers” and “Loans and advances to credit institutions” at 31 December 2020 and 2019, by counterparty, age past-due and

type of guarantee or collateral:
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(in thousands of euros)
ITEM

By counterparty
Credit institutions
General government
Other financial corporations
Non-financial corporations
Households

Total

By age
Less than 1 month
Between 1 and 3 months
More than 3 months

Total

By type of guarantee
Mortgage collateral
Other collateral
Without collateral

Total

31/12/2020

663

9,417
16,692
33,086
29,039
88,897

69,344
19,553

88,897

21,610

139
67,148
88,897

31/12/2019

6,808
37,447
19,242

101,373
39,018
203,888

151,874
52,014

203,888

29,832
1,331
172,725
203,888

The following table provides a breakdown of assets with collateral included in this category by the percentage of risk in relation
to the value of the collateral (“loan-to-value”), as the key measure for the collateral in connection with the risks to which it relates:

(in thousands of euros)
ITEM

Less than or equal to 40%

More than 40% and less than or equal to 60%
More than 60% and less than or equal to 80%

More than 80%
Total

(12.10) Movement in impairment losses

31/12/2020

7,086
4,076
3,973
6,614
21,749

31/12/2019
8,245
6,477
5,378
11,063
31,163

The table below shows the changes for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 in provisions for impairment losses and fair
value adjustments due to credit risk in relation to assets in "Credit institutions" and "Customers" under "Financial assets at

amortised cost - Loans and advances" on the consolidated balance sheet:
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31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Balance at the beginning of the period 3,177,911 1,661 3,179,572
Of which individually identified 955,074 - 955,074
Of which collectively identified 2,222,837 1,661 2,224,498

Impairment losses for the year charged to income 2,193,132 560 2,193,692

Available credit loss allowance (1,147,309) (951) (1,148,260)

Net provision/(release) charged/(credited) to the income statement 1,045,823 (391) 1,045,432
Allowances used for depreciated assets (798,933) - (798,933)
Exchange differences (2,299) (4) (2,303)
Other changes (98,296) - (98,296)

Balance at the end of the period 3,324,206 1,266 3,325,472
Of which individually identified 674,747 - 674,747
Of which collectively identified 2,649,459 1,266 2,650,725

Of which:

Type of counterparty: 3,324,206 1,266 3,325,472
Entities resident in Spain 3,131,110 - 3,131,110
Entities resident abroad 193,096 1,266 194,362
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Balance at the beginning of the period 4,207,166 4,318 4,211,484
Of which individually identified 1,574,212 - 1,574,212
Of which collectively identified 2,632,954 4,318 2,637,272

Impairment losses for the year charged to income 1,110,940 9,389 1,120,329

Available credit loss allowance (609,239) (12,018) (621,257)

Net provision/(release) charged/(credited) to the income statement 501,701 (2,629) 499,072
Allowances used for depreciated assets (1,322,647) - (1,322,647)
Exchange differences 1,447 - 1,447
Other changes (209,756) (28) (209,784)

Balance at the end of the period 3,177,911 1,661 3,179,572
Of which individually identified 955,074 - 955,074
Of which collectively identified 2,222,837 1,661 2,224,498

Of which:

Type of counterparty: 3,177,911 1,661 3,179,572
Entities resident in Spain 2,999,531 - 2,999,531
Entities resident abroad 178,380 1,661 180,041

The different items recognised in 2020 and 2019 under “Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured
at fair value through profit or loss — Financial assets at amortised cost” on the consolidated income statements for those years are
summarised below:

(in thousands of euros)

Net charge for the year 1,054,633 501,133
Write-off assets recovered (11,039) (37,640)

Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or

loss - Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 42) 1,043,594 463,493
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(12.11) Financial assets at amortised cost. Debt securities

Details of this caption on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by counterparty, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

By counterparty

Credit institutions 25,025 25,006
Resident general government 13,005,451 10,012,858
Non-resident general government 5,794,638 4,255,837
Other resident sectors 18,560,768 18,752,317
Other non-resident sectors 65,924 22,936
Non-performing assets 8,585 8,620
Sum 37,460,391 33,077,574
Impairment losses (12,414) (9,587)
Other valuation adjustments 47,061 -
Total 37,495,038 33,067,987
By type of instrument

Spanish government debt securities 13,005,451 10,012,858
Foreign government debt securities 5,794,638 4,255,837
Bonds and obligations 18,707,363 18,808,879
Impairment losses (12,414) (9,587)
Total 37,495,038 33,067,987

The balances in “Other resident sectors” and “Bonds and Obligations” include the debt securities issued by Sociedad de Gestion
de Activos Procedentes de la Reestructuracion Bancaria (SAREB) backed by the Spanish Government, which were received at the
time as consideration for the assets transferred by the BFA Group to SAREB in December 2012, at a price of EUR 22,317 million:
EUR 2,850 million to BFA in respect of the part of the price relating to its own assets and those of its subsidiaries and EUR 19,467
million to Bankia in respect of the part of the price relating to its own assets and those of Bankia subsidiaries. They also include
the debt securities received as consideration for the assets originally transferred by the BMN Group in February 2013 for EUR
5,820 million — absorbed following its merger by the Bankia Group.

The securities received by the Group (with original maturities at 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 and 28 February 2014, 2015
and 2016) include an annual renewal option for the issuer, although the estimated value of that option does not generate any
negative difference between the fair value of the instruments and the nominal value at the transaction date.

In 2013 and subsequent years, the SAREB redeemed and delivered new bonds. Accordingly, the securities received by the Group
and recognised under "Financial assets at amortised cost" at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

(Thousands of euros and %)

Securities Amount Maturity Interest rate
SAREB 2020-3 Bond 7,623,700 31.12.2022 -
SAREB 2020-2 Bond 5,549,800 31.12.2021 -
SAREB 2019-2 Bond 2,425,000 28.02.2021 -
SAREB 2020-1 Bond 1,681,300 28.02.2021 -
SAREB 2018-4 Bond 942,300 31.12.2021 -
SAREB 2019-3 Bond 264,800 28.02.2022 -

As these cancellations were made at the nominal amount, there were no differences with respect to the carrying amounts.
Therefore, the transactions did not have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated income statement for prior years.

At the maturity date, the unamortised cash amount was exchanged for other bonds with a similar maturity (rollover option) and
bearing interest at 3-month Euribor plus a spread, which was considered equivalent to market rates of interest for public debt with
a similar term. Accordingly, the bonds were recorded at their nominal amount, with no impact recognised on the Group’s income
statement for 2020. Rollovers of bonds carried out in previous years also had no impact whatsoever on the Group’s income
statement for those years.
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Note 3.1 contains information on the credit risk assumed by the Group in relation to these financial assets. Notes 3.2 and 3.4
contain, respectively, information relating to the liquidity risk and interest rate risk assumed by the Group in relation to the financial
assets included in this category.

Note 25 contains certain information on the fair value of these financial assets, while Note 3.1.5 discloses certain information on
the risk concentration of, inter alia, certain assets included in this category of financial instruments.

The annual average effective interest rate of debt securities classified in the financial assets at amortised cost portfolio at 31
December 2020 was 0.49% (0.52% at 31 December 2019).

The Group’s debt securities classified as financial assets at amortised cost included assets of EUR 8,585 thousand at 31 December
2020 (EUR 8,620 thousand at 31 December 2019) that were assessed individually as being impaired due to credit risk.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had no debt securities classified in the financial assets at amortised cost portfolio with
amounts past-due and not impaired.

On 30 October 2018, the arbitration process between Sareb and other entities, including Bankia (jointly referred to as the
“Entities”), arising from the bonds issued by Sareb to address the payment of certain assets that the Entities transferred to Sareb
in compliance with the obligation imposed by Law 9/2012, of 14 November, was resolved. The discrepancy submitted to arbitration
concerned the possibility that the quarterly coupon of the bonds corresponding to the 2017 and 2018 Senior Issues could be
negative and the Entities would be obliged to pay Sareb the amount of the negative coupon. The ruling concludes that the quarterly
coupon of the Senior Bonds of the 2017-3 and 2018-1 issues cannot be negative and must be limited to 0%; a limitation that
extends to future issues of Sareb Bonds when the calculation formula yields a negative result.

A summary of the changes in impairment losses, due to credit risk, on debt securities classified as financial assets at amortised
cost during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2020 2019

Balance at 31 December 9,587 7,526

Impairment losses for the year charged to income 10,314 2,196

Available credit loss allowance (1,207) (135)

Net provision/(release) charged/(credited) to the income statement 9,107 2,061

Allowances used for depreciated assets and other net movements (6,281)

Other changes 1

Balance at 31 December 12,414 9,587

Of which:

Type of counterparty: 12,414 9,587
Entities resident in Spain 8,573 9,439
Entities resident abroad 3,841 148

(13) Derivatives — Hedge accounting

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had entered into financial derivative hedging arrangements with counterparties of
recognised creditworthiness as the basis of an improved management of the risks inherent in its business (see Note 3).

The Group enters into hedges on a transaction-by-transaction basis by assessing the hedging instrument and the hedged item on
an individual basis and continually monitoring the effectiveness of each hedge, to ensure that changes in the value of the hedging
instrument and the hedged item offset one another.

Note 2.3 details the Group's main hedged positions and the financial hedging instruments.

The benchmark interest rate reforms undertaken by various regulators in different jurisdictions do not have a significant impact
on the Group’s designated hedging relationships at 31 December 2020. This is because the market data for the main benchmark
indices affecting the Group's accounting hedges will continue to be available.
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A breakdown, by type of derivative and for each type of hedge, of the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging instruments
at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances:

Fair value hedges 2,932,298 (481,938) 2,450,360 2,952,316 (456,045) 2,496,271
Cash flow hedges 867 - 867 2,550 - 2,550
Total 2,933,165 (481,938) 2,451,227 2,954,866 (456,045) 2,498,821
Credit balances:

Fair value hedges 554,108 (481,938) 72,170 495,522 (456,045) 39,477
Cash flow hedges 80,980 - 80,980 47,925 - 47,925
Total 635,088 (481,938) 153,150 543,447 (456,045) 87,402

Details, by maturity, of the notional amount of the derivatives classified as hedging derivatives at 31 December 2020 and 2019
are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Interest rate derivatives 8,017,040 11,325,567 8,128,323 27,470,930

Total 8,017,040 11,325,567 8,128,323 27,470,930

(in thousands of euros)

Interest rate derivatives 5,417,650 15,550,519 8,689,051 29,657,220

Total 5,417,650 15,550,519 8,689,051 29,657,220

Operations of fair value hedges

The following table presents a breakdown, by type of hedged item, of the carrying amount of hedged items and the accumulated
amount of fair value hedge adjustments thereon in relation to continuing fair value hedges at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances:

Fixed rate debt securities A 7,520,058 346,311 D
Fixed rate loans and advances B 432,238 4,013

Total 7,952,296 350,324

Credit balances:

Fixed rate deposits C 5,772,414 (841,480) E
Fixed rate debt securities issued by the Group C 9,542,152 (1,638,767) F
Total 15,314,566  (2,480,247)
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances:

Fixed rate debt securities A 9,355,790 315,539 D
Fixed rate loans and advances B 90,465 2,685

Total 9,446,255 318,224

Credit balances:

Fixed rate deposits C 5,949,948 (889,968) E
Fixed rate debt securities issued by the Group C 9,427,439 (1,611,260) F
Total 15,377,387 (2,501,228)

The hedged item and the fair value hedge adjustment on the hedged item are recognised on the balance sheet under the
following line items at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

A. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
B. Financial assets at amortised cost

C. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In addition to the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments on hedged items for continuing hedges, also recognised
at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is the amount of fair value hedge adjustments of discontinued hedges to be amortised in the
hedged items, as detailed below:

D.  Debt securities classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income at 31 December 2020
in an amount of EUR 137,301 thousand (EUR 6,393 thousand at 31 December 2019).

E. Deposits classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost at 31 December 2020 in an amount of EUR 44,528 thousand
(EUR 65,501 thousand at 31 December 2019).

F. Debt securities issued classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost at 31 December 2020 in an amount of EUR 127
thousand (EUR 228 thousand at 31 December 2019).

The following table presents a breakdown, by type of derivative, of the fair value and the notional amount of derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedges at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Interest rate derivatives 21,925,162 2,450,360 72,170
Total 21,925,162 2,450,360 72,170

Interest rate derivatives 23,603,741 2,496,271 39,477

Total 23,603,741 2,496,271 39,477
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The following table presents a breakdown of the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the hedged item used
as the basis for recognising hedge ineffectiveness in fair value hedges in 2020 and 2019:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances:

Interest rate

Debt securities derivati 127,629 (127,762) (133)
erivatives

Loans at amortised cost Intevrest.rate (1,595) 1,639 44
derivatives

Total 126,034 (126,123) (89)

Credit balances

. Interest rate

Deposits derivatives 46,998 (51,608) (4,610)
L Interest rate

Debt securities issued derivatives (27,506) 12,962 (14,544)

Total 19,492 (38,646) (19,154)

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances:

Interest rate

Debt securities derivati 285,699 (287,924) (2,225)
erivatives

Loans at amortised cost Inte'rest'rate (680) 614 (66)
derivatives

Total 285,019 (287,310) (2,291)

Credit balances

. Interest rate

Deposits derivatives (22,040) 21,516 (524)
- Interest rate

Debt securities issued derivatives (174,290) 165,574 (8,716)

Total (196,330) 187,090 (9,240)
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Details, by maturity, of the notional amount of derivatives classified as fair value hedges at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as
follows:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Debt securities
Interest rate derivatives 2.415.189 5,096,000 12,400 7.523.589

Loans at amortised cost

Interest rate derivatives 2,882 40,469 76,860 120,211
Deposits
Interest rate derivatives 1,941,316 2,048,454 876,600 4,866,370

Debt securities issued
Interest rate derivatives 3.646.000 3,548,200 2,220,792 9.414.992
Total 8,005,387 10,733,123 3,186,652 21,925,162

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Debt securities
Interest rate derivatives 890,217 8,136,100 12,400 9,038,717

Loans at amortised cost

Interest rate derivatives 8,965 48,385 81,468 138,818
Deposits
Interest rate derivatives 1,760,846 2,373,454 876,600 5,010,900

Debt securities issued

Interest rate derivatives 2,646,000 4,548,200 2,221,106 9,415,306

Total 5,306,028 15,106,139 3,191,574 23,603,741

Operations of cash flow hedges

All cash flow hedges are micro-hedges, and therefore the hedged item perfectly matches the hedging derivative. As a result, in
2020 and 2019, there was no ineffectiveness that, according to applicable regulations, required recognition on the Group's income
statement for those years.

The table below presents a breakdown, by type of hedged item, of the change in the carrying amount of the hedged item in the
year and of the cash flow hedge reserve (effective portion) for cash flow hedges at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances:

Floating rate debt securities (*) A 6,165 525 -
Floating rate loans and advances (*) B 896 315 (5,215)
Total 7,061 840 (5,215)
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Debit balances:

Floating rate debt securities (*) A (9,016) (5,641)
Floating rate loans and advances (*) B 863 322 (6,118)
Total (8,153) (5,319) (6,118)

(*) Not taking into consideration the related tax effect.
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the hedged items were recognised under Financial assets at amortised cost.

Details, by class of derivative, of the fair value, notional amount, change in fair value of the hedging instrument used as the basis
for recognising ineffectiveness in the year, the ineffectiveness recognised in the year, and the amount reclassified due to the cash
flow hedge adjustment in cash flow hedges at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Interest rate derivatives 5,545,768 867 80,980 7,061 7,061

Total 5,545,768 867 80,980 7,061 7,061 - -

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Interest rate derivatives 6,053,479 2,550 47,925 (8,153) (8,153)

Total 6,053,479 2,550 47,925 (8,153) (8,153)

(*) Not taking into consideration the related tax effect.

Details of the estimated term as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 after which the amounts recognised in “Equity — Accumulated
other comprehensive income — Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges [effective
portion]” at that date are expected to be recognised in future income statements are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Losses (*) - (231) (645) (2,754) (3,630)
Gains (*) - 278 173 116 567
Total - 47 (472) (2,638) (3,063)

(*) Taking into consideration the related tax effect.
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(in thousands of euros)

Losses (*) - (374) (2,253) (7,529) (10,156)
Gains (*) 1,551 400 119 80 2,150
Total 1,551 26 (2,134) (7,449) (8,006)

(*) Taking into consideration the related tax effect.

Details, by maturity, of the notional amount and average fixed interest of derivatives classified as cash flow hedges at 31 December
2020 and 2019 are as follows:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Interest rate derivatives

Notional amount 11,653 592,444 4,941,671 5,545,768
Average fixed interest rate (%) 2.756 1.177 0.284 0.384
Total 11,653 592,444 4,941,671 5,545,768

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Interest rate derivatives

Notional amount 111,622 444,380 5,497,477 6,053,479
Average fixed interest rate (%) 0.658 1.325 0.248 0.335
Total 111,622 444,380 5,497,477 6,053,479

(14) Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
(14.1) Changes in the Group's composition

Other than as disclosed in Note 1.15, there were no significant changes in the Group's composition or the scope of consolidation
in 2020.
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(14.2) Investments in joint ventures and associates

The breakdown of the investments under this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ENTITY 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Caja Granada Vida, Compafiia de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. - 21,871
Cajamurcia Vida y Pensiones de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. - 12,870
Gramina Homes, S.L. 120,100 133,422
CACF Bankia Consumer Finance, EFC, S.A. 18,921 9,034
Redsys Servicios de Procesamiento, S.L. 11,241 11,020
Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A., de Seguros y Reaseguros 198,721 144,350
Finweg ,S.L. 181 -
Billib, S.L. 928 928
Sum 350,092 333,495
Goodwill 118,446 121,407
Total 468,538 454,902

During 2020 the merger by absorption of Caja Granada Vida, Compafiia de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. and Cajamurcia Vida y
Pensiones de Seguros y Reasequros, S.A. (@absorbed companies) into Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A., de Seguros y Reaseguros (absorbing
company) was carried out, with no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated equity (see Note 1.15).

As explained in Note 2.16.1, the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are periodically tested for impairment,
to which end the goodwill allocated is included in their carrying amount. Impairment tests are carried out at least annually, or
whenever there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.

At 31 December 2020, goodwill amounting to EUR 118,107 thousand corresponds to the cash-generating unit composed of the
insurance and life insurance company Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros. At 31 December 2019, this goodwill from
the cash-generating unit composed of the life insurance companies — comprising the investment in Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A. de
Seqguros y Reaseguros, Caja Granada Vida Companiia de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. and Cajamurcia Vida y Pensiones de Seguros y
Reaseguros, S.A. —amounted to EUR 121,407 thousand.

Based on the analysis performed, using up-to-date relevant information available on the performance of the cash-generating unit
that could reveal indications of impairment, the Directors have concluded that at 31 December 2020 there was no decline in value
that required the recognition of further impairment in addition to that recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at that date.

The banking-insurance agreements that the Group has entered into with Mapfre include certain safeguards agreed between the
parties that are customary in this type of agreement in contingent situations. These consider, inter alia, that in the event of a
change in control in Bankia’s shareholder structure, Mapfre has an exit option, the terms of which have been agreed by the parties.
This issue had no impact on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2020 (see Note 1.1.17).

Summary financial information for the main companies at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

31/12/2020(%)

Bankia Mapfre Vida,

CACF Bankia Consumer Redsys Servicios de S.A., de Sequros y

Gramina Homes, S.L.

- Finance, EFC, S.A. Procesamiento, S.L. Reasequros

Dividends received - - - 24,976
Current assets 615,667 24,043 19,378 113,372
Non-current assets 9,489 132,183 80,522 8,269,993
Current liabilities 24,004 7,267 23,491 547,002
Non-current liabilities 654 110,345 5,880 7,430,807
Ordinary income 91,368 140 144,577 180,385
Profit or (-) loss from continuing operations (19,650) (13,482) 1,797 128,742
Other comprehensive income - - - (32,427)
Total comprehensive income (19,650) (13,482) 1,797 96,315

(*) Latest available data, unaudited.
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(in thousands of euros)

Dividends received 7,167 8,578 - - - 52,489
Current assets 7,427 14,544 692,744 4,980 31,447 92,535
Non-current assets 277,974 117,473 610 17,111 93,990 8,366,835
Current liabilities 14,437 2,001 25,403 3,651 48,584 550,056
Non-current liabilities 226,329 103,751 843 3 7,712 7,614,723
Ordinary income 18,878 23,681 23,127 284 192,620 239,379
z;%fr';t?;r(]s) toss from continuing 5,104 5,297 (5,151) (7.849) 9,376 96,765
Other comprehensive income 2,786 1,995 - - - 29,928
Total comprehensive income 7,890 7,292 (5,151) (7,849) 9,376 126,693

(*) Latest available data, unaudited.

The reconciliation of this information with the carrying amount of the investment is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Adjusted equity of the Company 600,498 38,613 70,529 405,556
Interest attributable to the parent 20% 49% 16% 49%

Adjusted equity attributable to the parent 120,100 18,921 11,285 198,722
Value of investment as per consolidated (*) 120,100 18,921 11,285 198,722

(*) Latest available data, unaudited.

(in thousands of euros)

Adjusted equity of the Company 44,635 26,266 667,108 18,437 69,142 294,591
Interest attributable to the parent 49% 49% 20% 49% 16% 49%

Adjusted equity attributable to the parent 21,871 12,870 133,422 9,034 11,020 144,350
Value of investment as per consolidated 21,871 12,870 133,422 9,034 11,020 144,350

(*) Goodwill is not considered in the carrying amount.
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(15) Tangible assets

Details of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM

Cost
Balances at 31/12/2019

Additions/disposals (net) @

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements
Balances at 31/12/2020

Accumulated depreciation

Balances at 31/12/2019

Additions/disposals (net)

Depreciation for the year (Note 40)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements
Balances at 31/12/2020

Impairment losses

Balances at 31/12/2019

Net provision/(release) charged/(credited) to the income statement (Note 43)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements
Balances at 31/12/2020
Total at 31 December 2019

Total at 31 December 2020

For own use

5,330,294
(2,495)
(30,470)

5,297,329

(3,088,261)
78,352
(141,433)
13,020

(3,138,322)

(106,045)

(570)
(106,615)
2,135,988

2,052,392

Investment
property

681,035
(47,813)
59,679

692,901

(31,648)
1,901
(4,756)
259

(34,244)

(168,085)
(15,786)
(9,053)
(192,924)
481,302

465,733

(1) Additions to own use and investment property in 2020 amounted to EUR 81,954 thousand and EUR 148 thousand, respectively.

Total

6,011,329
(50,308)
29,209

5,990,230

(3,119,909)
80,253
(146,189)
13,279

(3,172,566)

(274,130)
(15,786)
(9,623)
(299,539)
2,617,290

2,518,125

Of which:
Acquired under a
lease

566,460

41,412

607,872

(61,597)
3,527
(65,482)

(123,552)

504,863

484,320
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(in thousands of euros)

Cost

Balances at 31/12/2018 4,764,217 725,363 5,489,580 -
Additions/disposals (net)* 614,953 (43,029) 571,924 566,460
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements (48,876) (1,299) (50,175) -
Balances at 31/12/2019 5,330,294 681,035 6,011,329 566,460

Accumulated depreciation

Balances at 31/12/2018 (2,979,436) (29,640) (3,009,076) -
Additions/disposals (net) 18,791 1,794 20,585 -
Depreciation for the year (Note 40) (141,208) (5,163) (146,371) (61,597)
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements 13,592 1,361 14,953 -
Balances at 31/12/2019 (3,088,261) (31,648) (3,119,909) (61,597)

Impairment losses

Balances at 31/12/2018 (115,462)  (175,349) (290,811) -
Net provision/(release) charged/(credited) to the income statement (Note 43) 22 (14,566) (14,544) -
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale and other movements 9,395 21,830 31,225 -
Balances at 31/12/2019 (106,045) (168,085) (274,130) -
Total at 31 December 2018 1,669,319 520,374 2,189,693 -
Total at 31 December 2019 2,135,988 481,302 2,617,290 504,863

* Includes the impact of the first-time application of IFRS 16 amounting to EUR 615,629 thousand.
The recoverable amount of the assets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 exceeded their carrying amount.

(15.1) Tangible assets — Property, plant and equipment - For own use
Details of this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type of asset, are as follows:
31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Buildings and other structures 2,361,574 (531,967) (55,005) 1,774,602
Furniture and vehicles 210,153 (185,445) - 24,708
Fixtures 1,551,025 (1,305,741) (51,610) 193,674
Office equipment and machinery 1,174,577 (1,115,169) - 59,408
Balances at 31 December 2020 5,297,329 (3,138,322) (106,615) 2,052,392
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Accumulated

ITEM Cost depreciation Impairment losses Carrying amount

Buildings and other structures 2,344,487 (463,867) (54,435) 1,826,185
Furniture and vehicles 217,911 (190,036) - 27,875
Fixtures 1,600,983 (1,329,171) (51,610) 220,202
Office equipment and machinery 1,166,913 (1,105,187) - 61,726
Balances at 31 December 2019 5,330,294 (3,088,261) (106,045) 2,135,988

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no items of property, plant and equipment for own use of significant amounts which
were:

Temporarily idle.

Fully depreciated but still in use.

Retired from active use but not classified as non-current assets held for sale.
(15.2) Tangible assets — Investment property
“Investment property” includes land, buildings and other structures held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group did not have any significant contractual obligations in connection with the future
operation of the investment property included on the consolidated balance sheet at those dates, and there were no relevant
restrictions thereon, other than those inherent to the current conditions of the property market.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 net income from the Group’s investment property totalled EUR 16,377 thousand (EUR
20,411 thousand at 31 December 2019) (see Note 36).

(16) Intangible assets
(16.1) Goodwill

The breakdown of goodwill included under “Intangible assets” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by company, is
as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ENTITY 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Bankia Pensiones, S.A. Entidad Gestora de Fondos de Pensiones 86,062 88,462
Total 86,062 88,462

Movement (gross amount) in goodwill recognised under this item on the consolidated balance sheet in the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Opening balance 88,462 90,862
Provision charged to the income statement (Note 43) (2,400) (2,400)
Closing balance 86,062 88,462

As explained in Note 2.16.1, the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are periodically tested for impairment,
to which end the goodwill allocated is included in their carrying amount. Impairment tests are carried out at least annually, or
whenever there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.

Based on the analysis performed, using up-to-date relevant information available on the performance of the cash-generating unit
that could reveal indications of impairment, the Directors have concluded that at 31 December 2020 there was no decline in value
that required the recognition of further impairment in addition to that recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at that date.
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(16.2) Other intangible assets

The breakdown of assets under this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

With finite useful life
Computer software 1,464,596 1,314,337
Other 1,227 453
(Accumulated amortisation) (1,046,336) (1,001,448)
Total assets net of amortisation 419,487 313,342
Impairment losses (315) (398)
Total 419,172 312,944

Movement in this consolidated balance sheet heading during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

With finite useful life
Opening balance 312,944 206,692
Additions 154,866 163,373
Amortisation charged to the income statement (Note 40) (49,183) (54,581)
Derecognition due to disposal or other - (3,684)
Other changes 545 1,144
Closing balance 419,172 312,944
Total 419,172 312,944
(17) Other assets

Details of the balances under this consolidated balance sheet item at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Insurance contracts linked to pensions (Note 38.2) 643,579 1,061,912
Other items 293,166 539,491
Total 936,745 1,601,403

“Other items” mainly reflect transactions in transit, accruals associated with operating income, and unaccrued prepayments.
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(18) Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale

(18.1) Breakdown

Details of this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)
ITEM
Non-current assets held for sale
Property, plant and equipment for own use
Real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt
Other equity instruments
Investments in joint ventures and associates
Assets included in disposal groups and discontinued operations
Total assets at 31 December 2020
Liabilities included in disposal groups and discontinued operations
Total liabilities at 31 December 2020

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)
ITEM
Non-current assets held for sale
Property, plant and equipment for own use
Real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt
Other equity instruments
Investments in joint ventures and associates
Assets included in disposal groups and discontinued operations
Total assets at 31 December 2019
Liabilities included in disposal groups and discontinued operations
Total liabilities at 31 December 2019

(18.2) Property, plant and equipment for own use

Cost
2,296,843
237,744
1,938,725
119,164
1,210
83,027
2,379,870
1,383
1,383

Cost

2,261,030
232,334
1,774,326
134,919
119,451
639,897
2,900,927
3,657

3,657

Impairment losses
(650,957)
(60,964)
(589,400)
(593)
(68,344)
(719,301)

Impairment losses
(574,551)
(63,953)
(510,356)
(242)
(174,777)
(749,328)

Carrying amount
1,645,886
176,780
1,349,325
119,164
617
14,683
1,660,569
1,383
1,383

Carrying amount

1,686,479

168,381

1,263,970

134,919

119,209

465,120

2,151,599

3,657

3,657

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item basically comprises certain buildings for the Group's own use which have ceased to
form part of its branch network and which, pursuant to current requlations, satisfy the requirements for recognition as non-current

assets held for sale, given the existence of a detailed plan for their sale.

As described in Note 2.20, the Group measures these assets at the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less cost to
sell, and in 2020 impairment of EUR 5,660 thousand was recognised thereon (EUR 825 thousand in 2019).
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(18.3) Real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt

This item includes assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt, for the full or partial settlement of debtors’ payment
obligations vis-a-vis the Group, which are considered non-current assets held for sale and are recognised and measured as indicated
in Note 2.20, unless the Group has decided to make continuing use of the assets or to hold them to earn rentals and/or for future
capital appreciation, in which case they are recognised and measured as described in Note 2.15.

The breakdown of assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt recognised on the Group's accompanying consolidated balance
sheets is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Real estate assets

Completed housing 918,563 821,837
Managed rural property and finished offices, commercial and industrial premises 296,711 314,163
Land parcels, undeveloped land and other assets 134,051 127,970
Total 1,349,325 1,263,970

Significant changes

The changes recognised in these assets in 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,263,970 1,708,400
Additions during the year 327,419 279,760
Disposals during the year (134,310) (475,268)
Net impairment losses (133,201) (201,435)
Other changes 25,447 (47,487)
Carrying amount at year end 1,349,325 1,263,970

Sales of foreclosed assets are made on an arm's length basis. In 2020, financing was granted for an amount of approximately EUR
60.5 million. On average, 92.4% of the sales amount was financed (EUR 87 million and 90.4% in 2019).

Proceeds from disposals of foreclosed assets, by type, in the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Completed housing 106,109 12,663
Managed rural property and finished offices, commercial and industrial premises 19,772 3,749
Land parcels, undeveloped land and other assets 8,429 5,811
Total 134,310 22,223

(*) Excludes fees paid to intermediaries.
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Completed housing 341,239 7,883
Managed rural property and finished offices, commercial and industrial premises 106,160 6,493
Land parcels, undeveloped land and other assets 27,869 6,271
Total 475,268 20,647

(*) Excludes fees paid to intermediaries.

Appendix IX provides further details of the Group's real estate assets at 31 December 2020 and 2019, including the foreclosed
assets referred to in the preceding table.

Mareover, the table below shows the carrying amount of the foreclosed assets at 31 December 2020 and 2019, by their estimated
ages as of the date of recognition on the balance sheet:

(in thousands of euros)

Up to 12 months 148,433 84,123
More than 12 months but not more than 24 months 158,685 134,736
More than 24 months 1,042,207 1,045,111
TOTAL 1,349,325 1,263,970

The table below presents details of the gross amount of real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt (business in
Spain) at 31 December 2020 and 2019 classified, according to their ultimate purpose, as “Non-current assets held for sale” and
“Tangible assets — Investment property” on the consolidated balance sheet at those dates, excluding those classified as disposal
groups (see Note 18.5.1):

(in thousands of euros)

Real estate assets deriving from financing for real estate construction and property development 322,975 307,558
Completed buildings 145,952 141,167
Buildings under construction 31,808 21,857
Land 145,215 144,534

Real estate assets deriving from mortgage-secured financing granted to households for housing purchases 1,545,656 1,391,317

Other real estate assets received in payment of debt 643,355 634,682

Appendix IX provides information on exposure to the real estate construction and property development sector in Spain, including
information on assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt, including the real estate assets presented in the preceding table.

(18.4) Other equity instruments and investments in joint ventures and associates

These items include the balances of investments in joint ventures and associates, and other equity instruments previously
recognised under "Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income" that the Group has reclassified to "Non-
current assets held for sale" (see Note 2.20). The following table shows a breakdown of the balance by item under which the
investment was recognised before its classification under "Non-current assets held for sale":

(in thousands of euros)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 119,164 134,919
Investments in joint ventures and associates — Joint ventures 17 20
Investments in joint ventures and associates — Associates 600 119,189
TOTAL 119,781 254,128
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At 31 December 2019, “Investments in joint ventures and associates — Associates” included the investment in Caser amounting
to EUR 118,242 thousand, which was derecognised in the first half of 2020 once the sale described in Note 1.15 was closed.

The table below shows the movement in the impairment of investments in joint ventures and associates for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Opening balance - (242) (242)
Allowances and other movement - (351) (351)
Total - (593) (593)

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Opening balance - (1,215) (1,215)
Allowances and other movement - 973 973
Total - (242) (242)

Appendix IV provides additional information on joint ventures and associates classified under "Non-current assets and disposal
groups classified as held for sale".

(18.5) Assets and liabilities included in disposal groups and discontinued operations

A disposal group is defined as a group of assets, with some directly associated liabilities, which will be disposed of in a single
transaction. The Group has classified these disposal groups as non-current assets held for sale since they meet the requirements
for classification as “Non-current assets held for sale”. Therefore, the assets and liabilities are presented and measured in
accordance with the criteria established for “Disposal groups” (see Note 2.20).

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Assets

Disposal groups 83,027 (68,344) 14,683
Loan and real estate assets portfolio 82,086 (68,344) 13,742
Group entities - Assets 941 - 941

Total assets at 31 December 2020 83,027 (68,344) 14,683

Liabilities

Disposal groups 1,383 - 1,383
Group entities - Liabilities 1,383 - 1,383

Total liabilities at 31 December 2020 1,383 - 1,383
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM Cost or Gross value Impairment losses Carrying amount

Assets

Disposal groups 639,897 (174,777) 465,120
Loan and real estate assets portfolio 622,592 (174,777) 447815
Group entities - Assets 17,305 - 17,305

Total assets at 31 December 2019 639,897 (174,777) 465,120

Liabilities

Disposal groups 3,657 - 3,657
Group entities - Liabilities 3,657 - 3,657

Total liabilities at 31 December 2019 3,657 - 3,657

(18.5.1) Loan and real estate assets portfolio

This item includes certain portfolios of loans and credits, and of real estate assets, considered as disposal groups classified as held
for sale, since the carrying amounts of these portfolios will be recovered through a highly probable sale within a period of one year
from the date of their classification as non-current assets held for sale. The assets were measured on the Group's consolidated
balance sheet at 31 December 2020 and 2019 at their estimated selling price less expected costs. This did not have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated income statement.

Taking into account the circumstances and uncertainties set out in Note 1.16 to these consolidated financial statements, the Group
reassessed the probability of realisation of the portfolios that have not been sold at 31 December 2020 within one year of their
accounting classification. This entailed the reclassification of loans and credits classified as non-current assets held for sale at 31
December 2019 to financial assets at amortised cost, in a gross amount of approximately EUR 306 million, and foreclosed assets,
in a gross amount of approximately EUR 180 million, which did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated income
statement.

Details, by type of transaction, of the balance of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Loans 69,911 356,068
Property, plant and equipment for own use - 702
Foreclosed assets 12,175 265,822
Gross value 82,086 622,592
Impairment losses (68,344) (174,777)
Carrying amount 13,742 447,815
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At 31 December 2020, all loans are non-performing assets. In addition, other variations have arisen in the balance of this item,
due mainly to the performance and current management of such assets (repayments collected, variations associated with the

recovery process, foreclosures or assets received in payment of debt, sales of foreclosed assets, etc.).

Real estate assets portfolio

The breakdown of real estate assets at 31 December 2020 and 2019, by classification on the consolidated balance sheet and type

of asset, is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020

Property, plant and equipment for own use

Foreclosed assets 12,175
Completed housing - borrower's primary residence 10,519
Managed rural property and finished offices, commercial and industrial premises 1,556

Land parcels and other real estate assets

Total 12,175

31/12/20

19
702

265,822

227,297
25,875
12,650

266,524

The following table provides a breakdown of the gross balance at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of real estate assets foreclosed or

received in payment of debt (business in Spain) classified as a disposal group:

(in thousands of euros)
ITEM 31/12/2020

Real estate assets deriving from financing for real estate construction and property development 529

Completed buildings 529
Buildings under construction -

Land -

Real estate assets deriving from mortgage-secured financing granted to households for housing
purchases

Other real estate assets received in payment of debt 1,925

9,721

31/12/2019

29,328

17,957
214
11,157

199,603

37,647

Appendix IX provides information on exposure to the real estate construction and property development sector in Spain, including
information on assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt, including the real estate assets presented in the preceding table.

(18.5.2) Subsidiaries — Assets and liabilities

The following table shows a breakdown of the subsidiaries that qualify for classification as “disposal groups” whose assets and
liabilities are, therefore, presented as “Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale” and “Liabilities included

in disposal groups classified as held for sale™

% ownership

Company 31/12/2020

Corporacién Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation

Gestion y Recaudacion Local, S.L. 99.75

31/12/2019

60.00
99.75

The table below shows a breakdown at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of the assets and liabilities corresponding to these companies,
by line item on the consolidated balance sheet under which they were recognised before classification as non-current assets held

for sale:

(in thousands of euros)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 3 1 Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial assets at amortised cost 774 12,949 Provisions

Tangible assets 3 4 Other liabilities

Intangible assets 82 118

Other assets 79 4,233

TOTAL ASSETS 941 17,305 TOTAL LIABILITIES

31/12/2020 31
155

1,228

1,383

/12/2019
2,365
1,228

64

3,657
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Appendix Il contains additional information concerning these subsidiaries.

(19) Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Breakdown
Details, by counterparty and type of transaction, of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Deposits from central banks 23,041,190 13,937,693
Deposits from credit institutions 14,827,460 26,466,157
Deposits from customers 127,361,914 123,624,577
Debt securities issued 17,273,366 17,626,191
Other financial liabilities 2,439,672 1,442,568
Sum 184,943,602 183,097,186
Valuation adjustments 2,126,272 2,079,068
Total 187,069,874 185,176,254

Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Deposits — Central banks

Details of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Bank of Spain / European Central Bank 23,041,190 13,937,693
Sum 23,041,190 13,937,693
Valuation adjustments (141,358) (128,937)
Total 22,899,832 13,808,756

These deposits from central banks are taken using the credit policy with a securities pledge Bankia has set up in the central bank,
which enables it to raise immediate liquidity (see Note 3.2).

This line item on the accompanying balance sheet, within the framework of the programmes designed by the European Central
Bank (TLTRO) to improve long-term funding, includes EUR 22,918,950 thousand from TLTRO Il with an average maturity of 2 years
and 4 months at 31 December 2020 (EUR 9,166,970 thousand from TLTRO Il with an average maturity of 6 months and EUR
4,583,790 thousand from TLTRO Il with an average maturity of 3 years at 31 December 2019).

Regarding finance raised under the framework of the TLTRO programme, the Bank considers that in view of the growth in eligible
loans up to 31 December 2020, it will meet the requirements to receive the incentive envisaged in the terms of the programme
(see Note 3.2). As a result, the Bank recognised EUR 159,682 thousand in the year ended 31 December 2020 (EUR 56,141 thousand
in 2019) under “Interest income” in the income statement (see Note 26).

Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Deposits — Credit institutions
Details of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type of transaction, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Time deposits 3,090,277 3,712,983
Repos 8,892,105 19,593,061
Other accounts 2,845,078 3,160,113
Sum 14,827,460 26,466,157
Valuation adjustments 6,585 (5,672)
Total 14,834,045 26,460,485

The annual average effective interest rate on deposits from credit institutions at 31 December 2020 was 0.24% (0.25% at 31
December 2019).
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Deposits — Customers

Details of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type of transaction, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

General government 5,443,813 4,778,218
Current accounts 5,388,481 4,249,765
Time deposits 55,332 528,453

Other financial corporations 11,578,643 12,608,848
Current accounts 5,231,087 4,926,023
Time deposits 6,299,531 7,637,299
Repos 48,025 45,526

Non-financial corporations 15,126,091 13,334,595
Current accounts 14,849,927 12,167,650
Time deposits 276,164 1,166,945

Households 96,310,984 94,063,075
Current accounts 76,051,254 67,515,663
Time deposits 20,259,730 26,547,412

Total 128,459,531 124,784,736

This consolidated balance sheet item includes one-off non-marketable covered bonds issued by the Group amounting to EUR
4,817,108 thousand at 31 December 2020 (EUR 5,235,025 thousand at 31 December 2019) (see Appendix VIII).

The annual average effective interest rate of these instruments at 31 December 2020 was 0.07% (0.09% at 31 December 2019).
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Debt securities issued

Details of issues recognised under this heading on the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are presented
in Appendix VI.

Interest accrued on subordinated liabilities in the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to EUR 62,190 thousand (EUR 73,428
thousand at 31 December 2019), recognised under "Interest expenses" in the consolidated income statement.

The coupons accrued on the issuance of contingent convertible bonds (convertible into ordinary shares of Bankia) have been
recognised in the Group's equity as they are payable at the Entity's discretion. In 2020 EUR 76,888 thousand was recognised in
consolidated equity in this respect (EUR 53,803 thousand in 2019).

The annual average effective interest rate of debt securities issued at 31 December 2020 was 1.12% (1.11% at 31 December
2019).

Issues, repurchases and redemptions of debt securities

The table below shows information on total issues, repurchases and redemptions of debt securities in the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Valuation
TYPE OF ISSUE adjustments,
treasury shares
31/12/2019 Issues Redemptions and others 31/12/2020
Det_)t securities issued in an EU Member State requiring a prospectus to be 18,679,709 . (323,002) 80,087 18,436,794
registered.
Total 18,679,709 - (323,002) 80,087 18,436,794
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31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Valuation
TYPE OF ISSUE adjustments,
treasury shares
31/12/2018 Issues Redemptions and others 31/12/2019
Det?t securities issued in an EU Member State requiring a prospectus to be 18,360,095 4,135,000 (3.986,237) 170,851 18,679,709
registered.
Total 18,360,095 4,135,000 (3,986,237) 170,851 18,679,709

The main issues and redemptions in 2020 were as follows:

On 2 July 2020, the “Bankia Public-Sector Covered Bond 2020-1" issuance was placed for EUR 900 million, the full amount of
which is held under treasury shares (see note 3.2).

Appendices VI and VII provide details of the issuances comprising the consolidated balance sheet item “Debt securities issued”,
along with the issues, repurchases and redemptions of debt securities carried out by the Bank or other Group companies in 2020
and 2019.

Other information
In terms of seniority, the subordinated bonds rank junior to the claims held by all general creditors over the issuing entities.

The subordinated bond issues recognised under “Financial liabilities at amortised cost” at 31 December 2020 include an option
for the issuer to early redeem the securities after (at least) five years have elapsed since the date of disbursement, subject to prior
authorisation by the Bank of Spain or, as appropriate, the competent authority, provided it meets the requirements of Regulation
(EU) No 575/2013 and Directive 2013/36/EU. In addition, in compliance with regulatory requirements, authorisation may be given
to the Group for the full early redemption at any time in the following circumstances: i) in the event of a significant and unforeseen
change in the applicable tax treatment of the instruments, and ii) in the event of an unforeseen change, and with sufficient
certainty, in the regulatory classification of the instruments that would likely result in their exclusion as capital.

The contingent convertible bonds, convertible into Bankia ordinary shares, targeted solely at professional investors, carry
remuneration, payment of which is subject to certain terms and is discretionary. They are perpetual securities, although they can
be redeemed at Bankia's discretion in the circumstances contemplated in the associated terms and conditions. Regardless, they
will convert into ordinary new-issue Bankia shares if Bankia or the Group presents a Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio, calculated
as set out in Regulation (EU) 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements
for credit institutions and investment firms, of less than 5.125%.

Issues of medium term notes are guaranteed by the issuing Group entities or are secured by restricted deposits.

Covered bonds were issued in accordance with Mortgage Market Law 2/1981, of 25 March, regulating the mortgage market, and
the related implementing provisions.

The Group has various registration documents on record in the Official Registers of the Spanish National Securities Market
Commission (CNMV) for non-participating securities in relation to covered bonds, public-sector covered bonds, ordinary bonds and
debentures, subordinated bonds and debentures, and special perpetual subordinated debentures.

Similarly, the Group has registration documents on record in the Official Registers of the CNMV for the issuance of promissory
notes.

Details, by maturity, of the items comprising the most significant balances of this heading of the Group's consolidated balance
sheet are provided in Note 3.2, “Liquidity risk of financial instruments”.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Other financial liabilities

Details of this item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, by type, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Obligations payable 80,989 124,500
Collateral received 1,688 1,925
Tax collection accounts 298,386 274,575
Special accounts and other items 2,012,218 994,319
Financial guarantees 46,391 47,249
Total 2,439,672 1,442,568

“Special accounts and other items” include financial liabilities arising from leases due to the adoption of IFRS 16.
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Movement in 2020 and 2019 in financial liabilities arising from leases is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Opening balance 512,000 -

Additions/disposals (net) 44,578 566,460
Interest cost 6,559 12,810
Lease payments (69,765) (67,270)
Closing balance 493,372 512,000

The present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate at 31 December 2020, by
remaining term to maturity, is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Financial liabilities arising from leases 63,227 153,038 277,107 493,372

The present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate at 31 December 2019, by
remaining term to maturity, is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Financial liabilities arising from leases 60,220 161,602 290,178 512,000

(20) Provisions

Details of this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations (Note 38) 644,494 1,038,243
Pending procedural issues and tax litigation 195,903 224,539
Commitments and guarantees given 274,899 301,717
Other provisions 169,741 189,536
Total 1,285,037 1,754,035
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The changes in and the purpose of the provisions recognised on the consolidated balance sheet in the years ended 31 December

2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM

Balances at 31 December 2018

Net provisions/(reversals) charged/(credited) to profit or loss for the year (Notes 38 and
41)

Provisions charged to the income statement
Reversals credited to the income statement
Provisions used
Transfers and other movements

Balances at 31 December 2019

Net provisions/(reversals) charged/(credited) to profit or loss for the year (Notes 38 and
41)

Provisions charged to the income statement
Reversals credited to the income statement
Provisions used
Transfers and other movements

Balances at 31 December 2020

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations

Pensions and
other post-
employment
defined
benefit
obligations

1,080,822

(28,653)

(28,653)
(113,580)
99,654
1,038,243

(104,711)

(104,711)
(110,138)
(178,900)

644,494

Pending

procedural
issues and tax

litigation
193,670
104,233
104,233
(127,063)
53,699
224,539
96,293
105,850
(9,557)
(133,901)
8,972

195,903

Commitments
and
guarantees
given

373,082
(72,047)
27,362

(99,409)

682
301,717
(25,947)
66,835
(92,782)
(871)

274,899

Other
provisions

274,542
11,019
34,390
(23,371)
(56,215)
(39,810)
189,536
9,934
15,539
(5,605)
(12,241)
(17,488)

169,741

Total
1,922,116

14,552
165,985
(151,433)
(296,858)
114,225
1,754,035
(24,431)
188,224
(212,655)
(256,280)
(188,287)

1,285,037

The balance of pension and similar obligations at 31 December 2020 and 2019, recognised under “Provisions - Pensions and other
post-employment defined benefit obligations” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, stood at EUR 644,494 thousand
and EUR 1,038,243 thousand, respectively, reflecting the Group's obligations vis-a-vis its personnel as disclosed in Notes 2.13 and

38.2 to these consolidated financial statements.

In 2020, as a result of the closing of the Caser sale (see Note 1.15), the amount of the assets linked to the post-employment
obligations insured by this company, recognised until 31 December 2019 under "Other assets - Insurance contracts linked to
pensions", was presented net of liabilities under "Provisions - Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations",
as set out in applicable legislation. This amount totalled approximately EUR 189 million.

Also, under the new labour agreement, as indicated in Note 2.13.1.2, constant future growth has been set for defined benefit
pension obligations of retired employees, applicable as from 1 January 2021, which has reduced pension obligations by

approximately EUR 104 million.
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Pending procedural issues and tax litigation

The balance of “Pending procedural issues and tax litigation” includes, inter alia, provisions for tax and legal proceedings and was
estimated applying prudent calculations in line with the uncertainty inherent in the obligations covered and considering the
estimated timing of the outflow of resources from the Group.

As indicated in Note 2.18, various legal proceedings are underway in relation to Bankia's IPO.
Criminal proceedings at the National High Court

Both Bankia’s IPO and its 2011 financial statements were investigated in Preliminary Proceedings no. 59/2012 (currently
Abbreviated Proceedings 1/2018) at Central Examining Court No. 4 of the National High Court. These proceedings were instituted
by Unidn Progreso y Democracia (“UPyD”), among others, against Bankia, BFA and their respective management bodies, accusing
them of (i) fraud; (ii) misappropriation; (iii) falsification of financial statements; (iv) breach of trust, and (v) price rigging.

On 11 May 2017, the presiding judge of Central Examining Court No. 4 of the National High Court ordered that there was a case
to answer, thereby concluding the examination stage, and the case was continued in Abbreviated Proceedings. In the order, the
judge established the punishable acts, classifying them as two alleged offences: (i) falsification of financial statements, as defined
in article 290 of the Spanish Criminal Code; and (ii) investor fraud, as defined in article 282 bis), and determined the guilty parties.
Accordingly, the order called for the prosecution of the Bank's former chairman, Mr. Rodrigo de Rato Figaredo, the former deputy
chairman, Mr. José Luis Olivas Martinez, and 32 other individuals (directors and senior executives of Bankia and the external auditor
of the 2011 financial statements), as well as Banco Financiero y de Ahorros (BFA) and Bankia.

Appeals for reconsideration and to a higher court were filed against the order and these were rejected, with the exception of the
appeal lodged by the savings banks’ employees’ union (CIC) with respect to the dismissal of the criminal liability charges against
the external audit firm at the time of the IPO, which was accepted with an order for the external auditor to remain party to the
proceedings.

On 17 November 2017, Central Examining Court No. 4 of the National High Court ordered commencement of the trial. Specifically,
this order commenced the trial in respect of the crimes of falsification of financial statements (defined in article 290 of Spain's
Criminal Code) and investor fraud (article 282 bis of the Criminal Code) against certain former directors and current and former
executives of Bankia and BFA, the external auditor at the time of the IPO, and against BFA and Bankia as legal persons. The State
Prosecutor and the FROB presented written submissions seeking the dismissal of the criminal charges against BFA and Bankia.
The FROB did not seek secondary civil liability on the part of Bankia or BFA.

On 29 September 2020, Panel 4 of the National High Court’s Criminal Chamber delivered a judgment (no. 13/2020) whereby it
unanimously acquitted all the defendants.

Only two prosecutors have lodged the corresponding cassation appeal with the Spanish Supreme Court’s Criminal Chamber
(namely, the Spanish Association of Minority Shareholders of Listed Companies (AEMEC) and Bochner Espafia, S.L. et al.) against
the judgment of 29 September 2020 handed down by Panel 4 of the National High Court’s Criminal Chamber (no. 13/2020).

Considering the foregoing, the Bank has treated this contingency, in accordance with the criteria explained in Note 2.18.1, as a
contingent liability the outcome of which remains uncertain at the present date.

Civil proceedings brought by retail investors

In the years since Bankia’s IPO, a large number of civil lawsuits have been brought against the Bank by retail investors (on an
individual and collective basis), in addition to out-of-court claims.

At 31 December 2015, the Group estimated a total contingency arising from these proceedings of EUR 1,840 million, which
included EUR 1,040 million related to the cost of redeeming shares in enforcement of the judgments and EUR 800 million to cover
the related legal costs and any late payment interest thereon. The estimates and assumptions used at 31 December 2015 were
checked by an independent expert.

In execution of the Settlement Agreement for the distribution between BFA, Tenedora de Acciones, S.A.U. and Bankia of the
potential costs arising from the civil lawsuits brought against these entities by retail investors following the placement on the
primary market of shares of Bankia, and the addendum thereto, provisions have been recognised in the amounts of EUR 416
million and EUR 320 million, respectively (EUR 736 million in total).

Until 31 December 2020 and since the outset of the proceedings, the total provisions applied in view of the foregoing
circumstances amounted to EUR 1,885 million, of which EUR 781 million pertain to Bankia (EUR 556 million in respect of
invalidation for redemption of shares, and EUR 225 million in indemnities, interest and legal costs) and EUR 1,104 million to BFA
in application of the agreement entered into between the two institutions whereby Bankia assumed a first-loss tranche of 40% of
the estimated cost and BFA the remaining 60%. Accordingly, the contingency related to retail investors who subscribed shares in
the IPO is considered to be practically resolved.

At 31 December 2020, there are a total of 164 civil proceedings ongoing with respect to shares purchased in the IPO and
subsequently.
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Civil proceedings brought by institutional investors

Up to 31 December 2020, 84 first instance judgments were handed down in relation to claims arising from the primary market,
of which 24 found for and 60 against Bankia. Various regional courts have delivered 45 second instance judgments, of which 31
found against and 14 in favour of Bankia.

Moreover, 21 appeals in cassation have been lodged (9 of which were filed by other parties against four of the judgments that
found in favour of Bankia, which are particularly relevant given the investor profile of the claimants, Bankia having contested these
in due time and form, and 12 of which were lodged by Bankia, in view of the high profile of the investor, of which one has been
rejected).

A preliminary ruling has been requested from the CJEU in relation to a particular institutional investor.

The Group’s directors consider that the provision recognised at 31 December 2020 is sufficient to cover any amounts that may
have to be paid as a result of the civil proceedings underway, taking into consideration no additional claims being filed and the
rulings handed down on claims already lodged based on the investor profile. The key assumptions and those which, were they to
change, could therefore have the greatest impact on the amount of this provision are the number of claims that could be brought,
the expected outcome thereof and the profile of the claimants, given the inherent uncertainty. The effects of these changes would
be recognised in accordance with the criteria described in Note 1.4, unless expressly indicated otherwise.

Regarding the other legal proceedings and claims ongoing, other than those related to the Bankia IPO, which are detailed in Note
2.18.2, the Group has recognised the provisions it estimates will be necessary as of the reporting date. The provisions used in
2020 mainly relate to payments made for the class action lawsuits detailed in Note 2.18.2 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Provisions for contingent exposures and commitments

As described in Note 27.2, “Provisions for contingent exposures and commitments” include provisions recognised to cover off-
balance sheet exposures, calculated using the same criteria as for impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Other provisions

“Other provisions” at 31 December 2020 mainly comprised the provision for workforce restructuring amounting to EUR 85 million,
additional provisions related to the restructuring of investees and the related liabilities and contingencies, and other provisions to
cover certain contingencies arising from the ordinary course of business.

(21) Other liabilities

The breakdown of this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Transactions in transit 51,525 60,025
Other items 905,364 833,950
Total 956,889 893,975

(1) Includes accruals associated with other operating expenses.
(22) Own funds
(22.1) Capital

On 3 May 2019, the agreement of 25 April 2019 of the Bank's Board of Directors, to partially implement the reduction of capital
through the redemption of treasury shares, as approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting held on 22 March 2019, was
filed at the Mercantile Registry of Valencia.

Previously, on 5 March 2019, authorisation was received from the European Central Bank to reduce capital by an effective amount
of EUR 50 million by redeeming 15,440,845 shares, representing 0.50% of the share capital.

As a result, Bankia's share capital was reduced by EUR 15,440,845, through the redemption of 15,440,845 treasury shares.

The purpose of the capital reduction was the redemption of treasury shares. The capital reduction has not entailed the
reimbursement of contributions, since Bankia is the owner of the redeemed shares. The capital reduction has been implemented
with a charge to voluntary reserves, while simultaneously making the corresponding appropriation to a restricted reserve equal to
the nominal amount of the effectively redeemed treasury shares.

At 31 December 2020, the Bank’s share capital amounts to EUR 3,069,522 thousand, represented by 3,069,522,105 subscribed
and fully paid up registered shares with a par value of EUR 1 each, of the same class and series.

During 2020 and 2019, no transaction costs were recognised for the issuance or acquisition of own equity instruments.
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Bankia, S.A.'s main shareholders at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Number of shares % ownership
Shareholder 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
BFA, Tenedora de Acciones, S.A.U. 1,897,818,273 1,896,894,838 61.828% 61.797%

(22.2) Transactions with treasury shares

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, changes to "Own funds (-) Treasury shares" on the balance sheet, showing
the amount of Bankia equity instruments held by the Bank, were as follows:

31/12/2020 31/12/2019
ITEM Amount Amount
No. of shares (in thousands of s, G lhares (in thousands of

Opening balance 22,330,560 \ 50,343 29,543,837 \96,646
+ Purchases during the period 26,589,523 30,086 31,664,515 64,971
- Redemption of own securities (¥) - - (15,440,845) (50,000)
- Sales and other changes (16,934,883) (30,954) (23,436,947) (61,274)
Closing balance 31,985,200 49,475 22,330,560 50,343
Net gain/(loss) on transactions with treasury shares (reserves) (12,519) (12,143)

(*) Redemption of own securities through capital reduction (see Note 22.1)

In accordance with prevailing regulations, transactions with treasury shares are recognised directly in equity, and no gain or loss
may be recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect of such transactions.

Certain disclosures required by applicable regulations in connection with transactions involving treasury shares of Bankia, S.A.
carried out by the Bank in 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Acquisitions of treasury shares:

- Number of treasury shares acquired in 2020: 26,589,523 (31,664,515 shares at 31 December 2019).

- Par value of treasury shares acquired in 2020: EUR 26,590 thousand of EUR 1 par value (EUR 31,665 thousand of EUR 1 par
value at 31 December 2019).

- Average price of treasury shares acquired in 2020: EUR 1.131 of EUR 1 par value (EUR 2.052 of EUR 1 par value at 31
December 2019).

- Total amount charged to equity in 2020: EUR 30,086 thousand (EUR 64,971 thousand at 31 December 2019).
Disposals of treasury shares:

- Number of treasury shares sold in 2020: 16,934,883 (23,436,947 shares at 31 December 2019).

- Par value of treasury shares sold in 2020: EUR 16,935 thousand of EUR 1 par value (EUR 23,437 thousand of EUR 1 par value
at 31 December 2019).

- Average selling price of treasury shares sold in 2020: EUR 1.089 of EUR 1 par value (EUR 2.096 of EUR 1 par value at 31
December 2019).

- Amount credited to equity for sales in 2020: EUR 30,954 thousand (EUR 61,274 thousand at 31 December 2019).
Treasury shares held at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

- Number of treasury shares held: 31,985,200 (22,330,560 shares at 31 December 2019).

- Par value of treasury shares held: EUR 31,985 thousand of EUR 1 par value (EUR 22,331 thousand of EUR 1 par value at 31
December 2019).

- Average acquisition price of treasury shares held: EUR 1.547 (EUR 2.254 at 31 December 2019).

- Amount charged to equity for acquisition of treasury shares: EUR 49,475 thousand (EUR 50,343 thousand at 31 December
2019).

(22.3) Other reserves

The Group’s consolidated statement of changes in equity for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 shows the changes in
this consolidated equity line item in those years.
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(22.3.1) Restricted reserves

Under the Revised Spanish Companies Act, companies must transfer at least 10% of profit for each year to their legal reserve until
such reserve reaches an amount equal to 20% of the share capital of the company. The legal reserve may be used to increase
share capital provided that the balance left on the reserve is at least equal to 10% of the nominal value of the total share capital
after the increase. Other than for this purpose, the legal reserve may only be used to offset losses, and only when no other sufficient
reserves are available for such purpose. At 31 December 2020, the amount of this reserve is recognised under “Own funds - Other
reserves” on the consolidated balance sheet and totals EUR 613,904 thousand (EUR 613,904 thousand at 31 December 2019).

During 2019, a restricted reserve equal to the par value of the treasury shares redeemed in the capital reduction referred to in Note
22.1, amounting to EUR 15,441 thousand, was established.

(22.3.2) Breakdown of reserves by entity

Details, by fully or proportionately consolidated or equity-accounted company, of “Reserves” on the consolidated balance sheets
at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A., de Seguros y Reaseguros (41,776) (53,536)
Bankia Habitat, S.L.U. (2,224,532) (2,173,112)
Caja Granada Vida, Compafiia de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. - (4,148)
Cajamurcia Vida Y Pensiones de Seguros Y Reaseguros, S.A. - (9,870)
Corporacion Industrial Bankia, S.A.U. (1,103,943) (1,038,530)
Geoportugal - Imabiliaria, LDA. - (32,712)
Inversiones y Desarrollos 2069 Madrid, S.L.U., in liquidation (20,078) (19,972)
Promaciones y Proyectos Murcilor, S.L., in liquidation (20,012) (20,012)
Proyectos y Desarrollos Hispanomexicanos, S.A. de C.V. 12,968 12,968

(22.4) Other information

(22.4.1) Investments in listed companies

Other than Bankia, S.A., no other Group subsidiary was listed on an organised market at 31 December 2020.

(22.4.2) Other resolutions adopted at the Annual General Meeting regarding the issuance of shares and other securities

At the Annual General Meeting held on 27 March 2020, the shareholders resolved to delegate to the Board of Directors of the Bank
the following powers:

- The authority to increase the share capital by up to a maximum of 50% of subscribed share capital, by means of one or more
increases and at any time within a maximum of five years, through cash contributions, with the autharity, as the case may
be, to approve the disapplication of pre-emptive subscription rights up to a maximum of 20% of share capital.

- The authaority to issue, once or on several occasions, within a maximum term of five years, securities convertible into and/or
exchangeable for shares of the Company, as well as warrants or other similar securities that may directly or indirectly entitle
the holder to subscribe or acquire shares of the Company, for a total amount of up to one billion five hundred million
(1,500,000,000) euros; as well as the authority to increase the share capital in the requisite amount, and the authority, as
the case may be, to disapply pre-emptive subscription rights up to a maximum of 20% of share capital.

- Authorisation of the Board of Directors for the derivative acquisition of treasury shares in accordance with the limits and
requirements established in the Spanish Companies Act.

- Authorisation of the Board of Directors for the distribution of dividends on account during the 2020 financial year.

- Authorisation of the Board of Directors to carry out capital reductions through the redemption of treasury shares.

(23) Accumulated other comprehensive income

Details of the balances under this consolidated balance sheet item at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
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(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 31,834 57,233
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans 25,060 34,056
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale (18,744) (9.347)
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates 3,750 4219
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 21.768 28,305
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 113,505 122,769
Foreign currency translation (458) (113)
Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges [effective portion] (3,063) (8,006)
Fair value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 85,764 82,085
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale - (2,674)
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates 31,262 51,477
Accumulated other comprehensive income 145,339 180,002

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss. Fair value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income

This item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the net amount of the fair value changes of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income which must be recognised in the Group's equity. These changes are recognised
in the consolidated income statement when the assets which gave rise to them are sold or become impaired.

The following table provides details of the gains and losses by financial instrument at 31 December 2020 and 2019:
31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Gross amounts Gains Losses Amounts net of tax effect Gains Losses
Quoted debt securities 136,978 (14,458) Quoted debt securities 95,885 (10,121)
Unquoted debt securities - - Unqguoted debt securities - -
Total 136,978 (14,458) Total 95,885 (10,121)
Total gains (gross) 122,520 Total gains (net) 85,764

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Gross amounts Gains Losses Amounts net of tax effect Gains Losses
Quoted debt securities 132,256 (14,992) Quoted debt securities 92,579 (10,494)
Unquoted debt securities - - Unquoted debt securities - -
Total 132,256 (14,992) Total 92,579 (10,494)
Total gains (gross) 117,264 Total gains (net) 82,085

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss. Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges reserve

This item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets reflects the net amount of changes in value of financial derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges, for the portion of such changes considered as an “effective hedge” (see
Note 2.3).

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss. Foreign currency translation

This item on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets comprises the amount of the exchange differences arising on
monetary items whose fair value is adjusted against equity, and of the differences arising on the translation to euros of balances
in the functional currencies of equity-accounted entities whose functional currency is not the euro.
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Details of this heading on the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Bankia, S.A. (458) (113)
Total (458) (113)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss. Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint
ventures and associates

This caption on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets reflects the carrying amount of valuation adjustments, of any type,
recognised under equity in the consolidated financial statements of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method.

Details of this heading on the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros 31,262 50,107
Caja Granada Vida Compafiia Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. - 783
CajaMurcia Vida y Pensiones de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. - 587
Total 31,262 51,477

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans

This item on the consolidated balance sheet shows the amount of gains or losses on post-employment defined benefit
remuneration which are not recognised in consolidated profit or loss (see Notes 2.13.1 and 38.3).

The consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for 2020 and 2019 shows the changes in “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” on the consolidated balance sheet for these years.

(24) Minority interests [non-controlling interests]

Details, by consolidated company, of “Minarity interests [non-controlling interests]” on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

COMPANY 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Corporacion Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation (see Note 1.15) - 11,001
Other companies 2,547 2,324
Closing balance 2,547 13,325

Details, by company, of "Profit or (-) loss attributable to minority interests" in the accompanying consolidated income statement
of the Group for 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

COMPANY 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Arrendadora de Equipamientos Ferroviarios, S.A. 219 194
Corporacién Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation - 663
Inversion General de Granada 2, S.L., in liquidation - (4)
Closing balance 219 853
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Details, by company, of the changes in the balance of "Minority interests" on the consolidated balance sheets for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Arrendadora de Equipamientos Ferroviarios, S.A. 2,328 - 219 2,547
Corporacién Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation 11,001 - (11,001) -
Other companies (4) - 4 -
Closing balance 13,325 - (10,778) 2,547

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Arrendadora Aeronautica, AIE 134 - (134) -
Arrendadora de Equipamientos Ferroviarios, S.A. 2,134 - 194 2,328
Corporacién Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation 10,620 (16) 397 11,001
Other companies (414) - 410 (4)
Closing balance 12,474 (16) 867 13,325

Details of the non-Group or related companies with ownership interests of 10% or more in Group companies at 31 December
2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Arrendadora de Equipamientos Ferroviarios, S.A. CAF Investment Projects, S.A. 15.00 15.00
Corporacion Financiera Habana, S.A., in liquidation Banco Popular de Ahorro de Cuba, S.A - 40.00
(25) Fair value

(25.1) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument on a specific date is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group generally uses the following methods to estimate the fair value of financial instruments:
- When the market publishes closing prices, these prices are used to determine the fair value.

- When the market publishes both bid and ask prices for the same instrument, the market price for an asset purchased or a
liability to be issued is the bid price and that for an asset to be purchased or a liability issued is the ask price. If there is
significant market-making activity or it can be demonstrated that the positions can be closed — settled or hedged — at the
average price, the average price is used.

- If there is no market price for a given financial instrument or for barely active markets, its fair value is estimated on the basis
of the price established in recent transactions involving similar instruments and, in the absence thereof, based on proven
valuation techniques used by the international financial community, taking into account the specific features of the instrument
to be measured and, particularly, the various types of risk associated with it.

- The valuation techniques used to estimate the fair value of a financial instrument meet the following requirements:

The techniques used are based on the most consistent and appropriate economic and financial methods, which have
been demonstrated to provide the most realistic estimate of the financial instrument's price.

They are those which are customarily used by market participants to measure this type of financial instrument, such as
the discounted cash flow method, non-arbitrage option pricing models, etc.
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They maximise the use of available information, in relation to both observable data and recent transactions of similar
characteristics, and limit the use of non-observable data and estimates as far as possible.

They are sufficiently and amply documented, including the reasons why they were chosen in preference to other possible
alternatives.

They are applied consistently over time so long as the reasons for choosing them do not change.
The validity of the models is examined periodically using recent transactions and current market data.

They consider the following factors: the time value of money, credit risk, exchange rates, commodity prices, equity
prices, volatility, liquidity, prepayment risk and servicing costs.

For initial recognition of financial instruments with no market or with a barely active market, the fair value is obtained either
on the basis of the most recent transaction price, unless another value can be demonstrated through comparison with other
recent market transactions involving the same instrument, or by using a valuation technique in which all the variables are
taken solely from observable market data.

The fair value of derivatives is determined as follows:

The fair value of derivatives traded on an organised, transparent and deep market included in the trading portfolios is
equivalent to their daily quotation price and, if this is not available at a given date due to exceptional reasons, methods
similar to those used to measure derivatives not traded on organised markets will be applied.

The fair value of OTC derivatives or derivatives traded on organised but less deep and transparent markets is equivalent
to the sum of the future cash flows arising from the instrument, discounted at the measurement date (“present value”
or “notional close”) using valuation techniques accepted by the financial markets: “net present value” (NPV), option
pricing models, etc. Moreover, for derivatives not supported by a CSA (market standard) collateral agreement, an own
and/or third-party credit risk adjustment (CVA and DVA) is determined, differentiated based on the internal rating of the
counterparty (see Note 3.1):

Counterparties rated CCC or higher: all components are taken directly from the market (risk factors that affect
the value of the derivative) or indirectly from the inputs that reflect credit risk through quoted prices in markets
that are closest to that of the counterparty and of Bankia.

Counterparties classified as non-performing: internal expert criteria regarding recovery of the debt are used as
there are no market indices to assess their credit risk due to the absence of a secondary market with prices
and reasonable liquidity.

CVA and DVA are included in the valuation of both asset and liability derivatives to reflect the impact of counterparty and
own credit risk, respectively, on fair value.

CVA is calculated considering potential exposure to each counterparty in each future period. The CVA for a specific
counterparty is the sum of the CVAs for all periods. The adjustments are calculated by estimating exposure at default,
probability of default and loss given default for all derivatives on any underlying at legal entity-level to which the Bankia
Group is exposed.

DVA is a similar valuation adjustment to CVA, but arises from Bankia’s own risk assumed by its counterparties in OTC
derivatives. Similarly, DVA is calculated by multiplying expected negative exposure by probability of default and
multiplying the result by Bankia's loss given default.

The credit risk valuation adjustments recognised on the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2020 were EUR 59
million for CVA (EUR 100 million at 31 December 2019) and EUR 2 million for DVA (EUR 3 million at 31 December 2019).
The impact recognised in “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net” in the consolidated
income statement for 2020 corresponding to these adjustments is a profit of EUR 1 million (a profit of EUR 0.4 million at
31 December 2019).
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Determination of fair value of financial instruments
The following table compares the amounts at which the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets and their related fair value:

(in thousands of euros)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

TEM Balance sheet B vElE Balance sheet B EE

total total
ASSETS
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 11,808,227 11,808,227 13,202,885 13,202,885
Financial assets held for trading 6,767,906 6,767,906 6,690,901 6,690,901
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 11,385 11,385 34,755 34,755
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 8,623,635 8,623,635 11,981,872 11,981,872
Financial assets at amortised cost 163,405,078 174,767,333 155,968,440 166,555,103
:\rlwc;rgrSrL]JWr;irg assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale — Other equity 119,164 119.164 134,919 134,919
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 2,451,227 2,451,227 2,498,821 2,498,821
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities held for trading 6,876,191 6,876,191 6,750,111 6,750,111
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 187,069,874 188,300,772 185,176,254 185,121,750
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 153,150 153,150 87,402 87,402

For financial instruments whose carrying amount differs from their theoretical fair value, the latter was calculated as follows:

- The fair value of “Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits” is measured as the carrying amount, as
the balances are current.

- The fair values of "Financial assets at amortised cost " and "Financial liabilities at amortised cost" were estimated using the
discounted cash flow method, taking market interest rates at the end of each period without considering the issuer's credit
risk. This valuation is considered to use Level 3 inputs in the approaches described below for financial instruments whose
carrying amount is equal to their fair value.

- The fair value of debt securities classified as “Financial assets at amortised cost” is considered equivalent to their quoted
price in active markets, except for the SAREB bonds (see Note 12), whose fair value was estimated using Level 2 inputs and
did not differ significantly from their carrying amount (fair value was determined using quoted prices of Spanish government
bonds of similar characteristics).

Financial instruments whose carrying amount coincides with their fair value were measured as follows:

- LEVEL 1: Financial instruments whose fair value was determined by reference to their quoted price in active markets, without
making any change to these prices.

- LEVEL 2: Financial instruments whose fair value was estimated by reference to quoted prices on organised markets for similar
instruments or using other valuation techniques in which all the significant inputs are based on directly or indirectly
observable market data.

- LEVEL 3: Financial instruments whose fair value was estimated by using valuation techniques in which one or another
significant input is not based on observable market data. An input is deemed to be significant when it is important for
determining the fair value as a whole.

The Group has not recognised any financial assets or liabilities whose fair value differs from the transaction price and has not been
evaluated through methodologies and assumptions that would allow them to be classified in Level 1 and Level 2. Consequently,
no gains or losses have been recognised to reflect changes in the factors used in the valuation that market participants would take
into account when pricing the asset or liability. Any difference between the transaction price of an instrument and its fair value is
recognised immediately in the income statement, in the case of financial instruments classified in levels 1 and 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.
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The following table presents the main financial instruments measured at fair value on the accompanying consolidated balance

sheet, by measurement method used to estimate fair value:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM
ASSETS
Financial assets held for trading
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Derivatives
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Loans and advances
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Debt securities

Equity instruments

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale - Equity
instruments

Derivatives — Hedge accounting
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities held for trading
Derivatives
Short positions

Derivatives — Hedge accounting

Level 1

82,949
80,554
684

1,711

8,514,286

8,514,286

190,971
1,767
189,204

31/12/2020

Level 2

6,622,414

6,622,414

193

193

69,052
49,806

19,246

2,451,227

6,680,655

6,680,655

153,150

Level 3

62,543

62,543

11,192

11,192

40,297

40,297

119,164

4,565

4,565

Level 1

158,904
155,899
1,381

1,624

11,846,580

11,846,580

271,233

271,233

31/12/2019

Level 2

6,437,567

14,896

6,422,671
237

237

94,622
59,475

35,147

2,498,821

6,474,061

6,474,061

87,402

Level 3

94,430

94,430

34,518

34,518

40,670

40,670

134,919

4,817

4,817

The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statements for 2020 and 2019 due to changes in the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments are shown below. The changes relate to unrealised gains and losses, with a distinction made between
financial instruments whose fair value is estimated using valuation techniques whose variables are obtained from observable
market inputs (Level 2) and those for which one or more significant variables are not based on observable market inputs (Level 3).
Also shown are the cumulative unrealised changes in value at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

l138



BANKIA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 BANKIA GROUP

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)
31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

ASSETS
Financial assets held for trading 235,974 11,745 247,719 6,017,613 55,958 6,073,571
Debt securities - - - - R R

Derivatives 235,974 11,745 247,719 6,017,613 55,958 6,073,571

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through

profit or loss @9 ° @9 @19 . @19
Equity instruments - - - - - -
Debt securities (29) - (29) (219) - (219)
Loans and advances - - - - - -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (4,655) (303) (4,958) 12,654 18,811 31,465
Equity instruments (9,297) (303) (9,600) 12,286 18,811 31,097
Debt securities 4,642 - 4,642 368 - 368
Derivatives — Hedge accounting (15,518) - (15,518) 2,181,592 - 2,181,592
TOTAL ASSETS 215,772 11,442 227,214 8,211,640 74,769 8,286,409
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities held for trading (229,817) (640) (230,457) 6,614,777 (3,046) 6,611,731
Derivatives (229,817) (640) (230,457) 6,614,777 (3,046) 6,611,731
Derivatives — Hedge accounting (154,256) - (154,256) 63,952 - 63,952
TOTAL LIABILITIES (384,073) (640) (384,713) 6,678,729 (3,046) 6,675,683
31 December 2019
(in thousands of euros)
ASSETS
Financial assets held for trading 3,217,721 21,146 3,238,867 5,796,645 87,617 5,884,262
Debt securities - - - - - -
Derivatives 3,217,721 21,146 3,238,867 5,796,645 87,617 5,884,262
@ - @y - e
Equity instruments - - - - - -
Debt securities (12) - (12) (233) - (233)
Loans and advances - - - - - -
5::::21[:“5:;?;2::;"al“e through other 17,762 (807) 16,955 24563 18,852 43,415
Equity instruments 10,653 (807) 9,846 21,583 18,852 40,435
Debt securities 7,109 - 7,109 2,980 - 2,980
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 210,024 - 210,024 2,205,820 - 2,205,820
TOTAL ASSETS 3,445,495 20,339 3,465,834 8,026,795 106,469 8,133,264
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities held for trading (2,983,868) 158 (2,983,710) 6,405,436 (3,407) 6,402,029
Derivatives (2,983,868) 158  (2,983,710) 6,405,436 (3,407) 6,402,029
Derivatives — Hedge accounting (311,649) - (311,649) 34,520 - 34,520
TOTAL LIABILITIES (3,295,517) 158 (3,295,359) 6,439,956 (3,407) 6,436,549
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The following table presents the main valuation methods, assumptions and inputs used to estimate the fair value of financial
instruments classified as level 2 and 3, by type of instrument, and the related balances at 31 December 2020:

Level 2 financial instruments Valuation techniques

Present value method
(discounted cash flows)
LIBOR Market Model (LMM)

Debt securities

Equity instruments Present value method

Interest rate derivatives:
Black and LIBOR Market
Model

Derivatives

For equity, currency or
commodity derivatives:
Black-Scholes, Skew Model
and Tremor model

Inflation derivatives:
Analytical formula

Credit derivatives:
Analytical formula

Main assumptions

Calculation of the present value of financial
instruments as the present value of the future cash
flows (discounted at market interest rates), bearing
in mind: estimation of prepayment rates, issuer
credit risk and current market interest rates. Inclusion
of stochastic volatilities in the LMM allows complete
modelling of the volatility area.

Calculation of the present value of future cash flows.
Considering:

- Issuer credit spreads

- Prepayment rates

- Yield curves

- Risk neutrality, non-arbitrage

For measurement of widely traded instruments, e.g.
caps, floors, European swaptions, etc.

For measurement of widely traded instruments, e.g.
call, put, straddle, etc.

Absence of correlation between interest rates and
inflation.

Risk neutrality, absence of arbitrage opportunities.

Calculation of probability of default (PD) levels to
ensure compliance with the risk neutrality and non-
arbitrage assumptions.

Inputs

Yield curves
- Credit spreads
- Correlation

Yield curves
- Credit spreads

For equity, inflation, currency
or commodity derivatives:
- Forward structure of the
underlying
- Option volatility
- Observable correlations
between underlyings

For interest rate derivatives:
- Term structure of
interest rates
- Volatility of the
underlying

For credit derivatives:
- Credit default swap
(CDS) quoted prices

(in millions of euros)

Fair value

Debt securities: 50

Equity instruments: 19

Trading derivatives:

Assets: 6,622

Liabilities: 6,681

Hedging derivatives:

Assets: 2,451

Liabilities: 153
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Level 3 financial
instruments

Debt instruments

Equity instruments

Derivatives

Valuation techniques

Present value method
The Gaussian Copula
Maodel
LIBOR Market Model
(LMM)

Present value method

Interest rate
derivatives: LIBOR
Market Model (LMM),
Hull-White model
(HW)

For equity and
currency derivatives:
Dupire, Heston, solved
by numerical methods

Inflation derivatives:
Jarrow-Yildrim

Credit baskets:
Gaussian Copula

Main assumptions

Calculation of the present value of financial
instruments as the present value of the future

cash flows (discounted at market interest rates),

bearing in mind: estimation of prepayment
rates, issuer credit risk and current market
interest rates. In the case of asset-backed
securities (ABS), future prepayments are
calculated based on conditional prepayment
rates provided by the issuers. The "time-to-
default” model is used to measure the
probability of default. Inclusion of stochastic
volatilities in the LMM allows complete
modelling of the volatility area.

Net asset value (NAV) for hedge funds and for
equity instruments listed in thin or less active
markets.

Both methods are based on modelling of near-
term future interest rate performance,

replicating the yield curve and volatility surface.

The inclusion of stochastic volatilities in the

LMM allows complete modelling of the volatility

area, making the LMM model the most widely
used to measure exotic derivatives. The HW
model is used provided the volatility smile does
not affect the value of the derivative.

The options are measured using generally
accepted valuation models and include implied
volatility observed.

The Jarrow-Yildrim model is used for modelling

inflation and nominal rates. This model is based

on the analogy between the inflation index and
foreign exchange rates.

The Gaussian Copula measurement method is
widely accepted in financial markets for its
simplicity.

Unobservable inputs

Prepayment rates
Credit spread

Default correlation
Interest rate correlation

Credit spread;

NAV provided by the
fund manager or the
issuer of the securities

Correlation

e Term structure of

volatilities based on the
underlying

Correlation

Term structure of
volatilities
Dividends

Correlation
Inflation curve

o Nominal rates

Correlation between
defaults
Historical CDS volatility

(in millions of euros)

Fair value

Debt securities:

Loans and advances:

11

Equity instruments:

40

Trading derivatives:

Assets: 63

Liabilities: 5

Any change in one or more variables or other assumptions deemed as reasonable would not result in a significant change in the
fair value of Level 3 financial instruments relative to the total portfolio of financial instruments.

The Group has a formal policy that sets out the procedure for assigning fair value levels and potential changes therein.

According to this procedure, a level is assigned to financial instruments measured at fair value, determined based on the quality
and availability of the various inputs, models, market information etc. at the date of purchase of the position. These parameters
are subsequently reviewed periodically in accordance with their trends.

This procedure is carried out by analysing the information available to the Group to set the valuation price, studying the necessary
inputs, the sources and quality of the information, or the need to use more complex models.
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Transfers of financial instruments not classified as non-current assets held for sale between fair value hierarchy levels in 2020 and
2019 were as follows:

At 31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Assets

Financial assets held for trading — Derivatives - - - 2 - 52,072
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - - - - - R
Liabilities

Financial liabilities held for trading — Derivatives - - - 5 - 1

At 31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Assets

Financial assets held for trading — Derivatives - - - 4,765 - 3,883
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - - 35,980 - - -
Liabilities

Financial liabilities held for trading — Derivatives - - - 4 - 4

The value of the financial instruments transferred between measurement levels in 2020 is immaterial relative to the total value
of the portfolios and relates mainly to changes in one or more characteristics of the assets. Specifically:

- Transfer from Level 2 to Level 3 of EUR 0 million: as relevant inputs that represent key assumptions (credit risk) used in the
valuation technique to measure certain derivatives have become unobservable.

- Transfer from Level 3 to Level 2 of EUR 52 million: as relevant observable inputs that represent key assumptions (credit risk)
used in the valuation technigue to measure certain derivatives have been found.

Movement in the balances of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value and categorised within Level 3 shown on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019, is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Opening balance 169,618 4,817 139,947 3,979
Gains (losses) 1,868 (253) 4,882 (1,060)
To profit or loss 2,238 (253) 5,626 (1,060)
To reserves from sales (329) - 538 -
Valuation adjustment (equity) (41) - (1,282) -
Purchases, sales and settlements (23,725) (34) 22,349 1,819
Net inflows/(outflows) in Level 3 (33,729) 35 2,440 79
Closing balance 114,032 4,565 169,618 4,817
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Gains and losses in 2020 and 2019 on disposals of financial instruments categorised within Level 3 recognised in the
accompanying income statement were not significant.

The following table shows the changes in fair value of equity instruments classified as “Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale” included in Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy and recognised on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of euros)

Opening balance 134,919 132,185
Gains (losses) (13,703) (17,958)
Other net variations (2,052) 20,692
Closing balance 119,164 134,919

(25.2) Fair value of assets and liabilities included in disposal groups and discontinued operations

Note 18.5.1 includes information on the sale of portfolios of loans and real estate assets that make up a disposal group. These
assets are stated at the selling price less the related costs to sell, and their fair value therefore coincides with their carrying amount.

The table below provides a comparison between the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities by line item on
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet under which they were recognised before classification under “Non-current assets
and disposal groups classified as held for sale” and their corresponding fair value:

(in thousands of euros)

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 3 3 1 1

Financial assets at amortised cost 774 774 12,949 12,949

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 155 155 2,365 2,365

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value before their classification as
non-current assets held for sale - disposal groups on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

(25.3) Fair value of other assets, not considered as a disposal group or discontinued operations
(25.3.1) Real estate assets

The table below shows the fair value of certain tangible assets of the Group at 31 December 2020 and 2019, by category, as well
as their carrying amount at those dates:

(in thousands of euros)

Own use — Buildings and other structures 1,774,602 2,081,415 1,826,185 2,147,180
Investment property 465,733 703,745 481,302 672,405
Total 2,240,335 2,785,160 2,307,487 2,819,585

The fair value of the tangible assets in the preceding table was estimated based on the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use (derived from the present value of the estimated future cash
flows from the assets). In the specific case of tangible assets for own use, fair value is obtained from market inputs or, failing this,
valuation techniques that consider the yields, flows or replacement cost of the asset. For investment property, the best evidence
of fair value is the current price on an active market for similar assets, adjusted where necessary in accordance with the particular
characteristics of each asset, or, as appropriate, recent prices on less active markets and discounted cash flow projections of rents
of similar properties.

As explained in Note 2.17, at 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Group did not have any balances under inventories.
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The amounts recognised in the 2020 and 2019 income statements were EUR 146,189 thousand and EUR 146,371 thousand,
respectively under “Depreciation and amortisation”, and reversals of EUR 15,786 thousand and EUR 14,544 thousand in
“Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets — Tangible assets”, respectively.

Better and greater use of non-financial assets does not mean a different use, except for the real estate assets owned by the Group,
where the building and facilities are considered as assets for the purpose of measuring land.

(25.3.2) Real estate assets classified as non-current assets held for sale

The fair values of the Bankia Group’s tangible assets for own use classified under “Non-current assets and disposal groups classified
as held for sale” at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were EUR 176,780 thousand and EUR 168,381 thousand, respectively.

The carrying amount of the Group's foreclosed real estate assets, which were classified as “Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale”, does not differ significantly from their fair value.

As explained in Note 2.20, non-current assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt are recognised initially at the lower of the
carrying amount of the financial assets applied and the fair value at the date of foreclosure or receipt of the assets less estimated
costs to sell, and are subsequently recognised at fair value less estimated costs to sell.

The Group has an internal methodology for estimating discounts on the reference value and costs to sell real estate assets
foreclosed or received in payment of debt classified as non-current assets held for sale. This methodology is based on the Group’s
prior experience of sales of similar assets, in terms of time scales, prices and volumes, and the time taken for their sale. The
methodology complies with the principles and requirements governing the development and use of internal methodologies for
estimating discounts on the reference value and the costs to sell assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt, and it underwent
the necessary internal validation process prior to its approval and use.

The reference value used to estimate fair value is the market value obtained in appraisals updated at least annually. As regards
appraisals, the Group uses those performed by certified appraisal services or companies on the Bank of Spain's Official Register of
Appraisal Companies, using full individual appraisals or appraisals performed using automated valuation methods.

The full individual appraisals comply with the requirements of Ministerial Order ECO 805/2003, of 27 March, on rules for the
appraisal of real estate and of certain rights for financial purposes. This order contains, inter alia, the various technical methods
and measurement procedures for determining the appraisal value of the various real estate assets in accordance with their uses,
and for the preparation of appraisal reports and certificates. The content is based on the principle of prudence and the principle of
sustainability for values with long-term impacts. This Order, continuing along the lines of Royal Decree 775/1997, of 30 May, on
the legal framework governing the certification of appraisal services and companies, aims to promote the technical and formal
quality of the appraisals with the overriding aim of better protecting the interests of third parties as investors or insured parties.

Automated appraisal methods are based on statistical models supported by computer programs that use a broad database. This
allows for mass appraisals bearing in mind the specific characteristics of each asset appraised, but assuming a confidence interval
in the results as, by definition, the models do not factor in all the variables that affect the value. Without prejudice to their statistical
basis, throughout the valuation process these appraisals include expert judgements by the appraisal company as regards the
model’s construction and specification, and in comparisons, and in selecting the appropriate model for each specific appraisal
engagement. In 2019, the Bank of Spain issued “Supervisory guidelines for the use of automated valuation models by appraisal
companies” for use by registered appraisal companies, applicable to appraisers in appraisals using automated valuation methods
for credit institutions. The guidelines identify the recommended best practices for the definition and application of robust valuation
procedures using this type of appraisal, and fall within the Bank of Spain's powers to supervise appraisal companies, as laid down
in Royal Decree 775/1997.

Information on the companies and agencies carrying out appraisals in 2020 and 2019 is provided below:

(% appraised)

Appraisal companies or agencies 2020 2019

Gesvalt 11.52% 13.07%
Tecnitasa 8.97% 5.42%
Tinsa 48.01% 47.00%
Sociedad de Tasacion 7.82% 12.46%
Arco Valoraciones 1491% 13.43%
KRATA 8.77% 8.62%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

The valuations are classified as Level 3 in the methodologies described in the consolidated financial statements.
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(25.3.3) Investments classified as “Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale”

The following table details the fair value hierarchy for investments in joint ventures and associates classified as “Non-current

assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale” at 31 December 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of euros)

2020 2019
ITEM Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 2 Level 3
Closing balance - 617 617 - 119,209

The valuation technigues and inputs used were as follows:

Total

119,209

Level 2: fair value is determined using as inputs quoted prices in active markets, less estimated costs of disposal by reference to

the discount generally required by the market for the block sale of significant shareholdings in quoted companies.

Level 3: fair value was estimated mainly using the present value method based on net asset value (NAV).

The reconciliation of opening balances to closing balances for Level 3 assets is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2,020

Opening balance 119,209

Transfers

Allowances, settlements and sales (118,592)

Closing balance 617
(26) Taxation

(26.1) Consolidated tax group

2,019

21,881
111,292
(13,964)
119,209

The entities that make up the consolidated tax group headed by Bankia, S.A., in addition to the parent itself, are as follows:

INMOGESTION Y PATRIMONIOS, S.A.

PARTICIPACIONES Y CARTERA DE INVERSION, S.L. (PACIN)
VALORACION Y CONTROL, S.L.

NAVIERA CATA,S.A.

VALENCIANA DE INVERSIONES MOBILIARIAS, S.L

CORPORACION INDUSTRIAL BANKIA, S.A.U.

BANKIA HABITAT S.L

ARRENDADORA DE EQUIPAMIENTOS FERROVIARIQS, S.A.

CENTRO DE SERVICIOS OPERATIVOS E INGENIERIA DE PROCESOS, S.L.U
BANKIA MEDIACION, OPERADOR DE BANCA SEGUROS VINCULADO, S.A.U.
BANKIA PENSIONES, S.A. E.G.F.P.

BANKIA FONDOS S.G.LI.C,, S.A.

GESTION Y REPRESENTACION GLOBAL, S.L.U.

GESTION GLOBAL DE PARTICIPACIONES, S.L.U.

GESTION Y RECAUDACION LOCAL, S.L.

BANKIA COMMERCE, S.L. UNIPERSONAL

BANKIA FINTECH VENTURE S.A.U.

PUERTAS DE LORCA DESARROLLOS EMPRESARIALES, S.L.U.
SEGURBANKIA, S.A.

All other subsidiaries and other entities included in the scope of consolidation of the Bankia Group at 31 December 2020 file

individual income tax returns.

(26.2) Years open to inspection by the taxation authorities and provisions recognised

At 31 December 2020, the Bank had open to inspection by the taxation authorities all applicable taxes for the last four years.
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On 13 October and 20 October 2014, tax inspections were commenced to verify the Bank's compliance with tax obligations and
duties for the following taxes and tax periods:

ITEM PERIOD
Income tax 2011to 2013
Value added tax 2011 to 2012
Withholdings/Payments on account for earned income/income from professional activities 2011 to 2012
Withholdings/Payments on account for capital gains tax 2011 to 2012
Withholdings/Payments on account for leases 2011 to 2012
Withholdings on account for non-resident income tax 2011 to 2012
Annual return of transactions 2011 to 2012
Special tax for real estate of non-residents 2011 to 2012
Value added tax 11/2013 to 12/2013

These tax inspections are still ongoing at present. No matter worthy of disclosure has arisen in this respect.
The scope of the value added tax inspections was expanded on 26 October 2017 (November and December 2013).
On 26 September 2018, the scope of the corporate income tax inspections was expanded to include 2013.

On 19 November 2019, assessments in respect of withholdings on account for non-resident income tax for 2011 and 2012 in an
amount of EUR 1,096 thousand were signed on an uncontested basis. The EUR 506 thousand fine arising from the disciplinary
proceedings for this tax was signed on an uncontested basis.

Assessments were signed on an uncontested basis on 28 February 2020 in respect of withholdings/payments on account for
earned income and income from professional activities, which resulted in an amount payable of EUR 9,737 thousand (including
late payment interest and penalty). As the successor of Caja Madrid’s banking business (assignment of responsibility), Bankia paid
an amount of EUR 3,377 thousand for this item (including late payment interest and penalty).

Inspections performed at the “Cajas de Ahorros”

In relation to the “Cajas de Ahorros” (savings banks) which transferred their financial business on 16 May 2011, firstly to BFA and
subsequently to Bankia, the following should be noted:

On 11 March 2014, inspections were commenced at Caja de Ahorros y Monte de Piedad de Madrid in order to ascertain
compliance with tax obligations and duties in respect of the following items and periods:

ITEM PERIOD
Income tax 2008 to 2010
Value added tax 2010
Withholdings/Payments on account for earned income/income from professional activities 2010
Withholdings/Payments on account for capital gains tax 2010
Withholdings/Payments on account for leases 2010
Withholdings on account for non-resident income tax 2010
Annual return of transactions 2010
Special tax for real estate of non-residents 2010

Assessments were signed on an uncontested basis on 26 January 2017 in respect of value added tax and
withholdings/payments on account for earned income and income from professional activities, and on 26 October 2017
assessments were signed on an uncontested basis in respect of withholdings/payments on account for capital gains tax in
the following amounts:

ITEM Thousands of euros

Value added tax 5,295
Withholdings/Payments on account for earned income/income from professional activities 1,424
Withholdings/Payments on account for capital gains tax 1,186
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These debts were settled on 24 February 2017, except for the amounts owed in respect of withholdings/payments on account
for capital gains tax, which were paid on 29 November 2017.

On 11 April 2018, the assessment of income tax for 2008, 2009 and 2010 was signed on an uncontested basis. This did not
result in an additional amount payable. In light of the outcome of the tax inspections, disciplinary proceedings were instituted
in respect of the revised amounts. Following the issuance of the corresponding penalty agreement of EUR 6.2 million, the
debt was paid on 23 May 2018.

In addition, on the same date, 11 April 2018, the assessment of income tax for 2008, 2009 and 2010 was signed on a
contested basis in view of differing opinions on the criteria used in the inspection in the entry for business combinations,
certain items of earned income, and the deduction for R&D applied by the Entity.

On 3 June 2014, the taxation authorities began an inspection of Caja Insular de Ahorros de Canarias with the aim of verifying
compliance with its tax obligations and duties in respect of the following taxes and tax periods:

ITEM PERIOD
Income tax 2009 to 2010
Value added tax 05/2010 to 12/2010
Withholdings/Payments on account for earned income/income from professional activities 05/2010 to 12/2010
Withholdings/Payments on account for leases 05/2010 to 12/2010
Withholdings on account for non-resident income tax 05/2010 to 12/2010
Withholdings/Payments on account for capital gains tax 05/2010 to 12/2010

In 2019, assessments were signed on an uncontested basis for the following taxes for the periods 05/2012 to 12/2010:
- VAT: the result of the inspection was verified and agreed, without giving rise to any amount payable.

- Withholdings/Payments on account for earned income/income from professional activities: as a result of the
inspection, the taxation authorities raised additional taxes of EUR 11.5 thousand.

- Withholdings/Payments on account for leases: the result of the inspection was verified and agreed, without giving
rise to any amount payable.

- Withholdings on account for non-resident income tax: as a result of the inspection, the taxation authorities raised
additional taxes of EUR 5.5 thousand.

- Withholdings/Payments on account for capital gains tax: as a result of the inspection, the taxation authorities raised
additional taxes of EUR 63 thousand.

Tax inspections at BMN

On 21 October 2014, the taxation authorities of the regional government of Andalusia notified the Bank of the start of
verification and inspection proceedings aimed at determining due compliance with its tax obligations and duties in respect
of the tax on customer deposits at credit institutions in Andalusia in 2011 and 2012.

The investigation encompassing 2011 ended on 11 November 2015 and no discrepancies were detected with respect to the
amounts declared. With respect to 2012, on 5 October 2016 the Andalusian taxation authorities raised an assessment of
EUR 14,998 thousand, which was signed by the Bank on a contested basis. On that same date it was notified of the start of
disciplinary proceedings, which included a proposed fine of EUR 6,546 thousand. The Andalusian taxation authorities having
confirmed the content of the assessment, including the proposed settlement, and the settlement proposed in the disciplinary
proceedings, on 16 January 2017 the Group lodged the corresponding appeals. The Bank filed its pleadings in writing along
with all the corresponding documentation on 23 June 2017.

In February 2020 the taxation authaorities of the regional government of Andalusia notified the rejection of the pleadings
filed. In the same year the corresponding claim was lodged at the Madrid High Court for this matter.

- In 2015, the Supreme Court ruled on the tax inspection instituted with respect to Caixa Penedeés (currently Fundacion Pinnae);
such ruling resulted in a balance payable of EUR 741 thousand, mainly in respect of corporate income tax from 2001 to
2004.

In 2019, Bankia paid the corresponding amount as the ruling was enforced.
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Inspection proceedings in investees

On 16 November 2015, the taxation authorities began an inspection of Bankia Habitat S.L.U. with the aim of verifying
compliance with its tax obligations and duties in respect of the following taxes and tax periods:

Income tax 2011to 2012
Value added tax 2011 to 2012
Withholdings/Payments on account for leases 09/2011 to 12/2012
Special tax for real estate of non-residents 09/2011 to 12/2012
Withholdings/Payments on account for earned income/income from professional activities 09/2011 to 12/2012

Verification and inspection activities are still ongoing to date.

On 3 April 2018, the assessment for value added tax for 2012, which raised tax payable of EUR 2,436 thousand, EUR 470
thousand of late payment interest and a penalty of EUR 119 thousand, was signed on an uncontested basis, and payment
was made on 18 May 2018.

- 0n 21 June 2018, inspections were commenced at Bankia Inversiones Financieras in order to ascertain compliance with tax
obligations and duties in respect of the following items and periods:

Income tax 2011 to 2012

Verification and inspection activities are still ongoing to date.

On 25 July 2018, inspections were commenced at Sociedad Promocién y Participacién Empresarial in order to ascertain
compliance with tax obligations and duties in respect of the following items and periods:

Income tax 2011 to 2012

Verification and inspection activities are still ongoing to date.

- 0n 10 September 2018, inspections were commenced at Corporacioén Industrial Bankia SAU in order to ascertain compliance
with tax obligations and duties in respect of the following items and periods:

Income tax 2011 to 2012

Verification and inspection activities are still ongoing to date.
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(26.3) Reconciliation of accounting profit and taxable income

Details of the income tax expense in the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2020 and 2019 reconciled to profit
before tax for those years, including a breakdown of the main income tax expense (income) components, are as follows.

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Profit or loss before tax 311,493 755,690
Adjustment to profit (178,010) (157,584)
Return on equity instruments (1,854) (17,434)
Share of profit or loss of entities accounted for using the equity method (59,749) (60,024)
Other permanent differences and other adjustments (116,407) (80,126)
Adjusted profit before tax 133,483 598,106
Tax expense (Taxable income * 30%) (40,045) (179,432)
Deductions 38,705 51,236
Income tax expense (1,340) (128,196)
Income tax adjustments (96,219) (98,277)
Income tax (expense)/income related to profit or loss from continuing operations (81,471) (213,401)
Income tax for the year (income/(expense)) (97,559) (226,473)
Effective rate 31.32% 29.97%
Income tax for prior years (income/(expense)) 653 5,164
Other changes 15,435 7,908

(26.4) Tax recognised directly in consolidated equity

In addition to the income tax recognised in the consolidated income statements for 2020 and 2019, the Group recognises in equity
the taxes relating basically to “Accumulated other comprehensive income” (which includes financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, cash flow hedges, hedges of net investments in foreign operations, and exchange differences) and
to “Own funds — Other reserves” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

The amount of income tax related to each component of "Accumulated other comprehensive income" in 2020 and 2019 is as
follows:

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 10,684 (672)
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans 3,855 (1,764)
Financial assets — Equity instruments 6,829 1,092
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (3,547) (5,371)
Foreign currency translation 148 (77)
Cash flow hedges (2,118) 2,446
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (1,577) (8,411)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - 671
Total 7,137 (6,043)

In addition, income tax recognised by the Group directly in "Own funds — Other reserves" on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet is detailed in the movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities (see Note 26.5).

(26.5) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Royal Decree-Law 14/2013, of 29 December

On 30 November 2013, Royal Decree-Law 14/2013, of 29 December, on urgent measures to adapt Spanish law to European
legislation on the supervision and solvency of financial institutions was published in the Official State Gazette (“BOE”). With effect
from 1 January 2014, this Royal Decree-Law included additional provision twenty-two, “Conversion of deferred tax assets into a
receivable from the taxation authorities”, in the Revised Corporate Income Tax Law (“TRLIS” as per the Spanish acronym) approved
by Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004, of 5 March.
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In light of this provision, deferred tax assets related to credit loss allowances or other assets deriving from potential insolvency of
debtors not related to the taxpavyer, provided that article 12.2.a) of the TRLIS is not applicable, as well as those arising from the
application of articles 13.1.b) and 14.1.f) of the same law in respect of provisions for or contributions to employee benefit schemes
and, where applicable, early retirement schemes, are converted into a receivable from the taxation authorities when any of the
following circumstances arise:

a) The taxpayer recognises accounting losses in its financial statements (audited and approved by the corresponding body). In
such cases, the amount of deferred tax assets to be converted is determined by multiplying the total amount thereof by the
accounting losses for the period as a percentage of total capital and reserves.

b) The entity is in liquidation or has been legally declared insolvent.

For conversion of deferred tax assets into a receivable from the taxation authorities in this case, the taxpayer may request a credit
from the taxation authorities or offset the receivable against other tax liabilities to the state which the taxpayer itself generates
at the time of conversion.

In addition, these deferred tax assets may be exchanged for government debt securities once the legal offset period for tax losses
provided for in the law (currently 18 years), computed as of the recognition of the tax assets, has elapsed.

A new section 13 was added to article 19, “Timing of recognition”, of the TRLIS for the purpose of determining the tax base for
income tax purposes, with retrospective effect for tax periods commenced on or after 1 January 2011.

Pursuant to the aforementioned section 13 of article 19 of the TRLIS, credit loss allowances or other assets deriving from potential
insolvency of debtors not related to the taxpayer, provided article 12.2.a) of the TRLIS does not apply, as well as those deriving
from the application of articles 13.1.b) and 14.1.f) of the same law in respect of provisions for or contributions to employee benefit
schemes and, as the case may be, early retirement schemes, which have generated deferred tax assets, are included in the tax
base up to the limit of the taxable income before their inclusion and the offset of tax loss carryforwards.

As a result of the new criterion for the timing of recognition, Bankia recalculated the corporate income tax bases for 2011 and
2012, which differ from the bases originally filed within the voluntary period, thus generating new tax bases that were duly notified
to the taxation authorities.

Law 27/2014, of 27 November

Law 27/2014, of 27 November, on Corporate Income Tax (the "LIS" as per the Spanish acronym) was enacted on 27 November
2014 and came into force on 1 January 2015, repealing the Revised Income Tax Law (TRLIS) approved by Royal Legislative Decree
4/2004, of 5 March. Article 11.12 of the new LIS includes the text of the repealed Article 19.13 of the TRLIS, with effect from 1
January 2015, although the new LIS introduced, inter alia, certain restrictions and the application of Article 11.12.

Meanwhile, Article 130 of the LIS incorporated the text of additional provision twenty-two of the TRLIS into the new law, stating
that the aforementioned deferred tax assets may be exchanged for government debt securities once a period of 18 years as of the
last date of the tax period in which the assets were recognised has elapsed. For assets recognised before the enactment of the
Law, the calculation period begins from the date of entry into force.

The new LIS included a change in the corporate income tax rate, setting this rate at 28% for 2015 and 25% from 2016. However,
according to section 5 of Article 58 of the LIS, consolidated tax groups that include at least one credit institution will be subject to
a tax rate of 30%. As Bankia is the parent of its tax group, the tax group continued to pay a CIT rate of 30% in 2015 and thereafter.

Meanwhile Article 26 of the LIS does not stipulate a time limit for the offset of tax loss carryforwards that were available in the
period that began when the Law came into effect on 1 January 2015. In addition, transitional provision twenty-three of the LIS
does not stipulate any time limit for availing of the deductions to avoid double taxation provided for in Articles 30, 31 and 32 of
the TRLIS that had not been used as of the period beginning on or after the date the new law came into effect.

Law 48/2015, of 29 October, on the General State Budgets for 2016

Law 48/2015, of 29 October, on the General State Budgets for 2016 was enacted on 30 October 2015. Effective for tax periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, this law amended the tax regime to establish the aforementioned conversion, set new
conditions for availing of the regime and introduced certain reporting obligations with respect to the deferred tax assets affected
by the regulation. It also provided for a transitional regime applicable to deferred tax assets generated before 1 January 2016,
whereby the right to conversion could be retained provided certain conditions were met, although to do so a financial contribution
had to be paid, which was regulated by the new Additional Provision Thirteen of the LIS.

The amount of the financial contribution at the 2020 year end was EUR 95,137 thousand (EUR 96,082 thousand in 2019), which
was recognised under “Tax expense or (-) income related to profit or loss from continuing operations” in the accompanying
consolidated income statement.

Royal Decree-Law 3/2016, of 2 December

Lastly, Royal Decree-Law 3/2016 of 2 December, adopting tax measures to consolidate public finances and other urgent social
measures, must be considered. This legislation provides that impairment losses on investments that were tax deductible for tax
periods up to 2013 but not thereafter must be reversed at a minimum annual amount on a straight-line basis over a five-year
period.
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Regarding tax periods commenced on or after 1 January 2016, this legislation places a limit of 25% on the offset of taxable income
against prior years’ tax loss carryforwards for companies with revenue of at least EUR 60 million. The same restrictions apply to
the reversal of deferred tax assets provided for in article 11.12 of the LIS. In addition, this Royal Decree-Law places a new limit on
the application of deductions for double taxation, specifically 50% of the full income tax charge, and any unused portion may be
applied in future tax periods under the same terms and conditions and with no time limit.

Furthermore, for tax periods commenced on or after 1 January 2017, article 3. Two of Royal Decree-Law 3/2016 stipulates that
losses incurred on transfers of equity investments are not deductible when the investments in question qualify for the exemption
for profit obtained either in the form of dividends or as capital gains arising on the transfer of the investments.

Royal Decree-Law 27/2018, of 28 December

On 28 December, Royal Decree-Law 27/2018 (the “RDL”) was approved, adapting the LIS to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, as
regards first-time application of IFRS 9, with effect from 1 January 2018.

The RDL includes, among others, the following measures:
Impacts of first-time application (Transitional provision thirty-nine)

- The preamble to the RDL states that to reduce the tax effects of this accounting requirement, transitional rules have been put
into place, whereby the aforementioned debits and credits to reserve accounts are to be included in the tax base, as soon as
they have tax effects pursuant to the tax regulations, in equal parts in each of the first three tax periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.

- Thus, debits and credits to reserve accounts arising from adjustments for the first-time application of IFRS 9, when due to the
application of the tax regulations, shall have tax effects, i.e. they must be taken into consideration when determining the tax
base for the 2018 tax period. The legislation concerns debits and credits having tax effects and which are therefore
deductible/taxable, and due to their integration in three equal parts the provisions of article 130 on monetisation of deferred
tax assets do not apply, thus the deferral in three equal parts does not give rise to monetisable deferred tax assets.

- Such inclusion in equal parts shall continue to apply even if the element in question is derecognised. Only if the taxpayer is
dissolved during the aforementioned three-year period shall the remaining amount be included in the tax base of the last tax
period, unless it is dissolved as a result of a restructuring operation eligible for the tax neutrality regime.

- In accordance with this legislation, the Entity included an amount of EUR 9,988 thousand.

Accounting for equity instruments under IFRS 9 (Article 17.1 of the TRLIS)

- With the new Circular, investments in equity instruments must be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the
entity elects irrevocably at inception to present these fair value changes in other comprehensive income. If this option is
elected, a major change in IFRS 9 is that the gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are not reclassified
to profit or loss (as was the case previously with available-for-sale financial assets), but rather to reserves.

- Accordingly, to guarantee their inclusion in the tax base upon disposal, the RDL amends article 17.1 of the LIS, such that

changes in value arising from the application of the fair value criterion are not only included when they are to be taken to profit
or loss, but also when they should be recognised in a reserve account, if so provided for by a legal or regulatory standard.

Adaptation of the Corporate Income Tax Regulation to Circular 4/2017

- Regarding Circular 4/2017 and the terminology and credit risk loss model adopted therein, the deductibility criteria are set out
in the Corporate Income Tax Regulation and thus far there have been no amendments thereto.

- However, the introduction to the RDL states the following: “Lastly, until approval is given for adaptation of the regulatory
provisions for credit risk allowances and provisions of financial institutions, the provisions currently in force are considered to
be applicable, albeit under the terms used in the new Circular.”

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Pursuant to the tax legislation in force in the different countries in which the consolidated companies are located, certain
temporary differences have arisen that must be considered when quantifying the related income tax expense.
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The sources of deferred taxes recognised on the balance sheets at 31 December 2020 and 2019, bearing in mind the impact of
article 19.3 of the TRLIS, now article 11.12 of the LIS, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Monetisable: 7,430,272 7,466,027
Credit loss allowances 5,323,201 5,357,622
Impairment losses on foreclosed assets 1,221,078 1,221,078
Provisions for pension funds 280,811 280,811
Other originating at Group companies 605,182 606,516
Non-monetisable: 2,990,354 2,954,869
Credit loss allowances 322,627 210,027
Impairment losses on foreclosed assets 78 3,778
Due to impairment losses posted on equity instruments 42,225 48,355
Provisions for pension funds 7,875 7,875
Other charges 140,123 177,815
Unused tax credits 129,864 139,606
Losses on financial assets 14,685 13,505
Recognised unused tax losses 2,332,877 2,353,908
Total deferred tax assets 10,420,626 10,420,896

(in thousands of euros)

Deferred tax liabilities arising at the Bank 404,030 452,530
Unrealised gains on financial assets 264,391 307,949
Unrealised gains on properties 131,308 136,194
Other items 8,331 8,387
Deferred tax liabilities arising at other Group companies 13,596 15,083
Total deferred tax liabilities 417,626 467,613

Movement in 2020 and 2019 was as follows:
2020

(in thousands of euros)

Deferred tax assets 10,420,896 41,902 1,372 (43,544) 10,420,626
Deferred tax liabilities (467,613) 46,372 2,475 1,140 (417,626)
Total 9,953,283 88,274 3,847 (42,404) 10,003,000

(*) Not including taxes related to non-current assets held for sale.
(**) Including expenses for taxes related to non-current assets held for sale.
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2019

(in thousands of euros)

Deferred tax assets 10,603,406 (190,389) 9,395 (1,516) 10,420,896
Deferred tax liabilities (555,799) 79,232 7,654 1,300 (467,613)
Total 10,047,607 (111,157) 17,049 (216) 9,953,283

(*) Not including taxes related to non-current assets held for sale.
(**) Including expenses for taxes related to non-current assets held for sale.

Details of the Bank's tax loss carryforwards at 31 December 2020, indicating the year in which they arose, are shown below. These
details do not include the effects of the potential tax losses applied in the income tax settlement for 2020, which will be filed in
July 2021:

(in thousands of euros)

2010 597,244 167,797
2011 () 1,238,294 364,188
2012 (%) 8,702,554 1,771,092
2016 33,896 10,106
2017 94,550 28,365
TOTAL 10,666,538 2,341,548

(*) As indicated above, the tax losses for 2011 and 2012 were calculated estimating the impact of article 19.13 of the TRLIS approved by Royal Decree-Law 14/2013, of 29 December, on
urgent measures to adapt Spanish law to European legislation on the supervision and solvency of financial institutions.
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Details of unused deductions available for offset by the Bank at 31 December 2020, indicating the year in which they arose, are
shown below. These details do not show the effects of the potential deductions used in the income tax settlement for 2020, which

will be filed in July 2021:

(in thousands of euros)

Year in which the deductions arose

2005 - Other deductions

2004 - Deduction for reinvestment

2005 - Deduction for reinvestment

2006 - Deduction for reinvestment

2007 - Deduction for reinvestment

2007 - Deduction for R&D&i

2008 - Deduction for reinvestment

2008 - Deduction for R&D&i

2009 - Deduction for reinvestment

2009 - Deduction for R&DR&i

2009 - Other deductions

2009 - Deductions for donations (Law 49/2002)
2010 - Deduction for reinvestment

2010 - Deduction for R&D&i

2010 - Other deductions

2010 - Deductions for donations (Law 49/2002)
2011 - Deduction for reinvestment

2011 - Deduction for reinvestment (Bankia Inversiones)
2011 - Deduction for R&D&i

2011 - Other deductions

2011 - Deduction for internal double taxation (Bankia Inversiones)
2012 - Deduction for internal double taxation
2012 - Deduction for internal double taxation (Bankia Inversiones)
2012 - Deduction for international double taxation
2012 - Deduction for reinvestment

2012 - Deduction for R&DR&i

2012 - Other deductions

2013 - Deduction for internal double taxation
2013 - Deduction for internal double taxation (Bankia Inversiones)
2013 - Deduction for international double taxation
2013 - Deduction for reinvestment

2013 - Deduction for R&D&i

2013 - Other deductions

2014 - Deduction for internal double taxation
2014 - Deduction for internal double taxation (Bankia Inversiones)
2014 - Deduction for international double taxation
2014 - Deduction for reinvestment

2014 - Deduction for R&D&i

2014 - Other deductions

2015 - Deduction for international double taxation
2015 - Deduction for reinvestment

2015 - Deduction for R&DR&i

2015 - Other deductions

2016 - Deduction for international double taxation
2016 - Deduction for R&D&i

2016 - Other deductions

2017 - Deduction for international double taxation
2017 - Deduction for R&D&i

2017 - Other deductions

2018 - Deduction for international double taxation
2018 - Deduction for R&D&i

2018 - Other deductions

2019 - Deduction for international double taxation
2019 - Deduction for R&D&i

2019 - Other deductions

Total

(26.6) Other tax information

Amount of the deduction or tax relief

available for offset

102
9

4

20
43

3
23,201
1,326
7,472
3,657
387
419
17,653
2,967
338
549
3,949
854
2,608
151
7,252
9,598
8,936
33
1,347
1,537
1
21,323
13,431
11
175
7,939
215
25,101
9,141
1,734
606
5,459
434
1,686
841
6,158
801
1,457
6,607
1,651
1,208
7,011
1,729
1,144
4322
1,218
1,079
6,011
1,185

224,093

Amount of the deferred tax asset

recognised

9

4

20

43

3

9
1,079
7,472
1,097

17,653
1,372
90
3,949

2,608
11

9,598

33
1,347
1,537

1
21,323
11
175
7,939
3

24,370

1,734
606
5,459
283
1,654
841
6,158
86
6,607
1,418
18
7,011
1,729

2,985
1,218

139,563

In accordance with current legislation, Bankia's individual financial statements for years prior to 2020 provide additional tax
information related to transactions carried out in previous years pursuant to Chapter VIl of Title VIl of the Revised Corporate Income
Tax Law (TRLIS) approved by Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004, of 5 March.
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(26.7) Information regarding the assessment of the recoverability of tax assets

To assess the recoverability of the net deferred tax assets recognised by the Group at 31 December 2020, amounting to EUR
10,003 thousand (EUR 9,953 thousand at 31 December 2019), the directors analysed, based on the nature of the assets, the ability
to generate sufficient taxable profit against which the deferred tax assets can be utilised. This analysis was based on the
assumptions, conditions and estimates in the Group’s approved budget for 2021 and considering the situation arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic (see Note 1.16). A projection was made on these forecasts for the period from 2022 to 2032 based on interest
rate curve projections for this period and on the trends in the basic variables of the budget, and from there a uniform projection
was made, maintaining the basic variables constant (growth, earnings, inflation, etc.), with a full recovery of the net tax assets
possible within a period of no more than 20 years. As with any estimates based on assumptions, these estimates may need to be
updated in light of future events, which could lead to a prospective change in the net tax assets recognised by the Group, pursuant
to the accounting principle explained in Note 1.4.

In addition, regarding the assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets, it should be noted that, in accordance with Royal
Decree-Law 14/2013, of 29 December, on urgent measures to adapt Spanish law to European legislation on the supervision and
solvency of financial institutions, and articles 11.12 and 130 of Law 27/2014, of 27 November, on Corporate Income Tax (the LIS),
at 31 December 2020, the Group had deferred tax assets amounting to EUR 7,430 million (EUR 7,466 million at 31 December
2019) that meet the requirements under this regulation. Accordingly, their future recovery is guaranteed through the monetisation
mechanisms established in aforementioned RDL 14/2013 and article 130 of the LIS, bearing in mind the amendments made for
tax periods commenced on or after 1 January 2016 by Law 48/2015, of 29 October, on the General State Budgets for 2016,
although to this end it must pay a financial contribution as regulated by the new Additional Provision Thirteen of the LIS.

(27) Other significant disclosures
(27.1) Asset transfers
(27.1.1) Loan securitisation

The Group entities have performed various asset transfer transactions whereby they transferred the rights over certain loans and
credits in their portfolio to different securitisation special purpose vehicles or third parties. These assets were derecognised when
substantially all the associated risks and rewards were transferred. Where the associated risks have not been substantially
transferred, the securitised assets have been recognised on the consolidated balance sheet (see Notes 2.2.2 and 2.7).

The consolidation of securitisation special purpose vehicles entails the elimination of the related transactions between Group
entities, including most notably: loans to special purpose vehicles, liabilities associated with assets not derecognised, credit
enhancements granted to special purpose vehicles and bonds acquired by Group entities.

"Loans and advances - Customers" include loans transferred to third parties through securitisation for which risk is retained, even
if only partially, and which in accordance with applicable accounting standards therefore cannot be derecognised from the balance
sheet. Details of securitised loans by nature of the underlying financial instrument and securitised loans that qualify for
derecognition from the balance sheet (see Note 2.2.2) are shown in the table below.

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Derecognised from the balance sheet 1,379,330 1,471,706
Of which mortgage assets securitised through: 1,360,381 1,459,950
Collateralised mortgage bonds
Mortgage transfer certificates 1,360,381 1,459,950
Other securitised assets 18,949 11,756

Foreclosed assets deriving from securitised mortgage assets

Held on the balance sheet 8,491,855 9,567,031
Of which mortgage assets securitised through: 8,137,843 9,213,001
Collateralised mortgage bonds 262,213 330,046
Mortgage transfer certificates 7,875,630 8,882,955
Other securitised assets 10,359 11,530
Foreclosed assets deriving from securitised mortgage assets 343,653 342,500

In 2019, the Group transferred the economic rights of a portfolio of loans and credits through mortgage transfer certificates to a
vehicle wholly owned by a third party, resulting in their derecognition; and the vehicle then transferred them to a Spanish asset
securitisation fund (Verde Iberia Loans, Fondo de Titulizacion). They amounted to EUR 1,209,643 thousand at 31 December 2019.

In addition, in 2019, the Group transferred the economic rights of a portfolio of loans and credits, mostly non-performing mortgage
loans, through mortgage transfer certificates to a vehicle wholly owned by a third party, resulting in their derecognition; and the
vehicle then transferred them to a Spanish asset securitisation fund (SLF, Fondo de Titulizacién). They amounted to EUR 262,063
thousand at 31 December 2019.
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Regarding the transferred loans and credits, for a total amount of EUR 1,471,706 thousand at 31 December 2019, contributed by
the buyers to those securitisation funds, the Group does not manage the transferred loans and credits or retain expected credit
losses or potential variability in net cash flows, nor has it granted subordinated financing or credit facilities in favour of the
securitisation funds.

Appendix V shows the amounts of loan securitisation transactions on the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

(27.1.2) Repurchase and resale agreements

At 31 December 2020, the Group had sold financial assets under repurchase agreements amounting to EUR 9,117,290 thousand
(EUR 19,900,276 thousand at 31 December 2019), and had purchased financial assets under resale agreements amounting to
EUR 2,934,850 thousand (EUR 3,524,537 thousand at 31 December 2019), as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019
ITEM Repurchase agreement Resale agreement Repurchase agreement Resale agreement
Government debt securities 1,243,041 261,967 10,102,078 467,992
Other debt securities 7,874,249 2,672,883 9,798,198 3,056,545
Total 9,117,290 2,934,850 19,900,276 3,524,537

The sale of financial assets under a repurchase agreement inherently includes the delivery or pledge of these assets in guarantee
of the transaction. At 31 December 2020, the average term of these repurchase agreements and, accordingly, of the assets
provided as collateral was 10 months (13 months at 31 December 2019).

(27.1.3) Assets assigned to other own and third-party obligations

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had assigned significant assets to guarantee its own obligations amounting to EUR
73,713 million and EUR 76,979 million, respectively. These amounts mainly reflected loans linked to the issue of long-term
covered bonds (see Note 12 and Appendix VIII) which, pursuant to the Mortgage Market Law, are considered eligible to guarantee
the issue of covered bonds.

(27.2) Off-balance sheet exposures

Off-balance sheet exposures comprise loan commitments, financial guarantees and other commitments given, whether revocable
or irrevocable.

Loan commitments given are irrevocable commitments, or revocable only in the event of a material adverse change, to provide
financing under certain previously stipulated terms and conditions, such as balances drawable by third parties within the limits
defined previously by the Group.

Financial guarantees given are contracts that require the Group, when it acts as issuer in the ordinary course of its business, to
make specified payments to reimburse a creditor for a loss it incurs, because a specified debtor fails to make payment where due
in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument, irrespective of its legal form, which may include, among
others, a guarantee, a financial surety, an insurance contract or a credit derivative.

Contingent commitments given are those off-balance sheet exposures included in Annex 1 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the
European Parliament and of the Council, of 26 June 2013, that do not meet the definition of loan commitment or financial
guarantee. They include, among others, non-financial guarantees.

Details of these guarantees given and drawable by third parties at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
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(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Loan commitments given 28,656,212 23,256,169
Immediately drawable 20,244,516 16,661,672
Conditionally drawable 8,411,696 6,594,497
Financial guarantees given 341,602 376,728
Contingent commitments given 14,229,697 13,071,778
Other bank guarantees and indemnities and other contingent exposures 8,215,211 7,658,488
Irrevocable documentary credits issued 488,912 462,430
Irrevocable documentary credits confirmed 151,070 204,772
Other contingent exposures 416 416
Other commitments given & 5,374,088 4,745,672
Total 43,227,511 36,704,675

(1) Includes, mainly, commitments to purchase financial assets and documents presented for collection in the various clearing systems.

Note 3.1 shows the maximum credit risk assumed by the Group in relation to these instruments at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
and contains other information relating to the credit risk assumed by the Group in this connection.

A significant portion of these guarantees will expire without any payment obligation materialising for the consolidated companies.
Therefore, the aggregate balance of these commitments cannot be considered as an actual future need for financing or liquidity
to be provided by the Group to third parties.

The income generated on guarantee instruments is recognised in the consolidated income statement under “Fee and commission
income” and "Interest income" (in amounts corresponding to the present value of the fees), calculated by applying the interest
rate on the underlying contract to the face value of the guarantee.

The provisions established to cover these guarantees, which are calculated by applying similar criteria to those used to calculate
the impairment of financial assets at amortised cost, are recognised on the consolidated balance sheet as “Provisions -
Commitments and guarantees given” (see Note 20).

The maximum exposure to credit risk, i.e. the amount payable if the guarantees and commitments given are enforced, is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Loan commitments given 28,656,212 23,256,169
Of which, classified as performing exposures under special monitoring 1,469,884 396,192
Of which, classified as non-performing 341,601 361,942
Recognised as liabilities on the balance sheet 82,117 91,017
Total loan commitments given 28,656,212 23,256,169
Financial guarantees given 341,602 376,728
Of which, classified as performing exposures under special monitoring 34,877 13,774
Of which, classified as non-performing 41,851 63,903
Recognised as liabilities on the balance sheet ¥ 19,394 10,224
Total financial guarantees given 341,602 376,728
Other commitments given 14,229,697 13,071,778
Of which, classified as performing exposures under special monitoring 911,894 726,650
Of which, classified as non-performing 450,264 535,639
Recognised as liabilities on the balance sheet ¥ 173,388 200,476
Total other commitments given 14,229,697 13,071,778
Total guarantees given and drawable by the third parties 43,227,511 36,704,675

(1) Amount related to "Provision - Commitments and guarantees given" (see Note 20).
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(27.3) Third-party funds managed and marketed by the Group

The breakdown of off-balance sheet funds managed and marketed by the Group at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Investment companies and funds 21,109,177 19,809,312
Pension funds 8,035,603 7,825,939
Customer portfolios managed on a discretionary basis 4,173,431 3,495,036
Total 33,318,211 31,130,287

In addition, the Group markets off-balance sheet customer funds managed by third parties outside the Group. These amounted to
EUR 12,246,681 thousand at 31 December 2020 (EUR 11,377,769 thousand at 31 December 2019).

On 29 May 2020 Bankia reached an agreement with Cecabank, S.A. for the transfer of its CIU and pension funds custodian business.
Once the conditions precedent of the agreement had been reached, which involved obtaining the relevant administrative
authorisations, the business was derecognised at 31 December 2020.

The fixed amount of the consideration received was EUR 170 million, without considering subsequent additional collections
subject to the achievement of certain volume targets. The net gain recorded in Profit or (-) loss from non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations after closing the transaction amounted to
EUR 155 million (see note 45), +after the transaction amounted to EUR 155 million, with a liability recognised for the remaining
amount which will be recorded against profit or loss to the extent that the Group meets the performance commitments set out
in the contract for a period of ten years from the signature date.

In addition, the contract includes certain safeguards agreed between the parties which are usual in this type of contract. These
safeguards are for contingent situations and include, inter alia, the option for a third party successor, in the event of a change of
control in Bankia’s shareholding, to unilaterally terminate the contract in advance within a period of three months from the
effective date of Bankia’'s change of control. The third party successor may potentially exercise this option and it is therefore an
event beyond the control of Bankia’s Management.

In the event of the unilateral rescission of the contract, which would give rise to the third party successor’s acquisition of the
transferred custodian business, the amount currently payable by a third party successor would be equivalent to the consideration
received to date and therefore similar to the fair value attributed to the aforementioned business.

(27.4) Leases
(27.4.1) Finance leases

In the normal course of its business the Group acts as lessor in transactions which, pursuant to the provisions of the applicable
regulations, are classified as finance leases. Agreements drawn up in this regard are performed in accordance with general market
practices for such transactions.

Finance leases granted by the Group amounted to EUR 965,077 thousand at 31 December 2020 (EUR 1,108,999 thousand at 31
December 2019), and are recognised under "Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances - Customers" on the
consolidated balance sheet at that date. Impairment losses recognised on these transactions amounted to EUR 40,739 thousand
at 31 December 2020 (EUR 41,161 thousand at 31 December 2019).

The gross investment in the lease is the sum of the minimum payments receivable from the finance lease plus any unguaranteed
residual value accruing to the lessor. Assets leased under finance leases are recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable by the lessee, plus the guaranteed and unguaranteed residual value, excluding interest expenses and value-added tax.

The breakdown of these items is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Present value of minimum lease payments receivable (1) 920,020 1,061,604
Unguaranteed residual values 45,057 47,395
Total gross investment in finance leases 965,077 1,108,999

W ncludes the value of the purchase option whose collection is gquaranteed for the Group.

Unaccrued finance income from the Bank’s finance leases amounted to EUR 46,146 thousand at 31 December 2020 (EUR 60,415
thousand at 31 December 2019).
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Meanwhile, the breakdown by maturity of the gross investment and the present value of the minimum payments receivable is
presented below:

At 31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Up to 1 year 356,757 346,142
1to 5 years 502,028 477,734
More than 5 years 106,292 96,144
Total 965,077 920,020

At 31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Up to 1 year 357,219 351,528
1to 5 years 606,107 575,349
More than 5 years 145,673 134,727
Total 1,108,999 1,061,604

(27.4.2) Operating leases

In relation to lease transactions which, pursuant to the provisions of prevailing regulations, must be considered as operating leases
and in which the Group acts as the lessee, the amount of leases and subleases recognised as an expense in the consolidated
income statement totalled EUR 8,500 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2020 (EUR 7,947 thousand at 31 December
2019).

(27.5) Exchanges of assets

In the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group did not carry out any significant exchanges of assets. In this regard,
the acquisition by any means of tangible assets in payment of debts arranged by the Group's debtors is not considered an exchange
of assets. Information concerning this type of transaction is shown in Note 2.8 above.

(28) Contribution to consolidated profit or loss by company

The contribution by consolidated company of the Bankia Group to consolidated profit or loss for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Bankia Fondos, S.G.IL.C., S.A. 38,226 - 33,119 -
Bankia Mediacion, Operador de Banca Sequros Vinculado, S.A.U. 3,951 - 5117 -
Bankia Pensiones, S.A., Entidad Gestora de Fondos de Pensiones 19,805 - 19,048 -
Bankia, S.A. 124,679 - 400,200 -
Corporacion Industrial Bankia, S.A.U. (557) - (1,713) -
Bankia Mapfre Vida, S.A., de Sequros v Reasequros - 65,299 - 49,810
Caija de Sequros Reunidos, Compafiia de Sequros v Reasequros, S.A., "CASER" - 4,500 - 10,157
Other companies (16,050) (10,050) 25,641 57
TOTAL 170,054 59,749 481,412 60,024
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(29) Interest income

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

By counterparty

Debt securities 260,076 316,974
General government 245,846 298,303
Credit institutions 695 1,181
Other financial corporations 1,664 2,323
Non-financial corporations 11,871 15,167

Loans and advances © 1,829,161 2,009,424
General government 44812 52,415
Credit institutions 4951 6,916
Other financial corporations 12,331 11,649
Non-financial corporations 669,856 687,303
Households 1,097,211 1,251,141

Other assets © 256,449 166,294

Derivatives — Hedge accounting, interest rate risk (56,718) (33,403)

Total 2,288,968 2,459,289

(1) Of which, interest income from non-performing assets at 31 December 2020 was EUR 90,588 thousand (EUR 195,093 thousand at 31 December 2019).

(2) At 31 December 2020, this includes EUR 159,682 thousand of interest accrued on deposits taken under the framework of the TLTRO programme (EUR 56,141 thousand at 31 December
2019) (see Note 19).

(30) Interest expenses

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

By counterparty
Deposits (286,729) (343,205)
Central banks (1,385) (3,979)
General government (156) (1,999)
Credit institutions (33,665) (40,923)
Other financial corporations (216,677) (272,101)
Non-financial corporations (24,800) (5,053)
Households (10,046) (19,150)
Debt securities issued (448,789) (474,733)
Other financial liabilities (6,566) (21)
Derivatives — Hedge accounting, interest rate risk 400,018 450,385
Other liabilities @ (42,784) (68,688)
Total (384,850) (436,262)
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(1) Of which, in 2020, finance costs of EUR 6,559 thousand accrued on financial liabilities associated with property, plant and equipment acquired under operating leases (EUR 12,810
thousand in 2019).

(31) Dividend income

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Financial assets held for trading 17 185
Non-current assets held for sale — equity instruments 1,837 17,249
Total 1,854 17,434

(32) Share of profit or loss of entities accounted for using the equity method

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Associates 61,524 63,875
Joint ventures (6,275) (3,851)
Associates ANCV 4,500 -
Total 59,749 60,024

This caption includes the share of attributable profit or loss after tax of each associate and joint venture of the Bankia Group (see
Appendices Il and IV). Thus, the Group's income tax expense shown in the accompanying consolidated income statement does not
reflect any tax effect in respect of profits or losses of entities accounted for using the equity method.

Details of the contribution to profit or loss by the most relevant entities accounted for using the equity method are disclosed in
Note 28 above.

In addition, the consolidated balance sheet includes goodwill under “Investments in joint ventures and associates - Associates” at
31 December 2020 and 2019 (see Note 14).

(33) Fee and commission income

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Contingent exposures 67,184 65,584
Contingent commitments 41,807 33,528
Collection and payment services 523,815 414,645
Securities services 82,527 68,660
Marketing of non-banking financial products 342,106 343,025
Other fees and commissions 223,950 242,197
Total 1,281,389 1,167,639
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(34) Fee and commission expenses

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Fees and commissions assigned to other entities and correspondents (36,035) (48,506)
Fee and commission expenses on securities transactions (5,800) (7,407)
Other fees and commissions (26,748) (31,083)
Total (68,583) (86,996)

(35) Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 by financial instrument portfolio, is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Origin of transactions

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 154,400 288,744
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 20,454 213,138
Financial assets at amortised cost - Debt securities 127,968 71,247
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 5,978 4,359

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 15,832 19,870

Gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, net (516) 905

Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting, net (22,787) (11,531)

Total 146,929 297,988

The most significant gains in 2020, amounting to EUR 127 million in 2020 (EUR 71 million in 2019), correspond to sales of debt
securities classified as financial assets at amortised cost, mainly including public and private debt securities, considered
immaterial and infrequent, based on the business model criteria of holding assets to obtain contractual cash flows (see Note 2.2.5).

The most significant gains for 2019, amounting to EUR 213 million, reflect the sale of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, corresponding mainly to public and private debt securities.

(36) Other operating income

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Income from investment property (Note 15.2) 16,377 20,411
Financial fees and commissions offsetting direct costs 22,574 26,366
Other items 25,866 8,264
Total 64,817 55,041
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(37) Other operating expenses

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Contribution to Deposit Guarantee Fund and Resolution Fund (Note 1.10) (234,253) (231,063)
Other operating expenses (80,825) (73,385)
Total (315,078) (304,448)

(38) Administrative expenses — Staff expenses

Details of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, by
type of cost, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Salaries and wages (779,619) (816,694)
Social Security (223,736) (227,330)
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans (Note 38.3) (39,340) (50,309)
Contributions to defined benefit pension plans (4,234) (76)
Termination benefits (6,656) (4,375)
Training expenses (3,851) (7,656)
Other staff expenses (12,339) (12,980)
Total (1,069,775) (1,119,420)
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(38.1) Composition and distribution by gender of employees
The number of Group employees, by gender and professional category (including executive directors and senior executives at the

Bank) at 31 December 2020 and 2019, and the average headcount for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, are as
follows:

Directors 3 - 3 3 -
Senior executives 8 1 9 9 -
Other employees by remuneration level 6,780 8,730 15,510 15,405 185
Level | 86 11 97 97 -
Level Il 509 166 675 677 6
Level Il 666 305 971 970 8
Level IV 998 745 1,743 1,747 18
Level V 1,226 1,338 2,564 2,564 23
Level VI 981 1,388 2,369 2,369 32
Level VII 756 1,409 2,165 2,154 29
Level VIII 268 651 919 902 17
Level IX 426 871 1,297 1,266 10
Level X 709 1,616 2,325 2,272 35
Level XI 80 145 225 223 6
Level Xl 7 9 16 17 -
Level XllI 63 71 134 135 -
Level XIV 1 3 4 6 -
Group 2 and others 4 2 6 6 1
Total Bankia, S.A. 6,791 8,731 15,522 15,417 185
Other Group companies 191 237 428 423 3
Total 6,982 8,968 15,950 15,840 188

(1) The Bankia Group has adopted alternative measures for complying with the reserve quota for employees with disabilities.
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Directors 3 - 3 3 -
Senior executives 8 1 9 9 -
Other employees by remuneration level 6,823 8,774 15,597 15,483 182
Level | 84 9 93 94 -
Level Il 464 147 611 611 5
Level lll 688 302 990 995 9
Level IV 995 736 1,731 1,737 16
Level V 1,150 1,236 2,386 2,390 23
Level VI 990 1,376 2,366 2,365 32
Level VII 604 1,058 1,662 1,653 21
Level VIII 427 943 1,370 1,358 22
Level IX 347 732 1,079 1,033 8
Level X 793 1,764 2,557 2,521 27
Level XI 197 371 568 559 18
Level Xl 15 24 39 39 -
Level Xl - - - - -
Level XIV 66 75 141 124 -
Group 2 and others 3 1 4 4 1
Total Bankia, S.A. 6,834 8,775 15,609 15,495 182
Other Group companies 187 239 426 423 3
Total 7,021 9,014 16,035 15,918 185

(1) The Bankia Group has adopted alternative measures for complying with the reserve quota for employees with disabilities.
(38.2) Provisions for pensions and similar obligations (obligations to employees) and insurance contracts linked to pensions

As described in Note 2.13, the Group has undertaken certain post-employment defined benefit obligations with its employees.
Details of the Bank's pension obligations and long-term benefits, which are recognised on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Post-employment benefits 905,197 1,002,147
Other long-term employee benefits 160,628 227,057
Obligations assumed from the labour agreement entered into as a result of the incorporation of the BFA Group 2 1,386
Other long-term benefits 160,626 225,671
(Less) — Assets covering obligations (434,931) (194,539)
Total benefits net of plan assets 630,894 1,034,665
Other obligations - -
Total obligations for pensions funds and similar obligations 630,894 1,034,665
Of which:
Debit balances - Assets (1) (13,600) (3,559)
Credit balances - Liabilities (2) 644,494 1,038,224
Insurance contracts linked to post-employment benefits (defined benefit) 483,038 836,660
Insurance contracts linked to other long-term obligations 160,541 225,252
Total insurance contracts (3) 643,579 1,061,912
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(1) Included in "Other assets" on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(2) Recognised under “Provisions - Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (see Note 20).

(3) The Group has taken out insurance policies to cover the portion of the aforementioned obligations that do not qualify as plan assets, irrespective of the provisions included on the
consolidated balance sheet in accordance with current legislation, which are recognised under "Other assets - Insurance contracts linked to pensions" (see Note 17).

The tables below provide a breakdown at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of total related obligations, distinguishing between those

that exceed the value of plan assets and are therefore recognised under “Provisions - Pensions and other post-employment defined

benefit obligations” on the consolidated balance sheet, and those for which the value of the plan assets vis-a-vis related companies

exceeds the present value of the obligation, which, pursuant to applicable regulations, are recognised at their net amount in "Other

assets - Other" on the consolidated balance sheet:

31 December 2020

(in thousands of euros)

Commitments for which the value of the obligation exceeds the value
of the plan assets recognised under “Provisions — Pensions and other 676,967 193,099 483,868 160,628 2 160,626 644,494
post-employment defined benefit obligations”

Commitments for which the value of the obligations is less than the

value of the plan assets recognised under “Other assets — Other” 228,230 241,830 (13,600 ) ) ) (13,600

Total at 31 December 2020 905,197 434,929 470,268 160,628 2 160,626 630,894

31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros)

Commitments for which the value of the obligation exceeds the value
of the plan assets recognised under “Provisions — Pensions and other 812,596 294 812,302 227,057 1,135 225,922 1,038,224
post-employment defined benefit obligations”

Commitments for which the value of the obligations is less than the

value of the plan assets recognised under “Other assets — Other” 189,551 193,110 (3:559) ) ) ) (3.559)

Total at 31 December 2019 1,002,147 193,404 808,743 227,057 1,135 225,922 1,034,665

(38.3) Post-employment benefits

Details of the various post-employment benefit obligations assumed by the Group under both defined benefit and defined
contribution plans are as follows:

Defined contribution plans

As indicated in Note 2.13 above, the Bank has assumed the obligation of making certain contributions to its employees' external
pension schemes that qualify as defined contribution plans under applicable legislation.

The Group accrued contributions to external pension funds in the amount of EUR 52,137 thousand in 2020 of which EUR 12,797
thousand were covered by the employee pension plan and EUR 39,340 thousand are recognised under “Administrative expenses
- Staff expenses” in the consolidated income statement for the year then ended. In 2019 the Bank accrued contributions to external
pension funds in the amount of EUR 51,628 thousand of which EUR 1,318 thousand were covered by the employee pension plan
and EUR 50,309 thousand are recognised under “Administrative expenses - Staff expenses” (see Note 38).
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Defined benefit plans

The table below shows the reconciliation between the present value of defined benefit pension obligations assumed by the Bank
with its employees at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair value of plan assets and the fair value of reimbursement rights that
do not qualify as plan assets, in all cases within Spain, along with the amounts recognised on the consolidated balance sheet at
those dates:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Present value of the obligations 905,197 1,002,147
Obligations covered by plan assets 422,158 190,148
Obligations covered by non-plan assets 483,039 811,999
Less - Fair value of plan assets (434,929) (193,404)

Recognised under “Provisions — Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations” on the

consolidated balance sheet 483,868 812,302
Recognised under "Other Assets — Other" on the consolidated balance sheet (13,600) (3,559)
Fair value of non-plan assets covering pension obligations 483,038 836,660

“Fair value of non-plan assets covering pension obligations” in the above table includes the fair value of insurance policies arranged
with Bankia Mapfre Vida. The fair value of these insurance policies was calculated in accordance with the applicable provisions of
section 16 of Rule Thirty-Five of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and paragraph 115 of IAS 19; therefore, the present value of the
insured pensions was considered fair value. The expected return on these policies was calculated using an interest rate of 0.55%,
established in accordance with IAS 19 and the actuarial assumptions specified in prevailing legislation in Spain, as they are
obligations with employees subject to Spanish labour law covered with funds set up in accordance with Royal Decree 1588/1999,
of 15 Octaober, as required by Rule Thirty-Five, point 14 c), of Circular 4/2017.

The fair value of plan assets stated in the above table is presented on the balance sheet as a reduction in the present value of the
obligations assumed.

The present value of the obligations was determined by qualified actuaries using the following techniques:

Calculation method: “projected unit credit method”, which sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of
benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately.

The estimated retirement age of each employee is the earliest at which the employee is entitled to retire.

Actuarial assumptions used: unbiased and mutually compatible. Specifically, the most significant actuarial assumptions used
in the calculation were as follows:

Actuarial assumptions 2020 2019
Technical interest rate (1) 0.55% 0.50%
Mortality tables PERMF-2000 PERMF-2000
Estimated return on reimbursement rights recognised as assets 0.55% 0.50%
Expected return on plan assets 0.55% 0.50%
Social Security pensions growth rate (2) Not applicable 1.00%
Rate of pension increase according to the Savings Banks collective agreement (3) 0.35% 1.00%
Rate of pension increase according to the CPI (3) 0.35% 1.75%
Cumulative CPI 1.75% 1.75%
Annual salary increase (4) Not applicable Not applicable

(1

Assumptions based on the duration of the post-employment obligations, which for this group is approximately 11.6 years, and in line with the yield on AA rated corporate bonds in
the euro area.

The assumption regarding the increase in Social Security pensions does not apply, since at the date of the actuarial measurement, 31 December 2020, there is no defined benefit
obligation for serving employees or early-retired employees.

With the official approval of pension growth in accordance with the Labour Agreement of 15 July 2020, the revaluation as of 1 January 2021 of all the commitments will be revised
at a fixed rate of 0.35%.

The assumption regarding the annual salary increase does not apply, since at the date of the actuarial measurement, 31 December 2020, no serving employee was covered by a
defined benefit scheme.
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The reconciliation of the balances recognised at 31 December 2020 and 2019 for the present value of the Bank's defined benefit
obligations is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2020 2019
Balance at 1 January 1,002,147 939,337
Expected interest on the obligation 5,668 15,034
Gains and losses recognised immediately in equity (*): (29,344) 119,771
a) (Gain)/loss arising from changes in financial assumptions (5,179) 136,039
b) (Gain)/loss arising from other changes (data, experience, etc.) (24,165) (16,268)
Benefits paid (56,908) (54,136)
Increase in obligation due to new commitments 100,580 1,875

Increase in obligation - Business combination - -

Curtailments (116,946) (19,734)

Balance at 31 December 905,197 1,002,147
(*) These amounts are recognised directly in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in equity in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 2.13).

The reconciliation of the fair value at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of plan assets in defined benefit obligations is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2020 2019

Fair value at 1 January 193,404 188,283

Expected interest on the Fund 1,885 2,992

Gains and losses recognised immediately in equity : (5,928) 14,907
a) Expected return on plan assets, excluding interest on the Fund (5,928) 14,907

Net contributions/(reimbursements) ® (1,235) (136)

Benefits paid (17,275) (12,642)

Increase in plan assets - Business combination - -

Reduction in plan assets - Reclassification of the value of the assets (transfer to linked insurance) 264,078 -

Fair value at 31 December 434,929 193,404

“These amounts are recognised directly in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in equity in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 2.13).
() Contributions/(reimbursements) imply a change in the fair value of "Plan assets" and, therefore, do not have any impact on the income statement.
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The reconciliation of the fair value at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of reimbursement rights recognised on the consolidated
balance sheet as assets under “Other assets - Insurance contracts linked to pensions” is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2020 2019
Fair value at 1 January 836,660 772,825
Expected interest on insurance contracts linked to pensions 3,923 12,402
Gains and losses recognised immediately in equity (*): (36,268) 110,746
a) Expected return on linked insurance, excluding interest on insurance contracts linked to pensions (36,268) 110,746
Net contributions/(reimbursements) @ (104,519) (19,693)
Benefits paid (39,632) (41,495)
Pension Plan rebates (deduction of contributions to defined contribution plan) (12,797) -

Increase in reimbursement rights - Business combination - -
Increase in reimbursement rights - Reclassification of the value of the assets (transfer to linked insurance) (164,329) 1,875
Settlements - -

Fair value at 31 December 483,038 836,660

(*) These amounts are recognised directly in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in equity in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 2.13).
) Contributions/(reimbursements) imply a change in the fair value of "Insurance contracts linked to pensions" and, therefore, do not have any impact on the income statement.

Details of the fair value of the main plan assets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Insurance policies 206,699 11,143
Other assets (*) 228,230 182,261

(*) The fair value of plan assets classified as "Other assets", quantified at EUR 228 million, includes assets covered by employee pension plans or insured by
insurance policies that do not fit into the categories set out in paragraph 142 of IAS 19.

The criteria used to determine the total expected return on plan assets are based on the duration of the post-employment

obligations, which for this group is approximately 11.6 years (11.19 years for 2019), and in line with the yield on AA rated corporate

bonds in the euro area.

(38.4) Early retirement and other long-term obligations

The table below shows the reconciliation between the present value of early retirement and other long-term obligations assumed
by the Bank with its employees at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair value of plan assets and the fair value of reimbursement
rights that do not qualify as plan assets, in all cases within Spain, along with the amounts recognised on the consolidated balance
sheet at those dates:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Present value of the obligations 160,628 227,057
Obligations covered by plan assets 2 1,139
Obligations covered by non-plan assets 160,541 225,248
Internal fund 85 670
Less - Fair value of plan assets ) (1,135)
E:ﬁ:g{;ézﬁi:r;gfarr:‘:er:\rﬁzns - Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations” on the 160,626 225,922
Recognised under "Other Assets — Other" on the consolidated balance sheet - -
Fair value of assets covering early retirement and other long-term obligations 160,541 225,252

The present value of the obligations was determined by qualified actuaries using the following technigues:

Calculation method: “projected unit credit method”, which sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of
benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately.
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The estimated retirement age of each employee is the earliest at which the employee is entitled to retire.

Actuarial assumptions used: unbiased and mutually compatible. Specifically, the most significant actuarial assumptions used

in the calculation were as follows:

Actuarial assumptions
Technical interest rate )

Mortality tables

Estimated return on reimbursement rights recognised as assets

Expected return on plan assets

Social Security costs growth rate

Rate of pension increase according to the Savings Banks collective agreement

Cumulative CPI
Annual salary increase

Medical cost trend rates

2020
0.00%
PERMF-2000
0.00%
0.00%
2.00%

Not applicable
1.75%

Not applicable
Not applicable

2019
0.00%

PERMF-2000

0.00%
0.00%
2.00%
1.00%
1.75%

Not applicable

Not applicable

@ Assumptions based on the duration of other long-term obligations, which for this group is approximately 1.77 years (2.09 years in 2019), and in line with

the vyield on AA rated corporate bonds in the euro area.

The reconciliation of the balances recognised at 31 December 2020 and 2019 for the present value of early retirement and other

long-term obligations assumed by the Bank is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)
ITEM
Balance at 1 January
Expected interest on the obligation
Gains and losses recognised immediately:
a) (Gain)/loss arising from changes in financial assumptions
b) (Gain)/loss arising from other changes (data, experience, etc.)
Benefits paid
Increase in obligation due to new commitments
Additions due to business combination

Settlements

Balance at 31 December

2020
227,057

6,773
6,773
(73,208)
6

160,628

2019

313,470

968

(5,071)

1,661

(6,732)
(82,310)

227,057

The table below shows the reconciliation at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of the fair value of plan assets in early retirement

obligations and similar defined benefit obligations:

(in thousands of euros)
ITEM
Fair value at 1 January
Expected interest on the Fund
Gains and losses recognised immediately
a) Expected return on plan assets, excluding interest on the Fund
Net contributions/(reimbursements)
Benefits paid

Fair value at 31 December

2020
1,135

335
335
(872)
(596)

2019

7,331

16
3,877
3,877

(6,070)
(4,019)

1,135
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The table below shows the reconciliation at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of the fair value of reimbursement rights recognised as
assets under "Other assets - Insurance contracts linked to pensions" on the consolidated balance sheet for early retirement and
other long-term obligations (all corresponding to the Group's Spanish entities):

(in thousands of euros)

Fair value at 1 January 225,252 261,205
Expected interest on insurance contracts linked to pensions - 811
Gains and losses recognised immediately 7,801 (138)
a) Expected return on linked insurance, excluding interest on insurance contracts linked to pensions 7,801 (138)
Net contributions/(reimbursements) (1) 44,134
Benefits paid (72,511) (80,760)
Fair value at 31 December 160,541 225,252

The table below shows the fair value of the main plan assets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 for early retirement and similar
obligations:

(in thousands of euros)

Insurance policies 2 1,135

(38.5) Estimate of future payments for defined benefit obligations

The following table shows the estimate of payments for defined benefit obligations over the next 10 years:

(in thousands of euros)

Pension obligations 57,468 55,641 53,888 52,015 50,142 221,274
Other long-term obligations 69,787 57,857 30,086 2,823 73 -

The best actuarial estimate indicates that the amount of contributions to be made in respect of the pension and similar obligations
assumed by the Group in 2021 will not be significant with respect to the consolidated profit and equity estimated for the Group
at the end of the year.
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(38.6) Sensitivity analysis

The table below shows an analysis of the sensitivity of defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2020, specifically pension and
other long-term obligations (early retirement), to changes in the main actuarial assumptions:

(in thousands of euros)

Pension obligations Early retirement
Technical interest rate
50bp increase 856,065 159,602
50bp decrease (%) 959,439 160,628
Annual salary increase (**)
506p increase Not applicable Not applicable
50bp decrease Not applicable Not applicable
Annual pension increase (***)
50bp increase Not applicable Not applicable
50bp decrease Not applicable Not applicable
Cumulative CPI
50bp increase 905,241 Not applicable
50bp decrease 905,157 Not applicable

(*)  As the interest rate for early-retired employees was 0.00%, the measurement with the 0.5% decrease was performed at 0%.

(**) The annual salary increase only affects serving employees. As there were no serving employees covered by defined benefit schemes at 31 December 2019, this change is not
applicable.

(***) The annual pension increase is constant at 0.35% following the Labour Agreement of 15 July 2020.

Given the assurance of these obligations (see Note 2.13.1.2) the change in actuarial assumptions would not have a significant
impact on these consolidated financial statements.

An estimate has been made of the rise in the Bank’s post-employment and long-term obligations in the event of applying the
mortality tables published by the Directorate-General for Insurance and Pension Funds on 28 December 2020. Should the first-
order PER2020 mortality tables be used for groups, the rise in defined benefit obligations would increase by a maximum of 2.91%.
Despite this increase, there is no impact on the Group’s equity as the commitments are assured.

(38.7) Remuneration in kind

The Group's remuneration policy includes certain remuneration in kind, mainly financial assistance and health insurance policies,
which are taxed, as appropriate, in accordance with prevailing regulations.

(38.8) Share-based payment schemes

The remuneration policy adheres to corporate governance best practices and is in accordance with European regulations
concerning remuneration policies at credit institutions and Royal Decree-lLaw 2/2012 of 3 February, Ministerial Order
ECC/1762/2012 of 3 August and Law 10/2014 of 26 June.

The system sets out a specific scheme for settling variable remuneration for executives who perform control functions or whose
activity has a significant impact on the risk profile:

Management Committee:

At least 50% of variable remuneration must be paid in Bankia shares.

100% of variable remuneration, whether in shares or cash, must be deferred.

Rest of the identified personnel:

At least 50% of variable remuneration must be paid in Bankia shares.

At least 40% of variable remuneration, whether in shares or cash, must be deferred over a period of three years.

Accordingly, for members of the Management Committee, 25% of the annual variable remuneration shall be settled in shares
once three years have elapsed from the assessment of targets, with deferral of a further 25% to be settled in shares in two equal
deliveries in the two subsequent years.
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For the rest of the identified personnel, 30% of annual variable remuneration shall be paid in shares following assessment of
targets for the year. In addition, 20% of annual variable remuneration shall be deferred in three equal portions over a period of
three years.

The share price shall be the average quoted price in the three months prior to the accrual date.

All shares delivered to directors as part of their annual variable remuneration shall be unavailable during the year immediately
following the date on which they are delivered.

(39) Administrative expenses - Other administrative expenses

Details, by nature, of this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

(Expenses)

ITEM 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

From property, fixtures and supplies @ (56,272) (59,292)
IT and communications (219,368) (207,166)
Advertising and sponsorship (47,895) (54,375)
Technical reports (36,517) (36,662)
Surveillance and security carriage services (16,775) (18,122)
Contributions and taxes (29,485) (32,243)
Insurance and self-insurance premiums (3,451) (3,603)
Other expenses (105,660) (84,845)
Total (515,423) (496,308)

On 27 March 2020 the Bank’s General Meeting of Shareholders appointed KPMG Auditores, S.L. as the auditor of Bankia, S.A. and
its Group for 2020, 2021 and 2022, replacing Ernst & Young, S.L.

Fees corresponding to services rendered by the audit firm KPMG Auditores, S.L. for the audit of the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

ITEM 2020
Bankia, S.A.
Audit services 2,304
Other assurance services 65
Other services 11
Subsidiaries
Audit services 225
Total 2,605

The amounts detailed in the above table for audit services include the total fees for those services, irrespective of the date of
invoice.

Other assurance services and other services reflect services provided in relation to the issue of comfort letters and translations,
respectively.

In addition, at 31 December 2020 agreed fees, still to be invoiced, between the various companies of the Bankia Group and KPMG
Auditores, S.L. amount to EUR 271 thousand and correspond mainly to regulatory work, agreed-upon procedures reports and
translations.

Other entities affiliated with KPMG International have invoiced the Group the following fees and expenses for professional services
during the year ended 31 December 2020:
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(in thousands of euros)

Audit services -

Other assurance services -

Tax advisory services 4
Other services 320
Total 324

Furthermore, at 31 December 2020 agreed fees, still to be invoiced, between the various companies of the Bankia Group and other
entities affiliated with KPMG International, amount to EUR 288 thousand.

Meanwhile, in 2020, eleven Bankia Group companies paid audit fees to firms other than the Parent's auditor amounting to EUR
147 thousand and EUR 102 thousand for other items.

Details of the fees for 2019 agreed by the various Bankia Group companies with firms belonging to the worldwide organisation of
Ernst & Young, S.L. (the auditor of Bankia, S.A. and the Bankia Group until 2019) are as follows:

- For the audit of the financial statements of Bankia, S.A. and of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements and
consolidated financial statements of the Bankia Group for 2019: EUR 1,804 thousand.

- For the audit and review of the financial statements of companies in the Bankia Group, in all cases for 2019: EUR 210
thousand.

- For other assurance and services similar to auditing required by regulations or supervisory authorities in 2019: EUR 135
thousand.

- For other professional services rendered in 2019: EUR 392 thousand, with no fees agreed for tax advisory services.

The services engaged by the Bankia Group meet the independence requirements stipulated in Audit Law 22/2015, of 20 July, and
do not include any work that is incompatible with the audit function.

(40) Depreciation and amortisation

Details, by nature, of the amount recognised for this item in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Depreciation of tangible assets (Note 15) (146,189) (146,371)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16.2) (49,183) (54,581)
Total (195,372) (200,952)

(41) Provisions or reversal of provisions

Details, by nature, of the amount recognised for this item in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 are as follows (see Note 20):

(in thousands of euros)

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 104,711 28,653
Pending procedural issues and tax litigation (96,293) (104,233)
Commitments and guarantees given 25,947 72,047
Other provisions (9,934) (11,019)
Total 24,431 (14,552)
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(42) Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss

Details of the net amount recognised for this item in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, by category of financial instrument, are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 12) (1,043,594) (463,493)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 11) (198) 552
Total (1,043,792) (462,941)

(43) Impairment or reversal of impairment of non-financial assets and investments in joint ventures and associates

Details, by nature, of the amount recognised for these items in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Impairment losses (net) on goodwill and other intangible assets (5,894) (5,700)
Impairment losses (net) on investment property (15,786) (14,566)
Impairment losses (net) on property, plant and equipment for own use - 22
Impairment losses (net) on inventories - -
Impairment losses (net) on investments in joint ventures and associates 97) 928
Total (21,777) (19,316)

(44) Gains or losses on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net

Details, by nature, of the amount recognised for this item in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible assets 504 3,088
Gain/(loss) on d